
 
 

 
 
Committee: 
 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 

Date: 
 

THURSDAY, 12 FEBRUARY 2026 

Venue: 
 

MORECAMBE TOWN HALL 

Time: 10.30 A.M. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. LICENSING ACT 2003 - PREMISE LICENCE GRANT-SCALE HALL STORES, 

LANCASTER, LA1 1HD - DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION FOLLOWING 
RELEVANT REPRESENTATIONS (Pages 2 - 233) 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
(i) Membership 

 
Councillors Martin Bottoms (Chair), Maria Deery and Martin Gawith 
 

(ii) Queries regarding this Agenda 
 

 Please contact Sarah Moorghen, Democratic Support - email 
smoorghen@lancaster.gov.uk.   
 

(iii) Changes to Membership, or apologies 
 

 Please contact Democratic Support, telephone 582000, or alternatively email 
democracy@lancaster.gov.uk.  
 
 
 

MARK DAVIES, 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, 
TOWN HALL, 
DALTON SQUARE, 
LANCASTER, LA1 1PJ 
 
Published on 3rd February 2026.   

 

mailto:democracy@lancaster.gov.uk


 

 

LICENSING ACT SUB COMMITTEE  

 
 

LICENSING ACT 2003 
 

PREMISE LICENCE GRANT–SCALE HALL STORES, 
LANCASTER, LA1 1HD 

 
DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION FOLLOWING 

RELEVANT REPRESENTATIONS 
 

12 FEBRUARY 2026 
 

Report of Licensing Officer 
  
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
Following receipt of relevant representations, members are asked to determine an 
application for a Premises Licence (Section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003) submitted by 
Scale Hall Stores, 74 Cleveleys Avenue Lancaster, LA1 1HD.  
 

The report is public  

 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
In light of representations made, the Sub-Committee is requested to determine the 
premises licence application, members must have regard to the Council’s Statement 
of Licensing Policy, the Licensing Act 2003 and associated guidance when 
considering the options available to them.   
 
Those options are:  
 

• Grant the application as applied for  

• Exclude any licensable activities 

• Modify any conditions within the application 

• Include additional conditions 

• Reject the whole application 
 
Members are reminded that they should state full and detailed reasons for their 
decision.     
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The Council grants permissions for Premises Licences submitted under the Licensing 

Act 2003 (the Act). Niranjan Sivanathan has submitted an application made under 

Page 2Agenda Item 1



Section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the grant of a premises licence in respect of 
Scale Hall Stores, 74 Cleveleys Avenue, Lancaster, LA1 1HD.   
 
The application is for a licence to facilitate the following: 
 
Sale & Supply of Alcohol (off the premises) Monday –Sunday 07:00 until 23:00 
                                            
The applicant has exercised due diligence in promotion of the licensing objectives 
with a thorough operating schedule set out as part of the premise licence application. 
Measures include, CCTV, staff training with refresher training every 6 months, 
adherence to the Challenge 25 proof of age scheme and an incident log record.  
 
Details can be found in the application form and supporting documents, which can be 
seen at Appendix 1 of this report.  

 
1.2 There is a statutory requirement to advertise such applications for a period of 28 

days in which time representations can be submitted. Any representation submitted 
must relate to the likely impact of the grant of the licence on one or more of the four 
licensing objectives which are: 

 
o The prevention of crime and disorder 
o Public safety 
o The prevention of public nuisance 
o The protection of children from harm  

 
The application was sent to relevant Responsible Authority’s, advertised in the local 
press (Lancaster Guardian 9th January 2026) and uploaded to the Council’s 
website where it was available via a link for viewing. 

 
1.3 During the 28-day statutory consultation period there were no representations 

received from any of the Responsible Authorities who are considered experts in one 
or more of the Licensing Objectives. 

 
1.4 The Council received 14 relevant representations from “Other Persons” as defined by 

The Act. The representations received relate to the public safety, crime and disorder, 
prevention of noise nuisance and the protection of children from harm licensing 
objectives.  
 
Details of the fourteen representations are attached at Appendix 2 to this report, 
they are summarised as follows. 
 
Objection 1, which was submitted by Jodie Watt (other persons) relates to public 
nuisance, crime and disorder, public safety, and protection of children. Ms Watt 
states that alcohol sales until 11 pm would increase noise, litter, and antisocial 
behaviour in a quiet residential area, negatively affecting residents’ wellbeing and 
safety, particularly given the proximity to homes and children. 
 
Objection 2, which was submitted by Mark Edmondson (other persons). Mr 
Edmondson’s concerns relate to public safety, crime and disorder, prevention of 
noise nuisance and protection of children from harm licensing objectives. Mark 
Edmondson states there will be an increased noise, traffic, litter, antisocial behaviour, 
and public safety in a residential area.  
 
Objection 3, which was submitted by Christine Robinson (other persons). Ms 
Robinson concerns relate to public safety, crime and disorder, prevention of noise 
nuisance and protection of children from harm. Christine Robinson states that the 

Page 3



premises is in a quiet residential area and that the licence would increase traffic, 
noise, antisocial behaviour, and potential crime, posing risks to children and 
disrupting residents’ wellbeing. 
 
Objection 4, which was submitted by William Hopps (other persons). Mr Hopps 
concerns relate to public safety, prevention of noise nuisance and protection of 
children from harm. William Hopps states that the sale of alcohol at the shop will 
increase antisocial behaviour as well as noise nuisance.  
 
Objection 5, which was submitted by Pam Hannah (other persons). Ms Hannah’s 
concerns relate to public safety, prevention of noise nuisance and protection of 
children from harm licensing objectives. Ms Hannah is concerned about increased 
traffic, noise, and waste creating an unsafe and unhealthy environment for young 
families and older residents.  
 
Objection 6, which was submitted by Lisa Richardson (other persons). relates to the 
protection of children from harm, crime and disorder and public safety licensing 
objectives, Lisa Richardson states that alcohol sales from 7am to 11pm would disrupt 
a quiet, family-orientated street through increased noise, traffic, deliveries, and 
antisocial behaviour, making residents feel unsafe.  
 
Objection 7, which was submitted by Moira Buchan (other persons). This relates to 
the prevention of noise nuisance licensing objectives. Moria Buchan states that 
another off-licence would lead to unacceptable increases in noise and traffic late at 
night in a residential area.  
 
Objection 8, which was submitted by Lucy Hobbs (other persons). This relates to the 
crime and disorder and public safety licensing objectives. Lucy Hobbs feels that a 
similar off-licence has previously led to antisocial behaviour and vandalism, which 
they fear would be repeated and harm the family-oriented community. 
 
Objection 9, which was submitted by Jacob Simpson (other persons). This relates to 
public safety, prevention of noise nuisance and protection of children from harm 
licensing objectives, Mr Simpson states that the sale of alcohol would lead to 
increased late-night noise, littering, antisocial behaviour, and traffic safety issues. 
 
Objection 10, which was submitted by Jessica Slater (other persons). This relates to 
public safety, prevention of noise nuisance and protection of children from harm 
licensing objectives, Jessica Slater raises concerns that granting the licence will 
increase noise, antisocial behaviour, in a busy residential street. 
 
Objection 11, which was submitted by Andrew & Katrina Blayden-Byrne (other 
persons) Relates to public nuisance, crime and disorder and protection of children 
licence objectives, Andrew & Katrina Blayden-Byrne states licensing this premises 
will lead to increased noise concerns, increased risk of incidents to residents and 
children. 
 
Objection 12, which was submitted by Dorothea Williamson (other persons) Relates 
to public nuisance, crime and disorder and protection of children licensing objectives. 
Dorothea Williams concerns include increased noise, traffic, antisocial behaviour, 
safety risks—particularly for elderly residents—and the likelihood of outdoor drinking.  
 
Objection 13, which was submitted by Fiona Hopps (other persons) This relates to 
public nuisance, crime and disorder and protection of children licence objectives. 
Fiona Hopps states that granting this licence will lead to increased traffic, noise, and 
gatherings of youths will cause crime and disorder.  

Page 4



 
Objection 14, which was submitted by Christine Adams (other persons) This relates 
to the public nuisance and public safety licensing objectives. Christine raises 
concerns that extended hours would, cause noise, and road safety in an area that 
already experienced problems. 

 
1.5 Under Section 18(3) of the Act, it is necessary for a hearing to be held to consider the 

application, as representations have been received from Other Persons as defined in 
the Licensing Act. The relevant section prescribes:  

 
 Where relevant representations are made, the authority must-  

 
(a) hold a hearing to consider them, unless the authority, the applicant and each 

person who has made such representations agree that a hearing is unnecessary, 
and 

 
(b) having regard to the representations, take such of the steps mentioned in 

subsection (4) (if any) as it considers appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. 

 
1.6 As a result of the hearing, steps members may take are-  
 

(a) to grant the licence subject to – 
 

(i) the conditions mentioned in subsection 2 (a) modified to such extent as 
the authority considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives and 

 
(ii) any condition which must under section 19,20 or 21 be included in the 

licence. 
 

(b) to exclude from the scope of the licence any of the licensable activities to which 
the application relates 
(c) to refuse to specify a person in the licence as the premises supervisor. 
(d) to reject the application 

 
 

2.0 Statement of Licensing Policy 2023-2027 
 
2.1 The Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy was approval by Full Council in April 

2024. The purpose of the policy is to provide clarity to applicants, other persons and 
Responsible Authorities on how the Licensing Authority will discharge its functions 
under the Licensing Act and to guide applicants, members and Officers.  

 
2.2 This is attached at Appendix 3 to the report. The following sections are relevant to 

this application: 
 

3.6 Representations 
 

3.6.1 Under the 2003 Act both Responsible Authorities and ‘other persons’ may make 
representations on licence/certificate applications and review existing premises 
licences/certificates. 
 

3.6.2 Other persons are defined as any individual, body or business that may be 
affected by the operation of a licensed premise regardless of their geographical 
location. Although the other person may be in any geographical location, any 

Page 5



representation they make must be relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives. 
In addition, the other person is encouraged to provide evidence supporting their 
representation or review. This may be for example by way of recording dates where 
noise nuisance or anti-social behaviour occurs. Any representation however must be 
specific to the premises in question and not to the area in general. The 
representation should also detail how the granting of the application is likely to affect 
the person making it. 
 

3.6.3 The Licensing Authority will however consider the geographical location of the 
other person’s who has made the representation in their consideration of their 
evidence. 
 

3.6.4 In addition all representations must be relevant relating to the likely effect of the 
grant of the licence/certificate on the promotion of at least one of the licensing 
objectives. The Licensing Authority will determine whether a representation from an 
individual, body or business is relevant, frivolous, repetitive or vexatious. If 
appropriate, the benefit of the doubt will be given to the person or body making that 
representation. 
 
4.1 Premises Licence 

  
  4.1.1 The Premises Licence application outlines the operating conditions and the 

Operating Schedule that will form the basis of conditions that will be attached to the 
Licence. It should include information that is necessary to enable any Responsible 
Authority or other person to assess whether the steps to be taken to promote the 
licensing objectives are satisfactory. The Licensing Authority shall expect the 
applicant to have carefully considered the promotion of all four Licensing Objectives 
in their Operating Schedule. 

 
 4.1.2 It is recommended that applicants liaise with neighbours and/or any relevant 

community group such as a local residents association, or other such groups, as may 
be appropriate prior to submitting an application. 

 

4.1.3 The Licensing Authority especially recommends that applicants liaise with the 
Relevant Authorities prior to submitting their applications, e.g. Police or Fire 
Authority, when compiling their Operating Schedules and the local Pubwatch if one 
operates in that area. 

 
 4.1.4 In completing their Operating Schedule the Licensing Authority suggests the 

applicant considers the following: 
 

General  
 
1. The Licensee shall ensure that each member of staff authorised to sell alcohol has 
received appropriate training on the law with regard to age-restricted products, proxy 
sales, and the licensable hours and conditions attached to the licence, including 
refresher training every six months, and that this is properly documented and training 
records kept. The training record (either written or electronic) shall be kept on the 
licensed premises and made available for inspection by the Licensing Officer, 
Trading Standards or the Police, on request. 
2. CCTV will be provided in the form of a recordable system, capable of providing 
pictures of evidential quality in all lighting  
conditions  
3. Cameras shall encompass all ingress and egress to the premises; fire exits and all 
areas where the sale and supply of  
alcohol occurs.  

Page 6



4. Equipment must be maintained in good working order, be correctly time and date 
stamped, recordings MUST be kept on  
the hard drive and kept for a period of 31 days and handed to Police upon 
reasonable request.  
5. The premises licence holder must ensure at all times a DPS or appointed member 
of staff is capable and competent at  
downloading CCTV footage in a recordable format to the Police and Local Authority 
upon reasonable request.  
6. An Incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available on request to a 
police officer, police licensing officer or  
council authorised licensing officer. It must be completed within 24 hours of the 
incident and will record the following:  
• All crimes reported at the venue.  
• All ejections of patrons  
• Any complaints received concerning crime and disorder.  
• Any incident of disorder  
• All seizure of drugs or offensive weapons  
• Any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment.  
• Any refusal of the sale of alcohol  
• Any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service  
• Each entry is to be checked and signed by the DPS/Licensee no later than 1 week 
after the entry has been made. The  
register must be made available to Police, Police Licensing Officers and authorised 
officers from the Local Authority either  
electronically or hard copy. 

 
Public Safety  
7. The Licensee shall ensure that appropriate fire safety procedures are in place.  
8. The Licensee shall ensure that all fire escapes/escape routes will be clearly 
marked and kept free from obstructions at all  
times 
Prevention of Public Nuisance  
9. Management will ensure that all customers move away from the premises after 
leaving the property and do not loiter in  
the area. 
Protection of Children from Harm  
10. Prominently advertise the scheme in your premises so that customers are aware, 
display proof of age signs at the point  
of sale. These can be downloaded for printing at 
http://www.challenge25.org/downloads.html.  
11. Keep a refusals book on the premises and ensure it is completed whenever a 
sale is refused to a person who cannot  
prove they are over the age of 18 years.  
12. The date should contact the date, time of the incident, a description of the 
customer, the name of the staff member who refused the sale and the reason the 
sale was refused.  
13. The book should be made available to police and authorised council officer on 
request.   
14. A ‘challenge 25’ scheme serves as a reminder to staff of the need to be vigilant in 
preventing underage sales and to  
customers that it is against the law for anyone under 18 to purchase alcohol. A useful 
website is http://www.challenge25. 
org/  
15. Only accept photographic driving licence, passports or PASS (proof of age 
standards scheme) cars approved as means of  

Page 7



ID. If you accept other forms of ID such as EU national ID cards, these must bear a 
photograph, DOB, and holographic mar 
 
These lists are not exhaustive, and advice can be obtained from the relevant 
responsible authorities. However, applicants are reminded again to contact the 
relevant Responsible Authorities to seek their expert advice before an application is 
submitted to the Licensing Authority 

 
 3.0 Relevant part of Government Section 182 Guidance 
  
3.1 The Government’s Section 182 guidance is utilised by Local Licensing Authorities  to 

enhance and support its Statement of Licensing Policy with regard to upholding 
licensing objectives and substantiating representations both in support of and against 
an application. 

 
  Public Nuisance  
           Sections 2.21 to 2.27 inclusive gives guidance on the public nuisance licensing 

objective where the Licensing Act 2003 enables Licensing Authorities and 
Responsible Authorities through relevant representations received to consider what 
constitutes public nuisance and what is appropriate to prevent it in terms of 
conditions attached to a specific premises licence.  

 
           Crime and disorder 
           Sections 2.1 to 2.7 inclusive give further insight into dealing with this licensing 

objective where Licensing Authorities are advised to look to the Police as the main 
source of advice on crime and disorder. Page 7  

 
           Public Safety  
           Sections 2.8 – 2.15 inclusive give further insight into dealing with this licensing 

objective where licence holders have a responsibility to ensure the safety of those 
using their premises, as a part of their duties under the 2003 Act.  

 
           Protection of Children from Harm  
           Sections 2.28 – 2.37 inclusive gives further insight into dealing with this licensing 

objective. The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children 
from moral, psychological and physical harm. This includes not only protecting 
children from the harms associated directly with alcohol consumption but also wider 
harms such as exposure to strong language, Licensing authorities must also consider 
the need to protect children from sexual exploitation when undertaking licensing 
functions 

  
 This guidance is attached at Appendix 4 to this report. 
 
 
4.0 Procedural Matters 
 
4.1 In accordance with the relevant regulations, the parties have been given notice of the 

hearing. The parties have been required in accordance with the regulations to 
indicate at least five working days before the hearing whether they intend to attend 
and/or be represented at the hearing and if they wish any witness to appear at the 
hearing.  

  
4.2 Any responses and any further documentation submitted by any of the parties after 

the circulation of this agenda will be circulated to members in advance of the 
meeting. Members are reminded that documentary or other information submitted on 

Page 8



the day of the hearing may only be taken into account with the consent of the Sub-
Committee and all the parties. .      

 
4.3 Members are reminded that they must follow the rules of natural justice and must 

also consider human rights implications. In particular, in accordance with Article 6, all 
parties are entitled to a fair hearing.   

 
Consideration also needs to be given to the right to respect for private and family life 
and home, contained within Article 8, although this is a qualified right, and 
interference is permitted where this is in accordance with the law, or is necessary in a 
democratic society in the interests of public safety or the prevention of crime and 
disorder, or for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others.   
 
Article 1 of the First Protocol provides that every person is entitled to the peaceful 
enjoyment of his possessions, although again this right is qualified in the public 
interest.   

 
5.0 Options available to Members 

 
5.1 Members are asked to consider, whilst having regard to the councils statement of 

licensing policy, the Licensing Act 2003 and any regulations made under that Act, 
government guidance and representations made, whether to:- 

 

• Grant the application as applied for. 

• Modify any offered conditions within the application. 

• Impose additional conditions. 

• Exclude any licensable activities 

• Reject the whole application. 
 
5.2 Members are reminded that they should state the reasons for their decision. 

 
6.0 Conclusion 
 
6.1 Members are asked to consider the application for the grant of a premises licence at, 

Scale hall Stores, 74 Cleveleys Avenue, Lancaster, LA1 1HD, the submission made 
in support of the application by the applicant and the representations of the other 
persons who oppose it on the grounds of upholding all 4 of the licensing objectives. 
(the prevention of crime and disorder, public safety, prevention of public nuisance 
and the protection of children from harm).  

 
6.2 No representations were received by responsible authorities during the consultation 

period.  
 
6.3 Members may wish to impose additional conditions to the operating schedule to 

further promote the four licensing objectives. The statement of licensing policy 
includes model conditions that members may wish to consider at pages 23 –  

            29 of the policy. (The Statement of Licensing Policy can be found at Appendix 3 of  
            the report). 
 
6.4 Members are reminded they should state full and detailed reasons for their decision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, Sustainability and Rural 
Proofing) 
 
None. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Financial Services have not been consulted as there are no financial implications. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
Legal implications are contained within the report, In accordance with Section 181 and 
Schedule 5 of the Licensing Act 2003, the parties have a right of appeal to the magistrates’ 
court within 21 days 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 

Contact Officer: Matthew Richardson 
Telephone:  01524 582033 
E-mail: mrichardson@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref: Scale Hall 

 

Page 10



© Crown copyright 

Lancaster
Application for a premises licence
Licensing Act 2003

For help contact

licensing@lancaster.gov.uk

Telephone: 01524 582033 

* required information

Section 1 of 21

You can save the form at any time and resume it later. You do not need to be logged in when you resume.

System reference Not Currently In Use This is the unique reference for this 
application generated by the system.

Your reference 1789 You can put what you want here to help you 
track applications if you make lots of them. It 
is passed to the authority.

Are you an agent acting on behalf of the applicant?

Yes No

Put "no" if you are applying on your own 
behalf or on behalf of a business you own or 
work for.

Applicant Details

* First name NIRANJAN

* Family name SIVANATHAN

* E-mail

Main telephone number Include country code.

Other telephone number

Indicate here if the applicant would prefer not to be contacted by telephone

Is the applicant:

Applying as a business or organisation, including as a sole trader

Applying as an individual

A sole trader is a business owned by one 
person without any special legal structure.  
Applying as an individual means the 
applicant is applying so the applicant can be 
employed, or for some other personal reason, 
such as following a hobby.

Applicant Business
Is the applicant's business 
registered in the UK with 
Companies House?

Yes No Note: completing the Applicant Business 
section is optional in this form.

Is the applicant's business 
registered outside the UK?

Yes No

Business name SCALE HALL STORE
If the applicant's business is registered, use 
its registered name.

VAT number - NONE Put "none" if the applicant is not registered 
for VAT.

Page 11

Appendix 1



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

Legal status Sole Trader

Applicant's position in the 
business OWNER MANAGER

Home country United Kingdom
The country where the applicant's 
headquarters are.

Applicant Business Address

Building number or name 74

Street CLEVELEYS AVE

District

City or town LANCASTER

County or administrative area

Postcode LA1 5HD

Country United Kingdom

If the applicant has one, this should be the 
applicant's official address - that is an 
address required of the applicant by law for 
receiving communications.

Agent Details

* First name NIRA

* Family name SURESH

* E-mail

Main telephone number Include country code.

Other telephone number

Indicate here if you would prefer not to be contacted by telephone

Are you:

An agent that is a business or organisation, including a sole trader

A private individual acting as an agent

A sole trader is a business owned by one 
person without any special legal structure.

Agent Business
Is your business registered in 
the UK with Companies 
House?

Yes No Note: completing the Applicant Business 
section is optional in this form.

Registration number 09036487

Business name ARKA LICENSING CONSULTANTS
If your business is registered, use its 
registered name.

VAT number - NONE Put "none" if you are not registered for VAT.

Legal status Private Limited Company

Page 12



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

Your position in the business LICENSING AGENT

Home country United Kingdom
The country where the headquarters of your 
business is located.

Agent Registered Address

Building number or name TRIDENT BUSINESS CENTRE

Street 89 BICKERSTETH ROAD

District

City or town LONDON

County or administrative area

Postcode SW17 9SH

Country United Kingdom

Address registered with Companies House.

Section 2 of 21

PREMISES DETAILS

I/we, as named in section 1, apply for a premises licence under section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the premises 
described in section 2 below (the premises) and I/we are making this application to you as the relevant licensing authority 
in accordance with section 12 of the Licensing Act 2003.

Premises Address

Are you able to provide a postal address, OS map reference or description of the premises?

Address OS map reference Description

Postal Address Of Premises

Building number or name 74

Street CLEVELEYS STORE

District

City or town LANCASTER

County or administrative area

Postcode LA1 5HD

Country United Kingdom

Further Details

Telephone number

Non-domestic rateable 
value of premises (£) 2,800

--------- AVENUE

Page 13



© Crown copyright 

Section 3 of 21

APPLICATION DETAILS

In what capacity are you applying for the premises licence?

An individual or individuals

A limited company / limited liability partnership

A partnership (other than limited liability)

An unincorporated association

Other (for example a statutory corporation)

A recognised club

A charity

The proprietor of an educational establishment

A health service body

A person who is registered under part 2 of the Care Standards Act 

2000 (c14) in respect of an independent hospital in Wales

A person who is registered under Chapter 2 of Part 1 of the Health and 
Social Care Act 2008 in respect of the carrying on of a regulated 
activity (within the meaning of that Part) in an independent hospital in 
England

The chief officer of police of a police force in England and Wales

Confirm The Following

I am carrying on or proposing to carry on a business which involves 
the use of the premises for licensable activities

I am making the application pursuant to a statutory function

I am making the application pursuant to a function discharged by 
virtue of His Majesty's prerogative

Section 4 of 21

INDIVIDUAL APPLICANT DETAILS

Applicant Name
Is the name the same as (or similar to) the details given in section one?

Yes No

If “Yes” is selected you can re-use the details 
from section one, or amend them as required. 
Select “No” to enter a completely new set of 
details.

First name NIRANJAN

Family name SIVANATHAN

Is the applicant 18 years of age or older?

Yes No

Page 14



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

Current Residential Address
Is the address the same as (or similar to) the address given in section one?

Yes No

If “Yes” is selected you can re-use the details 
from section one, or amend them as 
required.  Select “No” to enter a completely 
new set of details.

Building number or name

Street

District

City or town

County or administrative area

Postcode

Country

Applicant Contact Details
Are the contact details the same as (or similar to) those given in section one?

Yes No

If “Yes” is selected you can re-use the details 
from section one, or amend them as 
required.  Select “No” to enter a completely 
new set of details.

E-mail

Telephone number

Other telephone number

* Date of birth

* Nationality
ocuments that demonstrate entitlement to 
ork in the UK

Right to work share code
Right to work share code if not submitting 
scanned documents

Add another applicant

Section 5 of 21

OPERATING SCHEDULE

When do you want the 
premises licence to start? 20 / 01 / 2026

 dd               mm             yyyy

If you wish the licence to be 
valid only for a limited period, 
when do you want it to end

/ /
 dd               mm             yyyy

Provide a general description of the premises

Page 15



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

For example the type of premises, its general situation and layout and any other information which could be relevant to the 
licensing objectives. Where your application includes off-supplies of alcohol and you intend to provide a place for 
consumption of these off- supplies you must include a description of where the place will be and its proximity to the 
premises.

THIS IS CLOSED POST OFFICE AND LICENSED STORE. APPLICANT IS INVESTING TO BRING THE STORE BACK TO LIVE. THIS 
WILL BE A SMALL LOCAL STORE WITH ALL PRODUCTS AND SERVICES FOR LOCAL RESIDENTS. IT IS A GREAT OPPORTUNITY 
FOR THE STORE TO REOPEN FOR THE LOCAL AREA, AS OPPOSED A CLOSED STORE. 

If 5,000 or more people are 
expected to attend the 
premises at any one time, 
state the number expected to 
attend

Section 6 of 21

PROVISION OF PLAYS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing plays?

Yes No

Section 7 of 21

PROVISION OF FILMS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing films?

Yes No

Section 8 of 21

PROVISION OF INDOOR SPORTING EVENTS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing indoor sporting events?

Yes No

Section 9 of 21

PROVISION OF BOXING OR WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENTS

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing boxing or wrestling entertainments?

Yes No

Section 10 of 21

PROVISION OF LIVE MUSIC

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing live music?

Yes No

Section 11 of 21

PROVISION OF RECORDED MUSIC

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Page 16



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

Will you be providing recorded music?

Yes No

Section 12 of 21

PROVISION OF PERFORMANCES OF DANCE

See guidance on regulated entertainment

Will you be providing performances of dance?

Yes No

Section 13 of 21

PROVISION OF ANYTHING OF A SIMILAR DESCRIPTION TO LIVE MUSIC, RECORDED MUSIC OR PERFORMANCES OF 
DANCE

See guidance on regulated entertainment
Will you be providing anything similar to live music, recorded music or 
performances of dance?

Yes No

Section 14 of 21

LATE NIGHT REFRESHMENT

Will you be providing late night refreshment?

Yes No

Section 15 of 21

SUPPLY OF ALCOHOL

Will you be selling or supplying alcohol?

Yes No

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 
(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 
of the week when you intend the premises 
to be used for the activity.

TUESDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

THURSDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

Page 17



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

FRIDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

Will the sale of alcohol be for consumption:

On the premises Off the premises Both

If the sale of alcohol is for consumption on 
the premises select on, if the sale of alcohol 
is for consumption away from the premises 
select off. If the sale of alcohol is for 
consumption on the premises and away 
from the premises select both.

State any seasonal variations

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

Non-standard timings. Where the premises will be used for the supply of alcohol at different times from those listed in the 
column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

State the name and details of the individual whom you wish to specify on the 
licence as premises supervisor

Name

First name NIRANJAN

Family name SIVANATHAN

Date of birth

Page 18



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

Enter the contact's address

Building number or name

Street

District

City or town

County or administrative area

Postcode

Country

Personal Licence number 
(if known)

Issuing licensing authority 
(if known)

PROPOSED DESIGNATED PREMISES SUPERVISOR CONSENT

How will the consent form of the proposed designated premises  supervisor 
be supplied to the authority? 

Electronically, by the proposed designated premises supervisor

As an attachment to this application

Reference number for consent 
form (if known)

If the consent form is already submitted, ask 
the proposed designated premises 
supervisor for its 'system reference' or 'your 
reference'.

Section 16 of 21

ADULT ENTERTAINMENT

Highlight any adult entertainment or services, activities, or other entertainment or matters ancillary to the use of the 
premises that may give rise to concern in respect of children

Give information about anything intended to occur at the premises or ancillary to the use of the premises which may give 
rise to concern in respect of children, regardless of whether you intend children to have access to the premises, for example 
(but not exclusively) nudity or semi-nudity, films for restricted age groups etc gambling machines etc.

NONE

Section 17 of 21

HOURS PREMISES ARE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Standard Days And Timings

MONDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

Give timings in 24 hour clock. 
(e.g., 16:00) and only give details for the days 
of the week when you intend the premises 
to be used for the activity.

Page 19



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

TUESDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

WEDNESDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

THURSDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

FRIDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

SATURDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

SUNDAY

Start 07:00 End 23:00

Start End

State any seasonal variations

For example (but not exclusively) where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer months.

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises to be open to the members and guests at different times from 
those listed in the column on the left, list below

For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g. Christmas Eve.

Section 18 of 21

LICENSING OBJECTIVES

Describe the steps you intend to take to promote the four licensing objectives:

a) General – all four licensing objectives (b,c,d,e)

Page 20



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

List here steps you will take to promote all four licensing objectives together.

1. The Licensee shall ensure that each member of staff authorised to sell alcohol has received appropriate training on the 
law with regard to age-restricted products, proxy sales, and the licensable hours and conditions attached to the licence, 
including refresher training every six months, and that this is properly documented and training records kept. The training 
record (either written or electronic) shall be kept on the licensed premises and made available for inspection by the 
Licensing Officer, Trading Standards or the Police, on request.

b) The prevention of crime and disorder

2. CCTV will be provided in the form of a recordable system, capable of providing pictures of evidential quality in all lighting 
conditions 
3. Cameras shall encompass all ingress and egress to the premises, fire exits and all areas where the sale and supply of 
alcohol occurs. 
4. Equipment must be maintained in good working order, be correctly time and date stamped, recordings MUST be kept on 
the hard drive and kept for a period of 31 days and handed to Police upon reasonable request. 
5. The premises licence holder must ensure at all times a DPS or appointed member of staff is capable and competent at 
downloading CCTV footage in a recordable format to the Police and Local Authority upon reasonable request. 
6. An Incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available on request to a police officer, police licensing officer or 
council authorised licensing officer. It must be completed within 24 hours of the incident and will record the following: 
•       All crimes reported at the venue. 
•       All ejections of patrons 
•       Any complaints received concerning crime and disorder. 
•       Any incident of disorder 
•       All seizure of drugs or offensive weapons 
•       Any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment. 
•       Any refusal of the sale of alcohol 
•       Any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service            
•       Each entry is to be checked and signed by the DPS/Licensee no later than 1 week after the entry has been made. The 
register must be made available to Police, Police Licensing Officers and authorised officers from the Local Authority either 
electronically or hard copy. 

c) Public safety

7. The Licensee shall ensure that appropriate fire safety procedures are in place. 
 
8. The Licensee shall ensure that all fire escapes/escape routes will be clearly marked and kept free from obstructions at all 
times. 

d) The prevention of public nuisance

9. Management will ensure that all customers move away from the premises after leaving the property and do not loiter in 
the area. 

e) The protection of children from harm

10. Prominently advertise the scheme in your premises so that customers are aware, display proof of age signs at the point 
of sale. These can be downloaded for printing at http://www.challenge25.org/downloads.html. 
 
11. Keep a refusals book on the premises and ensure it is completed whenever a sale is refused to a person who cannot 
prove they are over the age of 18 years. 
 
12.   The date should contact the date, time of the incident, a description of the customer, the name of the staff member 

Page 21



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...
who refused the sale and the reason the sale was refused. 
 
13.    The book should be made available to police and authorised council officer on request. 
  
14. A ‘challenge 25’ scheme serves as a reminder to staff of the need to be vigilant in preventing underage sales and to 
customers that it is against the law for anyone under 18 to purchase alcohol. A useful website is http://www.challenge25.
org/ 
 
15. Only accept photographic driving licence, passports or PASS (proof of age standards scheme) cars approved as means of 
ID. If you accept other forms of ID such as EU national ID cards, these must bear a photograph, DOB, and holographic mark. 
 
 

Section 19 of 21

NOTES ON DEMONSTRATING ENTITLEMENT TO WORK IN THE UK

Page 22



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

Entitlement to work/immigration status for individual applicants and applications from partnerships which are not 
limited liability partnerships:  
A licence may not be held by an individual or an individual in a partnership who is resident in the UK who:  

 • does not have the right to live and work in the UK; or  
 • is subject to a condition preventing him or her from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable 
 activity.  

Any premises licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 April 2017 will become invalid if the holder 
ceases to be entitled to work in the UK.  
Applicants must demonstrate that they have an entitlement to work in the UK and are not subject to a condition preventing 
them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity. They do this in one of two ways: 1) by providing 
with this application copies or scanned copies of the documents listed below (which do not need to be certified), or 2) by 
providing their 'share code' to enable the licensing authority to carry out a check using the Home Office online right to work 
checking service (see below). 
Documents which demonstrate entitlement to work in the UK 

 • An expired or current passport showing the holder, or a person named in the passport as the child of the 
 holder, is A British citizen or a citizen of the UK and Colonies having the right of abode in the UK [please see 
 note below about which sections of the passport to copy].  

 • An expired or current passport or national identity card showing the holder, or a person named in the passport 
 as the child of the holder, is a national of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.  

 • A Registration Certificate or document certifying permanent residence issued by the Home Office to a national 
 of a European Economic Area country or Switzerland.  
 • A Permanent Residence Card issued by the Home Office to the family member of a national of a European  
 Economic Area country or Switzerland.  

 • A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by the Home Office to the 
 holder indicating that the person named is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK, or has no time limit on their  
 stay in the UK. 

 • A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is exempt from immigration control, is allowed to stay 
 indefinitely in the UK, has the right of abode in the UK, or has no time limit on their stay in the UK. 

• A current Immigration Status Document issued by the Home Office to the holder with an endorsement 
 indicating that the named person is allowed to stay indefinitely in the UK or has no time limit on their stay in 
 the UK, when produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National  
 Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer.  

• A birth or adoption certificate issued in the UK, when produced in combination with an official document 
 giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a Government agency 
 or a previous employer. 

• A birth or adoption certificate issued in the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or Ireland when produced in  
 combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their  
 name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer. 

• A certificate of registration or naturalisation as a British citizen, when produced in combination with an 
 official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance number and their name issued by a  
 Government agency or a previous employer. 

Page 23



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

• A current passport endorsed to show that the holder is allowed to stay in the UK and is currently allowed to 
 work and is not subject to a condition preventing the holder from doing work relating to the carrying on of a  
 licensable activity.   
• A current Biometric Immigration Document (Biometric Residence Permit) issued by the Home Office to the 
 holder which indicates that the named person can currently stay in the UK and is allowed to work relation to  
 the carrying on of a licensable activity. 

• A current Residence Card issued by the Home Office to a person who is not a national of a European Economic  
 Area state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has derivative rights or 
 residence. 

• A current Immigration Status Document containing a photograph issued by the Home Office to the holder  
 with an endorsement indicating that the named person may stay in the UK, and is allowed to work and is not  
 subject  to a condition preventing the holder from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity  
 when produced in combination with an official document giving the person’s permanent National Insurance  
 number and their name issued by a Government agency or a previous employer. 

• A Certificate of Application, less than 6 months old, issued by the Home Office under regulation 18(3) or 20(2)  
 of the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2016, to a  person who is not a national of a  
 European Economic Area  state or Switzerland but who is a family member of such a national or who has  
 derivative rights of residence.  

• Reasonable evidence that the person has an outstanding application to vary their permission to be in the UK  
 with the Home Office such as the Home Office acknowledgement letter or proof of postage evidence, or  
 reasonable evidence that the person has an appeal or administrative review pending on an immigration  
 decision, such as an appeal or administrative review reference number. 

• Reasonable evidence that a person who is not a national of a European Economic Area state or Switzerland but  
 who is a family member of such a national or who has derivative rights of residence in exercising treaty rights in 
 the UK including:-  

• evidence of the applicant’s own identity – such as a passport,  
• evidence of their relationship with the European Economic Area family member – e.g. a marriage  
 certificate, civil partnership certificate or birth certificate, and 
• evidence that the European Economic Area national has a right of permanent residence in the UK or is one  
 of the following if they have been in the UK for more than 3 months: 

(i) working e.g. employment contract, wage slips, letter from the employer, 
(ii) self-employed e.g. contracts, invoices, or audited accounts with a bank, 
(iii) studying e.g. letter from the school, college or university and evidence of sufficient funds; or 
(iv) self-sufficient e.g. bank statements. 

Family members of European Economic Area nationals who are studying or financially independent must also provide 
evidence that the European Economic Area national and any family members hold comprehensive sickness insurance in the 
UK. This can include a private medical insurance policy, an EHIC card or an S1, S2 or S3 form. 
Original documents must not be sent to licensing authorities. If the document copied is a passport, a copy of the 
following pages should be provided:- 
(i) any page containing the holder’s personal details including nationality; 
(ii) any page containing the holder’s photograph; 
(iii) any page containing the holder’s signature; 
(iv) any page containing the date of expiry; and 
(v) any page containing information indicating the holder has permission to enter or remain in the UK and is permitted to 
work.  
 

Page 24



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

If the document is not a passport, a copy of the whole document should be provided. 
Your right to work will be checked as part of your licensing application and this could involve us checking your immigration 
status with the Home Office. We may otherwise share information with the Home Office. Your licence application will not be 
determined until you have complied with this guidance.  
  
 Home Office online right to work checking service 
  
As an alternative to providing a copy of the documents listed above, applicants may demonstrate their right to work by 
allowing the licensing authority to carry out a check with the Home Office online right to work checking service.  
  
To demonstrate their right to work via the Home Office online right to work checking service, applicants should include in 
this application their 9-digit share code (provided to them upon accessing the service at https://www.gov.uk/prove-right-
to-work) which, along with the applicant's date of birth (provided within this application), will allow the licensing authority 
to carry out the check.  
  
In order to establish the applicant's right to work, the check will need to indicate that the applicant is allowed to work in the 
United Kingdom and is not subject to a condition preventing them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a 
licensable activity. 
  
An online check will not be possible in all circumstances because not all applicants will have an immigration status that can 
be checked online. The Home Office online right to work checking service sets out what information and/or documentation 
applicants will need in order to access the service. Applicants who are unable to obtain a share code from the service 
should submit copy documents as set out above.  
 

Section 20 of 21

NOTES ON REGULATED ENTERTAINMENT

Page 25

https://www.gov.uk/prove-right-to-work
https://www.gov.uk/prove-right-to-work


© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

In terms of specific regulated entertainments please note that:  

• Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08:00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience  
 does not exceed 500. 

• Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in community premises  between 08.00 and  
 23.00 on any day provided that the audience does not exceed 500 and the organiser (a) gets consent to the  
 screening from a person who is responsible for the premises; and (b) ensures that each such screening abides  
 by age classification ratings. 

• Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided  
 that the audience does not exceed 1000.     

• Boxing or Wrestling Entertainment:  no licence is required for a contest, exhibition or display of Greco-Roman  
 wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the audience does not  
 exceed 1000. Combined fighting sports – defined as a contest, exhibition or display which combines boxing or  
 wrestling with one or more martial arts – are licensable as a boxing or wrestling entertainment rather than an  
 indoor sporting event. 

• Live music: no licence permission is required for: 
o a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, on any premises. 
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to sell  
 alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a workplace that is not  
 licensed to sell alcohol on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500.  
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village hall,  
 community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell  
 alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the  
 performance from a person who is responsible for the premises. 
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-residential premises 
 of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500,  
 and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local  
 authority concerned, or (ii) the school or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 

• Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for: 
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises authorised to sell alcohol  
 for consumption on those premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church hall, village hall,  
 community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell  
 alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the  
 performance from a person who is responsible for the premises. 
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the non-residential premises of (i) a  
 local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) 
 the organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority  
 concerned, or (ii) the school proprietor or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital. 

Page 26



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

• Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, provided that the  
 audience does not exceed 500. However, a performance which amounts to adult entertainment remains  
 licensable. 

• Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, with no limit on  
 audience size for:    

o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where the entertainment is provided 
 by or on behalf of the local authority;  
o any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care provider where the  
 entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care provider;  
o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the entertainment is provided by or  
 on behalf of the school proprietor; and 
o any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling entertainment) taking place at a travelling  
 circus, provided that (a) it takes place within a moveable structure that accommodates the audience, and  
 (b) that the travelling circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 consecutive days. 

Section 21 of 21

PAYMENT DETAILS

This fee must be paid to the authority. If you complete the application online, you must pay it by debit or credit card.

Premises Licence Fees are determined by the non&nbsp;domestic rateable&nbsp;value of the premises. 
To find out a premises non domestic rateable value go to the Valuation Office Agency site at http://www.voa.gov.uk/
business_rates/index.htm 
Band A - No RV to £4300 £100.00 
Band B - £4301 to £33000 £190.00 
Band C - £33001 to £8700 £315.00 
Band D - £87001 to £12500 £450.00* 
Band E - £125001 and over £635.00* 
*If the premises rateable value is in Bands D or E and the premises is primarily used for the consumption of alcohol on the 
premises then your are required to pay a higher fee 
Band D - £87001 to £12500 £900.00 
Band E - £125001 and over £1,905.00 
There is an exemption from the payment of fees in relation to the provision of regulated entertainment at church halls, 
chapel halls or premises of a similar nature, village halls, parish or community halls, or other premises of a similar nature. The 
costs associated with these licences will be met by central Government. If, however, the licence also authorises the use of 
the premises for the supply of alcohol or the provision of late night refreshment, a fee will be required. 
Schools and sixth form colleges are exempt from the fees associated with the authorisation of regulated entertainment 
where the entertainment is provided by and at the school or college and for the purposes of the school or college. 
If you operate a large event you are subject to ADDITIONAL fees based upon the number in attendance at any one time 
Capacity 5000-9999 £1,000.00 
Capacity 10000 -14999 £2,000.00 
Capacity 15000-19999 £4,000.00 
Capacity 20000-29999 £8,000.00 
Capacity 30000-39000 £16,000.00 
Capacity 40000-49999 £24,000.00 
Capacity 50000-59999 £32,000.00 
Capacity 60000-69999 £40,000.00 
Capacity 70000-79999 £48,000.00 
Capacity 80000-89999 £56,000.00 
Capacity 90000 and over £64,000.00

* Fee amount (£) 190.00

DECLARATION
1

Page 27



© Crown copyright 

Continued from previous page...

* I/we understand it is an offence, liable on conviction to a fine up to level 5 on the standard scale, under section 158 of the 
licensing act 2003, to make a false statement in or in connection with this application.

Ticking this box indicates you have read and understood the above declaration

This section should be completed by the applicant, unless you answered "Yes" to the question "Are you an agent acting on 
behalf of the applicant?”

* Full name NIRA SURESH

* Capacity LICENSING AGENT

* Date 19 / 12 / 2025
 dd               mm             yyyy

Add another signatory

Once you're finished you need to do the following: 
1. Save this form to your computer by clicking file/save as...
2. Go back to  https://www.gov.uk/apply-for-a-licence/premises-licence/lancaster/apply-1 to upload this file and continue 
with your application.
Don't forget to make sure you have all your supporting documentation to hand.

IT IS AN OFFENCE LIABLE TO SUMMARY CONVICTION TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE 
LICENSING ACT 2003, TO MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION  
  
IT IS AN OFFENCE UNDER SECTION 24B OF THE IMMIGRATION ACT 1971 FOR A PERSON TO WORK WHEN THEY 
KNOW, OR HAVE REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THEY ARE DISQUALIFIED FROM DOING SO BY REASON OF 
THEIR IMMIGRATION STATUS. THOSE WHO EMPLOY AN ADULT WITHOUT LEAVE OR WHO IS SUBJECT TO 
CONDITIONS AS TO EMPLOYMENT WILL BE LIABLE TO A CIVIL PENALTY UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE IMMIGRATION, 
ASYLUM AND NATIONALITY ACT 2006 AND PURSUANT TO SECTION 21 OF THE SAME ACT, WILL BE COMMITTING AN 
OFFENCE WHERE THEY DO SO IN THE KNOWLEDGE, OR WITH REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THE EMPLOYEE 
IS DISQUALIFIED

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/apply-for-a-licence/premises-licence/lancaster/apply-1


© Crown copyright 

OFFICE USE ONLY

Applicant reference number 1789

Fee paid

Payment provider reference

ELMS Payment Reference

Payment status

Payment authorisation code

Payment authorisation date

Date and time submitted

Approval deadline

Error message

Is Digitally signed

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 Next >

Page 29



Page 30



OBJECTION 1  
 
From: Jodie Watt  
Sent: 03 January 2026 20:06 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Representation objecting to premises licence application for alcohol sales until 23:00 at 
Scale Hall Store, 74 Cleveleys Ave, Lancaster, LA1 5HD 

 
This email is from an external email address  
Do not click any links or open attachments unless you know the content is safe.  
Never disclose your password to anyone.  

 
Dear Licensing Team, 
 
I am writing to make a representation in relation to the application for the sale of 
alcohol until 23:00 at Scale Hall Store, 74 Cleveleys Ave, Lancaster, LA1 5HD.  
I live locally to the premises and wish to make a formal objection against the 
application on the grounds of the prevention of public nuisance, Prevention of crime 
and disorder, Protection of children from harm and public safety, in line with the 
licensing objectives under the Licensing Act 2003. 
My concerns are as follows:  
 • Extended alcohol sales until 11 pm are likely to lead to increased noise and 
disturbance in the immediate area during late evening hours, including people 
congregating outside the premises, raised voices and car doors slamming. There is also 
concern about littering associated with alcohol consumption, such as bottles and 
cans. These impacts would significantly affect the peaceful enjoyment of nearby homes 
and disrupt residents during evening and night-time hours, particularly during hours 
when the area is otherwise quiet. I am particularly concerned about the impact of late-
night disturbance on residents’ well-being. I am managing a long-term mental health 
condition, and a stable, quiet environment is important for maintaining my health. 
Ongoing late-evening noise and disruption would be detrimental and foreseeable if the 
license were granted as applied for.  
 • There are concerns regarding public safety, particularly during late hours. The sale of 
alcohol until late evening hours is likely to increase the risk of antisocial behavior in the 
immediate vicinity of the premises. This may include theft, vandalism, and disorderly 
conduct, particularly as customers arrive and leave during later hours, which would 
negatively affect residents’ sense of safety when entering or leaving their homes in the 
evening. The congregation of people outside the premises in the evening could further 
impact safety and residents’ ability to move freely and comfortably within the area. 
There is also concern that alcohol sales late into the evening may lead to increased 
police callouts in what is otherwise a peaceful residential area.  
 • The premises are in close proximity to residential housing and areas where children 
are present. There are concerns about exposure to alcohol-related behavior, 
particularly in the evenings, as well as the risk of underage access if alcohol is sold later 
into the night. I am also planning to start a family, and the prospect of increased late-
night activity and disturbance close to my home raises concerns about the suitability of 
the environment for children and families. For these reasons, I respectfully request that 
the council refuse the application. If the license is minded to be granted, I ask that this 

Page 31



is only done with significantly reduced hours and strict conditions to mitigate noise, 
prevent loitering outside the premises, control litter, and address antisocial behavior. 
Thank you for considering this representation. 
Yours faithfully, 
Jodie Simpson 
 
Address: Lancaster, LA1 5HE 
 
OBJECTION 2  
 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: M Edmondson  
Sent: 04 January 2026 17:21 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Scale Hall Store, 74 Cleveleys Avenue sale of alcohol licence/ grant application  
 
Dear Sirs, 
 
I am writing to air my concerns to the application which has been submitted for a licence / grant 
relating to the sale of alcohol from 7am- 11pm at Scale Hall Store, 74 Cleveleys Avenue Lancaster, 
LA1 5HD. 
 
As A neighbour of this address I strongly disagree with the store selling alcohol in a residential area 
the impact of the noise, safety, antisocial behaviour, litter and not to mention the traffic on an 
already built up busy street could be potentially disastrous! There are also lots of children in this 
area, either residents and children / teenagers going to and from school and college, we also have 
venerable residential house close by with a second one due to open at the end of West Road a mere 
5 minute walk from the premises. 
 
We also have a number of premises selling alcohol already in the area - Aldi, Asda, Scale Hall Spar, 
One  Stop Torrisholme, The Vale Post Office, Toms Cabin Ryelands and very soon Morrisons in 
Torrisholme. 
 
Please take the above points as my objections against the application. 
 
Regards 
 
Mark Edmondson 
Lancaster 
LA1 5HD 
 

OBJECTION 3 
 
 
From: Christine  
Sent: 04 January 2026 18:21 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Licence / Grant Re: 74 Cleveleys Avenue, Lancaster, LA1 5HD 

 

Page 32



 
To Whom it may concern,  
 
I am writing this email re the above (74 Cleveleys Avenue, Lancaster, LA1 5HD) to object 
the application for a license / grant for the above to sell alcohol between the hours of 
7am to 11pm 7days a week. 
 
My concerns regarding the potential impact are as follows: 
 
1. This is a quiet residential area 
2. There would be an increase in traffic, there are children walking to and from school 
crossing already busy roads, leading to safety issues. 
3. The noise levels would rise, residents would not be able to open windows in hot 
weather due to the increased noise, car doors banging, disrupting sleep, and residents 
will have their sleep broken causing increased stress and anxiety. 
4. Anti-social behaviour, there would be people sitting drinking on residents garden 
walls again causing an increase in anti-social behaviour, property being 
damaged.  Police would  need to be informed of the anti-social behaviour, again 
causing stress and anxiety. 
5. Increased crime in the area.  Prior to ropes being put across the front of 74 Cleveleys 
Avenue there have been instances of drug dealing ( a young woman sat in a white range 
rover, a young man on a bicycle cycled along dressed all in black head covered threw a 
small package into the range rover the young woman then drove off) the police were 
notified, however nothing was done about this. Instances like this would increase.  It is 
not necessary to open from 7am until 11pm 7 days a week.  
6. There is a Spar shop at the top of Scale Hall Lane open until 10pm daily (2 
minutes walk away) selling alcohol and a good range of groceries, why is it necessary to 
open a further shop selling alcohol. 
7. As this is a quiet residential area house prices will fall by tens of thousands of pounds 
 
I look forward to hearing from you. 
 
Kind regards 
Christine Robinson 
 
Post Code: LA1 5HN 
 
OBJECTION 4 
 
 
From: William Hopps  
Sent: 05 January 2026 08:00 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Licence for the sale of alcohol 

 
 

Page 33



I would like to object to the licence, for a alcohol off licence at 74 Cleveleys avenue 
lancaster la1 5hd to be granted .for safety reasons  .I have lived in my property at 
Cleveleys avenue For over 40 years and do not think ,it would be needed in this location 
and would cause more problems, with traffic and noise and feel it would definitely 
lower the tone of the neighbourhood and also ,would lower house prices, we have aldi 
and asda located in walking distance ,would just cause ,antisocial incidents with cars 
and young people  
 
OBJECTION 5  
 
 
From: Pam Hannah 
Sent: 05 January 2026 09:37 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Objection to a proposed off licence at 74 Cleveleys Avenue Lancaster LA1 5HD 

 
To whom it may concern 
 
I am sending this email in support of all the residents who live in & around the scale hall 
area & as a resident of Cleveleys Avenue myself, that you should seriously consider 
what a negative impact this Off License would have in the area. 
 
My thoughts are, to protect young families & an aging  area from creating  an increased 
dangerous & unhealthy environment  from traffic, noise, waste etc. 
 
It is a shame we have lost a post office which served the area well but I understand 
times are changing & let those changes happen in a  positive way by, perhaps, keeping 
this land for residential only. I think 2 affordable newly built houses for young 
families  would be something to consider. 
 
Regards, 
Pam. 
  
OBJECTION 6 
 
From: Lisa Richardson  
Sent: 05 January 2026 12:08 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Submission of Licencing Application, Scale Hall Store, 74 Cleveleys Ave.LA1 5HD. 

 
This email is from an external email address  
Do not click any links or open attachments unless you know the content is safe.  
Never disclose your password to anyone.  

 
Good Morning  
 
I write with my objection to the above submission. 
 

Page 34



Our property is across the road from this proposal, and this street is a safe and quiet 
residential area, where neighbours know one another. 
 
There are a number of families with children around also, and the suggestion that this 
property is turned into shop selling alcohol between the hours if 7am - 11pm, 7 days a 
weeks,is completely unacceptable. 
 
There will be an dramatic increase in noise from the people that will frequent the shop 
at those hours while local residents will be disturbed. Not only from the noise, but there 
will be anti social behaviours , possibly attracting drug use, an increase in traffic on 
Cleveleys Ave and in turn on Penryhn Road. 
 
Local residents will feel unsafe in their own properties with this proposed 
establishment being open for 16 hours a day, 7 days a week.!  
 
This is a massive concern as families walk their children on these streets, taking them 
to the local school and returning in the afternoon. The knock on effect from this 
proposal and increase in traffic at all hours, is massive. 
 
Delivery wagons will be coming and causing obstructions for residents and creating 
noise, at goodness knows what hours. It is not acceptable. 
 
Those deliveries will also impact on the environment, and along with excess traffic this 
establishment will bring. 
 
A store of this nature is not required on Cleveleys Ave, because there is the Spar shop, 
Aldi and Asda, all a stones throw away. 
 
I therefore object to this application as set out above. 
 
On a final note, why have local residents not been informed in writing of this proposal? 
 
Instead an A4 piece of paper has been sellotaped to the window, of which was not 
accessible to any passers-by, as the front parking area was cordoned off, by the 
tenants who were residing in the house part of the property. 
 
Many thanks 
 
Lisa, LA1 5HE.  
 
OBJECTION 7 
 
---Original Message-----  
From: Moira Buchan  
Sent: 06 January 2026 08:32  
To: licensing  
Subject: New alcohol license at scale hall store 74 Cleveleys avenue La15hd.  

Page 35



I strongly object to the granting of this license as there are already three stores within a 
quarter mile at most in this area ie scale hall spar which is open until 10pm. Aldi which 
is open till 10pm and Asda which is open 24 hours. This is more than enough to fulfill 
the needs of this area. Also the likelihood of extra noise and traffic late at night in a 
residential area is unacceptable. I am a resident of Cleveleys avenue of 35years and 
have managed without a off-licence on this street for that long.  
Yours sincerely 
 mr p Rainford  
 
OBJECTION 8 
 
 
 
From: Lucy Hobbs  
Sent: 06 January 2026 12:24 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Objection to licence application 

 
This email is from an external email address  
Do not click any links or open attachments unless you know the content is safe.  
Never disclose your password to anyone.  

 
I'm writing to object to the application submitted for a licence to sell alcohol from 74 
Cleveleys Avenue.   
 
I have concerns regarding the disruption to our neighbourhood bringing traffic, 
antisocial behaviour and noise from early in the morning until late at night.  
 
This service is not essential to the local community, situated just 1 minute drive from 
Aldi, 2 minutes drive from Spar and 2 minutes drive in the other direction to an Asda 
superstore that is open 24 hours a day. All our needs are well catered for across these 
three shops. 
 
I have lived in this area my entire life and remember the antisocial behaviour and 
vandalism the local spar shop attracted until recently. Another off license off a similar 
kind would be detrimental to our family community. 
 
Regards, 
 
Lucy Hobbs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



OBJECTION 9  
 
From: Jacob Simpson  
Sent: 07 January 2026 19:12 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: object to Scale Hall Store 

 
This email is from an external email address  
Do not click any links or open attachments unless you know the content is safe.  
Never disclose your password to anyone.  

 
To whom it may concern, 
 
I would like to object to Scale Hall Store, cleveleys avenue - application to sell alcohol 
7am to 11am.  
 
It is not needed as there are several late off licences nearby and not wanted With 
concerns that the now peaceful street will be disrupted. 
 
My concern is that it will potentially bring late night noise, littering, anti social behaviour 
and a safety concern over extra traffic where cars are already parked both sides of the 
street, 
 
Please reconsider the application. 
 
With regards 
Mr Simpson  
La15he  
 
OBJECTION 10 
 
 
 
From: Jessica Slater  
Sent: 07 January 2026 19:25 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Objection to license relating to alcohol 

 
This email is from an external email address  
Do not click any links or open attachments unless you know the content is safe.  
Never disclose your password to anyone.  

 
Hello,   
 
I am writting this email as a formal objection towards the current status of 75 Cleveleys 
Avenue, LA15HD (scale hall post office) attempting to obtain an alcohol liscence to 
sell.  
 

Page 37



My family and I live on Cleveleys Avenue and are aware that this liscence will bring 
noise, safety concerns, anti-social behaviour, traffic, distribution and have an 
environmental impact on our street.  
 
To further explain these valid points, my vehicle has already been hit by a fast passing 
car as this street is already busy. This street can not hold any more traffic. Where will 
customer's park? Because each house has a drive with a lowered curb enabling access 
in and out of their property. Customers will park outside of people's drives blocking 
families in, this will only cause frustration and anger. 
 
There is one bin next to the store, which weekly remains full and spills dog fecal matter 
in bags which produces an environmental stentch. This is due to the frequent usage 
already. This store will only encourage this to be a bigger problem than it already is.  
 
We have children that play and this road is already a concern, speeding is illegal but it 
occurs on our street daily.  
 
Alcohol attracts anti-social behaviour and my family have already had to invest in 
cameras due to recent concerns of the types of people walking up and down our road. 
We would not like this to become a bigger issue than it already is.  
 
There is an Aldi on the opposing street and there is a spar close by within walking 
distance that me and my family use should we require anything including alcohol. An 
alcohol liscence is not required on our street, it is not necessary and appears only an 
economic benefit amd attraction for the new owner of this establishment.  
 
We have a right to object and we hope you take our points very seriously. It only requires 
someone with logic and common sense to understand that this liscence is not 
necessary, not needed and will only bring issues to my local residence.  
 
Kind regards  
 
Jessica Slater  
Richard Sale 
LA1 5HB  
Lancaster  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



OBJECTION 11 
 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Katrina Blayden-Byrne 
Sent: 09 January 2026 12:55 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: Scale Hall Store 
 
This email is from an external email address Do not click any links or open attachments unless you 
know the content is safe. 
Never disclose your password to anyone. 
 
 
Hi 
 
We would like to object to the application for a licence relating to the sale of alcohol between 07.00 
and 23.00 for Scale Hall Store, 74 Cleveleys Ave, Lancaster LA1 5HD. 
 
Our objection is based on the following licensing objectives: 
 
1. Prevention of Public Nuisance 
We are concerned that the lateness of the licence request will lead to increased noise levels due to 
customers leaving the premises / congregating outside. This will have a negative impact on what is 
currently a quiet and safe residential street. 
 
2 Prevention of Crime and Disorder 
Extending alcohol sales at this location may increase the risk of incidents, placing additional strain on 
local policing resources. 
 
3 Protection of Children from Harm 
This is a residential street filled with families with children of varying ages. We also have a number of 
schools nearby and also playgrounds. We are concerned that the increased alcohol availability could 
expose children to inappropriate behaviour or environment. 
 
This location has previously been a Post Office with a licence to sell alcohol. The store used to open 
between 9am and 5pm with very little issues relating to the sale of alcohol between those hours. A 
store that is open till 11pm on a quiet residential and family street really does raise numerous 
concerns as a parent who has lived on the street since 2007 without any issues. 
 
I would also like to point out that should residents feel the urge to purchase alcohol late at night, 
they are within walking distance  from Asda (24hrs), Aldi (10pm) and Spar (10pm), all of which are 
set within specific areas designed for customers coming and going and not directly on a residential 
street. 
 
At the very least we would request that the hours be restricted to a 9 to 5 opening. 
 
Kind regards 
Andrew & Katrina Blayden-Byrne 
Lancaster 
LA1 5HD 

Page 39



 
OBJECTION 12 
 

 
From: Dorothea Williamson  
Sent: 10 January 2026 21:23 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: ref Licence application for 74 , Cleveleys Ave 

 
Hello. 
 
My name is Dorothea Williamson and I live at, Cleveleys Ave LA1 5HD. 
 
I've been informed about a licence application for the premises at 74, Cleveleys 
Ave LA1 5HD. 
It says there will be alcohol on sale from 7am - 11 pm every day. 
 
I strongly object to this for various reasons: 
 

1. This is a peaceful residential area with many young families, children, 
teenagers and older people. A shop selling alcohol would attract a 
clientele that's likely to cause disturbances  

2. In spring /summer it would need to be expected that customers 
consume alcohol outside - esp as there is a forecourt. We all know the 
consequences of drinking. As an older person(75 years old) and living on 
my own I wouldn't feel safe anymore as I live only houses away. 

3. A clientele that is into alcohol is often problematic and we all know 
about anti-social behaviour that can easily go with it. This brings a threat 
to our peaceful neighbourhood 

4. There are supermarkets Aldi, Asda and Spar within a few minutes driving 
distance which sell alcohol at the same opening times. There is really no 
need for an extra shop 

5. It will attract students from the nearby LM College in lunchbreaks and 
later on and seduce them to consume alcohol 

6. Cleveleys Ave is a quiet neighbourhood. Customers will be likely to come 
along in cars and cause noise and extra traffic for the area 

7. More traffic would also cause a risk to road safety for the many young 
families that live in Cleveleys Ave 

8. Small shops like the one proposed are often not as strictly monitored 
and local teenagers can get attracted and seduced by the presence of 

Page 40



such a shop that might waive age checks as it has been seen in Lancaster 
city centre last year 

 
I do hope you give my concerns and those of my neighbours your 
consideration.  
I'm deeply worried about this application . 
 
Yours sincerely 
Dorothea Williamson  
 
OBJECTION 13  
From: Fiona Hopps  
Sent: 11 January 2026 19:46 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: Licensing for sale of alcohol 74,CLEVELEYS AVENUE 

 
This email is from an external email address  
Do not click any links or open attachments unless you know the content is safe.  
Never disclose your password to anyone.  

 
I am writing to you with my strong objection to the sale of Alcohol at 74 Cleveleys 
Avenue.  
As a local resident I am absolutely opposed to this.The sale of alcohol is available 
within walking distance from us as in.. Aldi Asda and the local Spar. The distance from 
our doorsteps to the forecourt of this premises is going to be distrupted by traffic 
,unwanted noise and a gathering point for unwanted youths and is quite frankly 
uncalled for !! 
FIONA HOPPS 
LA1 5HE  
 
OBJECTION 14 
 
 
From: CHRISTINE ADAMS 
Sent: 12 January 2026 09:41 
To: licensing <licensing@lancaster.gov.uk> 
Subject: 74 Cleveleys Avenue Lancaster 

 
This email is from an external email address  
Do not click any links or open attachments unless you know the content is safe.  
Never disclose your password to anyone.  

 
Dear Sirs, 
 
I am writing to object to the proposed off licence at the above address. I have lived at this address for 
47 years & until a good few years ago the premises were a Post Office, which regularly caused 

Page 41



problems in exiting & entering my driveway due to an excess of traffic, & the Post Office hours were 
09.00 until 17.00. 
 
One can only imagine the impact of extra traffic during the trading hours of 07.00 to 23.00. Other than 
the problem of traffic, there will be a lot more noise which will have a detrimental effect to those living 
in close proximity. The junction of Cleveleys Avenue onto Penrhyn Road is one that many drivers cut 
at speed with no expectation of any other road users being in their correct position so the possibility 
for accidents will most definitely increase. 
 
If people wish to buy alcohol there is Spar not too far away & of course Aldi both of which are open 
until 22.00, so there would seem to be no actual need for this off licence to proceed, the 
disadvantages far outweigh any advantage that the owners of these premises would care to put 
forward. 
 
Regards 
Christine Adams  
LA1 5HE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 42



Statement of 
Licensing Policy 2023-2027

Author: Licensing Manager
Document Name: Statement of Licensing Policy 2023 - 2027 
Approved by Full Council: 24th April 2024
Date due for review: January 2028
Responsible for review: Licensing Manager

Page 43

APPENDIX 3




The Lancaster district is one of 12 local authority areas in Lancashire and is the most 
northerly within the County. The district shares its borders with both Cumbria and 
Yorkshire. Lancaster City Council covers the historic University City of Lancaster, the 
coastal resort of Morecambe, the town of Carnforth as well as the surrounding rural areas.

The premises within the district that are required to be licensed are many and varied, 
catering for diverse tastes and consumer demands. Several open-air events and festivals 
take place annually in the district further enhancing the offer of cultural activities.

The Licensing Authority recognises that the entertainment, hospitality and leisure 
industry within its authority area is a major contributor to the local economy.  It attracts 
tourists and visitors, makes for vibrant towns and communities, and is a major employer. 

Page 44



1. Introduction 	 4

1.1 	 Background	 4

1.2 	 Aim	 4

1.3 	 Purpose	 4

1.4 	 Consultation	 4

1.5 	 Fundamental Principles	 5

2.0 General Principles	 6

2.1 	 Legislation	 6

2.2 	 Revisions to Policy	 6

2.3 	 Areas of Concern	 6

2.4 	 Children	 6

2.5 	 Licensing Hours	 7

2.6 	 Late Night Levies (LNL) and Early Morning  
	 Restriction Orders (EMRO’s)	 8

2.7 	 Late Night Refreshment	 9

3.0 Licensing Approach	 10

3.1 	 Partnership Working	 10

3.2 	 Cumulative Impact Policy	 10

3.3.	  Local Strategies and Policies	 10

3.4 	 Integrating Strategies	 10

3.5 	 Avoiding Duplication	 11

3.6 	 Representations	 11

3.7 	 Conditions	 11

3.8 	 Enforcement	 12

3.9 	 Complaints Against Licensed Premises	 13

3.10	 Live Music, Dancing and Theatre 	 13

4.0 Administrative Issues	 14

4.1 	 Premises Licence	 14

4.2 	 Garages	 15

4.3 	 Mobile Premises	 15

4.4 	 Temporary Event Notices	 16

4.5 	 Personal Licences & Exemption of the  
	 Requirement for a Designated Premises Supervisor	 16

4.6 	 Large Scale Events	 17

4.7 	 Sustainable Event Management	 18

4.8 	 Event Safety Advisory Groups (ESAGS)	 18

4.9 	 Reviews of Licence or Club Premises Certificate	 18

4.10 	 Administration, Exercise and Delegation of Functions	 19

Contacts	 20

Appendices	 21

A1 : Responsible Authorities - Consultee Contact Details	 22

A2 : Model Conditions	 23

A3 : Scheme of Delegation	 30

Page 45



1 Introduction
1.1 Background
1.1.1 Lancaster City Council (the Council) is the Licensing 
Authority under the Licensing Act 2003 (the 2003 Act). It is 
empowered to administer the following in respect of the 
sale and/or supply of alcohol and the provision of regulated 
entertainment and late-night refreshment within the district:

•	 premises licences including provisional 
statements, full and minor variations, transfers, 
interim authorities, and reviews 

•	 club premises certificates 

•	 temporary event notices 

•	 personal licences 

1.1.2 The Licensing Act 2003 requires a Licensing Authority to 
prepare and publish a statement of its Licensing Policy before 
the Authority can carry out any licensing or regulatory functions 
under the terms of the Licensing Act 2003. This Policy must be 
kept under review and the Licensing Authority may make any 
revisions to it, as it considers appropriate. In any event the Licensing 
Authority is required to review their Statement of Licensing 
Policy every 5 years, the previous policy ran from 2016 - 2021. 

1.1.3 This Licensing Policy sets out the issues that the Licensing 
Authority will consider when determining licences throughout 
the district and encompasses experience gained in the 
implementation and regulation of the Licensing Act 2003. 

1.1.4 In determining this Policy the Licensing Authority has 
had regard to the Guidance issued under Section 182 of 
the Licensing Act 2003. In determining applications under 
the 2003 Act the Licensing Authority shall consider:

•	 the promotion of the four licensing objectives 

•	 representations and evidence presented by all parties, 
together with any relevant supporting documentation 

•	 the latest guidance issued by the government 

•	 the licensing authority’s own Statement of Licensing Policy

1.2 Aim 
1.2.1 The 2003 Act requires the Licensing Authority to carry out its 
various licensing functions to promote the four licensing objectives. 

1.2.2 The aim of this Licensing Policy is to set out how the Licensing 
Authority seeks to promote the four licensing objectives, which are: 

•	 the prevention of crime and disorder

•	 public safety 

•	 the prevention of public nuisance 

•	 the protection of children from harm 

1.2.3 These four objectives will be the paramount 
considerations when determining a course of action in 
relation to the Licensing Authority’s licensing functions. 
Each objective will be given equal importance. 

1.3 Purpose
1.3.1 The main purpose of this Policy is to provide clarity to 
applicants, other persons and Responsible Authorities on how 
the Licensing Authority will determine applications to supply 
alcohol, provide regulated entertainment and operate late night 
refreshment. As the ‘vicinity’ test has now been removed, the 
Licensing Authority will consider all representations from any 
person however, the Licensing Authority shall apportion the weight 
of the representation between those persons immediately affected 
by the premises and its operation and those persons who may 
have a lack of knowledge of the area or of personal experience. 

1.3.2 Where revisions are made to the Guidance there 
may be a period when this Policy is inconsistent with the 
Guidance. In these circumstances the Licensing Authority 
shall have regard, and give appropriate weight, to the revised 
Guidance in conjunction with this Licensing Policy. 

1.4 Consultation
1.4.1 Before determining its policy for any five-year period, 
the Licensing Authority will consult the following:

•	 the Chief Officer of Police 

•	 the Fire and Rescue Authority

•	 the Director of Public Health 

•	 persons/bodies representative of local 
holders of premises licences 

•	 persons/bodies representative of local 
holders of club premises certificates 

•	 persons/bodies representative of local 
holders of personal licences 

•	 persons/bodies representative of businesses 
and residents in the district 

The Licensing Authority may consult beyond the statutory 
requirements, and seek comments from additional 
bodies, groups or individuals as appropriate. 

Page 46



1.5 Fundamental Principles
1.5.1 This Policy sets out the Licensing Authority’s general approach 
to the making of licensing decisions and is consistent with the 
provisions of the 2003 Act. Nothing in the Policy will undermine 
the right of any individual to apply for authorisations and to have 
any such application considered on its individual merits. Similarly, 
nothing in the Policy will override the right of any person to make 
representations on an application or to seek a review of a Licence 
or Certificate in accordance with the provisions of the 2003 Act. 

1.5.2 This Policy recognises that the Equality Act 2010 places 
a legal obligation on public authorities to have due regard to 
the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment 
and victimisation; to advance equality of opportunity; and 
to foster good relations, between persons with different 
protected characteristics. The applicant must give due 
consideration to disabled persons under this Act for access and 
egress so that they are not at a substantial disadvantage. 

1.5.3 The introduction of the Policing & Crime Act 2009 
extends Police closure powers. The Licensing Authority further 
acknowledges and supports that this legislation has been 
introduced against the background of increasing alcohol-related 
anti- social behaviour and subsequent hospital admissions that 
has led to criticism due to the increased cost to local residents. 
This Act signifies a shift back from deregulation towards offering 
greater support for communities being adversely affected. 

1.5.4 The Licensing Authority may recommend actions 
over and above the requirements of a licence/certificate 
and applicants are asked to give these recommendations 
serious consideration, as adoption of best practice may 
be considered in the investigation of complaints if they 
arise in connection with the premises in the future. 

1.5.5 The Licensing Authority may only impose conditions on 
a premises licence if they are consistent with the operating 
schedule or after receiving relevant representations and 
only if a Licensing Committee or Licensing Sub-Committee 
determines the matter. Any conditions attached to the licence 
must relate to the promotion of the Licensing Objectives. 

1.5.6 The Licensing Authority acknowledges that the Government 
believes that in some circumstances flexible hours for the 
sale of alcohol can help to ensure that the concentrations of 
customers leaving premises simultaneously are avoided. 

1.5.7 Where licensed premises are surrounded by housing, 
unrestricted extensions of hours could extend the 
time of disturbance to later in the night; therefore, the 
Licensing Authority acknowledges that tighter control 
may be justified in residential areas always however having 
regard to the individual merits of any application. 

1.5.8 In general terms the Licensing Authority will closely 
scrutinise applications for premises licences showing a 
late terminal hour so as to be satisfied that they will have 
no adverse impact on the Licensing Objectives. 

1.5.9 Once people are beyond the control of the individual, 
club or business holding the relevant authorisation, licensing 
law is not the primary mechanism for the general control 
of nuisance and anti-social behaviour. Licensing law will 
always be part of a holistic approach to the management 
of the evening and night-time economy in the district. 

1.5.10 The Licensing Authority expects every licence holder or 
event organiser to minimise the impact of their activities on 
the surrounding area and any anti-social behaviour created by 
their customers in and within the vicinity of their premises by 
taking appropriate measures and actions consistent with that 
responsibility. Whether or not incidents can be regarded as 
being in the vicinity of the licensed premises is recognised as a 
question of fact and will depend on the specific circumstances 
in each case. In cases of dispute, the question will ultimately 
be decided by the courts, where an appeal is heard by them. 
In addressing this matter, the Licensing Authority will primarily 
focus on the direct impact of the activities taking place at the 
licensed premises on members of the public living, working 
or engaged in normal activity in the area concerned. 

1.5.11 The type of entertainment offered on licensed premises 
and the closing hour of premises permitted to provide alcohol 
to the public often have a direct link to crime and disorder, 
public nuisance and public safety issues. For example, there 
is generally more likelihood of crime and disorder and public 
safety problems occurring in a music and dance venue 
permitted to sell alcohol and open until 3am than there is in a 
well-managed public house located in a quiet back street that 
provides limited regulated entertainment and closes at 11pm.

Page 47



2.0 General Principles
2.1 Legislation
2.1.1 In undertaking its licensing function under the Act, the 
Licensing Authority is also bound by other legislation, including:

•	 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1988; 

•	 Human Rights Act 1998, with regard being given to 
Article 6, Article 8 and Article 1 of the first Protocol

•	 Equalities Act 2010

•	 Policing & Crime Act 2009

•	 Business and Planning Act 2020

2.1.2 In all applications relating to premises, applicants 
should specify methods by which they will promote the 
four Licensing Objectives in their operating schedules. 

2.2 Revisions to Policy
2.2.1 The Policy shall be subject to periodic reviews and further 
consultation as and when required. The Licensing Authority 
may revise this Policy following changes to, for example:

•	 Local circumstances;

•	 The Licensing Act, associated regulations 
or statutory guidance; 

•	 Other national legislation; or 

•	 The policies and practices of a Responsible Authority 

2.3 Areas of Concern
2.3.1 Specific areas of concern include:

•	 Sales of alcohol to under 18s, directly and by-proxy

•	 Noise nuisance caused by regulated entertainment

•	 Nuisance caused by hot-food take-aways, 
particularly parking of delivery vehicles

•	 Dispersal of patrons from licensed premises

•	 Drink and needle spiking 

•	 Sexual harassment and violence towards women and girls

•	 Detailed door security operating 
procedures and risk assessments

2.3.2 Applicants for a premises licence are advised to include in 
their Operating Schedule, (where applicable) specifically how they 
will approach the areas of concern highlighted. Including how 
they will prevent the sale of alcohol to minors, what measures 
are implemented by the premises to minimise any reports of 
noise nuisance caused by regulated entertainment, to manage 
the threat of spiking in their premises, policies on how reports 
of violence or sexual harassment of women will be handled 
by the premises, How the premises will disperse customers, 
minimising the impact on local residents and parking provision 
for delivery-drivers operating for late night refreshment venues.

2.3.3 Experience indicates that a last time of entry condition 
assists in the promotion of the licensing objectives. It is 
therefore expected that applicants for late licensed premises 
will detail in their operating schedules that there will be 
no new entry or re-entry to the premises after 1am. 

2.4 Children
2.4.1 The 2003 Act requires applicants for premises 
licences and club premises certificates to copy 
details of their applications to a body which: 

a) represents those who, in relation to any such area, 
are responsible for, or interested in, matters relating 
to the protection of children from harm, and 

b) is recognised by the Licensing Authority for 
that area for the purposes of this section as being 
competent to advise it on such matters. 

2.4.2 The Licensing Authority’s policy is that the Responsible 
Authority in relation to the protection of children from harm 
is Lancashire County Council, Children’s Safeguarding team.

2.4.3 The Licensing Authority will expect licensees of premises 
giving film exhibitions to include, in their operating schedules, 
arrangements for restricting children from viewing age restricted 
films. Such premises will be subject to a mandatory condition 
requiring that access will be restricted to only those who meet the 
required age limit in accordance with any certificate granted by the 
British Board of Film Classification (BBFC), or in specific cases where 
such certificates have not been granted, the Licensing Authority.

Page 48



2.4.4 The Licensing Authority does not intend to adopt its 
own system of film classification but reserves the right to 
impose different age restrictions on admittance to film 
exhibitions from those imposed by BBFC classifications. 

2.4.5 If the Licensing Authority attaches an age-restriction to 
any film that differs from the BBFC classification or attaches 
one to an unclassified film, the information about the Licensing 
Authority’s classification will be published at the venue. 

2.4.6 The Licensing Authority shall not seek to limit the access 
of children to any licensed premises unless it is necessary for 
the prevention of physical, moral or psychological harm. In all 
other cases it will be left to the discretion of the Licensee but the 
Licensing Authority shall expect that the licensee shall give full 
consideration of access by children at all times and ensure that 
there is a policy in place to promote this licensing objective. 

2.4.7 However, the following are examples of 
issues that are likely to raise concern: -

•	 Where entertainment or services of an adult 
or sexual nature are common thereby likely 
to undermine the licensing objectives; 

•	 Where relevant premises are known to 
allow unaccompanied children; 

•	 Where the applicant has described in the Operating 
Schedule that ‘no adult or similar entertainment 
shall take place on the premises’ but intends to 
hold an event liable to compromise the protection 
of children from harm licensing objective; 

•	 Where there has been early indication and subsequent 
evidence of poor management of the premises 
leading to undermining of the licensing objectives; 

•	 Where the premises have a known association 
with drug taking or dealing; 

•	 Where the current staff have received convictions 
or cautions for serving alcohol to minors or where 
the premises has a reputation for underage 
drinking or failures in test purchasing; 

•	 Where there is a strong element of 
gambling on the premises; 

•	 Where there is likely to be underage events with the 
intention of selling or exposing alcohol for sale or 
where the intention is to permit adults to this event; 

•	 Where the supply of alcohol for consumption on 
the premises is the exclusive or primary purpose 
of the services provided at the premises. 

2.4.8 Examples of entertainment likely to cause concern 
are entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature 
including topless bar staff, striptease, lap, table or pole 
dancing, performances involving feigned violence or 
entertainment involving strong or offensive language. 

2.4.9 This Licensing Authority strongly advises that where music 
and alcohol sales are the main reasons for the event taking 
place, that persons under 18 years are not admitted unless 
the organisers have extremely robust procedures for ensuring 
those under 18 years do not have access to any alcohol – this 
includes sales, proxy sales, and bringing it onto the event. 

2.4.10 Where there are events solely provided for young people, 
for example an Under 18’s disco in a nightclub or similar relevant 
premises, the Licensing Authority strongly advises that adequate 
and sufficient measures are put in place so that young people 
cannot gain access to alcohol or energy drinks and further that 
no alcohol is served to any supervising adults at such events. The 
management of the premises should also ensure that measures 
are taken to prevent alcohol being brought onto those premises. 

2.4.11 In particular, the Licensing Authority will consider what 
conditions are offered in the Operating Schedule. The applicant 
in completing the Operating Schedule is required to describe 
the steps they intend to take to promote this Licensing Objective 
and highlight any adult entertainment or services, etc. that 
may give rise to concern in respect of children. However, where 
the applicant does not state the steps they intend to take to 
promote this Objective but does state that ‘no adult or similar 
entertainment shall take place on the premise’, the Licensing 
Authority shall consider this restriction to be a condition on 
the Licence/certificate from the publication of this Policy. 

2.5 Licensing Hours
2.4.1 With regard to licensing hours the Licensing Authority 
will consider each application on its individual merits.

 2.5.2 Applications for premises licences with a terminal hour 
later than 12 midnight where the sale or supply of alcohol for 
consumption on the premises is the main activity or where the sale 
or supply of alcohol is accompanied by musical entertainment, 
will be subject to close scrutiny by the Responsible Authorities 
to ensure that there will be no adverse impact on the Licensing 
Objectives. Specifically, the applicant should ensure that the 
operating schedule for such premises demonstrates how the 
Licensing Objectives will be met. This is a general policy and 
does not automatically mean that all applications will result in 
licences being granted until midnight or that no applications 
will be granted with a closing hour after midnight. 

2.5.3 In considering these issues the Licensing Authority will 
give careful consideration to the nature of the venue proposed. 
For example, the Council is keen to promote establishments at 
which the service and consumption of alcohol is not the primary 
activity. These may include restaurants, theatres, cinemas, comedy 
clubs, galleries, museums, and similar venues. The Licensing 
Authority’s experience is that such venues are liable to give rise 
to fewer public concerns in relation to later closing hours. 

2.5.4 The Licensing Authority will pay special regard to the 
proximity of residential properties to the proposed premises. 
Consideration will be given to the imposition of stricter 
noise control conditions, if representations are received in 
areas with a concentration of residential properties. 

2.5.5 The Licensing Authority will expect premises 
to be cleared of patrons within a reasonable time of 
the terminal hour set for licensable activities. 

2.5.6 Shops, stores and supermarkets will generally be free 
to provide sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises 
at any times when the retail outlet is open for shopping, 
unless there are good reasons for restricting those hours. An 
example would be where the Police make representations 
that the premises are a focus of disorder and disturbance. 

Page 49



2.6 Late Night Levies 
(LNL) and Early Morning 
Restriction Orders (EMRO’s)
2.6.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (the 
PRSRA) has introduced the power for the Licensing Authority 
to charge a late-night levy to all premises within the Lancaster 
City Council District. The late night levy is a discretionary power 
allowing Councils to collect an annual fee from all licensed 
premises in the district that are authorised to sell alcohol 
between the hours of midnight and 6am as a means of raising 
a contribution towards the costs of policing the night time 
economy. The decision to introduce, vary or cease the levy will 
be made by Full Council in conjunction with the Police and 
Crime Commissioner and Lancashire Constabulary. However, 
any decision in relation to the administration and design of 
the levy will be delegated to the Licensing Committee. 

2.6.2 The Licensing Authority recognises that this levy would 
cover the whole of the district and not just those premises that 
are causing problems or those premises within any cumulative 
impact area. Therefore, serious consideration would be given 
to the introduction of the levy in light of this. Furthermore, 
the Licensing Authority would give serious consideration 
as to whether or not the levy is a viable proposal. 

EARLY MORNING RESTRICTION ORDERS (EMRO) 

2.6.3 An EMRO enables a licensing authority to prohibit the sale of 
alcohol for a specified time period between the hours of 12am and 
6am in the whole or part of its area, if it is satisfied that this would 
be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

2.6.4 EMROs are designed to address recurring problems 
such as high levels of alcohol related crime and disorder 
in specific areas at specific times; serious public nuisance; 
and other instances of alcohol-related anti-social behaviour 
which is not directly attributable to specific premises. 

2.6.5 The licensing authority will review the need for an 
EMRO at least every five years in line with the review of this 
policy to see if circumstances have changed and any are 
needed. In addition to the review each five years the licensing 
authority may consider an EMRO at any time if circumstances 
changed and evidence supported this course of action. No 
area of the District is covered by an EMRO at present. 

2.6.6 As an EMRO is a powerful tool and a very stringent 
approach in tackling issues, the Licensing Authority will first 
consider whether other measures may address the problems 
and achieve the same goal. These could include: - 

•	 Taking a robust multi-agency agency 
approach to tackling problem premises; 

•	 Prior to reviewing a licence/certificate, meeting 
with the DPS and licence/certificate holder to 
ensure a Premises Improvement Plan. 

•	 Using other mechanisms to control the 
cumulative impact, e.g. planning controls; 

•	 Using other mechanisms to control 
noise and anti-social behaviour; 

•	 Police powers to closure premises; 

•	 Providing powers to designate parts of the 
local authority area as places where alcohol 
may not be consumed publicly; 

•	 Police enforcement of the general law concerning 
disorder and anti-social behaviour, including 
the issuing of fixed penalty notices; 

•	 Provision of CCTV; 

•	 Provision of night marshals and street pastors;

•	 Introduction of a late-night levy. 

The above is not an exhaustive list of possible measures. 

Page 50



2.7 Late Night Refreshment
2.7.1 The Licensing Authority will expect applicants for licences 
in respect of late-night refreshment premises to detail in their 
operating schedules how they intend to promote the licensing 
objectives and in particular how they intend to address queue 
management, litter, noise and delivery vehicle disturbance. 

2.7.2 Where appropriate, and, in line with the Public Nuisance 
and Public Safety Licensing Objectives, the Licensing Authority 
may recommend that applicants display their company name 
on containers and packaging; this will enable the Licensing 
Authority to identify any premises causing concern. 

2.7.3 The Licensing Authority expects that any premises providing 
late night refreshment will have a responsible policy for regularly 
clearing litter from outside their premises and for 25 metres along 
the pavement in either direction as necessary, whilst the premises 
are open and at the end of the working day. Such Policy could 
also include the display of notices advising customers to use the 

bins provided. In addition, where there is evidence that grease 
and food, etc. has emanated from the premises, the Licensing 
Authority recommends that the highway in the vicinity of the 
premises is swilled or scrubbed so as not to attract seagulls, pigeons 
and vermin. The Licensing Authority recommends that all such 
inspections and action taken be recorded in the Premises Log Book. 

2.7.4 Where an applicant wishes to sell alcohol either on or off 
the premises in such an establishment or provide an alcohol 
delivery service, the Licensing Authority recommends that the 
Operating Schedule sets out specific measures to ensure the 
prevention of Crime and Disorder and Public Nuisance in the 
vicinity of the premises. Existing premises that seek to provide 
an alcohol delivery service are expected to notify the Licensing 
Authority that they are operating such a service setting out specific 
measures they intend to take to promote the licensing objectives. 

2.7.5 The Authority has considered the relaxation of controls 
suggested through the Deregulation Act 2015 and has decided that 
it would not be appropriate to do so. There is no evidence base to 
suggest that such action would be beneficial to local residents.

Page 51



3.0 Licensing Approach
3.1 Partnership Working
3.1.1 The Council recognises that Licensing functions under the 
2003 Act are not the only means of promoting the principles 
behind the Licensing Objectives. Delivery includes working with 
Planning, Environmental Health, the Police, the Fire Authority, 
the Crime Reduction Partnerships, Town Councils, Pubwatch, 
local businesses and residents, Lancashire County Council, 
transport operators and those involved with child protection. 

3.1.2 The Council recognises that co-operation across services 
within the Council and with our external partners remains 
the best means of promoting the Licensing Objectives. 

3.1.3 The Licensing Authority seeks to encourage and support 
the night-time economy by providing a vibrant and safe town 
centre experience. It shall work closely with the Responsible 
Authorities to promote the Licensing Objectives, including 
the licensed trade, local people and businesses. The Licensing 
Authority will continue to work closely as part of these groups to 
promote the common objectives and shall recognise its duty under 
Section 17 of The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 when carrying 
out its functions under the 2003 Act. In addition, the Licensing 
Authority will seek to support strategies where they are allied 
to the Licensing Objectives such as the National Alcohol Harm 
Reduction Strategy and any other relevant strategies and policies. 

3.1.4 The Licensing Authority recognises that the private 
sector, local residents and community groups in particular 
have a vital role to play in promoting the licensing objectives. 
The Licensing Authority shall work closely with other 
enforcement agencies in the management of the nighttime 
economy, particularly relating to the tackling of underage 
sales and proxy sales of alcohol and drunkenness or disorder 
on or in the immediate vicinity of the licensed premises. 

3.2 Cumulative Impact Policy
3.2.1 A cumulative impact policy creates a rebuttable 
presumption that applications within a particular area of 
the District for new premises licences or club premises 
certificates or material variations thereto will normally be 
refused if relevant representations are received about the 
cumulative impact on the four licensing objectives. 

3.2.2 The Licensing Authority will review the need for 
a special policy on cumulative impact at least every 
five years in line with the review of this policy to see if 
circumstances have changed and one is needed. 

3.2.3 In addition to the review each five years the 
Licensing Authority may consider a special policy on 
cumulative impact at any time if circumstances changed 
and evidence supported this course of action. 

3.2.4 No area of the District is currently covered 
by a special policy on cumulative impact. 

3.3. Local Strategies 
and Policies
3.3.1 Where appropriate, the Committee will take into 
account local strategies and policies. These will include: - 

•	 Community Alcohol Partnership (CAP)

•	 Community Safety Partnership (CSP)

3.4 Integrating Strategies
3.4.1 There are many stakeholders involved in the leisure 
industry and many are involved in the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. A number of stakeholders’ plans and strategies deal 
with matters related to the licensing function. Where this is the 
case the Council will aim, as far as possible, to coordinate them. 

3.4.2 Where appropriate, the Licensing 
Authority will also have regard to:

•	 local crime prevention strategies; 

•	 needs of the local tourist economy; 

•	 employment situation in the area and the need for new 
investment and employment where appropriate; 

•	 needs of the local community 

•	 the duty on Public Authorities to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination; 

•	 the policy on cumulative impact. 

Page 52



3.5 Avoiding Duplication
3.5.1 The Licensing Authority recognises the need to avoid, 
so far as possible, duplication with other regulatory regimes 
such as health and safety at work, fire safety, building control 
and planning. Conditions will not be imposed if the matters 
concerned are already provided for sufficiently in other 
legislation. However, other legislation may not always cover 
the unique circumstances that arise in connection with 
licensable activities and in such cases tailored conditions may 
be necessary but only if relevant representations are received. 

3.5.2 The Licensing Authority recognises that in accordance with 
Section 43 of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, any 
conditions imposed by the Licensing Authority that relate to any 
requirements on prohibitions that are or could be imposed by that 
Order, shall have no effect. The Licensing Authority shall therefore 
not seek to impose fire safety conditions where the Order applies. 

3.5.3 In much the same way, the Indecent Displays Act 
1981 prohibits the public display of indecent matter and 
the Licensing Authority shall therefore not seek to impose 
conditions concerning such displays inside or outside 
the premises. The existing laws governing indecency and 
obscenity are adequate to control adult entertainment of this 
nature. However, the Licensing Authority shall, if it considers 
necessary in certain premises, consider attaching conditions 
following a hearing addressing the exclusion of minors. 

3.5.4 Non-compliance with other statutory requirements may be 
considered in reaching a decision about whether or not to grant 
or vary a licence but only if relevant representations are received. 

3.5.5 The Licensing Authority recognises that the existence 
of planning permission, building regulation approval or 
pavement licences must be properly separated from licensing 
applications to avoid duplication and inefficiency. Similarly, 
the existence of a Premises Licence shall not prejudice the 
consideration of any planning, building regulation approval 
or pavement licence applications. However, the Licensing 
Authority shall expect applicants to have obtained the 
appropriate consents or licences prior to operation. 

3.5.6 Where premises have not obtained such consents or 
licences, they will be liable to enforcement action under the 
appropriate legislation. There may be circumstances when as a 
condition of planning permission a terminal hour is set for the 
use of commercial premises. Where these hours are different 
to the licensing hours, the applicant must observe the earlier 
closing time to ensure that they are not in breach. Premises 
operating in breach of their Planning Permission or their premises 
licence/certificate may be liable to enforcement action by the 
Planning Authority or the Licensing Authority as appropriate. 

3.6 Representations
3.6.1 Under the 2003 Act both Responsible Authorities and 
‘other persons’ may make representations on licence/certificate 
applications and review existing premises licences/certificates. 

3.6.2 Other persons are defined as any individual, body or business 
that may be affected by the operation of a licensed premise 
regardless of their geographical location. Although the other 
person may be in any geographical location, any representation 
they make must be relevant to one or more of the licensing 
objectives. In addition, the other person is encouraged to provide 
evidence supporting their representation or review. This may be 
for example by way of recording dates where noise nuisance or 
anti-social behaviour occurs. Any representation however must 
be specific to the premises in question and not to the area in 
general. The representation should also detail how the granting 
of the application is likely to affect the person making it. 

3.6.3 The Licensing Authority will however consider the 
geographical location of the other person who has made the 
representation in their consideration of their evidence. 

3.6.4 In addition all representations must be relevant relating 
to the likely effect of the grant of the licence/certificate on 
the promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives. The 
Licensing Authority will determine whether a representation from 
an individual, body or business is relevant, frivolous, repetitive 
or vexatious. If appropriate, the benefit of the doubt will be 
given to the person or body making that representation. 

3.7 Conditions
3.7.1 Where conditions are imposed at a licensing hearing, 
they shall be appropriate and proportionate and shall 
be tailored to the size, style, characteristics and activities 
that take place at the premises concerned. However, the 
Licensing Authority accepts that Responsible Authorities 
may suggest conditions following negotiation with the 
applicant when completing their Operating Schedules. 

3.7.2 In addition conditions imposed by a Licensing Authority shall 
be precise and enforceable, clear in what they intend to achieve, 
should not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties 
or responsibilities placed on the employer by other legislation, shall 
not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation, 
shall be justifiable and capable of being met and shall not seek 
to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the 
direct management of the licence/certificate holder and their staff. 

3.7.3 The Licensing Authority recommends that conditions 
volunteered in the Operating Schedule should be: 

•	 Targeted on the deterrence and 
prevention of crime and disorder 

•	 Appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 

•	 Proportionate and enforceable; 

•	 Consistent and not conflicting; 

•	 Relevant, clear and concise; 

•	 Not duplicating other legislation; and 

•	 Expressed in plain language capable of being 
understood by those expected to comply with them. 

3.7.4 The Licensing Authority when preparing the licences/
certificates will replicate the wording from an applicant’s 
Operating Schedule, it is therefore recommended that 
applicants seek suggested condition wording from 
this policy by way of model conditions (amended as 
appropriate) or from the relevant responsible authorities.

Page 53



3.8 Enforcement 
3.8.1 The Licensing Authority has adopted a Licensing 
Enforcement Policy, available on the Council’s web site. 

3.8.2 Enforcement action will be: 

•	 Targeted toward those premises 
presenting the highest risk; 

•	 Proportional to the nature and seriousness 
of the risk those premises present; 

•	 Consistent, so that the Licensing Authority takes 
similar approaches in similar situations; 

•	 Transparent, so those who are subject to 
enforcement action know what to expect; and 

•	 Accountable, so that the Licensing Authority and 
its officers take responsibility for their actions. 

3.8.3 The Council intends to use appropriate enforcement to 
promote the licensing objectives. Once licensed, it is essential 
that premises are monitored to ensure that they are run in 
accordance with their operating schedules, in compliance 
with the specific requirements of the 2003 Act and any licence 
conditions. It will also monitor the District for unlicensed 
activities that may or may not require authorisation. 

3.8.4 The Licensing Authority has established protocols 
with Lancashire Police Authority, Lancashire County Council 
Trading Standards and Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service 
on enforcement issues to ensure an efficient deployment of 
Police and Council Officers. Where official warnings are given 
prior to any decision to prosecute for an offence, the Licensing 
Authority shall ensure that these enforcement authorities are 
informed of these warnings and the result of any action taken. 

3.8.5 In order to ensure compliance with the law and licensing 
conditions, the Licensing Authority will also carry out whenever 
possible unscheduled ‘non routine’ evening inspections with 
Lancashire Constabulary. After each visit, the Designated Premises 
Supervisor and Premises Licence Holder shall be notified of any 
concerns and be given an opportunity to rectify any issues.

3.8.6 The Licensing Authority recognises that most Licence Holders 
seek to comply with the law and any enforcement action will 
normally follow a graduated approach and in the first instance 
will include education and support. Where licence holders 
continue to flout the law or act irresponsibly action will be taken. 

3.8.7 The Licensing Authority may seek to meet with the 
licence or certificate holder and/or DPS working closely with 
them and relevant Responsible Authorities in implementing 
a Premise Improvement Plan where appropriate. 

3.8.8 Where the premise does not comply with an agreed 
Improvement Plan and continues to breach the licensing 
laws and/or licence conditions, the Responsible Authority or 
Licensing Authority can consider further sanctions, either by 
way of a review, formal caution or prosecution. In any event, 
the Licensing Authority will have regard to the Regulators’ 
Compliance Code and the Council’s Licensing Enforcement Policy. 

3.8.9 Where one-off events are taking place, the Licensing 
Authority may also carry out inspections to ensure the 
Licensing Objectives are being promoted. Inspections 
shall be carried out in accordance with the principles of 
risk assessment and targeting problem premises. 

3.8.10 In addition, the Licensing Authority will conduct 
checks to ensure that official notices for new applications, 
varied applications, reviews and minor variations are accurate 
and clearly displayed. Notices for reviews shall be displayed 
at or near the site of the premises, and where there are 
concerns these shall be regularly checked and recorded. 

3.8.11 Any decision to instigate legal proceedings will take account 
of principles set out in the Licensing Enforcement Policy.

Page 54



3.9 Complaints Against 
Licensed Premises 
3.9.1 Complainants are advised, whenever possible, in the first 
instance to raise their complaint directly with the licensee in order 
to resolve the matter. The Licensing Authority, however, recognises 
that it is not always possible or practical for complaints to be raised 
directly. In such circumstances, complaints in the first instance 
should be addressed to the most appropriate body. For example, 
crime and disorder related issues should be raised with the Police. 

3.9.2 All noise-related complaints are investigated by the 
Council’s Environmental Protection Service and complaints 
regarding unlicensed activities and operating outside the 
permitted hours are investigated by the Licensing Team. There 
will be collaboration between the two teams to assist in reaching 
effective and appropriate outcomes for noise related matters. 

3.9.3 On receipt of a complaint, the Authority shall investigate 
the circumstances, discussing the complaint with the 
Designated Premises Supervisor of the licensed premises, 
the Premises Licence Holder, any Relevant Responsible 
Authority and the complainant. Where it is a valid complaint, 
the Licensing Authority shall endeavour to seek a resolution 
through informal means prior to taking any legal action. 

3.9.4 The Licensing Manager is responsible for considering 
complaints in the context of this Policy and will determine 
whether or not it is a relevant complaint. They will authorise 
suitably qualified officers to discharge enforcement duties 
as appropriate to their seniority, professional qualifications 
and/or experience in order to resolve any complaint. 

3.9.5 Where there is a serious complaint, the Licensing 
Manager shall ensure that it is investigated, and enforcement 
action taken where necessary. The Licensing Authority 
shall act in accordance with the its own Licensing 
Enforcement Policy available on the Council’s web site. 

3.9.6 The Licensing Authority recognises that this Policy 
and the promotion of the Licensing Objectives relies on 
partnership between all the parties. Therefore, where there 
are any concerns identified at the premises, or there is need 
for improvement, the Licensing Authority shall work closely 
with the parties at an early stage to address these concerns. 

3.10 Live Music,  
Dancing and Theatre
3.10.1 The Council recognises the need to encourage and 
promote a broad range of entertainment, particularly live 
music, dancing and theatre for the wider cultural benefit of the 
community and in particular for children and young people. 

3.10.2 When considering applications for such events and 
the imposition of any conditions if representations are 
received on licences or certificates, the Licensing Authority 
will carefully balance the need to promote the licensing 
objectives against these wider cultural benefits. 

3.10.3 When considering whether an activity 
constitutes the provision of regulated entertainment 
each case will be treated on its own merit.

Page 55



4.0 Administrative Issues 
4.0.1 As the Regulations require advertising of all new and 
variation applications, the Licensing Authority recommends 
that the applicant contact them prior to displaying the 
statutory notice or advertising the application in a local paper 
circulating in the vicinity of the premises. This will ensure that 
an accurate consultation date will be given which will avoid 
any errors and the potential of a breach of the regulations that 
would result in the application being rejected or delayed. 

4.1 Premises Licence
4.1.1 The Premises Licence application outlines the operating 
conditions and the Operating Schedule that will form the 
basis of conditions that will be attached to the Licence. It 
should include information that is necessary to enable any 
Responsible Authority or other person to assess whether 
the steps to be taken to promote the licensing objectives 
are satisfactory. The Licensing Authority shall expect the 
applicant to have carefully considered the promotion of all 
four Licensing Objectives in their Operating Schedule. 

4.1.2 It is recommended that applicants liaise with 
neighbours and/or any relevant community group such 
as a local residents association, or other such groups, as 
may be appropriate prior to submitting an application. 

4.1.3 The Licensing Authority especially recommends 
that applicants liaise with the Relevant Authorities 
prior to submitting their applications, e.g. Police or Fire 
Authority, when compiling their Operating Schedules 
and the local Pubwatch if one operates in that area. 

4.1.4 In completing their Operating Schedule the Licensing 
Authority suggests the applicant considers the following: - 

General 

•	 Premises log book 

•	 Management and staff training and 
awareness of duties under the 2003 Act 

•	 Policies and procedures relating to e.g. age restricted 
sales, capacity, noise monitoring, dispersal, queuing, etc. 

•	 Safe capacities 

•	 Evidence of competent management procedures

Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

•	 Drugs policy 

•	 CCTV 

•	 Pub Watch and Radio links with other licensed premises 

•	 Security Industry Authority Door supervisors 
and Approved Contractor Scheme 

•	 Polycarbonate or shatterproof vessels 

•	 Frequency of glass bottle disposal and provision 
of secure storage before collection

•	 An appropriate ratio of tables and chairs to customers 

•	 Management of outside areas 

•	 Use of ‘spikeys’ or similar anti drink spiking device 

•	 Policy for reporting of sexual harassment/
violence towards women

•	 Calming atmosphere at close of business/event 

•	 Safe capacities 

•	 Queuing policy 

•	 Stewards for events and event plan Public Safety 

Public Safety

•	 Health and Safety and Fire Safety risk 
assessments and staff training

•	 Safeguarding measures

•	 Use of CCTV in and around the premises 

•	 Safe capacities and monitoring procedures 

•	 Provision of local taxi companies who can 
provide safe transportation home 

•	 Procedures to control access to and egress from premises 

•	 Patrolling of premises 

•	 Glass clearance policy 

•	 Control of ventilation 

•	 Control of litter immediately outside the premises 

•	 The presence of trained first aiders and 
appropriate & sufficient first aid kits 

•	 Adequate external lighting 

•	 Consideration of the safety of performers 
appearing at any premises

•	 Indoor sporting events: medical practitioner; 
flame retardant material, location of public to 
wrestling ring; water sports events – lifeguards

•	 Stewards for events and event plan; and regard 
to standards of the National Sporting Body

•	 Ensuring appropriate access for emergency services

 Prevention of Public Nuisance 

•	 Control of general noise, disturbance, light, 
odour, litter and anti-social behaviour 

•	 Whilst regulated entertainment taking place, 
management of noise disturbance 

•	 Control of litter (e.g. cigarette ends, rubbish, 
etc.), vomiting, urinating and anti-social 
behaviour in the vicinity of the premises 

•	 Dispersal policy to ensure customers 
respect their neighbours 

•	 Delivery vehicle management, ensuring no obstructions 
are caused in the vicinity of the premises.

•	 Removal of persons causing disturbance 

•	 Management of outside areas, e.g. 
pub gardens, smokers, etc. 

•	 Control of deliveries in early hours 

•	 Queuing policy 

•	 Winding down period 

Page 56



Protection of Children from Harm 

•	 Refusals book 

•	 Consideration of access to premises where 
adult entertainment may take place 

•	 Consideration to proximity of premises 
to schools and youth clubs 

•	 Restriction on hours when children under a 
specified age can be present and whether they 
should be accompanied by a responsible adult 

•	 Clarity on activities and times at which events 
take place to determine whether or not it is 
appropriate to allow access to children 

•	 Challenge 21 or 25 policy 

•	 Prompting mechanism on tills at retail outlets 

•	 Measures to control access to hotel minibars 

•	 Operational measures to avoid proxy purchases 

•	 How to prevent children from being exposed to 
alcohol sales at underage events, gambling, incidents 
of violence and disorder and drugs or drug taking 

•	 Consideration of safeguarding issues 

•	 Consideration of children as performers where relevant 

•	 Supervision of children 

•	 Under 18 event Code of Conduct, for example: searches, 
ticketed event, door supervisors, DBS checks, stewards 
monitoring event, set hours for event, restricted event, 
policy to ensure young people leave premise safely, etc. 

These lists are not exhaustive, and advice can be obtained 
from the relevant responsible authorities. However, 
applicants are reminded again to contact the relevant 
Responsible Authorities to seek their expert advice before 
an application is submitted to the Licensing Authority. 

4.2 Garages
4.2.1 With regard to the licensing of garages, and/or filling 
stations, Section 176 of the 2003 Act prohibits the sale or 
supply of alcohol from premises that are used primarily as a 
garage. However, the Licensing Authority will use the court’s 
approach based on intensity of use, to establish primary 
use. Where such applications are submitted, the Licensing 
Authority will expect sufficient relevant evidence to accompany 
the application form to prove the issue of primary use. 

4.3 Mobile Premises
4.3.1 Where licensable activities take place in mobile vehicles, 
a Premises Licence will be required for the land upon which 
the vehicle operates. The Operating Schedule must indicate 
the specific pitch from where trading is to take place. 

4.3.2 As this type of premises is likely to cause people to 
congregate, the Licensing Authority shall expect applicants to 
demonstrate specific measures to prevent Crime and Disorder 
and Public Nuisance. In addition, the Licensing Authority shall 
expect the applicant to consider specific measures to ensure 
that litter from such premises is regularly disposed of and that 
the licensee has adopted a Litter Policy as set out above. 

Page 57



4.4 Temporary Event Notices
4.4.1 The 2003 Act states that the premises user must give 
the Licensing Authority a minimum of 10 working days 
notice for a standard temporary event notice and between 
5 and 9 working days for a late temporary event notice. The 
‘working day’ requirement means that the day of receipt 
of the notice, Saturdays or Sundays, Bank Holidays, or the 
day of the event are not included as a working day.

4.4.2 Premises users are advised to submit their TENS well before 
the date of the event (ideally 28 days beforehand), using our 
online service. When serving TENs in a hard copy format, the 
premises user must serve the notice on the Licensing Authority, 
Lancashire Police and the “local authority exercising environmental 
health functions” (“EHA”) at the same time to avoid a situation 
where one of the bodies does not receive their copy within the 
statutory timescale, which could mean that the event cannot 
proceed even if the other bodies have received their copy in time. 

4.4.3 It is a legal requirement for all organisers to carry out Health 
and Safety and Fire Safety Risk Assessments with regards to their 
event. Guidance on how to conduct such risk assessments may 
be obtained from the relevant enforcing authority. The Licensing 
Authority may notify the Fire Authority of any TENS submitted 
so that they can offer advice to event organisers if necessary. 
Members of any relevant Event Safety Advisory Group may 
also be notified of any TENs for similar reasons. Organisers are 
recommended to give thought to the provision of first aid at 
such events. It should be noted that if the Fire Authority is of the 
opinion that the use of premises/venue involves, or will involve, 
a risk to relevant persons so serious, including anything affecting 
their escape from the premises in the event of fire, the Fire 
Authority may prohibit or restrict premises use without notice. 

4.4.4 Those intending to serve a TEN are strongly advised to 
consider whether their proposals should be considered by a 
Event Safety Advisory Group (ESAG) and ensure they follow 
the advice given, this is particularly relevant for small scale 
festivals and/ events that take place over more than 1 day. 

4.4.5 Finally, the Authority strongly recommends that 
premises users address the following issues: - 

•	 Applicants are strongly advised to consider and mitigate 
the potential impact in terms of public nuisance, 
i.e. noise, vehicle parking of attendees, traffic.

•	 Seek relevant professional advice on 
public liability insurance. 

•	 Seek relevant professional advice on noise, 
public safety, sanitation, food hygiene, 
health & safety and fire safety matters. 

•	 Liaise with local residents and businesses that 
may be affected by the event, to raise awareness 
of the nature and duration of the event. 

•	 Seek relevant professional advice on medical provision. 

•	 Ensure that the event site and environs are maintained 
free of litter to a reasonable extent during an event 
and completely cleared following an event. This 
includes the removal of all advertising material used 
to promote events, within a reasonable period. 

•	 Consider the conditions attached to a Premises Licence 
or Club Premises Certificate and manage the event in 
accordance with such conditions, where appropriate. (This 
is to mitigate the potential for adverse impacts on the 
promotion of the Licensing Objectives and/or complaints).

4.4.6 Payments for temporary event notice(s) are 
made upon application and are non-refundable. 

4.5 Personal Licences 
& Exemption of the 
Requirement for a Designated 
Premises Supervisor 
4.5.1 The Licensing Authority places particular emphasis on 
the role of Designated Premises Supervisors (DPS) and Premise 
Licence Holder and where the Police object on the grounds of 
prevention of crime and disorder there will be a presumption 
against issuing a personal licence to any applicant with an 
unspent conviction for a relevant offence. If the applicant can 
demonstrate exceptional and compelling reasons for disregarding 
the conviction, this will be taken into consideration. 

4.5.2 The Licensing Authority advises that it is good practice for 
the Personal Licence Holder to give specific written and dated 
authorisation to individuals to demonstrate due diligence. Whilst 
the DPS and Personal Licence Holder may authorise sales in their 
absence, they remain responsible for those sales. Similarly, the 
Premises Licence Holder also remains responsible for ensuring that 
the licensing law and conditions are complied with at that premises. 
Any authorisations should be meaningful and properly managed. 

4.5.3 Where a Premises Licence is in force authorising the 
supply of alcohol, a DPS will need to be nominated. The 
main purpose of the DPS is to ensure that there is always one 
specified individual who can be readily identified by Responsible 
Authorities as the individual who has day-to-day responsibility 
for running the business and who can therefore ensure that 
any problems are dealt with swiftly. As such the DPS will 
occupy a pivotal position. Experience has proved that in some 
cases the Premises Licence Holder has employed a DPS who 
is remote from the premises and therefore not involved in the 
day-today running of that premise; the Licensing Authority 
will therefore pay particular attention to those premises.

Page 58



4.5.4 Whilst the Licensing Authority recognises that a DPS 
may supervise more than one premise, the DPS must be able 
to ensure that the four Licensing Objectives are promoted 
and that the licensing law and licensing conditions are 
complied with. Where the DPS is not available at the premises 
for whatever reason, the Licensing Authority recommends 
a responsible individual is nominated who can deal with 
matters in the absence of the DPS. In addition, the Licensing 
Authority recommends that a notice is displayed prominently 
indicating the name and position of that nominated person. 
Whenever alcohol is to be sold it is recommended that written 
and dated consent be given to that nominated person. 

4.5.5 Experience has indicated that a number of Personal Licence 
Holders have failed to produce their Personal Licence to the court 
in accordance with Section 128 of the 2003 Act. In view of this the 
Licensing Authority will take appropriate action against those who 
continue to fail to notify the courts and/or provide notification of 
their change of address in accordance with their statutory duty. 

EXEMPTION OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR A DPS 

4.5.6 Where a community premises applies for an exemption from 
the requirement to have a DPS, the Licensing Authority must be 
satisfied that arrangements for the management of the premises by 
their Committee or Board of individuals are sufficient to ensure the 
adequate supervision of the supply of alcohol on the premises. The 
applicant will be required to set out how the premise is managed, 
its committee structure and how the supervision of alcohol sales 
is conducted. Copies of the Constitution and other management 
documents must be submitted. The management committee is 
strongly encouraged to notify the Licensing Authority if there are 
any key changes in the committee’s composition as this committee 
will collectively be responsible for ensuring compliance with licence 
conditions and licensing law. Where management arrangements 
are unclear, the Licensing Authority may seek further details to 
confirm that the management board or committee is properly 
constituted and accountable. While overall responsibility lies with 
the management committee where premises are hired out, the 
hirer will be clearly identified as having responsibilities falling 
within their control. Community premises are encouraged to check 
with the Licensing Authority before making any application.

4.6 Large Scale Events
4.6.1 Lancaster and the surrounding area is a popular location for a 
wide range of cultural and entertainment events, these range from 
village days to small scale one-day events and weekend festivals. 

4.6.2 Such events can involve considerable and complex planning 
and management. This involves a high level of competency from 
those involved with organising and managing such events. 

4.6.3 The Authority is aware of the potential for varied 
and extreme impacts on the promotion of the Licensing 
Objectives, where such events take place. Organisers of such 
events are advised to contact the Licensing Service in the 
planning stages to discuss the event and application. 

4.6.4 The Authority has a general statutory duty under section 
4 of the 2003 Act to promote the Licensing Objectives. The 
legislation does not refer to the special circumstances and 
sometimes very different issues that can be relevant to these types 
of application. However, the Authority has taken all reasonable 
endeavours to balance the demands and aspirations of the event 
industry against the protection of the local communities and the 
attendees that may be adversely affected by or at such events. 

The Authority believes that the risk associated with large 
scale events can only be adequately mitigated by the 
submission of an up to date, relevant, detailed and complete 
operating schedule that is specific to the proposed event. 

4.6.5 The enforcement policies of the Council may be 
significantly undermined by the short duration and potentially 
occasional nature of these events. This is because the Council’s 
graduated response to problems arising may not be as 
effective in responding to these issues on an occasional and 
irregular basis, particularly with different event organisers.

4.6.6 Sites for large occasional events are not usually entirely 
purpose built for the proposed licensable activities to take 
place. Therefore, there is considerable work involved in 
planning and organising these events. The Authority believes 
that this is only achievable by ongoing involvement of 
the Authority and Responsible Authorities in dealing with 
such events, as far as is reasonable and appropriate. 

4.6.7 It is clear that Responsible Authorities (and sometimes 
Other Persons) may often engage with applicants prior to 
submission of an application. This notion is referred to in the 
Statutory Guidance, as it promotes the Licensing Objectives 
by fostering a partnership approach; and is supported by the 
Authority (where appropriate), but with an additional caveat. 

4.6.8 Applicants are expected to rely most heavily on their own 
competence and knowledge or that of persons/ bodies that 
they employ in making their plans. They cannot and should not 
rely on the input of the Responsible Authorities to ensure that 
detailed and comprehensive plans for their event are produced. 

The demands on the Responsible Authorities can be 
disproportionate to their resources, This might place 
undue pressure on such bodies, undermining the level of 
scrutiny of such applications. It must be considered that 
the legal responsibilities connected to holding such events 
primarily rest with the event organiser and landowner. 

Page 59



4.7 Sustainable Event 
Management
4.7.1 Events can impact heavily on our resources, society, and 
the environment, as they can generate significant waste, put 
a strain on local resources like water or energy, and generate 
large volumes of traffic. It is, therefore, important that event 
organisers are taking the right steps to integrate sustainability 
into their event management and ensure that they are organised 
responsibly. As such, the Council encourages event organisers 
to take the necessary steps to develop proposals that are 
conscious of the Council’s Climate Emergency Commitments, 
by way of demonstrating what steps will be taken to ensure the 
environmental impacts of the event are kept to a minimum.

 4.7.2 It is highly recommended that event 
organisers consider the following points: 

•	 Banning single use plastic glasses/cups in the 
bars and look to use reusable receptacles. 

•	 Encourage non fossil fuel powered 
events, including any caterers. 

•	 Alcohol sourced from local brewers/suppliers 
to keep bars with a lower carbon footprint. 

•	 High recycling rates, a target of 70% plus, which 
could be evidenced from weighbridge tickets 
provided by recycling transfer stations. 

4.8 Event Safety Advisory 
Groups (ESAGS)
4.8.1 The Authority acknowledges the benefits of working closely 
with Responsible Authorities and other statutory bodies in 
supporting event organisers in operating safe and well managed 
events. Event Safety Advisory Groups or ‘multi agency meetings’ 
are one means of promoting such partnership working. 

4.8.2 The Authority will facilitate and host such meetings from time 
to time to assist applicants and those organising events that do not 
require an authorisation under the 2003 Act, where appropriate. 

4.8.3 All applicants should consider whether to attend 
such a meeting before they apply, as failure to do so could 
undermine the promotion of Licensing Objectives. 

4.9 Reviews of Licence or 
Club Premises Certificate
 4.9.1 The Licensing Act 2003 details that where a premises 
licence or club premises certificate has effect, a Responsible 
Authority or other person may apply to the relevant Licensing 
Authority for a review of the licence. Nothing in this Policy 
shall restrict their right to apply for a review of a licence or 
make relevant representations in accordance with the 2003 
Act, however the Licensing Authority may, at any time, reject 
any ground for review specified in an application under this 
section if it is satisfied that the ground is not relevant to one or 
more of the licensing objectives, or in the case of an application 
made by a person other than a Responsible Authority, that the 
ground is frivolous or vexatious, or the ground is a repetition. 

4.9.2 Where a person or body is considering making an application 
for a review, they are advised to contact the Licensing Service. 
This is so that Officers may provide some initial feedback on the 
matter and then, if appropriate, attempt to facilitate a meeting 
or a series of meetings between relevant persons and bodies to 
consider alternative solutions and/or discuss the review process.

 4.9.3 Applicants should make all reasonable efforts to set 
out their concerns regarding an authorisation concisely 
and clearly and ensure that these concerns are relevant 
to a failure to promote the Licensing Objectives. 

4.9.4 Examples of triggers for a review may be: 

•	 continual complaints of noise from or 
in the vicinity of the premises; 

•	 continual complaints of noise or intimidation 
from customers outside the premises; 

•	 an accumulation of breaches of licensing conditions; 

•	 poor management where the licensing 
objectives are undermined; 

•	 underage sales of alcohol (persistent or otherwise); 
crime-related activity; anti-social behaviour; 

•	 sales of alcohol outside of the permitted hours, etc.

4.9.5 The Licensing Authority shall expect applicants for a 
review to gather sufficient and relevant evidence relating to 
the specific premises that is subject to the review. This may 
include a diary of events and any potential witnesses. Regarding 
reviews on noise complaints, applicants are encouraged to 
liaise with the Council’s Environmental Protection Service who 
may be able to assist with and support the review process. 

4.9.6 Prior to a review, however, Lancashire Police, other 
Responsible Authorities or the Licensing Authority may 
seek to meet with the licence/certificate holder to address 
issues through a Premises Improvement Plan. 

Page 60



4.10 Administration, Exercise 
and Delegation of Functions 
4.10.1 The Council has a Licensing Committee, consisting 
of 10 elected members, to carry out its licensing functions 
and to make licensing decisions, except those functions 
relating to the making of a Statement of Licensing Policy. 

4.10.2 In the interests of speed, efficiency and cost-
effectiveness the Committee will delegate certain decisions 
and functions to Sub-Committees and officers. 

4.10.3 For example, where there are no relevant representations 
on an application for the grant of a premises licence or club 
premises certificate or Police objection to an application for a 
personal licence, these matters should be dealt with by officers. 

4.10.4 The table attached at Appendix X sets out the 
agreed delegation of decisions and functions to the 
Licensing Committee, Sub-Committees and officers. 

4.10.5 This scheme of delegation does not prevent the 
referral of matters to a higher authority if considered 
appropriate in the circumstances of any particular case. 

4.10.6 Members of the Licensing Committee will comply with 
the Lancaster City Council Code of Conduct for Councillors and 
will declare any personal or prejudicial interest in any matter 
coming before them in accordance with the Code. Members 
with a prejudicial interest will have the opportunity to speak as 
any member of the public (i.e. only where they make relevant 
representations) is permitted but will withdraw from the room 
in which the meeting is being held immediately after speaking 
and will not seek to improperly influence the decision. 

4.10.7 Members of the Licensing Committee who make 
representations on behalf of any Other Person or in their own right 
as a member of the Licensing Authority will not sit on any hearing 
or Sub- Committee making any decision in relation to the matter in 
question, nor take any other part in the decision-making process. 

4.10.8 Members will not sit on any Sub-Committee 
dealing with a matter in relation to premises in his 
or her ward, or any person living in that Ward.

Page 61



The Licensing Act 2003 can be viewed at: 

www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents

The Statutory Guidance can be found at: 

www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-
revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003

Lancaster City Council website: 

www.lancaster.gov.uk

Event Safety Advisory Group: 

www.lancaster.gov.uk/information/event-safety

Events on Council Land, Guidance and Application Procedures: Events on council land - Lancaster City Council

www.lancaster.gov.uk/parks-and-open-spaces/events-on-council-land

Lancaster City Council’s Pavement Licence Policy and Application Procedures: 

www.lancaster.gov.uk/sites/business/licences-and-permissions/
alcohol-and-entertainment/pavement-licences

Contact
If you wish to make comments on this Licensing Policy or if you want 
further information regarding the Licensing Act 2003 please contact:

The Licensing Department 
Morecambe Town Hall 
Marine Road Central 
Morecambe  
Lancashire 
LA4 4 AF

T: 01524 582033

E: licensing@lancaster.gov.uk

Page 62



Appendices
Appendix 1:	 Responsible Authorities Contact List inc Email/Postal

Appendix 2:	 Model Conditions
•	 General
•	 Prevention of Crime and Disorder
•	 Public Safety
•	 Prevention of Public Nuisance
•	 Protection of Children from Harm

Appendix 3:	 Scheme of Delegation

Page 63



Responsible Authorities - 
Consultee Contact Details
Licensing Authority

Licensing 
Morecambe Town Hall 
Marine Road 
Morecambe 
LA4 5AF

licensing@lancaster.gov.uk

Public Protection 
(incl Community Protection and Health and Safety Officers)

Public Protection 
Morecambe Town Hall 
Marine Road 
Morecambe 
LA4 5AF

environmentalhealth@lancaster.gov.uk

Lancashire Police

Licensing Department 
West Division 
Lancaster Police Station 
Thurnham Street 
Lancaster  
LA1 1YB

westlicensing@lancashire.police.uk

Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service

Business Fire Safety Advisor 
Lancaster Fire Station 
Cable Street 
Lancaster 
LA1 1HH

licensing@lancsfirerescue.org.uk

Home Office

Alcohol Licensing : Home Office 
15th Floor Long Corridor 
Lunar House 
40 Wellesley Road 
Croydon  
CR9 2BY

alcohol@homeoffice.gov.uk

Lancashire Safeguarding (Children)

PO Box 78 
County Hall 
Fishergate 
Preston 
PR1 8XJ

JPBU@lancashire.gov.uk

Planning/Development Control

PO Box 4  
Lancaster Town Hall 
Dalton Square 
Lancaster 
LA1 1QR

planningenforcement@lancaster.gov.uk

Trading Standards

Trading Standards Service 
Lancashire County Council 
Level 4 - Lancashire Point 
County Hall 
Preston 
PR1 0LD

intelligence.management@lancashire.gov.uk

Director of Public Health

Lancashire County Council Licensing  
Level 1 Christ Church Precinct  
County Hall  
Preston 
PR1 8XB

phlicensing@lancashire.gov.uk

Appendix 1 : 
Page 64



Model Conditions
Introduction
How to use this document

Model conditions are all set out in the pages of this document as 
a template for you or your representative to copy for your own 
application. We have given instructions for you to add details for 
certain elements, according to your specific licence application. 
Where bespoke detail is needed, we have used a bracket and the 
word “Insert:” for example [Insert: the total number of staff.]

What we mean by Conditions

The conditions on a premises licence or club premises certificate 
set the parameters within which premises can lawfully operate. 
Conditions are attached to licences and certificates in three ways:

1.	 Mandatory conditions, as set out in the Licensing Act 2003, 
which must be included on all licences and certificates.

2.	 Applications for new premises licences or club premises 
certificates, as well as variations, must include a 
completed operating schedule that is translated into 
conditions on any licence or certificate granted.

3.	 Once the application is made, where relevant 
representations have been made by the Responsible 
Authorities (such as the police, Environmental 
Health and Trading Standards, or other parties 
such as local residents), the licensing authority may 
impose such conditions it considers appropriate 
for the promotion of the licensing objectives.

These model conditions were approved by Full Council on XXXX 
and are intended to provide a consistent approach for all parties 
by specifying appropriate conditions that could be included on 
any licence or certificate granted; this could be by the applicant in 
designing the operating schedule, by other parties in seeking to 
address concerns associated with the application, or ultimately, 
by the licensing authority when imposing conditions considered 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.

The model conditions should not be regarded as standard 
conditions that apply in all cases. They should be tailored 
as appropriate to the size, type, location and characteristics 
of – and activities taking place at – the premises concerned. 
Where a condition includes any [Insert: bracketed content] 
these variable details should be completed accordingly.

Conditions are not limited to only addressing the licensing 
objective they are titled under and it is recognised that some 
conditions may be relevant to more than one objective. 
The conditions are not intended to be, nor can they be, 
an exhaustive list, and they do not restrict the ability of 
any party to propose, or the Committee to impose, any 
reasonable or proportionate condition they consider 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.

The Prevention of 
Crime and Disorder
When copying the content on this page into your own 
document you’ll need to insert certain details that are 
relevant for your licence. Where these are required the need 
for specific information is marked in brackets and leads with 
the word ‘Insert’ eg: [Insert: specific days and times]

CCTV

•	 The premises shall operate a CCTV system that complies 
with the minimum requirements of Lancashire Police. 

•	 The premises licence holder must ensure that: 

•	 CCTV cameras are located within the 
premises to cover all public areas including 
all entrances and exits [Insert: The location 
of cameras could also be specified on the 
plan attached to the premises licence]

•	 The system records clear images permitting 
the identification of individuals

•	 The CCTV system is able to capture a minimum of 
24 frames per second and all recorded footage must 
be securely retained for a minimum of 28 days

•	 The CCTV system operates at all times 
while the premises are open for licensable 
activities [Insert: or specify timings]

•	 All equipment must have a constant and 
accurate time and date generation

•	 The CCTV system is fitted with security 
functions to prevent recordings being 
tampered with, i.e. password protected

•	 There must be at least one member of trained 
staff at the premises during operating hours able 
to provide viewable copies on request to police 
or authorised local authority officers as soon as is 
reasonably practicable in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 1998 (or any replacement legislation). 

Appendix 2 : 
Page 65



Public safety
When copying the content on this page into your own 
document you’ll need to insert certain details that are 
relevant for your licence. Where these are required the need 
for specific information is marked in brackets and leads with 
the word ‘Insert’ eg: [Insert: specific days and times]

Staff training (alcohol and vulnerability welfare)

•	 All staff authorised to sell alcohol shall be 
trained in (delete as appropriate): 

•	 Relevant age restrictions in respect of products 

•	 Prevent underage sales 

•	 Prevent proxy sales 

•	 Maintain the refusals log  

•	 Enter sales correctly on the tills so the 
prompts show as appropriate 

•	 Recognising signs of drunkenness and vulnerability 

•	 How overservice of alcohol impacts on the 
four objectives of the Licensing Act 2003 

•	 How to refuse service 

•	 The premises’ duty of care policy, understanding 
and dealing with situations involving vulnerable 
people, and incidents of harassment; and how to 
report issues of modern slavery and trafficking 

•	 Action to be taken in the event of an emergency, 
including the preservation of a crime scene and 
reporting an incident to the emergency services  

•	 The conditions in force under this licence. 

•	 Training must include evidence that the trainee has gained 
knowledge and understanding of the training, which 
may consist of a test or quiz, completed by the trainee. 

•	 Documented records of training completed shall be 
kept for each member of staff. Training shall be regularly 
refreshed and at no greater than 6 [Insert: or specify] 
monthly intervals. Training records shall be made 
available for inspection upon request by a police officer 
or an authorised officer of Lancaster City Council. 

Preventing and dealing with 
drunkenness and vulnerability 

•	 The premises shall have a documented Duty of Care policy 
for managing intoxicated and vulnerable customers and 
dealing with incidents of harassment at the premises. The 
policy shall also include provision for persons refused entry 
to the premises who are also considered vulnerable by staff.  

•	 The premises shall display prominent signage indicating 
[Insert: at any point of sale, at the entrance to the 
premises, in all areas where alcohol is located] that it 
is an offence to sell alcohol to anyone who is drunk. 

•	 A Personal Licence holder must be present at the 
premises to supervise all sales of alcohol. 

•	 A minimum of [Insert: specify number] persons must 
be employed and on duty at the premises between 
[Insert: specify days/hours] who are specifically tasked to 
maintain the safety of customers who may be vulnerable, 
ill or in distress as a result of alcohol and/or drug-
related intoxication. Such persons must be trained on 
drunkenness, vulnerability, and drugs awareness in the 
night-time economy; and responding to these matters. 

•	 The premises shall provide facilities for customers 
to securely recharge their mobile phones. 

 Glassware and use of ice fountains / bottle sparklers 

•	 Drinks must only be served in polycarbonate/plastic 
containers [Insert: on specified days or events] [Insert: 
upon reasonable notice by Lancashire Police]. 

•	 Customers will not be permitted to remove from 
the premises any drinks supplied by the premises 
(alcoholic or otherwise) in open containers [Insert: 
except for consumption in any delineated external 
area as shown on the plan attached to the licence]. 

•	 Spirit, Champagne and all other glass bottles greater 
than [Insert: specify measurement eg 70cl] are 
restricted to customers seated at a [Insert: either table 
or booth] in the delineated area(s) as shown on the 
plan attached to the licence. These bottles must be 
secured to the table or ice bucket and must only be 
dispensed by a member of staff who is trained in the 
responsible service of alcohol. Customers must not be 
permitted to leave their table carrying any such bottle 
or be permitted to drink directly from the bottle.  

Page 66



Ice fountains or similar products (which 
are classed as HT4 explosives): 

•	 Must be kept in their original packaging and only stored 
in a secure store room or fire-resistant cabinet that the 
public have no access to. The room/cabinet must be 
kept locked, except for the depositing or removal of 
products but must be locked immediately thereafter. 

•	 Their use must be risk assessed in advance and 
appropriate control measure put in place to 
reduce the risk to staff and customers, which 
must include (but is not limited to): 

i.	 staff training in their safe use and dispersal 

ii.	 the provision of appropriate first 
aid training and equipment 

iii.	 suitability of areas of the premises 
where the products will be used 

•	 The risk assessment and control measures 
identified must be documented, kept on the 
premises and made available for inspection to a 
police, fire or authorised officer upon request. 

Martyn’s Law 

1.	 At all times that the premises are open to the public 
for licensable activities, all staff on-duty at the 
premises, including all door supervisors, and all on-
duty managers must have completed Action Counters 
Terrorism (ACT) Awareness e-learning training. All 
training should be documented and evidence of 
this produced if requested by a police officer or 
authorised officer of the licensing authority.

2.	 There must be a documented security assessment, which 
must incorporate counter terrorism measures for the 
premises. The assessment shall be routinely reviewed and 
must be reviewed following the elevation of the change of 
the national threat level. All reviews shall be documented. 

3.	 Within 28 days of the grant or variation of the licence, 
the premises licence holder shall evaluate any risks 
identified through the security assessment and take 
prompt steps to eliminate them or to reduce the risk as 
far as is reasonably practicable. A documented record 
must be maintained of any remedial action implemented 
and made available upon request to any police officer 
or an authorised officer of Lancaster City Council. 

4.	 The premises must have a documented security 
plan, which sets out counter measures to be 
implemented in response to a terrorist attack that 
incorporates the principles of ‘Guide’, Shelter’ and 
‘Communicate’ as appropriate in conjunction with 
relevant National Counter Terrorism Security Office 
(NACTSO) / Centre for the Protection of National 
Infrastructure (CPNI) guidance, and the purposes of 
those procedures and the necessity of following them 

must be understood by those carrying them out:

•	 Guide – Direct people towards the most appropriate 
location (invacuation, evacuation, hide) 

•	 Shelter – Understand how your place or 
space might be able to lock-down and 
shelter people within it for several hours 

•	 Communicate – Have a means of communicating 
effectively and promptly with users of your 
place and have staff capable of giving clear 
instructions. Also have the capability of 
integrating with any response or rescue operation 
by providing things like building plans. 

Door Supervisors and Body-Cams

1.	 Door supervision must be provided on [Insert: specify 
days / circumstance]. Door supervisors must be on duty 
from [Insert: specify hours] and must remain on duty until 
the premises are closed and all the customers have left. 

2.	 On [Insert: specific days and hours], at least [Insert: 
number] of Security Industry Authority (SIA) 
registered door supervisors must be on duty at 
the premises [Insert: either i) specify location at 
the premises or ii) as shown on the plan]. 

3.	 Door supervisors shall be employed at the 
ratio of [Insert: number] door supervisor for 
every 100 customers (or part thereof). 

4.	 Door supervisors shall be employed by the 
premises based upon a risk assessment carried 
out in relation to the following factors: 

•	 Size of the venue  

•	 Expected attendance  

•	 Type of event taking place  

•	 Location of the premises  

•	 Time of year  

•	 Special occasion (New Year, 
Halloween, Local events etc.)  

•	 Premises Licence Conditions  

5.	 At least [Insert: number] female door supervisor(s) 
shall be on duty at the premises at such times as 
door supervisors are required to be provided. 

6.	 All door supervisors, and other persons engaged 
at the premises for the purpose of supervising or 
controlling queues or customers, must wear [insert: 
any or all of: high visibility jackets, vests, armbands]

7.	 Any door supervisors on duty at the premises 
must be supplied by an SIA-Approved 
Contractor Scheme company. 

Page 67



Body-worn video

1.	 On [Insert: specify days/hours], [Insert: either i) all or ii) at 
least [Insert: number]] of SIA registered door supervisors 
on duty at [Insert: either i) specify location at the premises 
or ii) as shown on the plan] must wear working body-
worn video devices (body cams) that comply with 
the minimum requirements of Lancashire Police.  

2.	 A record must be kept of the SIA registration number of 
the door supervisor and the ID of bodycam worn by them.   

3.	 Bodycam images must be stored so that they are 
retrievable and accessible for replay and viewing 
and kept in an environment that will not be 
detrimental to the quality or capacity for future 
viewing. They should be appropriately labelled to 
enable identification and retrieval and kept for a 
minimum of 28 days. No recording must be deleted 
within this period from when it is recorded. 

4.	 The premises licence holder must ensure at least one 
member of trained staff at the premises during operating 
hours able to provide viewable copies on request to 
police or authorised local authority officers as soon as 
is reasonably practicable in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 1998 (or any replacement legislation). 

5.	 The Designated Premises Supervisor or on-duty 
manager must ensure that all door supervisors on 
duty at the premises are correctly displaying their 
current SIA accreditation and are briefed on their 
responsibilities and relevant company operating 
procedures before they commence duty. 

6.	 Door supervisors must be provided with 
radios to enable them to contact each other 
and the duty manager at the premises. 

7.	 Where SIA registered door supervisors are used at the 
premises, a record must be kept of their SIA registration 
number and the dates and times when they are on duty. 

Emergencies 

•	 The premises licence holder shall ensure that at 
all times when the public is present there is [Insert 
either: at least one, or an appropriate number of] 
competent person(s) able to administer first aid, 
that an adequate and appropriate supply of first 
aid equipment and materials is available on the 
premises, and that adequate records are maintained 
in relation to the supply of any first aid treatment. 

•	 The premises licence holder shall ensure that at all times 
when the public is present there is an appropriate level of 
medical care for all persons present. The level of provision 
should be determined by a medical needs assessment. 

•	 All external emergency exit doors shall be fitted 
with sensor alarms and visible indicators to alert 
staff when the doors have been opened. 

•	 All staff on duty at the premises shall be trained in the 
Emergency and Evacuation procedures for the premises 
and aware of their individual responsibilities. This includes 
any door supervisors. Documented records of training 
completed shall be kept for each member of staff. Training 
shall be regularly refreshed and at no greater than [Insert: 
specify number] monthly intervals. Training records shall 
be made available for inspection upon request by a police 
officer or an authorised officer of Lancaster City Council. 

•	 The premises shall have a minimum 20m rescue throwline 
available on the premises for emergency use. All on-duty 
staff (including security) shall be knowledgeable of its 
location and the manufacturer’s instructions for use.

•	 [Insert: Staff to be specified] must hold a valid 
Emergency First Aid at Work qualification or equivalent 
qualifications that complies with the relevant guidance 
from the Health and Safety Executive (GEIS3)

•	 A member(s) of staff qualified to a minimum Level 3 
Certificate in First Response Emergency Care must 
be on duty, with appropriate medical equipment, 
at the premises when licensable activities are 
carried out [Insert: or at specified days/times] 

•	 All door supervisors must have emergency 
first aid at work training.

Promotional activity 

•	 The premises licence holder must submit to [Insert: 
contact details for Responsible Authority] a completed 
risk assessment form as prescribed at least 28 days before 
any event that is carried on by any person not affiliated 
with the venue; and promoted / advertised to the public. 

•	 No promotional social media communication may 
be carried on for the purpose of encouraging the 
sale or supply of alcohol at the premises, which can 
reasonably be considered to condone, encourage 
or glamorise antisocial behaviour or to refer to the 
effects of drunkenness in any favourable manner. 

Page 68



Restricting alcohol sales in relation to designated 
special events, eg. football matches

Prior to any [Insert either: designated special event by 
Lancashire Police, or ‘designated sporting event’ (as 
defined in the Sporting Events Control of Alcohol Act 
1985)] the premises licence holder shall ensure that: 

•	 Alcohol sales in respect of cans of beer or cider are limited 
to no more than four cans per person for a minimum of 
four hours before the commencement of the relevant 
designated [Insert either: special or sporting] event 

•	 No sales of alcohol in bottles or glass containers are made 
in the period four hours before the commencement of 
the designated [Insert either: special or sporting] event 

•	 Alcohol sales cease for a period of one hour 
immediately before the commencement of the relevant 
designated [Insert either: special or sporting] event 

•	 On any day where there is a relevant designated [Insert 
either: special or sporting] event taking place, the 
premises will not externally advertise as a result of a 
local store promotion the availability of beer or cider in 
such a way as to be likely to be the sole inducement to 
attract persons to the premises who are either attending 
the designated [Insert either: special or sporting] event 
or in the vicinity of the premises as a result of the 
designated [Insert either: special or sporting] event 

•	 All members of staff working at the premises are informed 
of this condition prior to taking up employment 

•	 On the day of the relevant designated [Insert either: 
special or sporting] event, upon the direction of a 
police officer, using the grounds of the prevention of 
crime and disorder or public safety, the premises will 
immediately cease to sell alcohol until further directed.

Use of special effects 

Any special effects or mechanical installations shall be 
arranged and stored so as to minimise any risk to the safety 
of those using the premises. The following special effects will 
only be used if 10 days’ prior notice is given to the licensing 
authority where consent has not previously been given: 

•	 Dry ice and cryogenic fog 

•	 Smoke machines and fog generators 

•	 Pyrotechnics, including fireworks 

•	 Firearms (eg. Blank firing pistols) 

•	 Lasers 

•	 Explosives and highly flammable substances 

•	 Real flame 

•	 Strobe lighting.

Large events 

•	 The Premises licence Holder must comply with the 
Event Management Plan submitted to and approved 
by the Licensing Authority and no changes will be 
made to the Event Management Plan without the 
prior written consent of the Licensing Authority.  

Boxing and wrestling (including MMA 
and other combat sports) 

The Premises licence Holder must comply with the Event 
Management Plan submitted to and approved by the Licensing 
Authority and no changes will be made to the Event Management 
Plan without the prior written consent of the Licensing 
Authority. The Plan must set out (but is not limited to): 

•	 how fighters will be matched 

•	 the measures that will be in place to ensure the 
safety and welfare of competitors; including 
medical facilities and qualified staff provision 

•	 fighter details 

•	 layout of the venue 

•	 competition rules 

•	 referee details including qualifications. 

Adult entertainment

The premises may not show R18 films without 
the benefit of a sex cinema licence. 

No person under the age of 18 will be permitted to enter or 
remain on the premises when any “relevant entertainment” 
(as defined in Schedule 3 to the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 is taking place. 

For reference:  

•	 Relevant entertainment is ‘Any live performance or 
any live display of nudity, which is of such a nature 
that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be 
assumed to be provided solely or principally for the 
purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the 
audience (whether by verbal or other means).  

•	 Display of nudity means: in the case of a woman 
- exposure of her nipples, pubic area, genitals 
or anus; and - in the case of a man - exposure 
of his public area, genitals or anus. 

•	 The audience can consist of one person. 

Page 69



The Prevention of 
Public Nuisance
When copying the content on this page into your own 
document you’ll need to insert certain details that are 
relevant for your licence. Where these are required the need 
for specific information is marked in brackets and leads with 
the word ‘Insert’ eg: [Insert: specific days and times]

Preventing noise and other public nuisances 

•	 All external windows and doors must be kept shut at all 
times when regulated entertainment is being provided. 
Doors may be opened for normal entrance and egress 
of people but must be shut immediately thereafter. 

•	 No noise shall emanate from the premises nor 
vibration be transmitted through the structure 
of the premises that gives rise to a nuisance. 

•	 A noise limiting device must be installed and must 
operate at all times regulated entertainment takes place 
at the premises. The device must be of a type, in a location 
and set at a level [Insert: specify if known or approved 
in writing by the appropriate officer of the Council]. 

•	 The location and orientation of loudspeakers must 
be as specified on the attached premises plan. 

•	 An [Insert: acoustic lobby / acoustic door 
/ acoustic curtains / acoustic door seals / 
automatic door closer] must be installed [insert: 
specify the location or define on plan]. 

•	 There shall be no noise or odours caused by the kitchen 
extraction equipment that gives rise to a nuisance.

Alcohol deliveries 

The premises licence holder shall provide the following 
information in writing to the licensing authority before 
any sale of alcohol is carried out (and notify change to this 
information to the licensing authority within 7 days): 

•	 The trading name of any company that 
will operate under the licence 

•	 All telephone numbers that will be used to accept orders 

•	 The URL/website address that will 
be used to accept orders. 

Any promotional material and/or any website home page used as 
part of the business operating under this licence will clearly state 
the premises licence number. For the avoidance of doubt, this 
includes flyers, leaflets and business cards promoting the business. 

All deliveries of alcohol shall only be delivered to 
a premises address with a valid postcode and will 
only be delivered directly to that property. 

Sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises shall only 
be supplied with, and ancillary to, a takeaway meal.

Smoking and other external areas 

•	 Customers permitted to temporarily leave and then 
re-enter the premises to smoke must be restricted to 
a designated smoking area defined as [Insert either: 
specify location / mark on plan]. No more than [Insert: 
number] of customers will be permitted to remain 
in the designated smoking area at any one time.  

•	 Clear and legible notices must be prominently 
displayed at any area used for smoking 
requesting customers to respect the needs of 
local residents and use the area quietly. 

•	 No more than [Insert: number] customers will 
be permitted to enter or remain in [Insert: 
define outdoor area(s)] of the premises at any 
one time, between the hours of [specify]. 

Litter and cleansing 

•	 At [Insert: specify times] [Insert: specify areas] outside 
the premises, including [Insert: specify areas] must be 
swept and/or washed, and litter and sweepings collected 
and stored [Insert: specify storage and collection].  

•	 All takeaway packaging and wrappers shall clearly identify 
the premises, ie. by way of company logo or name. 

•	 Where the premises provide late night refreshments 
for consumption off the premises sufficient 
waste bins must be provided at or near the 
exits, to enable the disposal of waste.  

•	 Empty bottles which have been collected must be 
placed into locked bins when deposited outside. 

•	 All waste shall be properly presented and placed 
out for collection no earlier than 30 minutes 
before the scheduled collection times. 

•	 Between the hours of [Insert: specify hours] no waste/
glass bottles will be moved or deposited outside. 

Delivery Vehicles

•	 Delivery vehicles utilised by the premises will 
not park or wait in such a place that causes 
an obstruction to other road users.

•	 Drivers of the delivery vehicles will be informed 
of this requirement prior to employment or 
undertaking deliveries on the premises behalf, 
regular reminders will be provided.

Page 70



The Protection of 
Children from Harm
When copying the content on this page into your own 
document you’ll need to insert certain details that are 
relevant for your licence. Where these are required the need 
for specific information is marked in brackets and leads with 
the word ‘Insert’ eg: [Insert: specific days and times]

•	 No person under the age of [Insert: age] years of 
age is permitted to enter or remain on the licensed 
premises when alcohol is being sold or supplied.  

•	 Where children are allowed on the premises, information 
shall be displayed [Insert: location] on what to do if 
there is a cause for concern regarding a lost child. 

Preventing underage sales 

•	 The Challenge [Insert: either 21 or 25] scheme must 
be operated to ensure that any person who appears 
to be under the age of [Insert: either 21 or 25] shall 
provide documented proof that he/she is over 18 
years of age. Proof of age shall only comprise a 
passport, photo card driving licence, an EU/EEA 
national ID card or similar document, an HM Forces 
warrant card, a card bearing the PASS hologram, 
or any electronic or biometric age verification 
technology approved by the licensing authority.  

•	 The premises shall display prominent signage indicating 
[Insert either: at any point of sale, at the entrance to the 
premises, or in all areas where alcohol is located] that the 
Challenge [Insert: either 21 or 25] scheme is in operation.  

•	 The premises shall display prominent signage indicating 
[Insert either: at any point of sale, at the entrance to 
the premises, or in all areas where alcohol is located] 
that it is an offence to buy or attempt to buy alcohol 
for a person who is under 18 and for a person under 
the age of 18 to buy or attempt to buy alcohol. 

•	 A refusals record must be kept at the premises which 
details all refusals to sell alcohol. This record must 
include the date and time of the incident, the name 
of the staff member who refused the sale, and the 
reason the sale was refused. All entries must be made 
within 24 hours of the refusal. The record must be 
made available for inspection and copying within 
[Insert: specify days / hours or a reasonable time] of 
a request by an officer of a Responsible Authority. 

Page 71



Scheme of Delegation
The following table sets out the delegation arrangements 
established under Section 10 of the Licensing Act 2003:

Appendix 3 : 

Matter to be dealt with Sub-Committee Officers

Application for Personal Licence with 
relevant unspent Convictions If a Police representation made If no Police representation made

Application for premises Licence/club premises certificate If a representation made If no representation made

Application for Provisional statement If a representation made If no representation made

Application to vary premises licence/club premises certificate If a representation made If no representation made

Application to vary Designated premises supervisor If a police objection All other cases

Request to be removed as designated premises supervisor x All cases

Application for transfer of premises licence If a police objection All other cases

Applications for interim authorities If a police objection All other cases

Application to review Premises Licence/
club premises certificate All cases x

Decision on whether a complaint is 
irrelevant frivolous vexatious etc x All cases

Determination of Police objection to 
a Temporary event notice. All cases x

Determination of film classification x
Licensing Manager in 
consultation with Chairman 
of Licensing Committee

Determination of minor variation If a representation made If no representation made

Disapplication of the S19 requirement to have a 
designated premise supervisor in Community Premise x All cases

Decision to object when Local Authority is a Consultee and 
not the relevant authority considering the application. All cases x

Page 72



 

 

 

Revised Guidance issued  
under section 182 of the  
Licensing Act 2003 
 

 

December 2023 

Page 73

APPENDIX 4



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revised Guidance issued under section 182  
of the Licensing Act 2003 
 

 

December 2023 

 

Page 74



© Crown copyright 2023 

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where 
otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-
licence/version/3  

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from 
the copyright holders concerned. 

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/official-documents 

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at The Alcohol Team, The Home Office, 
5th Floor, Fry Building (North West), 2 Marsham Street, London, SW1P 4DF.  

Email: AlcoholTeam2@homeoffice.gov.uk 

Page 75

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications
mailto:AlcoholTeam2@homeoffice.gov.uk


 

Contents 
1. Introduction 1 

2. The licensing objectives 6 

3. Licensable activities 15 

4. Personal licences 22 

5. Who needs a premises licence? 39 

6. Club premises certificates 45 

7. Temporary Event Notices (TENs) 48 

8. Applications for premises licences 55 

9. Determining applications 74 

10. Conditions attached to premises licences and club premises certificates 83 

11. Reviews 96 

12. Summary reviews 103 

13. Appeals 111 

14. Statements of licensing policy 114 

15. Licence fees 129 

16. Regulated entertainment 131 

17. Early morning alcohol restriction orders 149 

 
 

Page 76



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 1 

1. Introduction 
The Licensing Act 2003 
1.1 The Licensing Act 2003 (referred to in this Guidance as the 2003 Act), its explanatory 

notes and any statutory instruments made under it may be viewed online at 
www.legislation.gov.uk. The statutory instruments include regulations setting out the 
content and format of application forms and notices. The Home Office has responsibility 
for the 2003 Act. However, the Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) is 
responsible for regulated entertainment, for which there is provision in Schedule 1 to the 
2003 Act (see Chapter 16). 

Licensing objectives and aims 
1.2 The legislation provides a clear focus on the promotion of four statutory objectives which 

must be addressed when licensing functions are undertaken. 

1.3 The licensing objectives are: 

•  The prevention of crime and disorder; 
•  Public safety; 
•  The prevention of public nuisance; and 
•  The protection of children from harm. 

1.4 Each objective is of equal importance. There are no other statutory licensing objectives, 
so that the promotion of the four objectives is a paramount consideration at all times. 

1.5 However, the legislation also supports a number of other key aims and purposes.  
These are vitally important and should be principal aims for everyone involved in 
licensing work. They include: 

•  protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-social behaviour and noise 
nuisance caused by irresponsible licensed premises; 

•  giving the police and licensing authorities the powers they need to effectively manage 
and police the night-time economy and take action against those premises that are 
causing problems; 

•  recognising the important role which pubs and other licensed premises play in our 
local communities by minimising the regulatory burden on business, encouraging 
innovation and supporting responsible premises; 

•  providing a regulatory framework for alcohol which reflects the needs of local 
communities and empowers local authorities to make and enforce decisions about 
the most appropriate licensing strategies for their local area; and 

•  encouraging greater community involvement in licensing decisions and giving local 
residents the opportunity to have their say regarding licensing decisions that may 
affect them. 

  

Page 77

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


2 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

The guidance 
1.6 Section 182 of the 2003 Act provides that the Secretary of State must issue and, from 

time to time, may revise guidance to licensing authorities on the discharge of their 
functions under the 2003 Act. This revised guidance takes effect as soon as it is 
published. Where a licence application was made prior to the publication of the revised 
guidance, it should be processed in accordance with the guidance in effect at the time at 
which the application was made; the revised guidance does not apply retrospectively. 
However, all applications received by the licensing authority on or after the date the 
revised guidance was published should be processed in accordance with the revised 
guidance. 

Purpose 
1.7 This Guidance is provided to licensing authorities in relation to the carrying out of their 

functions under the 2003 Act. It also provides information to magistrates’ courts hearing 
appeals against licensing decisions and has been made widely available for the benefit 
of those who run licensed premises, their legal advisers and the general public. It is a 
key medium for promoting best practice, ensuring consistent application of licensing 
powers across England and Wales and for promoting fairness, equal treatment and 
proportionality. 

1.8 The police remain key enforcers of licensing law. This Guidance does not bind police 
officers who, within the parameters of their force orders and the law, remain 
operationally independent. However, this Guidance is provided to support and assist 
police officers in interpreting and implementing the 2003 Act in the promotion of the four 
licensing objectives. 

Legal status 
1.9 Section 4 of the 2003 Act provides that, in carrying out its functions, a licensing authority 

must ‘have regard to’ guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182. This 
Guidance is therefore binding on all licensing authorities to that extent. However, this 
Guidance cannot anticipate every possible scenario or set of circumstances that may 
arise and, as long as licensing authorities have properly understood this Guidance, they 
may depart from it if they have good reason to do so and can provide full reasons. 
Departure from this Guidance could give rise to an appeal or judicial review, and the 
reasons given will then be a key consideration for the courts when considering the 
lawfulness and merits of any decision taken. 

1.10 Nothing in this Guidance should be taken as indicating that any requirement of licensing 
law or any other law may be overridden (including the obligations placed on any public 
authorities under human rights legislation). This Guidance does not in any way replace 
the statutory provisions of the 2003 Act or add to its scope and licensing authorities 
should note that interpretation of the 2003 Act is a matter for the courts. Licensing 
authorities and others using this Guidance must take their own professional and legal 
advice about its implementation. 

 

Page 78



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 3 

Licensing policies 
1.11 Section 5 of the 2003 Act requires a licensing authority to determine and publish a 

statement of its licensing policy at least once every five years. The policy must be 
published before it carries out any licensing functions under the 2003 Act. 

1.12 However, determining and publishing a statement of its policy is a licensing function and 
as such the authority must have regard to this Guidance when taking this step. A 
licensing authority may depart from its own policy if the individual circumstances of any 
case merit such a decision in the interests of the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
But once again, it is important that it should be able to give full reasons for departing 
from its published statement of licensing policy. Where revisions to this Guidance are 
issued by the Secretary of State, there may be a period of time when the licensing 
policy statement is inconsistent with the Guidance (for example, during any consultation 
by the licensing authority). In these circumstances, the licensing authority should have 
regard, and give appropriate weight, to this Guidance and its own existing licensing 
policy statement. 

Licensable activities 
1.13 For the purposes of the 2003 Act, the following are licensable activities: 

•  The sale by retail of alcohol; 
•  The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of the 

club; 
•  The provision of regulated entertainment; and 
•  The provision of late night refreshment. 

Further explanation of these terms is provided in Chapter 3. 

Authorisations or permissions 
1.14 The 2003 Act provides for four different types of authorisation or permission, as follows: 

•  Premises licence – to use premises for licensable activities. 
•  Club premises certificate – to allow a qualifying club to engage in qualifying club 

activities as set out in Section 1 of the Act. 
•  Temporary event notice – to carry out licensable activities at a temporary event. 
•  Personal licence – to sell or authorise the sale of alcohol from premises in respect of 

which there is a premises licence. 

General principles 
1.15 If an application for a premises licence or club premises certificate has been made 

lawfully and there have been no representations from responsible authorities or other 
persons, the licensing authority must grant the application, subject only to conditions 
that are consistent with the operating schedule and relevant mandatory conditions. It is 
recommended that licence applicants contact responsible authorities when preparing 
their operating schedules. 

  

Page 79



4 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Licence conditions – general principles 
1.16 Conditions on a premises licence or club premises certificate are important in setting the 

parameters within which premises can lawfully operate. The use of wording such as 
“must”, “shall” and “will” is encouraged. Licence conditions: 

•  must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 
•  must be precise and enforceable; 
•  must be unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve; 
•  should not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities 

placed on the employer by other legislation; 
•  must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the premises 

and events concerned; 
•  should not be standardised and may be unlawful when it cannot be demonstrated 

that they are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in an individual 
case; 

•  should not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation; 
•  should be proportionate, justifiable and be capable of being met; 
•  cannot seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the direct 

management of the licence holder and their staff, but may impact on the behaviour of 
customers in the immediate vicinity of the premises or as they enter or leave; and 

•  should be written in a prescriptive format. 

Each application on its own merits 
1.17 Each application must be considered on its own merits and in accordance with the 

licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy; for example, if the application falls 
within the scope of a cumulative impact policy. Conditions attached to licences and 
certificates must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the 
premises and events concerned. This is essential to avoid the imposition of 
disproportionate and overly burdensome conditions on premises where there is no need 
for such conditions. Standardised conditions should be avoided and indeed may be 
unlawful where they cannot be shown to be appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives in an individual case.  

Additional guidance 
1.18 From time to time, the Home Office may issue additional supporting guidance to 

licensing authorities and other persons on the Gov.uk website. This supporting guidance 
is good practice guidance and should be viewed as indicative and subject to change. 
Such supporting guidance will broadly reflect but will not be part of the statutory 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182 of the 2003 Act. Licensing 
authorities may wish to refer to, but are under no statutory duty to have regard to such 
supporting guidance issued by the Home Office. 

  

Page 80



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 5 

Other relevant legislation 
1.19 While licence conditions should not duplicate other statutory provisions, licensing 

authorities and licensees should be mindful of requirements and responsibilities placed 
on them by other legislation. Legislation which may be relevant includes: 

•  The Gambling Act 2005 
•  The Environmental Protection Act 1990 
•  The Noise Act 1996 
•  The Clean Neighbourhoods and Environmental Act 2005 
•  The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
•  The Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
•  The Equality Act 2010 
•  The Immigration Act 2016 
•  Regulators’ Code under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 
 

 

Page 81



6 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

2. The licensing objectives 
Crime and disorder 
2.1 Licensing authorities should look to the police as the main source of advice on crime 

and disorder. They should also seek to involve the local Community Safety Partnership 
(CSP). 

2.2 In the exercise of their functions, licensing authorities should seek to co-operate with the 
Security Industry Authority (“SIA”) as far as possible and consider adding relevant 
conditions to licences where appropriate. The SIA also plays an important role in 
preventing crime and disorder by ensuring that door supervisors are properly licensed 
and, in partnership with police and other agencies, that security companies are not 
being used as fronts for serious and organised criminal activity. This may include 
making specific enquiries or visiting premises through intelligence led operations in 
conjunction with the police, local authorities and other partner agencies. Similarly, the 
provision of requirements for door supervision may be appropriate to ensure that people 
who are drunk, drug dealers or people carrying firearms do not enter the premises and 
ensuring that the police are kept informed. 

2.3 Conditions should be targeted on deterrence and preventing crime and disorder 
including the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises (see paragraph 10.10). 
For example, where there is good reason to suppose that disorder may take place, the 
presence of closed-circuit television (CCTV) cameras both inside and immediately 
outside the premises can actively deter disorder, nuisance, anti-social behaviour and 
crime generally. Some licence holders may wish to have cameras on their premises for 
the prevention of crime directed against the business itself, its staff, or its customers. 
But any condition may require a broader approach, and it may be appropriate to ensure 
that the precise location of cameras is set out on plans to ensure that certain areas are 
properly covered and there is no subsequent dispute over the terms of the condition. 

2.4 The inclusion of radio links and ring-round phone systems should be considered an 
appropriate condition for public houses, bars and nightclubs operating in city and town 
centre leisure areas with a high density of licensed premises. These systems allow 
managers of licensed premises to communicate instantly with the police and facilitate a 
rapid response to any disorder which may be endangering the customers and staff on 
the premises. 

2.5 Conditions relating to the management competency of designated premises supervisors 
should not normally be attached to premises licences. It will normally be the 
responsibility of the premises licence holder as an employer, and not the licensing 
authority, to ensure that the managers appointed at the premises are competent and 
appropriately trained. The designated premises supervisor is the key person who will 
usually be responsible for the day to day management of the premises by the premises 
licence holder, including the prevention of disorder. A condition of this kind may only be 
justified as appropriate in rare circumstances where it can be demonstrated that, in the 
circumstances associated with particular premises, poor management competency 
could give rise to issues of crime and disorder and public safety. 

  

Page 82



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 7 

2.6 The prevention of crime includes the prevention of immigration crime including the 
prevention of illegal working in licensed premises. Licensing authorities should work with 
Home Office Immigration Enforcement, as well as the police, in respect of these 
matters. Licence conditions that are considered appropriate for the prevention of illegal 
working in licensed premises might include requiring a premises licence holder to 
undertake right to work checks on all staff employed at the licensed premises or 
requiring that evidence of a right to work check, either physical or digital (e.g. a copy of 
any document checked as part of a right to work check or a clear copy of the online right 
to work check) are retained at the licensed premises.  

2.7 The objective to crime under the Licensing Act 2003 would include taking measures to 
prevent incidents of spiking which would usually be prosecuted under section 23 and 24 
of the Offences Against the Person Act 1861, and section 61 of the Sexual Offences Act 
2003. The following examples are within the range of behaviours that would be 
considered spiking. This list is not exhaustive:   

 
• Putting alcohol into someone’s drink without their knowledge or permission  
• Putting prescription or illegal drugs into an alcoholic or non-alcoholic drink without 

their knowledge or permission 
• Injecting another person with prescription or illegal drugs without their knowledge or 

permission  
• Putting prescription or illegal drugs into another person's food without their 

knowledge or permission  
• Putting prescription or illegal drugs into another person's cigarette or vape without 

their knowledge or permission 
 

Public safety 
2.8 Licence holders have a responsibility to ensure the safety of those using their premises, 

as a part of their duties under the 2003 Act. This concerns the safety of people using the 
relevant premises rather than public health which is addressed in other legislation. 
Physical safety includes the prevention of accidents and injuries and other immediate 
harms that can result from alcohol consumption such as unconsciousness or alcohol 
poisoning. Conditions relating to public safety may also promote the crime and disorder 
objective as noted above. There will of course be occasions when a public safety 
condition could incidentally benefit a person’s health more generally, but it should not be 
the purpose of the condition as this would be outside the licensing authority’s powers 
(be ultra vires) under the 2003 Act. Conditions should not be imposed on a premises 
licence or club premises certificate which relate to cleanliness or hygiene. 

2.9 A number of matters should be considered in relation to public safety. These may 
include: 

•  Fire safety; 
•  Ensuring appropriate access for emergency services such as ambulances; 
•  Good communication with local authorities and emergency services, for example 

communications networks with the police and signing up for local incident alerts (see 
paragraph 2.4 above); 

Page 83



8 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

•  Ensuring the presence of trained first aiders on the premises and appropriate first aid 
kits; 

•  Ensuring the safety of people when leaving the premises (for example, through the 
provision of information on late-night transportation); 

•  Ensuring appropriate and frequent waste disposal, particularly of glass bottles; 
•  Ensuring appropriate limits on the maximum capacity of the premises (see 

paragraphs 2.12-2.13, and Chapter 10; and 
•  Considering the use of CCTV in and around the premises (as noted in paragraph 2.3 

above, this may also assist with promoting the crime and disorder objective). 

2.10 The measures that are appropriate to promote public safety will vary between premises 
and the matters listed above may not apply in all cases. As set out in Chapter 8 (8.38-
8.46), applicants should consider when making their application which steps it is 
appropriate to take to promote the public safety objective and demonstrate how they 
achieve that. 

 

2.11 Counter terrorism and public safety  

2.12 Licensing committees may wish to give due consideration to appropriate counter-
terrorism measures and advice when considering licence applications, for example at 
high profile or large premises or events or where there are factors which may increase 
attractiveness to attacks, and in particular when in receipt of relevant advice from police 
counter terrorist staff. 

2.13 It is particularly relevant to consider conditions around health care provision in this 
regard. Any additional licensing conditions should be appropriate and proportionate to 
the venue as noted in para 1.16.  We recommend that all licensing authorities pay 
particular attention to terrorist threats when making specific licence conditions in relation 
to security or health care provision at appropriate premises and events applying for a 
licence.   

2.14 As noted in para 2.8 licensing authorities can recommend conditions where appropriate 
to do so, such as ensuring appropriate access for emergency services and vehicles 
such as ambulances; good communication with local authorities and emergency 
services, for example communications networks with the police and signing up for local 
incident alerts (see paragraph 2.4); and ensuring the presence of sufficient trained first 
aiders on the premises and appropriate first aid kits.  

2.15 However, in some instances, licensing authorities may wish to tailor their approach, 
depending on the particular nature of the application, and go further when addressing 
concerns around possible terrorist or other such risks. We have provided an Annex to 
help inform and support licensing authorities in their decision making with regards to 
additional licence conditions for premises and events, that may benefit from further 
security planning and health care provision in the aftermath of a particular type of 
incident. 

Ensuring safe departure of those using the premises 
2.16 Licence holders should make provision to ensure that premises users safely leave their 

premises. Measures that may assist include: 

Page 84



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 9 

•  Providing information on the premises of local taxi companies who can provide safe 
transportation home; and 

•  Ensuring adequate lighting outside the premises, particularly on paths leading to and 
from the premises and in car parks. 

Maintenance and repair 
2.17 Where there is a requirement in other legislation for premises open to the public or for 

employers to possess certificates attesting to the safety or satisfactory nature of certain 
equipment or fixtures on the premises, it would be inappropriate for a licensing condition 
to require possession of such a certificate. However, it would be permissible to require 
as a condition of a licence or certificate, if appropriate, checks on this equipment to be 
conducted at specified intervals and for evidence of these checks to be retained by the 
premises licence holder or club provided this does not duplicate or gold-plate a 
requirement in other legislation. Similarly, it would be permissible for licensing 
authorities, if they receive relevant representations from responsible authorities or any 
other persons, to attach conditions which require equipment of particular standards to 
be maintained on the premises. Responsible authorities – such as health and safety 
authorities – should therefore make their expectations clear in this respect to enable 
prospective licence holders or clubs to prepare effective operating schedules and club 
operating schedules. 

Safe capacities 
2.18 “Safe capacities” should only be imposed where appropriate for the promotion of public 

safety or the prevention of disorder on the relevant premises. For example, if a capacity 
has been imposed through other legislation, it would be inappropriate to reproduce it in 
a premises licence. Indeed, it would also be wrong to lay down conditions which conflict 
with other legal requirements. However, if no safe capacity has been imposed through 
other legislation, a responsible authority may consider it appropriate for a new capacity 
to be attached to the premises which would apply at any material time when the 
licensable activities are taking place and make representations to that effect. For 
example, in certain circumstances, capacity limits may be appropriate in preventing 
disorder, as overcrowded venues can increase the risks of crowds becoming frustrated 
and hostile. 

2.19 The permitted capacity is a limit on the number of persons who may be on the premises 
at any time, following a recommendation by the relevant fire and rescue authority under 
the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. For any application for a premises 
licence or club premises certificate for premises without an existing permitted capacity 
where the applicant wishes to take advantage of the special provisions set out in section 
177 of the 2003 Act1, the applicant should conduct their own risk assessment as to the 
appropriate capacity of the premises. They should send their recommendation to the fire 
and rescue authority which will consider it and decide what the “permitted capacity” of 
those premises should be. 

2.20 Public safety may include the safety of performers appearing at any premises, but does 
not extend to the prevention of injury from participation in a boxing or wrestling 

 
1 S 177 of the 2003 Act now only applies to performances of dance. 

Page 85



10 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

entertainment. 

Public nuisance 
2.21 The 2003 Act enables licensing authorities and responsible authorities, through 

representations, to consider what constitutes public nuisance and what is appropriate to 
prevent it in terms of conditions attached to specific premises licences and club 
premises certificates. It is therefore important that in considering the promotion of this 
licensing objective, licensing authorities and responsible authorities focus on the effect 
of the licensable activities at the specific premises on persons living and working 
(including those carrying on business) in the area around the premises which may be 
disproportionate and unreasonable. The issues will mainly concern noise nuisance, light 
pollution, noxious smells and litter. 

2.22 Public nuisance is given a statutory meaning in many pieces of legislation. It is however 
not narrowly defined in the 2003 Act and retains its broad common law meaning. It may 
include in appropriate circumstances the reduction of the living and working amenity and 
environment of other persons living and working in the area of the licensed premises. 
Public nuisance may also arise as a result of the adverse effects of artificial light, dust, 
odour and insects or where its effect is prejudicial to health. 

2.23 Conditions relating to noise nuisance will usually concern steps appropriate to control 
the levels of noise emanating from premises. This might be achieved by a simple 
measure such as ensuring that doors and windows are kept closed after a particular 
time, or persons are not permitted in garden areas of the premises after a certain time. 
More sophisticated measures like the installation of acoustic curtains or rubber speaker 
mounts to mitigate sound escape from the premises may be appropriate. However, 
conditions in relation to live or recorded music may not be enforceable in circumstances 
where the entertainment activity itself is not licensable (see chapter 16). Any conditions 
appropriate to promote the prevention of public nuisance should be tailored to the type, 
nature and characteristics of the specific premises and its licensable activities. Licensing 
authorities should avoid inappropriate or disproportionate measures that could deter 
events that are valuable to the community, such as live music. Noise limiters, for 
example, are expensive to purchase and install and are likely to be a considerable 
burden for smaller venues. 

2.24 As with all conditions, those relating to noise nuisance may not be appropriate in certain 
circumstances where provisions in other legislation adequately protect those living in the 
area of the premises. But as stated earlier in this Guidance, the approach of licensing 
authorities and responsible authorities should be one of prevention and when their 
powers are engaged, licensing authorities should be aware of the fact that other 
legislation may not adequately cover concerns raised in relevant representations and 
additional conditions may be appropriate. 

2.25 Where applications have given rise to representations, any appropriate conditions 
should normally focus on the most sensitive periods. For example, the most sensitive 
period for people being disturbed by unreasonably loud music is at night and into the 
early morning when residents in adjacent properties may be attempting to go to sleep or 
are sleeping. This is why there is still a need for a licence for performances of live music 
between 11 pm and 8 am. In certain circumstances, conditions relating to noise 

Page 86



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 11 

emanating from the premises may also be appropriate to address any disturbance 
anticipated as customers enter and leave. 

2.26 Measures to control light pollution will also require careful thought. Bright lighting 
outside premises which is considered appropriate to prevent crime and disorder may 
itself give rise to light pollution for some neighbours. Applicants, licensing authorities 
and responsible authorities will need to balance these issues. 

2.27 Beyond the immediate area surrounding the premises, these are matters for the 
personal responsibility of individuals under the law. An individual who engages in anti-
social behaviour is accountable in their own right. However, it would be perfectly 
reasonable for a licensing authority to impose a condition, following relevant 
representations, that requires the licence holder or club to place signs at the exits from 
the building encouraging patrons to be quiet until they leave the area, or that, if they 
wish to smoke, to do so at designated places on the premises instead of outside, and to 
respect the rights of people living nearby to a peaceful night. 

Protection of children from harm 
2.28 The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children from moral, 

psychological and physical harm. This includes not only protecting children from the 
harms associated directly with alcohol consumption but also wider harms such as 
exposure to strong language and sexual expletives (for example, in the context of 
exposure to certain films or adult entertainment). Licensing authorities must also 
consider the need to protect children from sexual exploitation when undertaking 
licensing functions. 

2.29 The Government believes that it is completely unacceptable to sell alcohol to children. 
Conditions relating to the access of children where alcohol is sold and which are 
appropriate to protect them from harm should be carefully considered. Moreover, 
conditions restricting the access of children to premises should be strongly considered 
in circumstances where: 

•  adult entertainment is provided; 
•  a member or members of the current management have been convicted for serving 

alcohol to minors or with a reputation for allowing underage drinking (other than in the 
context of the exemption in the 2003 Act relating to 16 and 17 year olds consuming 
beer, wine and cider when accompanied by an adult during a table meal); 

•  it is known that unaccompanied children have been allowed access; 
•  there is a known association with drug taking or dealing; or 
•  in some cases, the premises are used exclusively or primarily for the sale of alcohol 

for consumption on the premises. 

2.30 It is also possible that activities, such as adult entertainment, may take place at certain 
times on premises but not at other times. For example, premises may operate as a café 
bar during the day providing meals for families but also provide entertainment with a 
sexual content after 8.00pm. It is not possible to give an exhaustive list of what amounts 
to entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature. Applicants, responsible 
authorities and licensing authorities will need to consider this point carefully. This would 
broadly include topless bar staff, striptease, lap-, table- or pole-dancing, performances 
involving feigned violence or horrific incidents, feigned or actual sexual acts or fetishism, 

Page 87



12 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

or entertainment involving strong and offensive language. 

2.31 Applicants must be clear in their operating schedules about the activities and times at 
which the events would take place to help determine when it is not appropriate for 
children to enter the premises. Consideration should also be given to the proximity of 
premises to schools and youth clubs so that applicants take appropriate steps to ensure 
that advertising relating to their premises, or relating to events at their premises, is not 
displayed at a time when children are likely to be near the premises. 

2.32 Licensing authorities and responsible authorities should expect applicants, when 
preparing an operating schedule or club operating schedule, to set out the steps to be 
taken to protect children from harm when on the premises. 

2.33 Conditions, where they are appropriate, should reflect the licensable activities taking 
place on the premises. In addition to the mandatory condition regarding age verification, 
other conditions relating to the protection of children from harm can include: 

•  restrictions on the hours when children may be present; 
•  restrictions or exclusions on the presence of children under certain ages when 

particular specified activities are taking place; 
•  restrictions on the parts of the premises to which children may have access; 
•  age restrictions (below 18); 
•  restrictions or exclusions when certain activities are taking place; 
•  requirements for an accompanying adult (including for example, a combination of 

requirements which provide that children under a particular age must be 
accompanied by an adult); and 

•  full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any licensable activities are 
taking place. 

2.34 Please see also Chapter 10 for details about the Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory 
Licensing Conditions) Order 2010. 

2.35 Licensing authorities should give considerable weight to representations about child 
protection matters. In addition to the responsible authority whose functions relate 
directly to child protection, the Director of Public Health may also have access to 
relevant evidence to inform such representations. These representations may include, 
amongst other things, the use of health data about the harms that alcohol can cause to 
underage drinkers. Where a responsible authority, or other person, presents evidence to 
the licensing authority linking specific premises with harms to children (such as 
ambulance data or emergency department attendances by persons under 18 years old 
with alcohol- related illnesses or injuries) this evidence should be considered, and the 
licensing authority should also consider what action is appropriate to ensure this 
licensing objective is effectively enforced. In relation to applications for the grant of a 
licence in areas where evidence is presented on high levels of alcohol-related harms in 
persons aged under 18, it is recommended that the licensing authority considers what 
conditions may be appropriate to ensure that this objective is promoted effectively. 

2.36 The 2003 Act provides that, where a premises licence or club premises certificate 
authorises the exhibition of a film, it must include a condition requiring the admission of 
children to films to be restricted in accordance with recommendations given either by a 
body designated under section 4 of the Video Recordings Act 1984 specified in the 

Page 88



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 13 

licence (the British Board of Film Classification is currently the only body which has 
been so designated) or by the licensing authority itself. Further details are given in 
Chapter 10. 

2.37 Theatres may present a range of diverse activities and entertainment including, for 
example, variety shows incorporating adult entertainment. It is appropriate in these 
cases for a licensing authority to consider restricting the admission of children in such 
circumstances. Entertainments may also be presented at theatres specifically for 
children. It will be appropriate to consider whether a condition should be attached to a 
premises licence or club premises certificate which requires the presence of a sufficient 
number of adult staff on the premises to ensure the wellbeing of the children during any 
emergency. 

Offences relating to the sale and supply of alcohol to children 
2.38 Licensing authorities are expected to maintain close contact with the police, young 

offenders’ teams and trading standards officers (who can carry out test purchases under 
section 154 of the 2003 Act) about the extent of unlawful sales and consumption of 
alcohol by minors and to be involved in the development of any strategies to control or 
prevent these unlawful activities and to pursue prosecutions. Licensing authorities, 
alongside the police, are prosecuting authorities for the purposes of these offences, 
except for the offences under section 147A (persistently selling alcohol to children). 
Where, as a matter of policy, warnings are given to retailers prior to any decision to 
prosecute in respect of an offence, it is important that each of the enforcement arms 
should be aware of the warnings each of them has given. 

  

Page 89



14 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Table of relevant offences under the 2003 Act 
Section Offence Prosecuting Authority 
Section 145 Unaccompanied children prohibited from 

certain premises 
Police and/or Licensing Authority 

Section 146 Sale of alcohol to children Police, Licensing Authority and/or 
Local Weights and Measures 
Authority 

Section 147 Allowing the sale of alcohol to children Police, Licensing Authority and/or 
Local Weights and Measures 
Authority 

Section 147A Persistently selling alcohol to children Police and/or Local Weights and 
Measures Authority 

Section 149 Purchase of alcohol by or on behalf of 
children 

Police and/or Licensing Authority 

Section 150 Consumption of alcohol by children Police and/or Licensing Authority 
Section 151 Delivering alcohol to children Police and/or Licensing Authority 
Section 152 Sending a child to obtain alcohol Police and/or Licensing Authority 
Section 153 Prohibition of unsupervised sales by 

children 
Police and/or Licensing Authority 

Page 90



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 15 

3. Licensable activities
Summary 
3.1 A premises licence authorises the use of any premises (see Chapter 5) for licensable 

activities. Licensable activities are defined in section 1 of the 2003 Act, and a fuller 
description of certain activities is set out in Schedules 1 and 2 to the 2003 Act. 

3.2 The licensable activities are: 

• the sale by retail of alcohol;
• the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of the

club;
• the provision of regulated entertainment; and
• the provision of late night refreshment.

Wholesale of alcohol 
3.3 The sale of alcohol to the general public is licensable under the 2003 Act in accordance 

with the definition of “sale by retail” in section 192 of the 2003 Act. This section makes it 
clear that, to be excluded from the meaning of “sale by retail”, a sale must be: 

• made from premises owned by the person making the sale, or occupied under a
lease with security of tenure; and

• for consumption off the premises.

3.4 In addition, to be excluded, the sales must be sales which are made to:

• a trader for the purpose of his trade;
• to a club for the purposes of that club;
• to a holder of a premises licence or a personal licence for the purpose of making

sales under a premises licence; or
• a premises user who has given a temporary event notice, for the purpose of making

sales authorised by that notice.

3.5 If an employee were buying alcohol as an “agent” for their employer and for the 
purposes of their employer’s trade (i.e. selling alcohol), this could be treated as a sale to 
a trader. If, however, an employee were buying for the employee’s own consumption, 
this would be a retail sale, and would require a licence. 

3.6 The same considerations apply in the case of caterers who supply alcohol to their 
customers. Where a caterer purchases alcohol and then sells this alcohol to its 
customer, an authorisation will be required at the location where the retail sale of the 
alcohol is made (likely to be the caterer’s own premises). If the customer was proposing 
to sell the alcohol under an authorisation, it is the customer who would need an 
authorisation under the 2003 Act. In this case, the exemption under the 2003 Act may 
apply to the sale made by the caterer. 

3.7 From 1 April 2017, businesses which sell alcohol (for example, retailers of alcohol and 
trade buyers) will need to ensure that the UK wholesalers that they buy alcohol from 
have been approved by HMRC under the Alcohol Wholesaler Registration Scheme 
(AWRS). They will need to check their wholesalers Unique Registration Number (URN) 

Page 91



16 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

against the HMRC online database.  This is an ongoing obligation and if a business is 
found to have bought alcohol from an unapproved wholesaler, they may be liable to a 
penalty or could even face criminal prosecution and their alcohol stock may be seized. 
Any trader who buys alcohol from a wholesaler for onward sale to the general public 
(known as a ‘trade buyer’) does not need to register unless they sell alcohol to other 
businesses. Examples of trade buyers would be pubs, clubs, restaurants, cafes, 
retailers and hotels. However, they will need to check that the wholesaler they purchase 
alcohol from is registered with HMRC. Further information may be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/the-alcohol-wholesaler-registration-scheme-awrs. 

Mobile, remote, internet and other delivery sales 
3.8 The sale by retail of alcohol is a licensable activity and may only be carried out in 

accordance with an authorisation under the 2003 Act. Therefore, a person cannot sell 
alcohol from a vehicle or moveable structure at a series of different locations (e.g. house 
to house), unless there is a premises licence in respect of the vehicle or moveable 
structure at each location at which a sale of alcohol is made in, on or from it. 

3.9 The place where the order for alcohol, or payment for it, takes place may not be the 
same as the place where the alcohol is appropriated to the contract (i.e. the place where 
it is identified and specifically set apart for delivery to the purchaser). This position can 
arise when sales are made online, by telephone, or mail order. Section 190 of the 2003 
Act provides that the sale of alcohol is to be treated as taking place where the alcohol is 
appropriated to the contract. It will be the premises at this location which need to be 
licensed; for example, a call centre receiving orders for alcohol would not need a licence 
but the warehouse where the alcohol is stored and specifically selected for, and 
despatched to, the purchaser would need to be licensed. These licensed premises will, 
as such, be subject to conditions including the times of day during which alcohol may be 
sold. The premises licence will also be subject to the mandatory licence conditions. 

3.10 Persons who run premises providing ‘alcohol delivery services’ should notify the 
relevant licensing authority that they are operating such a service in their operating 
schedule. This ensures that the licensing authority can properly consider what 
conditions are appropriate. Premises with an existing premises licence, which choose to 
operate such a service in addition to their existing licensable activities, may consider  
contacting their licensing authority for its view on whether this form of alcohol sale is 
already permitted or whether an application to vary the licence will be required. 

Regulated entertainment 
3.11 Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act sets out what activities are to be treated as the provision of 

regulated entertainment and those that are not and are therefore exempt from the 
regulated entertainment aspects of the licensing regime, including incidental music – 
(see paragraphs 16.1 to 16.3 below). Chapter 16 of this Guidance document sets out 
the types of entertainment regulated by the 2003 Act. 

Page 92

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/the-alcohol-wholesaler-registration-scheme-awrs


Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 17 

Late night refreshment 
3.12 Schedule 2 to the 2003 Act provides a definition of what constitutes the provision of late 

night refreshment. It involves the supply of ‘hot food or hot drink’ between the hours of 
23.00 and 05.00 to the public for consumption on or off the premises. It includes the 
supply of hot food or hot drink between those hours on premises to which the public has 
access. Under Schedule 2, food or drink is considered to be ‘hot’ if, before it is supplied, 
it has been heated on the premises or elsewhere for the purpose of enabling it to be 
consumed at a temperature above the ambient air temperature and at the time of supply 
it is above that temperature; or after it is supplied, may be heated on the premises for 
the purpose of enabling it to be consumed at a temperature above the ambient air 
temperature. 

3.13 Shops, stores and supermarkets selling only cold food and cold drink, whether it is 
immediately consumable or not, from 23.00 are not licensable as providing late night 
refreshment. The 2003 Act affects premises such as night cafés and takeaway food 
outlets where people may gather to purchase hot food or hot drink at any time from 
23.00 and until 05.00. In this case, supply takes place when the hot food or hot drink is 
given to the customer and not when payment is made. For example, supply takes place 
when a table meal is served in a restaurant or when a takeaway is handed to a 
customer over the counter. 

3.14 Some premises provide hot food or hot drink between 23.00 and 05.00 by means of 
vending machines. The supply of hot drink by a vending machine is not a licensable 
activity and is exempt under the 2003 Act provided the public have access to and can 
operate the machine without any involvement of the staff. 

3.15 However, this exemption does not apply to hot food. Premises supplying hot food for a 
charge by vending machine are licensable if the food has been heated on the premises, 
even though no staff on the premises may have been involved in the transaction. 

3.16 It is not expected that the provision of late night refreshment as a secondary activity in 
licensed premises open for other purposes such as public houses, cinemas or 
nightclubs or casinos should give rise to a need for significant additional conditions. 

3.17 The supply of hot drink which consists of or contains alcohol is exempt under the 2003 
Act as late night refreshment because it is licensed by the provisions relating to the sale 
or supply of alcohol. 

3.18 The supply of hot food or hot drink free of charge is not a licensable activity. However, 
where any charge is made for either admission to the premises or for some other item in 
order to obtain the hot food or hot drink, this will not be regarded as “free of charge”. 
Supplies by a registered charity or anyone authorised by a registered charity are also 
exempt. 

3.19 Supplies made on moving vehicles (for example boats, trains or coaches) are also 
exempt. However supplies made from a vehicle which is permanently or temporarily 
parked, such as from a mobile takeaway van, are not exempt (see section 3.34 below 
for more detail on provisions for ‘Vessels, vehicles and moveable structures’). 

3.20 Supplies of hot food or hot drink from 23.00 are exempt from the provisions of the 2003 
Act if there is no admission to the public to the premises involved and they are supplies 
to: 

Page 93



18 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

• a member of a recognised club supplied by the club;
• persons staying overnight in a hotel, guest house, lodging house, hostel, a caravan

or camping site or any other premises whose main purpose is providing overnight
accommodation;

• an employee of a particular employer (for example in a staff canteen);
• a person who is engaged in a particular profession or who follows a particular

vocation (for example, a tradesman carrying out work at particular premises);
• a guest of any of the above.

Late night refreshment exemptions based on designated locations, 
premises types and times 
3.21 The provision of late night refreshment is regulated primarily because it is often linked to 

alcohol-fuelled crime and disorder in the night-time economy, such as at fast-food 
takeaways where late-night drinkers congregate. However, these safeguards may not 
be needed everywhere or for every type of late night refreshment business. For 
example, some late-night cafés serving hot drinks after 23.00 may be located nowhere 
near pubs and nightclubs or areas associated with alcohol-related crime and disorder. 

3.22 Paragraph 2A of Schedule 2 to the 2003 Act (as inserted by the Deregulation Act 2015) 
gives licensing authorities powers to exempt premises, in certain circumstances, from 
the requirement to have a licence to provide late night refreshment. Decisions to exempt 
supplies of late night refreshment are best made with local knowledge. The powers 
therefore allow licensing authorities to choose to apply an exemption specifically where 
they think it will be helpful to businesses and where there are no problems with anti-
social behaviour, disorder associated with the night time economy, or illegal working in 
licensed premises. As well as freeing up the businesses in question from unnecessary 
costs, this can also provide greater flexibility for licensing authorities to target their 
resources more effectively. 

3.23 The powers allow a relevant licensing authority to exempt the supply of late night 
refreshment if it takes place: 

• on or from premises which are wholly situated in a designated area;
• on or from premises which are of a designated description; or
• during a designated period (beginning no earlier than 23.00 and ending no later than

05.00.

3.24 When choosing to designate a particular area as exempt, the relevant licensing 
authority must define the location, which can be of any size. 

3.25 When choosing to designate particular categories of premises as exempt, a licensing 
authority can only exempt types of premises set out in the regulations. These are: 

• Motorway service areas;
• petrol stations;
• local authority premises (except domestic premises) unless there is an event taking

place at which more than 500 people are present;
• schools (except domestic premises) unless there is an event taking place at which

more than 500 people are present;

Page 94



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 19 

•  hospitals (except domestic premises); 
•  community premises (church, chapel, village, parish or community hall or other 

similar building) unless there is an event taking place at which more than 500 people 
are present; 

•  licensed premises authorised to sell by retail alcohol for consumption on the 
premises between the hours of 23.00 and 05.00. 

3.26 When choosing to exempt the provision of late night refreshment at particular times, the 
relevant licensing authority must determine the times between 23.00 and 05.00 when 
the exemption applies. The exemption and any subsequent change to the time will apply 
to the whole licensing authority area. 

3.27 A relevant licensing authority may use more than one type of exemption at the same 
time, for example by changing the times across the licensing authority area during which 
licensing requirements will apply and also exempting premises by type across the whole 
licensing authority area. However, it cannot use different forms of exemption in 
conjunction with one another – for example, it would not be permitted to change the 
times in one geographic area only.  

3.28 Where a premises is situated in the areas of two or more licensing authorities, any of 
those authorities may be the relevant licensing authority and it would be advisable for an 
authority wishing to apply an exemption to discuss it with the other authority concerned. 
This might apply, for example, where an area or premises type exemption is being 
applied and the licensing authority is aware that a particular premises such as a 
motorway service area sits across the boundary of two or more licensing authority 
areas. 

3.29 Licensing authorities should consider deregulation where possible. However, they do 
not have to use the exemptions and can continue to require all late night refreshment 
providers to be licensed where this is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.  

3.30 Existing late night refreshment licences for premises that become exempt from 
regulation will remain extant unless the holder chooses to surrender it to the licensing 
authority, but there will be no requirement on the licence holder to pay annual fees and 
any conditions on the licence will cease to apply for as long as the exemption is in 
place. In cases where an exemption in relation to late night refreshment provision is 
applied, other licensing is unaffected. For example if a premises is licensed to sell 
alcohol and is exempt from requiring a late night refreshment licence, their licence in 
respect of the sale of alcohol is unaffected. Where a premises benefits from an 
exemption applied by the licensing authority, any existing conditions on a licence 
relating solely to the provision of late night refreshment will have no effect during the 
period of the exemption. 

3.31 When deciding which exemption to use, if any, the relevant licensing authority should 
always first consider what the risks are in terms of the promotion of the licensing 
objectives, including the prevention of illegal working in those premises. The decision to 
make an exemption is a licensing function that licensing authorities should include within 
their statement of licensing policy. It would then therefore be subject to the statutory 
consultation process with other responsible authorities and relevant parties set out in 
section 5 of the 2003 Act. However, it is for the licensing authority to decide on the detail 

Page 95



20 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

and extent of the consultation beyond the statutory minimum; for example, in areas 
where there are concerns about illegal working in licensed premises the licensing 
authority should consult Home Office Immigration Enforcement. The licensing authority 
may decide to only consult on the proposed exemption or, alternatively, it may form part 
of a wider review of other matters within its statement of licensing policy.   

3.32 When applying any of the exemptions the relevant licensing authority must publicise the 
changes and should decide on the most appropriate way to do this, in addition to 
updating its statement of licensing policy as soon as is practical. There is no 
requirement for licensing authorities to tell premises individually, however they should 
publicise the exemption in a way that ensures that those who are likely to be affected 
may benefit from it. If any fees are paid prior to an exemption coming into effect, 
licensing authorities should consider whether a refund or partial refund is appropriate. It 
is for each individual licensing authority to develop its own refund policy and ensure that 
it is communicated appropriately to all licence holders that are likely to be affected by an 
exemption. 

3.33 Licensing authorities can review the exemptions at any time, to change the times, 
locations or types. However, unlike many other types of licensing decision, the late night 
refreshment exemptions are not made on a case by case basis and there is no recourse 
to bring an individual premises back into the licensing regime if there is a problem with 
that particular premises. In such cases the licensing authority would have to take a 
decision about the entire exemption and apply it across the whole area. Alternatively, 
depending on the scale of the problem, other powers could be used such as closure 
powers under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. Environmental 
health legislation around noise nuisance may also offer a solution. 

Late night refreshment from vessels, vehicles and moveable 
structures 
3.34 Under section 189 of the 2003 Act, a vehicle which is not permanently situated in the 

same place and is or is proposed to be used for one or more licensable activities while 
parked at a particular place, is to be treated as if it were premises situated at that place. 
Therefore, a mobile provider of late night refreshment, such as a kebab van, could be 
treated as exempt if it supplied hot food to the public late at night in an area which had 
been designated as exempt.  If the mobile van drove to and began operating in a non-
exempt area, a licence to carry on this activity would be required. Should the licensing 
authority introduce an exemption, and subsequently wish to revoke it if problems arise, it 
has the power to do so. Areas which are likely to be considered for exemption by 
licensing authorities (for example, an area outside a town centre) are unlikely to be 
areas in which mobile kebab vans would frequently operate.  As such, mobile vehicles 
selling late night refreshment are likely to still require licences in the areas in which they 
are more commonly found. 

Page 96



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 21 

Unauthorised activities 
3.35 It is a criminal offence under section 136 of the 2003 Act to carry on any of the 

licensable activities listed at paragraph 3.2 above other than in accordance with a 
licence or other authorisation under the 2003 Act. The fine for this offence is unlimited. 
Police and local authorities have powers to take action in relation to premises carrying 
on unauthorised activities. 

Page 97



22 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

4. Personal licences
4.1 This chapter provides advice about the framework for personal licences. It also contains 

guidance for decision-making on applications by those managing community premises 
(church and village halls etc.) to remove the usual mandatory conditions that relate to 
personal licences and the requirement for a designated premises supervisor (DPS). 
The Deregulation Act 2015 removed the requirement to renew a personal licence with 
effect from 1 April 2015. 

Requirements for a personal licence 
4.2 The sale and supply of alcohol, because of its impact on the wider community and on 

crime and anti-social behaviour, carries with it greater responsibility than the provision of 
regulated entertainment and late night refreshment. This is why sales of alcohol may not 
be made under a premises licence unless there is a DPS in respect of the premises 
(who must hold a personal licence); and every sale must be made or authorised by a 
personal licence holder. The exception is only for those community premises which 
have successfully applied to remove the DPS requirement (see paragraph 4.84 below). 

4.3 Any premises at which alcohol is sold or supplied where the requirement for a personal 
licence holder does apply may employ one or more such licence holders. For example, 
there may be one owner or senior manager and several junior managers holding a 
personal licence. However, the requirement that every sale of alcohol must at least be 
authorised by a personal licence holder does not mean that the licence holder has to be 
present on the premises or oversee each sale; it is sufficient that such sales are 
authorised. It should be noted that there is no requirement to have a DPS in relation to a 
Temporary Event Notice (TEN) or club premises certificate, and sales or supplies of 
alcohol authorised by a TEN or club premises certificate do not need to be authorised 
by a personal licence holder. 

Who can apply? 
4.4 In the case of an application for a personal licence under Part 6 of the 2003 Act, the 

requirements are that: 

• the applicant must be aged 18 or over;
• the applicant, if subject to immigration control, must have permission to work in a

licensable activity (see paragraph 4.8);
• the applicant possesses a licensing qualification accredited by the Secretary of State

(or one which is certified as if it is such a qualification or is considered equivalent) or
is a person as prescribed in the Licensing Act 2003 (Personal licences) Regulations
20052).

• the applicant must not have forfeited a personal licence within five years of their
application;

• the applicant has paid the appropriate fee to the licensing authority; and

2 Currently persons prescribed in regulations are: a member of the company of the Master, Wardens, Freemen and Commonalty 
of the Mystery of the Vintners of the City of London; a person operating under a licence granted by the University of Cambridge; 
or a person operating premises under a licence granted by the Board of the Green Cloth. 

Page 98



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 23 

• in a case in which the applicant has an unspent conviction for a relevant offence or a
foreign offence, the police have not objected to the grant of the application on crime
prevention grounds or the licensing authority has considered their objection but
determined that the grant of the application will not undermine the crime prevention
objective.

4.5 Any individual may apply for a personal licence whether or not they are currently 
employed or have business interests associated with the use of the licence. The issues 
which arise when the holder of a personal licence becomes associated with particular 
licensed premises and is specified as the DPS for those premises are dealt with at 
paragraphs 4.84 to 4.97 below. Licensing authorities may not therefore take these 
matters into account when considering an application for a personal licence. 

4.6 Applicants for personal licences who are ordinarily resident in a licensing authority’s 
area are required to make the application to that licensing authority. An applicant who is 
not ordinarily resident in a licensing authority’s area (which may include persons living 
outside England and Wales), may apply for the grant of a personal licence to any 
licensing authority in England and Wales. 

4.7 For applications made after 6 April 2017, applicants who are subject to UK immigration 
control must be entitled to work in a licensable activity. Section 192A of the Licensing 
Act 2003 defines ‘entitlement to work’ for the purposes of the Act 

Entitlement to work in the UK
4.8 Individuals applying for a personal licence must be entitled to work in the UK. The 

Immigration Act 2016 amended the Licensing Act 2003 with effect from 6 April 2017 so 
that an application made on or after that date by someone who is not entitled to work in 
the UK must be rejected. The purpose of this provision is to help prevent illegal working 
in the UK.  

4.9 Licensing Authorities must be satisfied that an applicant has the right to work in the UK. 
Applicants are required to submit one of the documents listed at Annex A of the Home 
Office’s Employer right to work checks supporting guidance published on gov.uk at: 
Right to work checks: an employer's guide - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) to show that they 
have permission to be in the UK and are permitted to undertake work in a licensable 
activity. This also applies to individuals who apply for premises licences.  

4.10 As an alternative to using one of the documents listed, applicants may choose to 
demonstrate their right to work by allowing the licensing authority to carry out a check 
with the Home Office online right to work checking service. Where a right to work check 
has been conducted using the online service, the information is provided in real-time 
directly from Home Office systems and there is no requirement to carry out a manual 
document-based check. Applicants should be invited to provide their share code in their 
application which, along with the applicant’s date of birth, will allow the licensing 
authority to check their immigration status via the online service available on gov.uk at: 
View a job applicant's right to work details - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)  

4.11 Licensing authorities may encourage use of the online checking service and may 
support applicants in doing so (e.g. by providing access to hardware and the internet). 
However, licensing authorities are not permitted to mandate online checks, except for 
those applicants who have been provided with digital evidence of their immigration 

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-work-checks-employers-guide
https://www.gov.uk/view-right-to-work


24 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

status only (known as an eVisa). 

4.12 For applications made on or after 6 April 2017, where an applicant’s immigration 
permission to live and work in the UK is time-limited, a personal licence may be issued. 
However, it will become invalid when the immigration permission expires.  In the event 
that the Home Office cuts short or ends a person’s immigration permission (referred to 
as curtailment or revocation), any licence issued in respect of an application made on or 
after 6 April 2017 will automatically lapse (see paragraph 4.17 below). 

4.13 A person is disqualified from applying for a personal licence or a premises licence by 
reason of their immigration status if: 

• The person requires leave to enter or remain in the UK and has not been granted it;
or

• The person’s leave to enter or remain in the UK:

­ is invalid,

­ has ceased to have effect (whether by reason of curtailment, revocation,
cancellation, passage of time, or otherwise), or

­ is subject to a condition preventing the person from doing work of that kind.

4.14 The requirement to demonstrate immigration status is not retrospective. This means that 
licensing authorities do not need to check the immigration status of those people who 
already hold a licence which was issued before 6 April 2017.   

4.15 Applicants may provide photocopies or scanned copies of the documents demonstrating 
their right to work. These do not need to be endorsed as a copy of the original. 
Applicants may prefer to provide original copies, but licensing authorities cannot 
mandate this. The licensing authority must be satisfied that the applicant is entitled to 
work in the UK. The licensing authority should establish whether or not an applicant has 
a lawful immigration status in the UK or is prohibited from working because they are in 
the UK unlawfully or is subject to a condition that prevents them from holding a licence.  

4.16 To ensure that licensing authorities do not discriminate against anyone, all licence 
applicants should be treated in the same way during the licence application process. 
This will ensure a fair, transparent and consistent application process. Assumptions 
should not be made about a person’s right to work in the UK or their immigration status 
on the basis of their nationality, ethnic origin, accent, the colour of their skin, or the 
length of time they have been resident in the UK.  

4.17 If an applicant has restrictions on the length of time they may work in the UK, a 
premises licence or personal licence may still be issued. However, the licence will cease 
to have effect when the right to work lapses. Migrants who are subject to UK 
immigration control may be granted permission to enter or remain in the UK, with a 
condition permitting employment, on a time-limited basis or on an indefinite basis. When 
the person’s stay is time limited, this will be shown in their immigration documentation or 
on their profile available from the online checking service where applicable. It is possible 
for a migrant to apply to extend their permission to remain. If they do so before their 
previous status expires, they continue to have any right to work that they previously had 
while their application and any associated administrative review or appeal is 
outstanding. In such cases, a person’s status may be confirmed by the licensing 

Page 100



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 25 

authority contacting the Home Office Status, Verification, Evidence and Checking 
(SVEC) Unit at ICESSVECworkflow@homeoffice.gov.uk.    

4.18 In most cases the licensing authority should be able to make an assessment that the 
applicant is not disqualified from applying for a premises or personal licence based on 
any information provided with the application. This will include all cases where the 
applicant is a British citizen. It is only necessary to contact the Home Office SVEC Unit  
in the following circumstances to verify that someone has the right to hold a premises or 
personal licence:  

o licensing authorities are presented with a document (non-digital CoA or an
acknowledgement letter or email) confirming receipt of an application to the EU
Settlement Scheme (EUSS) on or before 30 June 2021; or

o licensing authorities are presented with a non-digital CoA confirming receipt of an
application to the EUSS on or after 1 July 2021; or

o licensing authorities have checked a digital CoA, using the online service,
confirming receipt of an application to the EUSS on or after 1 July 2021, and been
directed to SVEC; or

o the applicant is unable to provide evidence of their right to work due to an
outstanding application for permission to remain in the UK which was made before
their previous immigration leave expired, or has an outstanding appeal or
administrative review against a Home Office decision that grants them a right to
work; or

o licensing authorities consider that they have not been provided with any
acceptable documents, but the applicant presents other information indicating they
are a long-term resident of the UK who arrived in the UK before 1988.

In these five circumstances, SVEC will confirm the individual’s immigration status. 
However, licensing authorities will still have to determine whether the applicant should 
be granted a licence.  

4.19 Advice and assistance on this process may be obtained from Home Office Local 
Partnership Managers, or by email ISDLPMSsupportTeam@homeoffice.gov.uk. In most 
cases, a Local Partnership Manager or local Immigration, Compliance and Enforcement 
(ICE) team will be the first point of contact for licensing authorities.  

4.20 A premises or personal licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 
April 2017 will lapse if the holder’s permission to live or work in the UK comes to an end. 
This could be because their permission to be in the UK has expired or because the 
Home Office has brought it to an end (for example, the Home Office has curtailed their 
permission to live and work in the UK). However, licensing authorities are not required 
to carry out ongoing immigration status checks to see whether a licence holder’s 
permission to be in the UK has expired. Furthermore, licensing authorities are not 
required withdraw or revoke the licence if a licence holder’s immigration permission 
expires. The migrant will be aware when their time-limited permission has ended, and 
the Home Office will inform them if their permission to be in the UK is curtailed. If the 
individual is subsequently granted permission to stay which holds a right to work in the 
UK and wishes to hold a personal licence once again, they must make an application for 
a new personal licence. 

Page 101

mailto:ICESSVECworkflow@homeoffice.gov.uk
mailto:ISDLPMSsupportTeam@homeoffice.gov.uk.
mailto:ISDLPMSsupportTeam@homeoffice.gov.uk.%20In


26 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Entitlement to work in the UK for EEA citizens since 1 July 2021   
4.21 References to ‘EEA citizens’ in this guidance means EU, EEA and Swiss citizens unless

stated otherwise. The UK has left the European Union (EU) and the Immigration and 
Social Security Co-ordination (EU Withdrawal) Act 2020 ended free movement on 31 
December 2020.  There followed a  grace period of six-months , during which relevant 
aspects of free movement were saved to allow eligible EEA citizens and their family 
members resident in the UK by 31 December 2020 to apply to the EU Settlement 
Scheme (EUSS).  This period ended on 30 June 2021.  

4.22 Since 1 July 2021, EEA citizens and their family members require immigration status in 
the UK. They can no longer rely on an EEA passport or national identity card, which 
only confirms their nationality, to prove their right to work. They are required to provide 
evidence of lawful immigration status in the UK, in the same way as other foreign 
nationals.   

Irish citizens 
4.23 Irish citizens continue to have unrestricted access to work in the UK, they can prove 

their right to work using their Irish passport or Irish passport card. Alternatively, they can 
use their Irish birth or adoption certificate, together with an official document giving their 
permanent National Insurance number and their name. The latter must be issued by a 
Government Agency or a previous employer.   

EEA Citizens granted status under the EU Settlement Scheme 
(EUSS)  
4.24 Since 1 July 2021, the majority of EEA citizens granted status under the EUSS prove 

their right to work via an eVisa. 

4.25 If an EEA citizen has been granted ‘settled status’ by the Home Office they will have a 
continuous right to work, in the same way as someone with indefinite leave to 
enter/remain status. online right to work service.  

4.26 If an EEA citizen has been granted ‘pre-settled’ status by the Home Office, they will 
have a time-limited right to work and a premises licence or personal licence may still be 
issued, but the licence will cease to have effect when the right to work lapses.   

4.27 Individuals will provide licensing authorities with a share code and their date of birth 
during the licence application process. This will enable licencing authorities to check the 
individual’s immigration status via the online service available on gov.uk: View a job 
applicant's right to work details - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).  

Outstanding UK EUSS applications
4.28 EEA citizens, and their family members, who have made a valid application to the EUSS 

can continue to live their life in the UK and maintain a right to work until their application 
is finally determined. This includes pending the outcome of any appeal against a 

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/view-right-to-work
https://www.gov.uk/view-right-to-work


Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 27 

decision to refuse status. Licensing authorities must provide applicants with every 
opportunity to prove their right to work and should not discriminate against those 
applicants with an outstanding, valid application. 

EU Settlement Scheme status granted by a Crown Dependency  
4.29 The Crown Dependencies (the Bailiwick of Jersey, the Bailiwick of Guernsey, and the 

Isle of Man) each operate their own EUSS, for those eligible to apply. The UK and the 
Crown Dependencies recognise status granted under each other’s Scheme. An 
individual granted settled or pre-settled status by a Crown Dependency will be 
considered to have settled or pre-settled status in the UK. The Isle of Man and 
Guernsey issue a letter to those granted EUSS status. Jersey issues a letter and 
operate an immigration status checker service for individuals to obtain confirmation of 
their status at any point.  

4.30 Since 1 July 2021, when presented with a letter or email confirmation of EUSS leave 
from a Crown Dependency licensing authorities licensing authorities must contact 
ICESSVECWorkflow@homeoffice.gov.uk. The SVEC will be able to check the 
individual’s status and verify that they have a right to work. The licencing authority must 
keep a copy of the Crown Dependency letter or email and retain this with the response 
from the SVEC. 

EEA citizens with valid indefinite leave to enter or remain 
4.31 EEA citizens with Indefinite Leave to Enter or Remain (ILE/R) are not required to make 

an application to the EUSS, but can do so if they wish. 

4.32 Since 1 July 2021, EEA citizens with ILE/R have been required to prove their right to 
work in the same way as other foreign nationals who do not have a digital status. 
Licensing authorities can carry out a manual check of a copy or scanned copies of their 
Home Office documentation such as an endorsement / vignette in a current passport 
stating, ‘indefinite leave to enter or remain’ or ‘no time limit’. Carrying out either a 
manual check of the documents or an online check, as set out in this guidance, will 
satisfy the requirements to demonstrate entitlement to work.  

4.33 If licensing authorities encounter EEA citizens who believe they have ILE/R but do not 
have a document to confirm this, please encourage them to: 

• apply to the EU Settlement Scheme to obtain settled or pre-settled status (individuals
may still be eligible to make an application to the EUSS after 30 June 2021); or

• apply to the Windrush Scheme to get proof of their ILE/R status

• If they are from Malta or Cyprus, they may also be able to apply for British citizenship
through the Windrush Scheme.

Applications for either scheme are free of charge. 

Page 103

mailto:ICESSVECWorkflow@homeoffice.gov.uk
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fsettled-status-eu-citizens-families%2Fapplying-for-settled-status&data=04%7C01%7CFrances.Tomlinson1%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C33a09a7b4a544f5d2d8808d90f13f739%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C637557400680347768%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=wIRo9nLlELRlcDOp2qHqL%2B4xkno4IADtVt%2BefB9j1dM%3D&reserved=0
https://www.gov.uk/windrush-prove-your-right-to-be-in-the-uk
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Fundocumented-commonwealth-citizens-resident-in-the-uk&data=04%7C01%7CFrances.Tomlinson1%40homeoffice.gov.uk%7C33a09a7b4a544f5d2d8808d90f13f739%7Cf24d93ecb2914192a08af182245945c2%7C0%7C0%7C637557400680357723%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=BUa58usG1oz7NN6wFOyH%2BR8mq9Oh9W2DtUgRZYZxmbU%3D&reserved=0


28 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Points-Based Immigration System 
4.34 Since 1 January 2021, EEA citizens who come to the UK to live, work or study  need to 

obtain immigration status under the points-based system in the same way as other 
foreign nationals.  

4.35 The majority of EEA citizens will be provided with an eVisa, however, this will be 
dependent upon the immigration route and how they made their application. Some EEA 
citizens will have a Biometric Residence Permit (BRP). Those with a valid BRP can use 
this to access the online right to work service.  

4.36 To prove their right to work from 1 July 2021, individuals will provide a share code and 
their date of birth. This will enable licencing authorities to check their Home Office 
immigration status via the online service available on GOV.UK: 
https://www.gov.uk/view-right-to-work.  

EEA Citizens without lawful immigration status after 30 June 2021 
4.37 If an EEA citizen applies for a licence but has not applied to the EUSS (and has no 

alternative immigration status in the UK), they will not be able to pass a right to work 
check and a licence must not be issued. If they believe they are eligible for the EUSS, 
you could signpost them to make an application.  

4.38 However, there may be situations in which licensing authorities identify an EEA citizen 
who holds an existing  licence, has not applied to the EUSS and does not hold any other 
form of leave in the UK. This might be discovered during an inspection of the individual’s 
business, an encounter with a law enforcement organisation or via a licence review 
brought by a Responsible Authority.  

4.39 A licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 April 2017 will lapse 
when the holder’s permission to be in the UK comes to an end. 

4.40 In these circumstances, advice and assistance may be obtained from the Home Office 
Local Partnership Managers, or by email ISDLPMSsupportTeam@homeoffice.gov.uk In 
most cases, a Local Partnership Manager or local Immigration, Compliance and 
Enforcement (ICE) team will be the first point of contact for licensing authorities. 

Immigration Enforcement 28-day notice 
4.41 Since 1 July 2021, where Immigration Enforcement encounter EEA citizens, or their 

family members, who are working without immigration status, they will issue a written, 
28-day notice to the individual. This provides those who may have been eligible to apply
to the EUSS by 30 June 2021 an opportunity to make a late application. They will need
to demonstrate reasonable grounds for missing the deadline.

4.42 Failure to make an EUSS application may impact their eligibility to access services in 
the UK, and they may be required to leave the UK. 

Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/view-right-to-work
mailto:ISDLPMSsupportTeam@homeoffice.gov.uk


Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 29 

Non-EEA Family Members  
4.43 Non-EEA family members of EEA citizens are required to make an application to the 

EUSS to continue living in the UK lawfully after 30 June 2021. Whilst they will be 
granted an eVisa, they may also have a valid Biometric Residence Card (BRC). 

4.44 Since 1 July 2021, non-EEA family members of EEA citizens can provide licensing 
authorities with a share code and their date of birth. This will enable licencing authorities 
to check the individual’s Home Office immigration status via the online service available 
on GOV.UK: https://www.gov.uk/view-right-to-work. 

4.45 Alternatively, the individual may choose to present their BRC, for a manual check. They 
can continue to use this to prove their right to work until April 2022 when BRC holders 
will transition to utilising the online service only for right to work checks. Further 
information about these changes is available at: Right to work checks: an employer's guide 
- GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

4.46 Finally, where applicable, joining family members (JFM) may apply to the EUSS. Where 
a JFM makes a valid application to the EUSS, they will receive a Certificate of 
Application (CoA), issued by the Home Office. They will be able to use their CoA for the 
purposes of a right to work check. 

 
Further support available for EU, EEA and Swiss citizens 
  
4.47 If licensing authorities have existing or prospective licence applicants who require 

further advice and support with regard to their immigration status, they can access 
information on GOV.UK: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/view-and-prove-
your-immigration-status-evisa. This also provides further information on how to prove 
immigration status, how to update personal details, and support available.  

4.48 If a licence applicant needs help accessing or using the Home Office online services, 
they can contact the UKVI Resolution Centre:   

Telephone: 0300 790 6268, select option 3 

Monday to Friday (excluding bank holidays), 8am to 8pm 

Saturday and Sunday, 9:30am to 4:30pm. 

 

Criminal record 
4.49 Regulations made under the 2003 Act require that, in order to substantiate whether or 

not an applicant has a conviction for an unspent relevant offence, an applicant for the 
grant of a personal licence must include a criminal conviction certificate, a criminal 
record certificate or the results of a subject access search of the Police National 
Computer by the National Identification Service to the licensing authority. 

4.50 The requirement for an individual to establish whether or not they have unspent 
convictions for a relevant offence or foreign offence applies whether or not the individual 
has been living for a length of time in a foreign jurisdiction. It does not follow that such 

Page 105

https://www.gov.uk/view-right-to-work
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-work-checks-employers-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-work-checks-employers-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/view-and-prove-your-immigration-status-evisa
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/view-and-prove-your-immigration-status-evisa


30 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

individuals will not have recorded offences in this country. All applicants are also 
required to make a clear statement as to whether or not they have been convicted 
outside England and Wales of a relevant offence or an equivalent foreign offence. This 
applies both to applicants ordinarily resident in England and Wales and any person from 
a foreign jurisdiction. Details of relevant offences as set out in the 2003 Act should be 
appended to application forms for the information of applicants, together with a clear 
warning that making any false statement is a criminal offence liable to prosecution. 

4.51 Licensing authorities are required to notify the police when an applicant is found to have 
an unspent conviction for a relevant offence defined in the 2003 Act or for a foreign 
offence. The police have no involvement or locus in such applications until notified by 
the licensing authority. 

4.52 Civil penalties received after 6 April 2017 for immigration matters are treated in the 
same way as relevant offences. Licensing authorities are required to notify the 
Secretary of State for the Home Department (through Home Office Immigration 
Enforcement) when an applicant declares that they have been issued with an 
immigration penalty or convicted of an immigration offence or a foreign offence 
comparable to an immigration offence. The Home Office may object to an application on 
grounds that granting the personal licence would be prejudicial to the prevention of 
illegal working in licensed premises. Civil penalties for immigration matters were added 
to the Licensing Act with effect from 6 April 2017, and penalties received before that 
date cannot be taken into account in respect of grant, revocation or suspension of a 
personal licence.  

4.53 Where an applicant has an unspent conviction for a relevant or foreign offence, and the 
police object to the application on crime prevention grounds the applicant is entitled to a 
hearing before the licensing authority. The applicant is also entitled to a hearing if the 
Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) object to the application on the grounds of the 
prevention of illegal working where the applicant has an unspent conviction for a 
relevant immigration offence or has been required to pay an immigration penalty. If the 
police or Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) do not issue an objection notice and 
the application otherwise meets the requirements of the 2003 Act, the licensing authority 
must grant it. Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) can object only with respect to 
convictions and civil immigration penalties received on or after 6 April 2017.   

4.54 A number of relevant offences never become spent. However, where an applicant is 
able to demonstrate that the offence in question took place so long ago and that the 
applicant no longer has a propensity to re-offend, a licensing authority may consider that 
it is appropriate to grant the application on the basis that doing so would not undermine 
the crime prevention objective.  

4.55 If an application is refused, the applicant will be entitled to appeal against the decision 
they make. Similarly, if the application is granted despite a police objection notice or an 
objection from the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement), the chief officer of police or 
Home Office are entitled to appeal against the licensing authority’s determination. 
Licensing authorities are therefore expected to record in full the reasons for any 
decision which they make. 

Page 106



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 31 

Issuing of personal licences by Welsh licensing authorities 
4.56 All application forms in Wales should be bilingual. Proceedings before a court must be 

capable of being conducted in Welsh at the request of the applicant. There is a panel of 
Welsh speaking magistrates so this can be arranged if necessary. Licensing authorities 
in Wales should consider issuing personal licences in a bilingual format.

Licensing qualifications 
4.57 Details of licensing qualifications accredited by the Secretary of State will be notified to 

licensing authorities and the details may be viewed on the GOV.UK website. 

Relevant licensing authority 
4.58 Personal licences remain valid unless surrendered, suspended, revoked or declared 

forfeit by the courts. For applications made on or after 6 April 2017, a licence granted to 
someone subject to immigration control will lapse if the individual ceases to be entitled 
to work in the UK. The requirement to renew a personal licence was removed from the 
Licensing Act 2003 by the Deregulation Act 2015. While personal licences issued before 
the 2015 Act have expiry dates, these licences will remain valid and such dates no 
longer have an effect. Once granted, the licensing authority which issued the licence 
remains the “relevant licensing authority” for it and its holder, even though the individual 
may move out of the area or take employment elsewhere. The personal licence itself will 
give details of the issuing licensing authority. 

Changes in name or address 
4.59 The holder of the licence is required by the 2003 Act to notify the licensing authority of 

any changes to a holder’s name or address. These changes should be recorded by the 
licensing authority. The holder is also under a duty to notify any convictions for relevant 
offences to the licensing authority and the courts are similarly required to inform the 
licensing authority of such convictions, whether or not they have ordered the suspension 
or forfeiture of the licence. The holder must also notify the licensing authority of any 
conviction for a foreign offence. These measures ensure that a single record will be held 
of the holder’s history in terms of licensing matters. 

4.60 The 2003 Act authorises the provision and receipt of such personal information to such 
agencies for the purposes of that Act. 

Specification of new designated premises supervisors 
4.61 Every premises licence that authorises the sale of alcohol must specify a DPS. This will 

normally be the person who has been given day to day responsibility for running the 
premises by the premises licence holder. The only exception is for community premises 
which have successfully made an application to remove the usual mandatory conditions 
set out in the 2003 Act. Guidance on such applications is set out in paragraphs 4.84 to 
4.97 of this Guidance. 

4.62 The Government considers it essential that police officers, fire officers or officers of the 
licensing authority can identify immediately the DPS so that any problems can be dealt 
with swiftly. For this reason, the name of the DPS and contact details must be specified 
on the premises licence and this must be held at the premises and displayed in 

Page 107



32 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

summary form. The DPS’ personal address should not be included in the summary form 
in order to protect their privacy. 

4.63 To specify a DPS, the premises licence holder should normally submit an application to the 
licensing authority (which may include an application for immediate interim effect) with: 

•  a form of consent signed by the individual concerned to show that they consent to 
taking on this responsible role, and 

•  the relevant part (Part A) of the licence. 

4.64 If they are applying in writing, they must also notify the police of the application. If the 
application is made electronically via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s own electronic 
facility, the licensing authority must notify the police no later than the first working day 
after the application is given. 

4.65 The premises licence holder must notify the existing DPS (if there is one) of the 
application on the same day as the application is given to the licensing authority. This 
requirement applies regardless of whether the application was given by means of an 
electronic facility, or by some other means. 

4.66 The general guidance in Chapter 8 on electronic applications applies in respect of new 
applications. 

4.67 Only one DPS may be specified in a single premises licence, but a DPS may supervise 
two or more premises as long as the DPS is able to ensure that the licensing objectives 
are properly promoted and that each premises complies with the 2003 Act and 
conditions on the premises licence. The DPS is not required to be present at all times 
when licensed premises are used for the sale of alcohol. 

4.68 Where there are frequent changes of DPS, the premises licence holder may submit the 
form in advance specifying the date when the new individual will be in post and the 
change will take effect. 

Police objections to new designated premises supervisors 
4.69 The police may object to the designation of a new DPS where, in exceptional 

circumstances, they believe that the appointment would undermine the crime prevention 
objective. The police can object where, for example, a DPS is first specified in relation to 
particular premises and the specification of that DPS in relation to the particular 
premises gives rise to exceptional concerns. For example, where a personal licence 
holder has been allowed by the courts to retain their licence despite convictions for 
selling alcohol to children (a relevant offence) and then transfers into premises known 
for underage drinking. 

4.70 Where the police do object, the licensing authority must arrange for a hearing at which 
the issue can be considered and both parties can put forward their arguments. The 
2003 Act provides that the applicant may apply for the individual to take up post as DPS 
immediately and, in such cases, the issue would be whether the individual should be 
removed from this post. The licensing authority considering the matter must restrict its 
consideration to the issue of crime and disorder and give comprehensive reasons for its 
decision. Either party would be entitled to appeal if their argument is rejected. 

4.71 The portability of personal licences between premises is an important concept under the 
2003 Act. It is expected that police objections would arise in only genuinely exceptional 

Page 108



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 33 

circumstances. If a licensing authority believes that the police are routinely objecting to 
the designation of new premises supervisors on grounds which are not exceptional, they 
should raise the matter with the chief officer of police as a matter of urgency.  

Page 109



34 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Police objections to existing designated premises supervisors 
4.72 The 2003 Act also provides for the suspension and forfeiture of personal licences by the 

courts and licensing authorities following convictions for relevant offences, including 
breaches of licensing law. The police can at any stage after the appointment of a DPS 
seek a review of a premises licence on any grounds relating to the licensing objectives if 
problems arise relating to the performance of a DPS. The portability of personal licences 
is also important to industry because of the frequency with which some businesses 
move managers from premises to premises. It is not expected that licensing authorities 
or the police should seek to use the power of intervention as a routine mechanism for 
hindering the portability of a licence or use hearings of this kind as a fishing expedition 
to test out the individual’s background and character. It is expected that such hearings 
should be rare and genuinely exceptional. 

Convictions and liaison with the courts 
4.73 Where a personal licence holder is convicted by a court for a relevant offence, the court 

is under a duty to notify the relevant licensing authority of the conviction and of any 
decision to order that the personal licence is suspended or declared forfeit. The 
sentence of the court has immediate effect despite the fact that an appeal may be 
lodged against conviction or sentence (although the court may suspend the forfeiture or 
suspension of the licence pending the outcome of any appeal). 

4.74 When the licensing authority receives such a notification, it should contact the holder 
and request the licence so that the necessary action can be taken. The holder must 
then produce the relevant licence to the authority within 14 days. It is expected that the 
chief officer of police for the area in which the holder resides would be advised if they do 
not respond promptly. The licensing authority should record the details of the conviction, 
endorse them on the licence, together with any period of suspension and then return the 
licence to the holder. If the licence is declared forfeit, it should be retained by the 
licensing authority. 

Licensing authority powers to revoke or suspend personal 
licences 
4.75 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 gives licensing authorities the power to revoke or 

suspend personal licences, with effect from 6 April 2017.  This is a discretionary power; 
licensing authorities are not obliged to give consideration to all personal licence holders 
subject to convictions for relevant offences, foreign offences or civil penalties for 
immigration matters. When a licensing authority has granted a personal licence and 
becomes aware that the licence holder has been convicted of a relevant offence or 
foreign offence or been required to pay an immigration penalty, a licensing authority 
may revoke the licence or suspend it for a period of up to six months. This applies to 
convictions received and civil immigration penalties which a person has been required 
to pay at any time before or after the licence was granted, as long as the conviction was 
received after 6 April 2017, or the requirement to pay the civil penalty arose after 6 April 
2017. Only magistrates’ courts can order the forfeiture or suspension of a personal 
licence for convictions received prior to 6 April 2017. The process which must be 
undertaken by the licensing authority to suspend or revoke a personal licence is set out 
at section 132A of the 2003 Act. The decision to revoke or suspend a personal licence 

Page 110



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 35 

must be made by the licensing committee or sub-committee, but the actions required 
before making a final decision may be made by a licensing officer.   

4.76 The licensing authority may not take action if the licence holder has appealed against 
the conviction or the sentence imposed in relation to the offence, until the appeal is 
disposed of. Where an appeal is not lodged, the licensing authority may not take action 
until the time limit for making an appeal has expired.  

4.77 If a licensing authority is considering revoking or suspending a personal licence, the 
authority must give notice to the licence holder. This notice must invite the holder to 
make representations about the conviction, any decision of a court in relation to the 
licence, or any decision by an appellate court if the licence holder has appealed such a 
decision. The licence holder may also decide to include any other information, for 
example, about their personal circumstances. The licence holder must be given 28 days 
to make their representation, beginning on the day the notice was issued. The licensing 
authority does not need to hold a hearing to consider the representations. Before 
deciding whether to revoke or suspend the licence the licensing authority must consider 
any representations made by the licence holder, any decisions made by the court or 
appellate court in respect of the personal licence of which the licensing authority is 
aware, and any other information which the licensing authority considers relevant. The 
licensing authority may not be aware of whether the court considered whether to revoke 
or suspend the licence, and there is no obligation on the licensing authority to find this 
out before making a decision themselves. Where the court has considered the personal 
licence and decided not to take action, this does not prevent the licensing authority from 
deciding to take action itself. Licensing authorities have different aims to courts in that 
they must fulfil their statutory duty to promote the licensing objectives, and therefore it is 
appropriate for the licensing authority to come to its own decision about the licence.  

4.78 If the licensing authority, having considered a suspension and revocation and 
subsequently considered all the information made available to it, proposes not to revoke 
the licence it must give notice to the chief officer of police in the licensing authority’s 
area, and invite the chief officer to make representations about whether the licence 
should be suspended or revoked, having regard to the prevention of crime. The chief 
officer may make representations within the period of 14 days from the day they receive 
the notice from the licensing authority. Any representations made by the chief officer of 
police must be taken into account by the licensing authority in deciding whether to 
suspend or revoke the licence. Convictions may come to light via police in another area, 
for example if the personal licence holder no longer lives in the area of the licensing 
authority which issued the licence, or if the offence took place in another police force 
area. In this instance it would be good practice for the police providing the information to 
notify the police force in the licensing authority area, because it is the local chief officer 
who must provide representations if the licensing authority  proposes not to revoke the 
licence. Where the licence holder is convicted of immigration offences or has been 
required to pay a civil penalty for immigration matters, the licensing authority may 
consider  notifying Home Office Immigration Enforcement to enable them to liaise with 
the Police.  

  

Page 111



36 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

4.79 The licensing authority must notify the licence holder and the chief officer of police of the 
decision made (even if the police did not make representations). The licence holder may 
appeal the licensing authority’s decision to revoke or suspend their personal licence.  A 
decision to revoke or suspend the licence does not take effect until the end of the period 
allowed for appealing the decision (21 days); or if the decision is appealed against, until 
the appeal is disposed of. 

4.80 If the personal licence holder is a DPS, the licensing authority may notify the premises 
licence holder once the decision to revoke or suspend the licence has been made if it 
becomes necessary to do so in order for the licensing authority to be able to carry out 
their functions. The licensing authority may also notify any person who has declared an 
interest in the premises under section178 of the 2003 Act if it becomes necessary to do 
so in order for the licensing authority to be able to carry out their functions. The licensing 
authority may invite the premises licence holder to make representations about the 
personal licence holder before deciding whether to revoke or suspend the licence; this is 
not a legal requirement and may not be appropriate in all circumstances.   

Relevant offences 
4.81 Relevant offences are set out in Schedule 4 to the 2003 Act. If a person has been 

required to pay a civil penalty for immigration matters on or after 6 April 2017, this may 
be taken into consideration in the same way as a relevant offence. Offences added to 
the list of relevant offences with effect from 6 April 2017 may only be taken into 
consideration if the conviction was received on or after 6 April 2017.  

4.82 Closure Notices 

4.83 Section 19 of the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 (the Act) gives licensing 
authorities, police and local authorities the power to serve a closure notice where any 
premises are being used (or have been used within the last 24 hours), for the sale of 
alcohol for consumption on or in the vicinity of the premises; and  the activity was not 
authorised (premises licence, club premises certificate or temporary event notice) or not 
in accordance with the conditions of authorisation. The notice informs the person with 
control of, or responsibility for, the activities carried on at the premises (normally the 
licence holder or the designated premises supervisor) that if unauthorised alcohol sales 
continue, an application may be made to a court under section 20 for an order to close 
the premises under section 21 of the Act. Such an application cannot be made less than 
seven days or more than six months after the service of the closure notice under section 
19.  

4.84 The person should be warned that it is an offence under section 136 of the Licensing 
Act 2003 to carry on the sale of alcohol without, or in breach of, an authorisation. 

Disapplication of certain mandatory conditions for community 
premises 
4.85 The 2003 Act was amended in 2009 to allow certain community premises which have, 

or are applying for, a premises licence that authorises alcohol sales to also apply to 
include the alternative licence condition in sections 25A(2) and 41D(3) (“the alternative 
licence condition”) of that Act in the licence instead of the usual mandatory conditions in 
sections 19(2) and 19(3). Such an application may only be made if the licence holder is, 

Page 112



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 37 

or is to be, a committee or board of individuals with responsibility for the management of 
the premises (the “management committee”). If such an application is successful, the 
effect of the alternative licence condition will be that  all alcohol sales  will have to be 
made or authorised by the management committee.  There will be no requirement for a 
DPS or for alcohol sales to be authorised by a personal licence holder. 

4.86 Community premises are defined as premises that are or form part of a church hall, 
chapel hall or other similar building; or a village hall, parish hall or community hall or 
other similar building. 

4.87 The process requires the completion of a form which is prescribed in regulations made 
under the 2003 Act. Where the management committee of a community premises is 
applying for authorisation for the sale of alcohol for the first time, it should include the 
form with the new premises licence application or the premises licence variation 
application. No extra payment is required beyond the existing fee for a new application 
or a variation. 

4.88 Where a community premises already has a premises licence to sell alcohol, but wishes 
to include the alternative licence condition in place of the usual mandatory conditions in 
sections 19(2) and 19(3) of the 2003 Act, it should submit the form on its own together 
with the required fee. 

Definition of community premises 
4.89 In most instances, it should be self evident whether a premises is, or forms part of a 

church hall, chapel hall or other similar building; or a village hall, parish hall, community 
hall or other similar building. 

4.90 Licensing authorities may have previously taken a view on how to determine whether a 
premises meets the definition of community premises for the purpose of the fee 
exemptions set out in regulation 9(2)(b) of the Licensing Act 2003 (Fees) Regulations 
2005 (SI 2005/79). As the criteria are the same, premises that qualify for these fee 
exemptions for regulated entertainment will also be “community premises” for present 
purposes. 

4.91 Where it is not clear whether premises are “community premises”, licensing authorities 
will need to approach the matter on a case-by-case basis. The main consideration in 
most cases will be how the premises are predominately used. If they are genuinely 
made available for community benefit most of the time, and accessible by a broad range 
of persons and sectors of the local community for purposes which include purposes 
beneficial to the community as a whole, the premises will be likely to meet the definition. 

4.92 Many community premises such as school and private halls are available for private hire 
by the general public. This fact alone would not be sufficient for such halls to qualify as 
“community premises”. The statutory test is directed at the nature of the premises 
themselves, as reflected in their predominant use, and not only at the usefulness of the 
premises for members of the community for private purposes. 

4.93 If the general use of the premises is contingent upon membership of a particular 
organisation or organisations, this would strongly suggest that the premises in question 
are not a “community premises” within the definition. However, the hire of the premises 
to individual organisations and users who restrict their activities to their own members 

Page 113



38 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

and guests would not necessarily conflict with the status of the premises as a 
“community premises”, provided the premises are generally available for use by the 
community in the sense described above. It is not the intention that qualifying clubs, 
which are able to apply for a club premises certificate, should instead seek a premises 
licence with the removal of the usual mandatory conditions in sections 19(2) and 19(3) 
of the 2003 Act relating to the supply of alcohol. 

Management of the premises 
4.94 Sections 25A(1) and 41D(1) and (2) of the 2003 Act allow applications by community 

premises to apply the alternative licence condition rather than the usual mandatory 
conditions in sections 19(2) and 19(3) of the 2003 Act only where the applicant for the 
licence is the management committee of the premises in question. In addition, sections 
25A(6) and 41D(5) require the licensing authority to be satisfied that the arrangements 
for the management of the premises by the committee or board are sufficient to ensure 
the adequate supervision of the supply of alcohol on the premises. 

4.95 The reference to a “committee or board of individuals” is intended to cover any formally 
constituted, transparent and accountable management committee or structure. Such a 
committee should have the capacity to provide sufficient oversight of the premises to 
minimise any risk to the licensing objectives that could arise from allowing the 
responsibility for supervising the sale of alcohol to be transferred from a DPS and 
personal licence holder or holders. This could include management committees, 
executive committees and boards of trustees. 

4.96 The application form requires applicants to set out how the premises is managed, its 
committee structure and how the supervision of alcohol sales is to be ensured in 
different situations (e.g. when the hall is hired to private parties) and how responsibility 
for this is to be determined in individual cases and discussed within the committee 
procedure in the event of any issues arising. The application form requires that the 
community premises submit copies of any constitution or other management documents 
with their applications and that they provide the names of their key officers. Where the 
management arrangements are less clear, licensing authorities may wish to ask for 
further details to confirm that the management board or committee is properly 
constituted and accountable before taking a decision on whether to grant the application 
(subject to the views of the police). Community premises may wish to check with the 
licensing authority before making an application. The management committee is 
strongly encouraged to notify the licensing authority if there are key changes in the 
committee’s composition and to submit a copy to the chief officer of police. A failure to 
do so may form the basis of an application to review the premises licence, or be taken 
into account as part of the consideration of such an application. 

4.97 As the premise licence holder, the management committee will collectively be 
responsible for ensuring compliance with licence conditions and the law (and may 
remain liable to prosecution for one of the offences in the 2003 Act) although there 
would not necessarily be any individual member always present at the premises. While 
overall responsibility will lie with the management committee, where the premises are 
hired out the hirer may be clearly identified as having responsibility for matters falling 
within his or her control (e.g. under the contract for hire offered by the licence holder), 
much in the same way that the event organiser may be responsible for an event held 

Page 114



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 39 

under a Temporary Event Notice. Where hirers are provided with a written summary of 
their responsibilities under the 2003 Act in relation to the sale of alcohol, the 
management committee is likely to be treated as having taken adequate steps to avoid 
liability to prosecution if a licensing offence is committed. 

4.98 As indicated above, sections 25A(6) and 41D(5) of the 2003 Act require the licensing 
authority to consider whether the arrangements for the management of the premises by 
the committee are sufficient to ensure adequate supervision of the supply of alcohol on 
the premises. Where private hire for events which include the sale of alcohol is 
permitted by the licence, it would be necessary to have an effective hiring agreement. 
Licensing authorities may wish to consider model hiring agreements that have been 
made available by organisations such as ACRE and Community Matters. Such model 
agreements can be revised to cater for the circumstances surrounding each hire 
arrangement; for example to state that the hirer is aware of the licensing objectives and 
offences in the 2003 Act and will ensure that it will take all appropriate steps to ensure 
that no offences are committed during the period of the hire. 

Police views 
4.99 In exceptional circumstances, the chief officer of police for the area in which the 

community premises is situated can object to a request for inclusion of the alternative 
licence condition on the grounds of crime and disorder, and any responsible authority or 
other person can seek reinstatement of the mandatory conditions through a review of 
the licence (as provided in section 52A of the 2003 Act). The police will want to consider 
any history of incidents at an establishment in light of the actual or proposed 
management arrangements, including the use of appropriate hire agreements. If the 
chief officer of police issues a notice seeking the refusal of the application to include the 
alternative licence condition, the licensing authority must hold a hearing in order to 
reach a decision on whether to grant the application. 

Appeals 
4.100 Where the chief officer of police has made relevant representations against the inclusion 

of the alternative licence condition, or given a notice under section 41D(6) which was 
not withdrawn, the chief officer of police can appeal the decision of the licensing 
authority to allow the inclusion of the alternative licence condition. Similarly, a 
community premises can appeal a decision by the licensing authority to refuse to 
include the alternative licence condition following a hearing triggered by relevant 
representations or by a notice given under section 41D(6). Following a review of the 
licence in which the mandatory conditions are reinstated, the licence holder may appeal 
against the decision. If the alternative licence condition is retained on review, the 
applicant for the review or any person who made relevant representations may appeal 
against the decision. 

5. Who needs a premises licence?
5.1 A premises licence authorises the use of any premises (which is defined in the 2003 Act 

as a vehicle, vessel or moveable structure or any place or a part of any premises) for 
licensable activities defined in section 1 of the 2003 Act. 

Page 115



40 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Relevant parts of Act 
5.2 In determining whether any premises should be licensed, the following parts of the 2003 

Act are relevant: 

Relevant part of Act Description 
Section 1 Outlines the licensable activities 
Part 3 Provisions relating to premises licences 
Part 4 Provisions for qualifying clubs 
Section 173 Activities in certain locations which are not licensable 
Section 174 Premises that may be exempted on grounds of national security 
Section 175 Exemption for incidental non-commercial lottery (e.g. a minor raffle or 

tombola) 
Section 176 Prohibits the sale of alcohol at motorway service areas; and restricts 

the circumstances in which alcohol may be sold at garages 
Section 189 Special provision in relation to the licensing of vessels, vehicles and 

moveable structures 
Section 190 Where the place where a contract for the sale of alcohol is made is 

different from the place where the alcohol is appropriated to the 
contract, the sale of alcohol is to be treated as taking place where the 
alcohol is appropriated to the contract 

Section 191 Defines “alcohol” for the purposes of the 2003 Act 
Section 192 Defines the meaning of “sale by retail” 
Section 193 Defines among other things “premises”, “vehicle”, “vessel” and “wine” 
Schedules 1 and 2 Provision of regulated entertainment and provision of late night 

refreshment 

5.3 Section 191 provides the meaning of “alcohol” for the purposes of the 2003 Act. It 
should be noted that a wide variety of foodstuffs contain alcohol but generally in a highly 
diluted form when measured against the volume of the product. For the purposes of the 
2003 Act, the sale or supply of alcohol which is of a strength not exceeding 0.5 per cent 
ABV (alcohol by volume) at the time of the sale or supply in question is not a licensable 
activity. However, where the foodstuff contains alcohol at greater strengths, for 
example, as with some alcoholic jellies, the sale would be a licensable activity. 

5.4 The definition of alcohol was amended by the Policing and Crime Act 2017 to include 
alcohol “in any state”. This is to make it clear that products such as powdered and 
vaporised alcohol fall within the definition provided by the 2003 Act.   

  

Page 116



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 41 

Premises licensed for gambling 
5.5 Gambling is the subject of separate legislation and licensing authorities should not 

duplicate any conditions imposed by this legislation when granting, varying or reviewing 
licences that authorise licensable activities under the 2003 Act. When making a licence 
application, the applicant may, in detailing the steps to be taken in promoting the 
licensing objectives, refer to the statutory conditions in respect of their gambling licence 
(where relevant). In addition, any conditions which are attached to premises licences 
should not prevent the holder from complying with the requirements of gambling 
legislation or supporting regulations. Further information about the Gambling Act 2005 
can be found on the GOV.UK website. 

Designated sports grounds, designated sports events and major 
outdoor sports stadia 
5.6 Outdoor sports stadia are regulated by separate legislation and sports events taking 

place at outdoor stadia do not fall within the definition of the provision of regulated 
entertainment under the 2003 Act, with the exception of boxing or wrestling 
entertainment (see 16.49-16.51). Licensing authorities should therefore limit their 
consideration of applications for premises licences to activities that are licensable under 
the 2003 Act. 

5.7 Major stadia will often have several bars and restaurants, including bars generally open 
to all spectators as well as bars and restaurants to which members of the public do not 
have free access. Alcohol may also be supplied in private boxes and viewing areas. A 
premises licence may make separate arrangements for public and private areas or for 
restaurant areas on the same premises. It may also designate areas where alcohol may 
not be consumed at all or at particular times. 

5.8 Licensing authorities should be aware that paragraphs 98 and 99(c) of Schedule 6 to 
the 2003 Act and the repeals of section 2(1A) and section 5A of the Sporting Events 
(Control of Alcohol etc.) Act 1985 have not been commenced because their effect would 
have been different from that which Parliament had intended. 

Sporting events at stadia with retractable roofs 
5.9 A sporting event at a stadium or sports ground with a roof that opens and closes does 

not fall within the definition of an “indoor sporting event” under the 2003 Act. As a result, 
indoor sporting events taking place in these stadia are not ‘regulated entertainment’ and 
are not licensable under the 2003 Act. 

Vessels 
5.10 The 2003 Act applies to vessels (including ships and boats) as if they were premises. A 

vessel which is not permanently moored or berthed is treated as if it were premises 
situated in a place where it is usually moored or berthed. The relevant licensing 
authority for considering an application for a premises licence for a vessel is therefore 
the licensing authority for the area in which it is usually moored or berthed. 

5.11 However, an activity is not a licensable activity if it takes place aboard a vessel engaged 
on an international journey. An “international journey” means a journey from a place in 
the United Kingdom to an immediate destination outside the United Kingdom or a 

Page 117



42 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

journey from outside the United Kingdom to an immediate destination in the United 
Kingdom. 

5.12 If a vessel is not permanently moored and carries more than 12 passengers it is a 
passenger ship and will be subject to safety regulation by the Maritime and Coastguard 
Agency (MCA). 

5.13 When a licensing authority receives an application for a premises licence in relation to a 
vessel, it should consider the promotion of the licensing objectives, but should not focus 
on matters relating to safe navigation or operation of the vessel, the general safety of 
passengers, or emergency provision; all of which are subject to regulations which must 
be met before the vessel is issued with its Passenger Certificate and Safety 
Management Certificate. 

5.14 If the MCA is satisfied that the vessel complies with Merchant Shipping standards for a 
passenger ship, the premises should normally be accepted as meeting the public safety 
objective. In relation to other public safety aspects of the application, representations 
made by the MCA on behalf of the Secretary of State should be given particular weight. 

5.15 If a vessel, which is not permanently moored and carries no more than 12 passengers, 
goes to sea, it will be subject to the Code of Practice for the Safety of Small Commercial 
Sailing Vessels. This code sets the standards for construction, safety equipment and 
manning for these vessels and MCA will be able to confirm that it has a valid safety 
certificate. 

5.16 If a vessel carries no more than 12 passengers and does not go to sea, it may be 
regulated or licensed by the competent harbour authority, navigation authority or local 
authority. The recommended standards for these vessels are set out in the (non-
statutory) Inland Waters Small Passenger Boat Code, which provides best practice 
guidance on the standards for construction, safety equipment and manning. Some 
authorities may use their own local rules. MCA has no direct responsibility for these 
vessels and will not normally comment on a premises licence application. 

International airports and ports 
5.17 Under the 2003 Act, the Secretary of State may ‘designate’ a port, hoverport or airport 

with a substantial amount of international traffic so that an activity carried on there is not 
licensable. The Secretary of State may also preserve existing designations made under 
earlier legislation. 

5.18 Areas at designated ports which are “airside” or “wharfside” are included in the 
exemption in the 2003 Act from the licensing regime. The non-travelling public does not 
have access to these areas and they are subject to stringent bye-laws. The exemption 
allows refreshments to be provided to travellers at all times of the day and night. Other 
parts of designated ports, hoverports and airports are subject to the normal licensing 
controls. 

Page 118



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 43 

Vehicles 
5.19 Under the 2003 Act, alcohol may not be sold on a moving vehicle and the vehicle may 

not be licensed for that purpose. However, licensing authorities may consider 
applications for the sale of alcohol from a parked or stationary vehicle. For example, 
mobile bars could sell alcohol at special events as long as they were parked. Any 
permission granted would relate solely to the place where the vehicle is parked and 
where sales are to take place. 

5.20 The provision of any entertainment on premises consisting of or forming part of any 
vehicle while it is in motion and not permanently or temporarily parked is not regulated 
entertainment for the purposes of the 2003 Act. 

Trains and aircraft 
5.21 Railway vehicles and aircraft engaged on journeys are exempted from the requirement 

to have an authorisation to carry on licensable activities (although a magistrates’ court 
can make an order to prohibit the sale of alcohol on a railway vehicle if this is 
appropriate to prevent disorder). Licensing authorities should note that some defunct 
aircraft and railway carriages remain in a fixed position and are used as restaurants and 
bars. These premises are subject to the provisions of the 2003 Act. 

Garages and motorway service areas 
5.22 Section 176 of the 2003 Act prohibits the sale or supply of alcohol at motorway service 

areas (MSAs) and from premises which are used primarily as a garage, or are part of 
premises used primarily as a garage. Premises are used primarily as a garage if they 
are used for one or more of the following: 

• the retailing of petrol;
• the retailing of derv (diesel);
• the sale of motor vehicles; and
• the maintenance of motor vehicles.

5.23 It is for the licensing authority to decide, based on the licensing objectives, whether it is 
appropriate for that premises to be granted a licence, taking into account the documents 
and information listed in section 17(3) and (4) which must accompany the application. 

5.24 If a licence is granted in respect of a premises and the primary use of that premises 
subsequently changes (for example, the primary use becomes that of a garage rather 
than a shop) it would no longer be legal to sell alcohol on that premises. If a relevant 
representation is made, the licensing authority must decide whether or not the premises 
are used primarily as a garage. The licensing authority may ask the licence holder to 
provide further information to help establish what the primary use of the premises is. 

Large scale time-limited events requiring premises licences 
5.25 Licensing authorities should note that a premises licence may be sought for a short, 

discrete period. The 2003 Act provides that a temporary event notice is subject to 
various limitations (see Chapter 7 of this Guidance). The temporary provision of 
licensable activities that fall outside these limits will require the authority of a premises 
licence if the premises are currently unlicensed for the activities involved. 

Page 119



44 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

5.26 The procedures for applying for and granting such a licence are identical to those for an 
unlimited duration premises licence except that it should be stated on the application 
that the applicant’s intention is that the period of the licence should be limited. Licensing 
authorities should clearly specify on such a licence when it comes into force and when it 
ceases to have effect. If the sale of alcohol is involved, a personal licence holder must 
be specified as the designated premises supervisor. 

Page 120



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 45 

6. Club premises certificates 
6.1 This Chapter covers the administration of the processes for issuing, varying, and 

reviewing club premises certificates and other associated procedures. 

General 
6.2 Clubs are organisations where members have joined together for particular social, 

sporting or political purposes. They may then combine to buy alcohol in bulk as 
members of the organisation to supply in the club. 

6.3 Technically the club only sells alcohol by retail at such premises to guests. Where 
members purchase alcohol, there is no sale (as the member owns part of the alcohol 
stock) and the money passing across the bar is merely a mechanism to preserve equity 
between members where one may consume more than another. 

6.4 Only ‘qualifying’ clubs may hold club premises certificates. In order to be a qualifying 
club, a club must have at least 25 members and meet the qualifying conditions set out in 
paragraph 6.9. The grant of a club premises certificate means that a qualifying club is 
entitled to certain benefits. These include: 

•  the authority to supply alcohol to members and sell it to guests on the premises to 
which the certificate relates without the need for any member or employee to hold a 
personal licence; 

•  the authority to provide late night refreshment to members of the club without 
requiring additional authorisation; 

•  more limited rights of entry for the police and authorised persons because the 
premises are considered private and not generally open to the public; and 

•  exemption from orders of the magistrates’ court for the closure of all licensed 
premises in an area when disorder is happening or expected. 

6.5 Qualifying clubs should not be confused with proprietary clubs, which are clubs run 
commercially by individuals, partnerships or businesses for profit. These require a 
premises licence and are not qualifying clubs. 

6.6 A qualifying club will be permitted under the terms of a club premises certificate to sell 
and supply alcohol to its members and their guests only. Instant membership is not 
permitted and members must wait at least two days between their application and their 
admission to the club. A qualifying club may choose to apply for a premises licence if it 
decides that it wishes to offer its facilities commercially for use by the general public, 
including the sale of alcohol to them. However, an individual on behalf of a club may 
give temporary event notices. See Chapter 7. 

6.7 The 2003 Act does not prevent visitors to a qualifying club being supplied with alcohol 
as long as they are ‘guests’ of any member of the club , and nothing in the 2003 Act 
prevents the admission of such people as guests without prior notice. The 2003 Act 
does not define “guest” and whether or not somebody is a genuine guest would in all 
cases be a question of fact. 

6.8 There is no mandatory requirement under the 2003 Act for guests to be signed in by a 
member of the club. However, a point may be reached where a club is providing 

Page 121



46 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

commercial services to the general public in a way that is contrary to its qualifying club 
status. It is at this point that the club would no longer be conducted in “good faith” and 
would no longer meet “general condition 3” for qualifying clubs in section 62 of the 2003 
Act. Under the 2003 Act, the licensing authority must decide when a club has ceased to 
operate in “good faith” and give the club a notice withdrawing the club premises 
certificate. The club is entitled to appeal against such a decision to a magistrates’ court. 
Unless the appeal is successful, the club would need to apply for a premises licence to 
authorise licensable activities taking place there. 

Qualifying conditions 
6.9 Section 62 of the 2003 Act sets out five general conditions which a relevant club must 

meet to be a qualifying club. Section 63 also sets out specified matters for licensing 
authorities to enable them to determine whether a club is established and conducted in 
good faith – the third qualifying condition. Section 64 sets out additional conditions 
which only need to be met by clubs intending to supply alcohol to members and guests. 
Section 90 of the 2003 Act gives powers to the licensing authority to issue a notice to a 
club withdrawing its certificate where it appears that it has ceased to meet the qualifying 
conditions. There is a right of appeal against such a decision. 

Associate members and guests 
6.10 As well as their own members and guests, qualifying clubs are also able to admit 

associate members and their guests (i.e. members and guests from another ‘recognised 
club’ as defined by section 193 of the 2003 Act) to the club premises when qualifying 
club activities are being carried on without compromising the use of their club premises 
certificate. 

Applications for the grant or variation of club premises certificates 
6.11 The arrangements for applying for or seeking to vary club premises certificates are 

extremely similar to those for a premises licence. Clubs may also use the minor 
variation process to make small changes to their certificates as long as these could 
have no adverse impact on the licensing objectives. Licensing authorities should refer to 
Chapter 8 of this Guidance on the handling of such applications. Licensing authorities 
do not have to satisfy themselves that applicants for club premises certificates are 
entitled to work in the UK before issuing a club premises certificate.   Consequently, 
Home Office Immigration Enforcement is not a responsible authority in relation to club 
premises certificates. 

6.12 In addition to a plan of the premises and a club operating schedule, clubs must also 
include the rules of the club with their application (as well as making a declaration to the 
licensing authority in accordance with regulations made under the 2003 Act). On 
notifying any alteration to these rules to the licensing authority, the club is required to 
pay a fee set down in regulations. Licensing authorities cannot require any changes to 
the rules to be made as a condition of receiving a certificate unless relevant 
representations have been made. However, if a licensing authority is satisfied that the 
rules of a club indicate that it does not meet the qualifying conditions in the 2003 Act, a 
club premises certificate should not be granted. 

Page 122



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 47 

Steps needed to promote the licensing objectives 
6.13 Club operating schedules prepared by clubs, must include the steps it intends to take to 

promote the licensing objectives. These will be translated into conditions included in the 
certificate, unless the conditions have been modified by the licensing authority following 
consideration of relevant representations. Guidance on these conditions is given in 
Chapter 10 of this Guidance. 

 

Page 123



48 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

7. Temporary Event Notices (TENs)
7.1 This Chapter covers the arrangements in Part 5 of the 2003 Act for the temporary 

carrying on of licensable activities which are not authorised by a premises licence or 
club premises certificate. 

General 
7.2 The system of permitted temporary activities is intended as a light touch process, and 

as such, the carrying on of licensable activities does not have to be authorised by the 
licensing authority on an application. Instead, a person wishing to hold an event at 
which such activities are proposed to be carried on (the “premises user”) gives notice to 
the licensing authority of the event (a “temporary event notice” or “TEN”). 

7.3 The TEN must be given to the licensing authority in the form prescribed in regulations 
made under the 2003 Act. The form requires the user to describe key aspects of the 
proposed event, including the general nature of the premises and the event, the 
licensable activities intended to be carried on at the proposed event, including whether 
they will include any relevant entertainment as defined in Schedule 3 to the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (i.e. displays of nudity designed to 
sexually stimulate any member of the audience including, but not limited to, lap dancing 
and pole dancing). Under the 2003 Act ‘premises’ can mean any place. Events 
authorised under a TEN will therefore not always be in a building with a formal address 
and can take place, for example, in public parks and plots within larger areas of land. In 
all cases, the premises user should provide a clear description of the area in which they 
propose to carry on licensable activities, including whether the premises are, for 
example, an open field or a beer tent. Local authorities and “relevant persons” (see 
below) may wish to make enquiries where appropriate to satisfy themselves of the exact 
location for where a TEN is being given. 

7.4 Unless it is sent electronically, it must be sent to the relevant licensing authority, to the 
police and “local authority exercising environmental health functions” (“EHA”) at least 
ten working days before the event. A premises user may also give a limited number of 
“late TENs” to the licensing authority less than 10 working days before the event to 
which they relate, although certain restrictions apply (see paragraphs 7.12-7.14). 
“Working day” under the 2003 Act means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, 
Christmas Day, Good Friday or Bank Holiday. For limited purposes in relation to a TEN, 
the 2003 Act defines a “day” as a period of 24 hours beginning at midnight. 

7.5 If a TEN is sent electronically via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s own facility, the 
licensing authority must notify the police and EHA as soon as possible and no later than 
the first working day after the TEN is given. 

7.6 The police or EHA (“relevant persons” for the purposes of TENs) may intervene to 
prevent such an event taking place by sending an objection to the licensing authority, 
which the licensing authority must consider on the basis of the statutory licensing 
objectives and decide whether the event should go ahead. A relevant person may also 
intervene by agreeing a modification of the proposed arrangements directly with the 
TENs user (see paragraph 7.36). If a relevant person sends an objection, this may 

Page 124



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 49 

result in the licensing authority imposing conditions on a TEN but only where the venue 
at which the event is to be held has an existing premises licence or club premises 
certificate. When giving a TEN, the premises user should consider the promotion of the 
four licensing objectives. The licensing authority may only otherwise intervene if the 
statutory permitted limits on TENs would be exceeded (see paragraphs 7.15-7.22). 

7.7 A TEN does not relieve the premises user from any requirements under planning law for 
appropriate planning permission where it is required. 

Standard and late temporary event notices 
7.8 There are two types of TEN: a standard TEN and a late TEN. These are subject to 

different processes: a standard notice is given no later than ten working days before the 
event to which it relates; and a late notice is given not before nine and not later than five 
working days before the event. 

Standard temporary event notices 
7.9 “Ten working days” (and other periods of days which apply to other requirements in 

relation to TENs) exclude the day the notice is received and the first day of the event. 

7.10 The police and EHA have a period of three working days from when they are given the 
notice to object to it on the basis of any of the four licensing objectives. 

7.11 Although ten clear working days is the minimum possible notice that may be given, 
licensing authorities should publicise their preferences in terms of advance notice and 
encourage premises users to provide the earliest possible notice of events planned by 
them. Licensing authorities should also consider publicising a preferred maximum time 
in advance of an event by when TENs should ideally be given to them. 

Late temporary event notices 
7.12 Late TENs are intended to assist premises users who are required for reasons outside 

their control to, for example, change the venue for an event at short notice. However, 
late TENs may, of course, be given in any circumstances providing the limits specified 
at paragraph 7.15 are not exceeded. 

7.13 Late TENs can be given up to five clear working days but no earlier than nine clear 
working days before the event is due to take place and, unless given electronically to 
the licensing authority, must also be sent by the premises user to the police and EHA. A 
late TEN given less than five days before the event to which it relates will be returned as 
void and the activities to which it relates will not be authorised. 

7.14 A key difference between standard and late TENs is the process following an objection 
notice from the police or EHA. Where an objection notice is received in relation to a 
standard TEN the licensing authority must hold a hearing to consider the objection, 
unless all parties agree that a hearing is unnecessary. If the police, EHA or both give an 
objection to a late TEN, the notice will not be valid and the event will not go ahead as 
there is no scope for a hearing or the application of any existing licence conditions. 

Limitations 
7.15 A number of limitations are imposed on the use of TENs by the 2003 Act: 

• the number of times a premises user may give a TEN is 50 times in a calendar year

Page 125



50 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

for a personal licence holder and five times in a calendar year for other people; 
• the number of times a premises user may give a late TEN is limited to 10 times in a 

calendar year for a personal licence holder and twice for other people. Late TENs 
count towards the total number of permitted TENs (i.e. the limit of five TENs a year 
for non-personal licence holders and 50 TENs for personal licence holders). A notice 
that is given less than ten working days before the event to which it relates, when the 
premises user has already given the permitted number of late TENs in that calendar 
year, will be returned as void and the activities described in it will not be authorised.

• the number of times a TEN may be given for any particular premises is 15 times in a 
calendar year;

• the maximum duration of an event authorised by a TEN is 168 hours (seven days);
• the maximum total duration of the events authorised by TENs in relation to individual 

premises is 21 days in a calendar year;
• the maximum number of people attending at any one time is 499 (including any staff 

and any other persons); and
• the minimum period between events authorised under separate TENs in relation to 

the same premises (not including withdrawn TENs) by the same premises user is 24 
hours.

7.16 Any associate, relative or business partner of the premises user is considered to be the 
same premises user in relation to these restrictions. The 2003 Act defines an associate, 
in relation to the premises user, as being: 

• the spouse or civil partner of that person;
• a child, parent, grandchild, grandparent, brother or sister of that person;
• an agent or employee of that person; or
• the spouse or civil partner of a person listed in either of the two preceding bullet

points.

7.17 A person living with another person as their husband or wife, is treated for these 
purposes as their spouse. ‘Civil partner’ has its meaning in the Civil Partnership Act 
2004. 

7.18 A TEN that is given may be subsequently withdrawn by the TEN user by giving the 
licensing authority a notice to that effect no later than 24 hours before the beginning of 
the event period specified in the TEN. Otherwise, the TEN will be included within the 
limits of TENs allowed in a given calendar year, even if the event does not go ahead. 

7.19 Once these limits have been reached, the licensing authority should issue a counter 
notice (permitted limits) if any more are given. Proposed activities that exceed these 
limits will require a premises licence or club premises certificate. 

7.20 TENs may be given in respect of premises which already have a premises licence or 
club premises certificate to cover licensable activities not permitted by the existing 
authorisation. 

7.21 In determining whether the maximum total duration of the periods covered by TENs at 
any individual premises has exceeded 21 days, an event beginning before midnight 
and continuing into the next day would count as two days towards the 21 day limitation. 

Page 126



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 51 

7.22 There is nothing in the 2003 Act to prevent notification of multiple events at the same 
time, provided the first event is at least ten working days away (or five working days 
away in the case of a late TEN). For example, an individual personal licence holder 
wishing to exhibit and sell beer at a series of farmers’ markets may wish to give several 
notices simultaneously. However, this would only be possible where the limits are not 
exceeded in the case of each notice. Where the events are due to take place in different 
licensing authority (and police) areas, the respective licensing authorities and relevant 
persons would each need to be notified accordingly. 

Who can give a temporary event notice? 
Personal licence holders 
7.23 A personal licence holder can give a TEN at any premises on up to 50 occasions in a 

calendar year. This limit is inclusive of any late TENs (subject to a maximum of 10) 
given in the same year. The use of each TEN must of course observe the limits 
described above, including the limit of 15 TENs in respect of each premises in a 
calendar year. 

Non-personal licence holders 
7.24 The 2003 Act provides that any individual aged 18 or over may give a TEN to authorise 

the carrying on of all licensable activities under the Licensing Act 2003, whether or not 
that individual holds a personal licence. Such an individual will not, therefore, have met 
the requirements that apply to a personal licence holder under Part 6 of the 2003 Act. 
Where alcohol is not intended to be sold, this should not matter. However, many events 
will involve a combination of licensable activities and the 2003 Act limits the number of 
notices that may be given by any non-personal licence holder to five occasions in a 
calendar year (inclusive of any late TENs – subject to a maximum of 2 -  in the same 
year). In every other respect, the Guidance and information set out in the paragraphs 
above applies. 

Role of the licensing authority 
7.25 The licensing authority must check that the limitations set down in Part 5 of the 2003 Act 

are being observed and intervene if they are not (see paragraph 7.15). For example, a 
TEN would be void unless there is a minimum of 24 hours between events notified by 
the same premises user, or an associate or someone who is in business with the 
relevant premises user in respect of the same premises. This is to prevent evasion of 
the seven day (or 168 hour) limit on such events and the need to obtain a full premises 
licence or club premises certificate for more major or permanent events. In addition, for 
these purposes, a TEN is treated as being from the same premises user if it is given by 
an associate. 

7.26 Where the application is not within the statutory parameters described earlier, the 
licensing authority will issue a counter notice to the premises user. 

7.27 Where the TEN is in order, the relevant fee paid and the event falls within the prescribed 
limits, the licensing authority will record the notice in its register and send an 
acknowledgement to the premises user (which may be given electronically). The 
licensing authority must do so, no later than the end of the first working day following the 
day on which it was received (or by the end of the second working day if it was received 

Page 127



52 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

on a non-working day), unless an objection notice is received beforehand from the 
police or EHA on the basis of any of the four licensing objectives (see paragraphs 
below).  

7.28 If the licensing authority receives an objection notice from the police or EHA that is not 
withdrawn, it must (in the case of a standard TEN only) hold a hearing to consider the 
objection unless all parties agree that this is unnecessary. The licensing committee may 
decide to allow the licensable activities to go ahead as stated in the notice. If the notice 
is in connection with licensable activities at licensed premises, the licensing authority 
may also impose one or more of the existing licence or certificate conditions on the TEN 
(insofar as such conditions are not inconsistent with the event) if it considers that this is 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. If the authority decides to 
impose conditions, it must give notice to the premises user which includes a statement 
of conditions (a “notice (statement of conditions)”) and provide a copy to each relevant 
party. Alternatively, it can decide that the event would undermine the licensing 
objectives and should not take place. In this case, the licensing authority must give a 
counter notice. 

7.29 Premises users are not required to be on the premises during the event authorised by 
the TEN, but they will remain liable to prosecution for certain offences that may be 
committed at the premises during the period covered by it. These include, for example, 
the offences of the sale of alcohol to a person who is drunk; persistently selling alcohol 
to children and allowing disorderly conduct on licensed premises. 

7.30 In the case of an event authorised by a TEN, failure to adhere to the requirements of the 
2003 Act, such as the limitation of no more than 499 being present at any one time, 
would mean that the event was unauthorised. In such circumstances, the premises user 
would be liable to prosecution. 

7.31 Section 8 of the 2003 Act requires licensing authorities to keep a register containing 
certain matters, including a record of TENs received. Under Schedule 3 of the 2003 Act, 
the licensing authority must also keep a record of such matters including any notice of 
withdrawal of a TEN, any counter notice to a TEN given following an objection by a 
relevant person and any TEN received following modification. If requested to do so, a 
licensing authority must supply a person with a copy of the information contained in any 
entry in its register. Each licensing authority must also provide facilities for making the 
information contained in the entries in its register available for inspection by any person 
during office hours and without payment. Licensing authorities may wish to consider 
bringing TENs to the attention of local councillors and residents by making their register 
available online or including relevant details of a TEN when it is received, along with 
notice of licence applications on the authority's website. There is no requirement to 
record all the personal information given on a TEN. 

Police and environmental health intervention 
7.32 The system of permitted temporary activities gives police and EHAs the opportunity to 

consider whether they should object to a TEN on the basis of any of the licensing 
objectives. 

7.33 If the police or EHA believe that allowing the premises to be used in accordance with 
the TEN will undermine the licensing objectives, they must give the premises user and 

Page 128



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 53 

the licensing authority an objection notice. The objection notice must be given within the 
period of three working days following the day on which they received the TEN. 

7.34 Where a standard TEN was given, the licensing authority must consider the objection at 
a hearing before a counter notice can be issued. At the hearing, the police, EHA and the 
premises user may make representations to the licensing authority. Following the 
hearing, the licensing authority may decide to impose conditions which already apply to 
an existing premises licence or club premises certificate at the venue, or issue a counter 
notice to prevent the event going ahead. As noted above, there is no scope for hearings 
(or appeals) in respect of late TENs and if objections are raised by the police or EHA in 
relation to a late TEN, the notice will be invalid and the event will not go ahead. 

7.35 Such cases might arise because of concerns about the scale, location, timing of the 
event or concerns about public nuisance – even where the statutory limits on numbers 
are being observed. The premises user who signs the form is legally responsible for 
ensuring that the numbers present do not exceed the permitted limit at any one time. In 
cases where there is reason to doubt that the numbers will remain within the permitted 
limit the premises user should make clear what the nature of the event(s) is and how 
they will ensure that the permitted persons limit will not be exceeded. For example, 
where notices are being given for TENs simultaneously on adjacent plots of land it may 
be appropriate for door staff to be employed with counters. In each case it is important 
that licensing authorities and relevant persons can consider whether they believe that 
the premises user intends to exceed the 499 person limit, or will be unable to control or 
know whether the limit will be exceeded. Where the planned activities are likely to 
breach the statutory limits or undermine the licensing objectives, it is likely to be 
appropriate for the police or EHA to raise objections. 

7.36 However, in most cases, where for example, alcohol is supplied away from licensed 
premises at a temporary bar under the control of a personal licence holder, (such as at 
weddings with a cash bar or small social or sporting events) this should not usually give 
rise to the use of these powers. 

Modification 
7.37 As noted above, the police or EHA (as “relevant persons”) may contact the premises 

user to discuss their objections and try to come to an agreement which will allow the 
proposed licensable activities to proceed. The TEN can be modified (for example, by 
changing the details of the parts of the premises that are to be used for the event, the 
description of the nature of the intended activities or their duration). The other relevant 
person has to agree for the modification to be made. There is no scope under the 2003 
Act for the modification of a late TEN. 

Applying conditions to a TEN 
7.38 The 2003 Act provides that only the licensing authority can impose conditions to a TEN 

from the existing conditions on the premises licence or club premises certificate at the 
venue. The licensing authority can only do so: 

•  if the police or the EHA have objected to the TEN; 
•  if that objection has not been withdrawn; 
•  if there is a licence or certificate in relation to at least a part of the premises in respect 

Page 129



54 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

of which the TEN is given; 
•  and if the licensing authority considers it appropriate for the promotion of the 

licensing objectives to impose one or more conditions. 

7.39 This decision is one for the licensing authority alone, regardless of the premises user’s 
views or willingness to accept conditions. The conditions must be notified to the 
premises user on the form prescribed by regulations. 

Duty of premises users to keep and produce TENs 
7.40 Where a TEN is not prominently displayed at the premises, the police and licensing 

officers have the right under sections 109(5) and (6) of the 2003 Act to request the 
premises user (or relevant nominated person who has the TEN in their custody) to 
produce the TEN for examination. If the police do not intervene when a TEN is given, 
they will still be able to rely on their powers of closure under the Anti-social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 20143. 

 

 
3 For further guidance on the closure power under the 2014 Act, please refer to:  
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/352562/ASB_Guidance_v8_July2014_final__2_.pdf 

Page 130



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 55 

8. Applications for premises licences 
Relevant licensing authority 
8.1 Premises licences are issued by the licensing authority in which the premises are 

situated or, in the case of premises straddling an area boundary, the licensing authority 
where the greater part of the premises is situated. Where the premises is located 
equally in two or more areas, the applicant may choose but, in these rare cases, it is 
important that each of the licensing authorities involved maintain close contact. 

8.2 Section 13 of the 2003 Act defines the parties holding important roles in the context of 
applications, inspection, monitoring and reviews of premises licences. 

Authorised persons 
8.3 The first group –“authorised persons”– are bodies empowered by the 2003 Act to carry 

out inspection and enforcement roles. The police and immigration officers are not 
included because they are separately empowered by the 2003 Act to carry out their 
duties. 

8.4 For all premises, the authorised persons include: 

•  officers of the licensing authority; 
•  fire inspectors; 
•  inspectors with responsibility in the licensing authority’s area for the enforcement of 

the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974;  
•  officers of the local authority exercising environmental health functions 

8.5 Local authority officers will most commonly have responsibility for the enforcement of 
health and safety legislation, but the Health and Safety Executive is responsible for 
certain premises. In relation to vessels, authorised persons also include an inspector or 
a surveyor of ships appointed under section 256 of the Merchant Shipping Act 1995. 
These would normally be officers acting on behalf of the Maritime and Coastguard 
Agency. The Secretary of State may prescribe other authorised persons by means of 
regulations, but has not currently prescribed any additional bodies. If any are 
prescribed, details will be made available on the GOV.UK website. 

8.6 Where an immigration officer has reason to believe that any premises are being used 
for a licensable activity, the officer may enter the premises with a view to seeing 
whether an offence under any of the Immigration Acts is being committed in connection 
with the licensable activity.  

Responsible authorities 
8.7 The second group –“responsible authorities”– are public bodies that must be fully 

notified of applications and that are entitled to make representations to the licensing 
authority in relation to the application for the grant, variation or review of a premises 
licence. These representations must still be considered ‘relevant’ by the licensing 
authority and relate to one or more of the licensing objectives. For all premises, 
responsible authorities include: 

•  the relevant licensing authority and any other licensing authority in whose area part of 

Page 131



56 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

the premises is situated; 
•  the chief officer of police; 
•  the local fire and rescue authority; 
•  the relevant enforcing authority under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974; 
•  the local authority with responsibility for environmental health; 
•  the local planning authority; 
•  a body that represents those who are responsible for, or interested in, matters 

relating to the protection of children from harm; 
•  each local authority’s Director of Public Health (DPH) in England4 and Local Health 

Boards (in Wales);  
•  the local weights and measures authority (trading standards); and 
•   Home Office Immigration Enforcement (on behalf of the Secretary of State). 

8.8 The licensing authority should indicate in its statement of licensing policy which body it 
recognises to be competent to advise it on the protection of children from harm. This 
may be the local authority social services department, the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board or another competent body. This is important as applications for premises 
licences have to be copied to the responsible authorities in order for them to make any 
representations they think are relevant. 

8.9 In relation to a vessel, responsible authorities also include navigation authorities within 
the meaning of section 221(1) of the Water Resources Act 1991 that have statutory 
functions in relation to the waters where the vessel is usually moored or berthed, or any 
waters where it is proposed to be navigated when being used for licensable activities; 
the Environment Agency; the Canal and River Trust; and the Secretary of State (who in 
practice acts through the Maritime and Coastguard Agency (MCA)). In practice, the 
Environment Agency and the Canal and River Trust only have responsibility in relation 
to vessels on waters for which they are the navigation statutory authority. 

8.10 The MCA is the lead responsible authority for public safety, including fire safety, 
affecting passenger ships (those carrying more than 12 passengers) wherever they 
operate and small commercial vessels (carrying no more than 12 passengers) which go 
to sea. The safety regime for passenger ships is enforced under the Merchant Shipping 
Acts by the MCA which operates certification schemes for these vessels. Fire and 
rescue authorities, the Health and Safety Executive and local authority health and safety 
inspectors should normally be able to make “nil” returns in relation to such vessels and 
rely on the MCA to make any appropriate representations in respect of this licensing 
objective. 

8.11 Merchant Shipping legislation does not, however, apply to permanently moored vessels. 
So, for example, restaurant ships moored on the Thames Embankment, with permanent 
shore connections should be considered by the other responsible authorities concerned 
with public safety, including fire safety. Vessels carrying no more than 12 passengers 
which do not go to sea are not subject to MCA survey and certification, but may be 
licensed by the local port or navigation authority. 

 
4 This change was made as a result of the commencement of measures in the Health and Social Care Act 2012 which amended 
the 2003 Act and further provision in the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities (Partnership Arrangements, Care Trusts, Public 
Health and Local Healthwatch) Regulations 2012. 

Page 132



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 57 

8.12 The Secretary of State may prescribe other responsible authorities by means of 
regulations. Any such regulations are published on the Government’s legislation 
website: www.legislation.gov.uk. 

Other persons 
8.13 As well as responsible authorities, any other person can play a role in a number of 

licensing processes under the 2003 Act. This includes any individual, body or business 
entitled to make representations to licensing authorities in relation to applications for the 
grant, variation, minor variation or review of premises licences and club premises 
certificates, regardless of their geographic proximity to the premises. In addition, these 
persons may themselves seek a review of a premises licence. Any representations 
made by these persons must be ‘relevant’, in that the representation relates to one or 
more of the licensing objectives. It must also not be considered by the licensing 
authority to be frivolous or vexatious. In the case of applications for reviews, there is an 
additional requirement that the grounds for the review should not be considered by the 
licensing authority to be repetitious. Chapter 9 of this guidance (paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10) 
provides more detail on the definition of relevant, frivolous and vexatious 
representations. 

8.14 While any of these persons may act in their own right, they may also request that a 
representative makes the representation to the licensing authority on their behalf. A 
representative may include a legal representative, a friend, a Member of Parliament, a 
Member of the Welsh Government, or a local ward or parish councillor who can all act in 
such a capacity. 

Who can apply for a premises licence? 
8.15 Any person (if an individual aged 18 or over) who is carrying on or who proposes to 

carry on a business which involves the use of premises (any place including one in the 
open air) for licensable activities may apply for a premises licence either on a 
permanent basis or for a time-limited period. 

8.16 “A person” in this context includes, for example, a business or a partnership. Licensing 
authorities should not require the nomination of an individual to hold the licence or 
determine the identity of the most appropriate person to hold the licence. 

8.17 In considering joint applications (which is likely to be a rare occurrence), it must be 
stressed that under section 16(1)(a) of the 2003 Act each applicant must be carrying on 
a business which involves the use of the premises for licensable activities. In the case of 
public houses, this would be easier for a tenant to demonstrate than for a pub owning 
company that is not itself carrying on licensable activities. Where licences are to be held 
by businesses, it is desirable that this should be a single business to avoid any lack of 
clarity in accountability. 

8.18 A public house may be owned, or a tenancy held, jointly by a husband and wife, civil 
partners or other partnerships of a similar nature, and both may be actively involved in 
carrying on the licensable activities. In these cases, it is entirely possible for the 
husband and wife or the partners to apply jointly as applicant for the premises licence, 
even if they are not formally partners in business terms. This is unlikely to lead to the 
same issues of clouded accountability that could arise where two separate businesses 

Page 133

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


58 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

apply jointly for the licence. If the application is granted, the premises licence would 
identify the holder as comprising both names and any subsequent applications, for 
example for a variation of the licence, would need to be made jointly. 

8.19 A wide range of other individuals and bodies set out in section 16 of the 2003 Act may 
apply for premises licences. They include, for example, Government Departments, local 
authorities, hospitals, schools, charities or police forces. In addition to the bodies listed 
in section 16, the Secretary of State may prescribe by regulations other bodies that may 
apply and any such regulations are published on the Government’s legislation website. 
There is nothing in the 2003 Act which prevents an application being made for a 
premises licence at premises where a premises licence is already held. 

Application forms 
8.20 The Provision of Services Regulations 2009 require local authorities to ensure that all 

procedures relating to access to, or the exercise of, a service activity may be easily 
completed, at a distance and by electronic means. Electronic application facilities for 
premises licences may be found either on GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s own 
website. It remains acceptable to make an application in writing. 

Electronic applications 
8.21 Applicants may apply using the licence application forms available on GOV.UK, or will 

be re-directed from GOV.UK to the licensing authority’s own electronic facility if one is 
available. Applicants may also apply directly to the licensing authority’s facility without 
going through GOV.UK. 

Electronic applications using forms on gov.uk 
8.22 GOV.UK will send a notification to the licensing authority when a completed application 

form is available for it to download from GOV.UK. This is the day that the application is 
taken to be ‘given’ to the licensing authority, even if it is downloaded at a later stage, 
and the application must be advertised from the day after that day (as for a written 
application). The licensing authority must acknowledge the application as quickly as 
possible, specifying the statutory time period and giving details of the appeal procedure. 

8.23 The period of 28 consecutive days during which the application must be advertised on a 
notice outside the premises is, effectively, the statutory timescale by which the 
application must be determined (unless representations are made). This will be 
published on GOV.UK and must also be published on the licensing authority’s own 
electronic facility if one exists. If no representations are made during this period, the 
licensing authority must notify the applicant as quickly as possible that the licence has 
been granted. The licensing authority must send the licence to the applicant as soon as 
possible after this, but the applicant may start the licensed activity as soon as they have 
been notified that the application is granted (subject to compliance with the conditions of 
the licence). The licence may be supplied in electronic or written format as long as the 
applicant is aware which document constitutes ‘the licence’. If representations are 
made, the guidance in Chapter 9 applies. 

Requirement to copy application to responsible authorities 
8.24 The licensing authority must copy electronic applications, made via GOV.UK or its own 

facility, to responsible authorities no later than the first working day after the application 

Page 134

http://gov.uk/
http://gov.uk/


Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 59 

is given. However, if an applicant submits any part of their application in writing, the 
applicant will remain responsible for copying it to responsible authorities. 

Applications via the local authority electronic application facility 
8.25 Where applications are made on the licensing authority’s own electronic facility, the 

application will be taken to be ‘given’ when the applicant has submitted a complete 
application form and paid the fee. The application is given at the point at which it 
becomes accessible to the authority by means of the facility. The licensing authority 
must acknowledge the application as quickly as possible, specifying the statutory time 
period and giving details of the appeal procedure. 

‘Holding’ and ‘deferring’ electronic applications 
8.26 The Government recommends (as for written applications) that electronic applications 

should not be returned if they contain obvious and minor errors such as typing mistakes, 
or small errors that can be rectified with information already in the authority’s 
possession. However, if this is not the case and required information is missing or 
incorrect, the licensing authority may ‘hold’ the application until the applicant has 
supplied all the required information. This effectively resets the 28 day period for 
determining an application and may be done any number of times until the application 
form is complete. Licensing authorities must ensure that they notify the applicant as 
quickly as possible of any missing (or incorrect) information, and explain how this will 
affect the statutory timescale and advertising requirements. 

8.27 If an application has been given at the weekend, the notice advertising the application 
(where applicable) may already be displayed outside the premises by the time that the 
licensing authority downloads the application. It is therefore recommended that, if a 
licensing authority holds an application, it should inform the applicant that the original (or 
if necessary, amended) notice must be displayed until the end of the revised period. The 
licensing authority should also advise the applicant that they should not advertise the 
application in a local newspaper until they have received confirmation from the licensing 
authority that the application includes all the required information. To ensure clarity for 
applicants, the Government recommends that licensing authorities include similar 
advice on their electronic application facilities (where these exist) to ensure that 
applicants do not incur any unnecessary costs. 

8.28 If an applicant persistently fails to supply the required information, the licensing authority 
may refuse the application and the applicant must submit a new application. 

8.29 Licensing authorities may also ‘defer’ electronic applications once if the application is 
particularly complicated, for example if representations are received and a hearing is 
required. This allows the licensing authority to extend the statutory time period for the 
determination of the application by such time as is necessary, including, if required, 
arranging and holding a hearing. Licensing authorities must ensure that applicants are 
informed as quickly as possible of a decision to defer, and the reasons for the deferral, 
before the original 28 days has expired. 

Written applications 
8.30 A written application for a premises licence must be made in the prescribed form to the 

relevant licensing authority and be copied to each of the appropriate responsible 
authorities. For example, it would not be appropriate to send an application for premises 

Page 135



60 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

which was not a vessel to the Maritime and Coastguard Agency. The application must 
be accompanied by: 

•  the required fee (details of fees may be viewed on the GOV.UK website); 
•  an operating schedule (see below); 
•  a plan of the premises in a prescribed form; and 
•  if the application involves the supply of alcohol, a form of consent from the individual 

who is to be specified in the licence as the designated premises supervisor (DPS). 

8.31 If the application is being made by an individual it should be accompanied by acceptable 
evidence of entitlement to work in the UK (this includes where the application is 
submitted electronically), as set out in the application form (see paragraph 4.9) 

8.32 If the application is being made in respect of a community premises, it may be 
accompanied by the form of application to apply the alternative licence condition. 

8.33 Guidance on completing premises licence, club premises certificate and minor variation 
forms can be found on the GOV.UK website. The Licensing Act 2003 (Premises 
licences and club premises certificates) Regulations 2005 contain provision about the 
prescribed form of applications, operating schedules and plans and are published on the 
legislation.gov.uk website. 

Plans 
8.34 Plans, for written and electronic applications, will not be required to be submitted in any 

particular scale, but they must be in a format which is “clear and legible in all material 
respects”, i.e. they must be accessible and provides sufficient detail for the licensing 
authority to be able to determine the application, including the relative size of any 
features relevant to the application. There is no requirement for plans to be 
professionally drawn as long as they clearly show all the prescribed information. 

Beer gardens or other outdoor spaces 
8.35 Applicants will want to consider whether they might want to use a garden or other 

outdoor space as a location from which alcohol will be consumed. The sale of alcohol is 
to be treated as taking place where the alcohol is appropriated to the contract. In 
scenarios where drink orders are taken by a member of staff in the garden or outdoor 
space and the member of staff then collects the drinks from the licensed premises and 
returns to deliver them to the customer this would be treated as an off-sale and any 
conditions that relate to off-sales would apply. 

8.36 In such cases it will not be necessary to include the garden or other outdoor space on 
the plan as part of the area covered by the premises licence. However, it will be 
necessary for the applicant to include the garden or other outdoor space on the plan as 
part of the area covered by the premises licence if the intention is to provide a service 
whereby drinks are available for sale and consumption directly from that area (i.e. the 
provision of on-sales). This would apply in the case of an outdoor bar or a service 
whereby a member of staff who is in the garden or outdoor space carries with them 
drinks that are available for sale (without the need for the staff member to return to the 
licensed premises to collect them). 

8.37 If the beer garden or other outdoor area is to be used for the consumption of off-sales 
only, there is no requirement to show it on the plan of the premises, but the prescribed 

Page 136

http://gov.uk/
http://legislation.gov.uk/


Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 61 

application form requires the applicant to provide a description of where the place is and 
its proximity to the premises. 

Entitlement to work in the UK 
8.38 Individuals applying for a premises licence for the sale of alcohol or late night 

refreshment must be entitled to work in the UK. Licensing authorities must be satisfied 
that an individual who applies for a premises licence is entitled to work in the UK. This 
includes applications made by more than one individual applicant. An application made 
by an individual without the entitlement to work in the UK must be rejected. This applies 
to applications which include the sale of alcohol and the provisions of late night 
refreshment, but does not include applications which apply to regulated entertainment 
only. For example, a person applying for a licence for a music venue who does not 
intend to sell alcohol or late night refreshment is not prohibited from applying for a 
licence on grounds of immigration status. However, they will commit a criminal offence if 
they work illegally.   

8.39 An applicant may demonstrate their right to work either by submitting documentation, or 
by an online right to work check. The documents which may be relied on in support of 
an application demonstrating an entitlement to work in the UK are the same as for 
personal licence applicants see paragraph 4.9. Alternatively, as for personal licences, 
applicants may demonstrate their right to work digitally by providing their share code 
and date of birth to enable the licensing authority to carry out a check with the Home 
Office online right to work checking service (available on GOV.UK: 
https://www.gov.uk/view-right-to-work) – see paragraph 4.10.   Where there is sufficient 
evidence that the applicant is not resident in the UK there is no requirement that the 
applicant has an entitlement to work in the UK. See paragraphs 4.21 to 4.48 in relation 
to entitlement to work in the UK for EEA citizens from 1 July 2021.  

8.40 Where an applicant’s permission to work in the UK is time-limited the licensing authority 
may issue a premises licence for an indefinite period, but the licence will become invalid 
when the immigration permission expires. The individual’s entitlement to work in the UK 
may be extended or made permanent by the Home Office, and granting the licence for 
an indefinite period prevents the licensee from having to re-apply for a new licence.  In 
the event that the Home Office cuts short or ends a person’s immigration permission 
(referred to as a curtailment or revocation), any licence issued on or after 6 April 2017 
which authorises the sale of alcohol or provision of late night refreshment will 
automatically lapse. As with personal licences, the licensing authority is under no duty to 
carry out on going immigration checks to see whether a licence holder’s permission to 
be in the UK has been brought to an end. For further details on entitlement to work see 
paragraphs 4.8 to 4.48.    

Steps to promote the licensing objectives 
8.41 In completing an operating schedule, applicants are expected to have regard to the 

statement of licensing policy for their area. They must also be aware of the expectations 
of the licensing authority and the responsible authorities as to the steps that are 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives, and to demonstrate knowledge 
of their local area when describing the steps they propose to take to promote the 
licensing objectives. Licensing authorities and responsible authorities are expected to 

Page 137

https://www.gov.uk/view-right-to-work


62 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

publish information about what is meant by the promotion of the licensing objectives and 
to ensure that applicants can readily access advice about these matters. However, 
applicants are also expected to undertake their own enquiries about the area in which 
the premises are situated to inform the content of the application. 

8.42 Applicants are, in particular, expected to obtain sufficient information to enable them to 
demonstrate, when setting out the steps they propose to take to promote the licensing 
objectives, that they understand: 

•  the layout of the local area and physical environment including crime and disorder 
hotspots, proximity to residential premises and proximity to areas where children may 
congregate; 

•  any risk posed to the local area by the applicants’ proposed licensable activities; and 
•  any local initiatives (for example, local crime reduction initiatives or voluntary 

schemes including local taxi-marshalling schemes, street pastors and other 
schemes) which may help to mitigate potential risks. 

8.43 Applicants are expected to include positive proposals in their application on how they 
will manage any potential risks. Where specific policies apply in the area (for example, a 
cumulative impact assessment), applicants are also expected to demonstrate an 
understanding of how the policy impacts on their application; any measures they will 
take to mitigate the impact; and why they consider the application should be an 
exception to the policy. 

8.44 It is expected that enquiries about the locality will assist applicants when determining 
the steps that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. For example, 
premises with close proximity to residential premises should consider what effect this 
will have on their smoking, noise management and dispersal policies to ensure the 
promotion of the public nuisance objective. Applicants must consider all factors which 
may be relevant to the promotion of the licensing objectives, and where there are no 
known concerns, acknowledge this in their application. 

8.45 The majority of information which applicants will require should be available in the 
licensing policy statement in the area. Other publicly available sources which may be of 
use to applicants include: 

•  the Crime Mapping website; 
•  Neighbourhood Statistics websites; 
•  websites or publications by local responsible authorities; 
•  websites or publications by local voluntary schemes and initiatives; and 
•  on-line mapping tools. 

8.46 While applicants are not required to seek the views of responsible authorities before 
formally submitting their application, they may find them to be a useful source of expert 
advice on local issues that should be taken into consideration when making an 
application. Licensing authorities may wish to encourage co-operation between 
applicants, responsible authorities and, where relevant, local residents and businesses 
before applications are submitted in order to minimise the scope for disputes to arise. 

8.47 Applicants are expected to provide licensing authorities with sufficient information in this 
section to determine the extent to which their proposed steps are appropriate to 

Page 138



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 63 

promote the licensing objectives in the local area. Applications must not be based on 
providing a set of standard conditions to promote the licensing objectives and applicants 
are expected to make it clear why the steps they are proposing are appropriate for the 
premises. 

8.48 All parties are expected to work together in partnership to ensure that the licensing 
objectives are promoted collectively. Where there are no disputes, the steps that 
applicants propose to take to promote the licensing objectives, as set out in the 
operating schedule, will very often translate directly into conditions that will be attached 
to premises licences with the minimum of fuss. 

8.49 For some premises, it is possible that no measures will be appropriate to promote one 
or more of the licensing objectives, for example, because they are adequately covered 
by other existing legislation. It is however important that all operating schedules should 
be precise and clear about the consideration given to the licensing objectives and any 
measures that are proposed to promote them.  

Variations 
Introduction 
8.50 Where a premises licence holder wishes to amend the licence, the 2003 Act in most 

cases permits an application to vary to be made rather than requiring an application for 
a new premises licence. The process to be followed will depend on the nature of the 
variation and its potential impact on the licensing objectives. Applications to vary can be 
made electronically via GOV.UK or by means of the licensing authority’s own electronic 
facility following the procedures set out above. 

Simplified processes 
8.51 There are simplified processes for making applications, or notifying changes, in the 

following cases: 

•  a change of the name or address of someone named in the licence (section 33); 
•  an application to vary the licence to specify a new individual as the designated 

premises supervisor (DPS) (section 37); 
•  a request to be removed as the designated premises supervisor (section 41); 
•  an application by a licence holder in relation to community premises authorised to sell 

alcohol to remove the usual mandatory conditions set out in sections 19(2) and 19(3) 
of the 2003 Act concerning the supervision of alcohol sales by a personal licence 
holder and the need for a DPS who holds a personal licence (sections 25A and 41D); 
and 

•  an application for minor variation of a premises licence (sections 41A to 41C) or club 
premises certificate (sections 86A to 86C). 

8.52 If an application to specify a new DPS or to remove the mandatory conditions 
concerning the supervision of alcohol sales is made electronically via GOV.UK or the 
licensing authority’s own electronic facility, the authority must notify the police no later 
than the first working day after the application is given. 

8.53 Where a simplified process requires the applicant (if they are not also the personal 
licence holder) to copy the application to the licence holder for information, this will 
apply regardless of whether the application is made in writing or electronically. 

Page 139



64 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Otherwise the general guidance set out above (paragraphs 8.21 to 8.29) on electronic 
applications applies. 

Minor variations process 
8.54 Variations to premises licences or club premises certificates that could not impact 

adversely on the licensing objectives are subject to a simplified ‘minor variations’ 
process. Under this process, the applicant is not required to advertise the variation in a 
newspaper or circular, or copy it to responsible authorities. However, they must display 
it on a white notice (to distinguish it from the blue notice used for full variations and new 
applications). The notice must comply with the requirements set out in regulation 26A of 
the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club premises certificates) Regulations 
2005. In accordance with those regulations, the notice must be displayed for a period of 
ten working days starting on the working day after the minor variation application was 
given to the licensing authority. 

8.55 On receipt of an application for a minor variation, the licensing authority must consider 
whether the variation could impact adversely on the licensing objectives. It is recommended 
that decisions on minor variations should be delegated to licensing officers. 

8.56 In considering the application, the licensing authority must consult relevant responsible 
authorities (whether the application is made in writing or electronically) if there is any 
doubt about the impact of the variation on the licensing objectives and they need 
specialist advice, and take their views into account in reaching a decision. The 
application is unlikely to be relevant to all responsible authorities.  

8.57 The licensing authority must also consider any relevant representations received from 
other persons within the time limit referred to below. As stated earlier in this Guidance, 
representations are only relevant if they clearly relate to the likely effect of the grant of 
the variation on the promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives; representations 
must be confined to the subject matter of the variation. In the case of minor variations, 
there is no right to a hearing (as for a full variation or new application), but licensing 
authorities must take any representations into account in arriving at a decision. 

8.58 Other persons have ten working days from the ‘initial day’, that is to say, the day after 
the application is received by the licensing authority, to submit representations. The 
licensing authority must therefore wait until this period has elapsed before determining 
the application, but must do so at the latest within 15 working days, beginning on the 
first working day after the authority received the application, with effect either that the 
minor variation is granted or the application is refused. 

8.59 If the licensing authority fails to respond to the applicant within 15 working days (see 
section 193 of the 2003 Act for the definition of working day), the application will be 
treated as refused and the authority must return the fee to the applicant forthwith. 
However, the licensing authority and the applicant may agree instead that the 
undetermined application should be treated as a new application and that the fee 
originally submitted will be treated as a fee for the new application. 

8.60 Where an application is refused and is then re-submitted through the full variation 
process, the full 28 day notification period will apply from the date the new application is 
received and applicants should advertise the application and copy it to all responsible 
authorities (in accordance with the regulations applicable to full variations). 

Page 140



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 65 

8.61 Minor variations will generally fall into four categories: minor changes to the structure or 
layout of premises; small adjustments to licensing hours; the removal of out of date, 
irrelevant or unenforceable conditions or addition of volunteered conditions; and the 
addition of certain licensable activities. In all cases the overall test is whether the 
proposed variation could impact adversely on any of the four licensing objectives. 

Changes to structure/layout 
8.62 Many small variations to layout will have no adverse impact on the licensing objectives. 

However, changes to layout should be referred to the full variation process if they could 
potentially have an adverse impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives, for 
example by: 

•  increasing the capacity for drinking on the premises; 
•  affecting access between the public part of the premises and the rest of the premises 

or the street or public way, for instance, block emergency exits or routes to 
emergency exits; or 

•  impeding the effective operation of a noise reduction measure such as an acoustic 
lobby. 

Licensable Activities 
8.63 Licensing authorities will also need to consider the combined effect of a series of 

applications for successive small layout changes (for example, as part of a rolling 
refurbishment of premises) which in themselves may not be significant, but which 
cumulatively may impact adversely on the licensing objectives. This emphasises the 
importance of having an up-to-date copy of the premises plan available. 

8.64 An application to remove a licensable activity should normally be approved as a minor 
variation. Variations to add the sale by retail or supply of alcohol to a licence are 
excluded from the minor variations process and must be treated as full variations in all 
cases. 

8.65 For other licensable activities, licensing authorities will need to consider each 
application on a case by case basis and in light of any licence conditions put forward by 
the applicant. 

Licensing hours 
8.66 Variations to the following are excluded from the minor variations process and must be 

treated as full variations in all cases: 

•  to extend licensing hours for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on or off 
the premises between the hours of 23.00 and 07.00; or 

•  to increase the amount of time on any day during which alcohol may be sold or 
supplied for consumption on or off the premises. 

8.67 Applications to reduce licensing hours for the sale or supply of alcohol or, in some 
cases, to move (without increasing) the licensed hours between 07.00 and 23.00 will 
normally be processed as minor variations. 

8.68 Applications to vary the time during which other licensable activities take place should 
be considered on a case-by-case basis with reference to the likely impact on the 
licensing objectives. 

Page 141



66 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Licensing conditions  
a) Imposed conditions 
8.69 Licensing authorities cannot impose their own conditions on the licence through the 

minor variations process. If the licensing officer considers that the proposed variation 
would impact adversely on the licensing objectives unless conditions are imposed, they 
should refuse it. 

b) Volunteered conditions 
8.70 Applicants may volunteer conditions as part of the minor variation process. These 

conditions may arise from their own risk assessment of the variation, or from informal 
discussions with responsible authorities or the licensing authority. 

8.71 For instance, there may be circumstances when the licence holder and a responsible 
authority such as the police or environmental health authority, agree that a new condition 
should be added to the licence (for example, that a nightclub adds the provision of door 
staff to its licence). Such a change would not normally impact adversely on the licensing 
objectives and could be expected to promote them by preventing crime and disorder or 
public nuisance. In these circumstances, the minor variation process may provide a less 
costly and onerous means of amending the licence than a review, with no risk to the 
licensing objectives. However, this route should only be used where the agreed variations 
are minor and the licence holder and the responsible authority have come to a genuine 
agreement. The licensing authority should be alive to any attempts to pressure licence or 
certificate holders into agreeing to new conditions where there is no evidence of a 
problem at the premises and, if there is any doubt, should discuss this with the relevant 
parties. 

c) Amending or removing existing conditions 
8.72 However, there may be some circumstances when the minor variation process is 

appropriate. Premises may change over time and the circumstances that originally led 
to the condition being attached or volunteered may no longer apply. For example, there 
may be no need for door supervision if a bar has been converted into a restaurant. 
Equally some embedded conditions may no longer apply.  

8.73 Changes in legislation may invalidate certain conditions. Although the conditions do not 
have to be removed from the licence, licence holders and licensing authorities may 
agree that this is desirable to clarify the licence holder’s legal obligations. There may 
also be cases where it is appropriate to revise the wording of a condition that is unclear 
or unenforceable. This would be acceptable as a minor variation as long as the purpose 
of the condition and its intended effect remain unchanged. Such a change could be 
expected to promote the licensing objectives by making it easier for the licence holder to 
understand and comply with the condition and easier for the licensing authority to 
enforce it. 

Full variations process 
8.74 Any other changes to the licence or certificate require an application to vary under 

sections 34 or 84 of the 2003 Act. 

8.75 Licensing authorities may wish to consider whether there is any likely impact on the 
promotion of the licensing objectives in deciding whether there is a need for an 

Page 142



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 67 

application to vary in relation to features which are not required to be shown on the plan 
under section 17 of the 2003 Act, but have nevertheless been included, for example, 
moveable furniture (altering the position of tables and chairs) or beer gardens 
(installation of a smoking shelter that will not affect the use of exits or escape routes). 

8.76 However, it should be noted that a section 34 application cannot be used to vary a 
licence so as to: 

• extend a time limited licence; vary substantially the premises to which the licence 
relates; 

• transfer the licence from one holder to another; or 
• transfer the licence from one premises to another. 

8.77 If an applicant wishes to make these types of changes to the premises licence, the 
applicant should make a new premises licence application under section 17 of the 2003 
Act; or, to transfer the licence to another holder, an application under section 42 of the 
2003 Act. 

Relaxation of opening hours for local, national and international 
occasions 
8.78 It should normally be possible for applicants for premises licences and club premises 

certificates to anticipate special occasions which occur regularly each year – such as 
bank holidays and St. George’s or St. Patrick’s Day – and to include appropriate 
opening hours in their operating schedules. Similarly, temporary event notices should be 
sufficient to cover other events which take place at premises that do not have a 
premises licence or club certificate. 

8.79 However, exceptional events of local, national or international significance may arise 
which could not have been anticipated when the application was first made. In these 
circumstances, the Secretary of State may make a licensing hours order to allow 
premises to open for specified, generally extended, hours on these special occasions. 
This avoids the need for large numbers of applications to vary premises licences and 
club premises certificates. Typical events might include a one-off local festival or a 
Royal Jubilee. 

Advertising applications 
8.80 The requirements governing the advertisement of applications for the grant, variation or 

review of premises licences and club premises certificates are contained in Regulations 
25 and 26 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club premises certificates) 
Regulations 2005 which are published on the Government’s legislation website.      

Applicants are required to: 

•  publish a notice in a local newspaper or, if there is none, in a local newsletter, circular 
or similar document circulating in the area in which the premises are situated; and 

•  display a brief summary of the application on an A4 (or larger) size notice, on pale 
blue paper in a prominent position (or positions) immediately on or outside the 
premises for at least 28 consecutive days (starting on the day after the day on which 
the application was given to the relevant licensing authority). The notice must be 
printed legibly in black ink or typed in black in size 16 font or larger. 

Page 143



68 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

•  ensure that the above notices contain the name of the applicant, postal addresses of 
the premises (or if there is no postal address a description of the premises sufficient 
to enable the location to be identified), relevant licensing authority and the date by 
which any representations in relation to the application need to be made to the 
licensing authority. They should also contain a statement of the relevant licensable 
activities or relevant qualifying club activities that it is proposed will be carried on at 
the premises, or in the case of an application to vary a premises licence or a club 
premises certificate the notices shall briefly describe the proposed variation. 

8.81 It is the responsibility of the applicant for putting the notice up, however licensing 
authorities should consider where the signs should be placed and advise the applicant 
where appropriate, to ensure people will see them, in particular if an application is likely 
to be of interest to the public. As prescribed in regulations, licensing authorities must 
also place a notice on their website outlining key details of the application as set out in 
regulations, including: 

•  the name of the applicant or club; 
•  the postal address of the premises or club premises; 
•  the postal address and, where applicable, the internet address where the relevant 

licensing authority’s register is kept and where and when the record of the application 
may be inspected; 

•  the date by which representations from responsible authorities or other persons 
should be received and how these representations should be made; and 

•  that it is an offence knowingly or recklessly to make a false statement in connection 
with an application and the maximum fine for which a person is liable on summary 
conviction for the offence. 

8.82 The summary of the application should set out matters such as the proposed licensable 
activities and the proposed hours of opening and should be clearly displayed for the 
period during which representations may be made, together with information about 
where the details of the application may be viewed. 

8.83 Licensing authorities in Wales should consider encouraging applicants to provide details 
in the alternative language (Welsh or English) to that of the main advertisement itself 
where the application may be viewed. Therefore, if an applicant publishes a notice in 
English they should be encouraged to provide a statement in Welsh as to where the 
application may be viewed, and vice versa. This would allow the reader of the notice to 
make enquiries to the licensing authority and find out the nature of the application. 

8.84 Licensing authorities in Wales are also required to publish key information from licence 
applications in Welsh on their websites. 

8.85 In the case of applications for premises licences involving internet or mail order sales, 
notices should be conspicuously displayed at the place where the alcohol is 
appropriated to the contract. 

8.86 A vessel which is not permanently moored or berthed is treated as if it were a premises 
situated in a place where it is usually moored or berthed. The newspaper advertisement 
notice for such a vessel would need to be in relation to this place (where it is usually 
moored or berthed) and there is no provision requiring such advertising in other areas, 
for instance, if the vessel journeys through other licensing authority areas. 

Page 144



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 69 

8.87 Arrangements should be put in place by the licensing authority for other parties to view 
a record of the application in the licensing register as described in Schedule 3 to the 
2003 Act. Charges made for copies of the register should not exceed the cost of 
preparing such copies. Licensing authorities may wish to conduct random and 
unannounced visits to premises to confirm that notices have been clearly displayed and 
include relevant and accurate information. 

Applications to change the designated premises supervisors 
8.88 Chapter 4 covers designated premises supervisors and applications to vary a premises 

licence covering sales of alcohol by specifying a new designated premises supervisor. 
Chapter 4 covers applications by community premises to disapply the usual mandatory 
conditions in sections 19(2) and 19(3) of the 2003 Act concerning the authorisation of 
alcohol sales by a personal licence holder and the need for a designated premises 
supervisor who holds a personal licence. 

Provisional statements 
8.89 Where premises are being or are about to be constructed, extended or otherwise 

altered for the purpose of being used for one or more licensable activities, investors may 
be unwilling to commit funds unless they have some assurance that a premises licence 
covering the desired licensable activities would be granted for the premises when the 
building work is completed. 

8.90 The 2003 Act does not define the words “otherwise altered”, but the alteration must 
relate to the purpose of being used for one or more licensable activities. 

8.91 Any person falling within section 16 of the 2003 Act can apply for a premises licence 
before new premises are constructed, extended or changed. This would be possible 
where clear plans of the proposed structure exist and the applicant is in a position to 
complete an operating schedule including details of: 

•  the activities to take place there; 
•  the time at which such activities will take place; 
•  the proposed hours of opening; 
•  where the applicant wishes the licence to have effect for a limited period, that period; 
•  the steps to be taken to promote the licensing objectives; and 
•  where the sale of alcohol is involved, whether supplies are proposed to be for 

consumption on or off the premises (or both) and the name of the designated 
premises supervisor the applicant wishes to specify. 

8.92 In such cases, the licensing authority would include in the licence the date upon which it 
would come into effect. A provisional statement will normally only be required when the 
information described above is not available. 

8.93 The 2003 Act therefore provides for a person, if an individual aged 18 or over, who has 
an interest in the premises to apply for a “provisional statement”. This will not be time 
limited, but the longer the delay before an application for a premises licence is made, 
the more likely it is that there will be material changes and that the licensing authority 
will accept representations. “Person” in this context includes a business. 

8.94 When a hearing is held, the licensing authority must decide whether, if the premises 

Page 145



70 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

were constructed or altered in the way proposed in the schedule of works and if a 
premises licence was sought for those premises, it would consider it appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives to: 

•  attach conditions to the licence; 
•  rule out any of the licensable activities applied for; 
•  refuse to specify the person nominated as premises supervisor; or 
•  reject the application. 

It will then issue the applicant with a provisional statement setting out the details of that 
decision together with its reasons. 

8.95 The licensing authority must copy the provisional statement to each person who made 
relevant representations, and the chief officer of police for the area in which the premises 
is situated. The licensing authority should give full and comprehensive reasons for its 
decision. This is important in anticipation of an appeal by any aggrieved party. 

8.96 When a person applies for a premises licence in respect of premises (or part of the 
premises or premises which are substantially the same) for which a provisional 
statement has been made, representations by responsible authorities and other persons 
will be excluded in certain circumstances. These are where: 

•  the application for a licence is in the same form as the licence described in the 
provisional statement; 

•  the work in the schedule of works has been satisfactorily completed; 
•  given the information provided in the application for a provisional statement, the 

responsible authority or other person could have made the same, or substantially the 
same, representations about the application then but failed to do so without 
reasonable excuse; and 

•  there has been no material change in the circumstances relating either to the 
premises or to the area in the proximity of those premises since the provisional 
statement was made. 

8.97 Any decision of the licensing authority on an application for a provisional statement will 
not relieve an applicant of the need to apply for planning permission, building control 
approval of the building work, or in some cases both planning permission and building 
control. 

8.98 A provisional statement may not be sought or given for a vessel, a vehicle or a 
moveable structure (see section 189 of the 2003 Act). 

Transfers of premises licences 
8.99 The 2003 Act provides for any person who may apply for a premises licence, which 

includes a business, to apply for a premises licence to be transferred to them. Where 
the application is made in writing, the applicant must give notice of the application to the 
chief officer of police in all cases, and the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) if the 
licence authorises the sale of alcohol or provision of late night refreshment. Where it is 
made electronically via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s electronic facility, the 
licensing authority must notify the police and the Home Office (Immigration 
Enforcement) no later than the first working day after the application is given. However, 
the responsibility to notify the DPS remains with the applicant. Otherwise the general 

Page 146



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 71 

guidance on electronic applications set out in paragraphs 8.21 to 8.29 applies. 

8.100 In the vast majority of cases, it is expected that a transfer will be a very simple 
administrative process. Section 43 of the 2003 Act provides a mechanism which allows 
the transfer to come into immediate interim effect as soon as the licensing authority 
receives it, until it is formally determined or withdrawn. This is to ensure that there should 
be no interruption to normal business at the premises. If the police or the Home Office 
(Immigration Enforcement) raise no objection about the application, the licensing authority 
must transfer the licence in accordance with the application, amend the licence 
accordingly and return it to the new holder. 

8.101 In exceptional circumstances where the chief officer of police believes the transfer may 
undermine the crime prevention objective, the police may object to the transfer. The 
Home Office (Immigration Enforcement) may object if it considers that granting the 
transfer would be prejudicial to the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises. 
Such objections are expected to be rare and arise because the police or the Home 
Office (Immigration Enforcement) have evidence that the business or individuals 
seeking to hold the licence, or businesses or individuals linked to such persons, are 
involved in crime (or disorder) or employing illegal workers. 

8.102 Such objections (and therefore such hearings) should only arise in truly exceptional 
circumstances. If the licensing authority believes that the police or the Home Office 
(Immigration Enforcement) are using this mechanism to vet transfer applicants routinely 
and to seek hearings as a fishing expedition to inquire into applicants’ backgrounds, it is 
expected that it would raise the matter immediately with the chief officer of police or the 
Home Office (Immigration Enforcement). 

Interim authorities 
8.103 The 2003 Act provides special arrangements for the continuation of permissions under a 

premises licence when the holder of a licence dies suddenly, becomes bankrupt, 
mentally incapable or ceases to be entitled to work in the UK. In the normal course of 
events, the licence would lapse in such circumstances. However, there may also be 
some time before, for example, the deceased person’s estate can be dealt with or an 
administrative receiver appointed. This could have a damaging effect on those with 
interests in the premises, such as an owner, lessor or employees working at the 
premises in question; and could bring unnecessary disruption to customers’ plans. The 
2003 Act therefore provides for the licence to be capable of being reinstated in a 
discrete period of time in certain circumstances. 

8.104 These circumstances arise only where a premises licence has lapsed owing to the 
death, incapacity or insolvency of the holder or where the holder ceases to be entitled to 
work in the UK. In such circumstances, an “interim authority” notice may be given to the 
licensing authority within 28 consecutive days beginning the day after the licence 
lapsed. Where applications are made in writing, the applicant must give notice of the 
application to the chief officer of police in all cases, and the Home Office (Immigration 
Enforcement) if the licence authorises the sale of alcohol or provision of late night 
refreshment. If an application is made electronically via GOV.UK or the licensing 
authority’s electronic facility, the licensing authority must notify the police and the Home 
Office (Immigration Enforcement) no later than the first working day after the notice is 

Page 147



72 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

given. 

8.105 An interim notice may only be given either by a person with a prescribed interest in the 
premises as set out in the regulations made under the 2003 Act (which may be viewed 
on www.legislation.gov.uk, the Government’s legislation website); or by a person 
connected to the former holder of the licence (normally a personal representative of the 
former holder; or a person with power of attorney; or where someone has become 
insolvent, that person’s insolvency practitioner). The person giving the interim authority 
notice must be entitled to work in the UK. 

8.106 The effect of giving the notice is to reinstate the premises licence as if the person giving 
the notice is the holder of the licence and thereby allow licensable activities to continue 
to take place pending a formal application for transfer. The maximum period for which 
an interim authority notice may have effect is three months. 

8.107 The interim authority notice ceases to have effect unless, by the end of the initial period 
of 28 consecutive days, a copy of the notice has been given to the chief officer of police 
and the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement). Within two working days of receiving 
the copy, and if satisfied that in the exceptional circumstances of the case failure to 
cancel the interim authority would undermine the crime prevention objective, the police 
may give a notice to that effect to the licensing authority. Similarly, the Home Office 
(Immigration Enforcement) may give a notice to the licensing authority if satisfied that 
the exceptional circumstances of the case are such that failure to cancel the interim 
authority would undermine the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises.  In 
such circumstances, the licensing authority must hold a hearing to consider the 
objection notice and cancel the interim authority notice if it decides that it is appropriate 
to do so for the promotion of the crime prevention objective. 

8.108 Licensing authorities should be alert to the need to consider the objection quickly. Under 
section 50 of the 2003 Act, where the premises licence lapses (because of death, 
incapacity or insolvency of the holder or because the holder is no longer entitled to work 
in the UK) or by its surrender, but no interim authority notice has effect, a person who 
may apply for the grant of a premises licence under section 16(1) may apply within 28 
consecutive days of the lapse for the transfer of the licence to them with immediate effect 
pending the determination of the application. This will result in the licence being reinstated 
from the point at which the transfer application was received by the licensing authority. 
Where the application is made in writing, the person applying for the transfer must copy 
their application to the chief officer of police and the Home Office (Immigration 
Enforcement). If the application is made electronically the licensing authority must copy 
the application to the police and the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement). 

Right of freeholders etc to be notified of licensing matters 
8.109 A person (which will include a business or company) with a property interest in any 

premises situated in the licensing authority’s area may give notice of their interest to the 
authority using a prescribed form and on payment of the relevant fee. The application 
may be made in writing or electronically via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s own 
facility, in which case the guidance at paragraphs 8.21 to 8.29 applies. Details of fees 
and forms are available on the GOV.UK website. It is entirely at the discretion of such 
persons whether they choose to register or not. It is not a legal requirement. Those who 

Page 148

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 73 

may take advantage of this arrangement include the freeholder or leaseholder, a legal 
mortgagee in respect of the premises, a person in occupation of the premises or any 
other person prescribed by the Secretary of State. 

8.110 The notice will have effect for 12 months but a new notice can be given every year. 
While the notice has effect, if any change relating to the premises concerned has been 
made to the licensing register (which the licensing authority has a duty to keep under 
section 8 of the 2003 Act), the licensing authority must notify the person who registered 
an interest of the matter to which the change relates. The person will also be notified of 
their right under section 8 to request a copy of the information contained in any entry in 
the register. In cases relating to interim authority notices (see above), it is important that 
such communications are dealt with promptly. 

 

Page 149



74 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

9. Determining applications 
General 
9.1 When a licensing authority receives an application for a new premises licence or an 

application to vary an existing premises licence, it must determine whether the 
application has been made in accordance with section 17 of the 2003 Act, and in 
accordance with regulations made under sections 17(3) to (6), 34, 42, 54 and 55 of the 
2003 Act. It must similarly determine applications for the grant of club premises 
certificates made in accordance with section 71 of the 2003 Act, and in accordance with 
regulations made under sections 71(4) to (7), 84, 91 and 92 of the 2003 Act. This 
means that the licensing authority must consider among other things whether the 
application has been properly advertised in accordance with those regulations. 

Where no representations are made 
9.2 A hearing is not required where an application has been properly made and no 

responsible authority or other person has made a relevant representation or where 
representations are made and subsequently withdrawn. In these cases, the licensing 
authority must grant the application in the terms sought, subject only to conditions which 
are consistent with the operating schedule and relevant mandatory conditions under the 
2003 Act. This should be undertaken as a simple administrative process by the licensing 
authority’s officials who may replicate some of the proposals contained in the operating 
schedule to promote the licensing objectives in the form of clear and enforceable licence 
conditions. Licensing authorities should not hold hearings for uncontested applications, 
for example in situations where representations have been made and conditions have 
subsequently been agreed. 

Where representations are made 
9.3 Where a representation concerning the licensing objectives is made by a responsible 

authority about a proposed operating schedule and it is relevant (see paragraphs 9.4 to 
9.10 below), the licensing authority’s discretion will be engaged. It will also be engaged 
if another person makes relevant representations to the licensing authority, which are 
also not frivolous or vexatious (see paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10 below). Relevant 
representations can be made in opposition to, or in support of, an application and can 
be made by any individual, body or business that has grounds to do so. 

Relevant, vexatious and frivolous representations 
9.4 A representation is “relevant” if it relates to the likely effect of the grant of the licence on 

the promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives. For example, a representation 
from a local businessperson about the commercial damage caused by competition from 
new licensed premises would not be relevant. On the other hand, a representation by a 
businessperson that nuisance caused by new premises would deter customers from 
entering the local area, and the steps proposed by the applicant to prevent that 
nuisance were inadequate, would be relevant. In other words, representations should 
relate to the impact of licensable activities carried on from premises on the objectives. 
For representations in relation to variations to be relevant, they should be confined to 

Page 150



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 75 

the subject matter of the variation. There is no requirement for a responsible authority or 
other person to produce a recorded history of problems at premises to support their 
representations, and in fact this would not be possible for new premises. 

9.5 It is for the licensing authority to determine whether a representation (other than a 
representation from a responsible authority) is frivolous or vexatious on the basis of 
what might ordinarily be considered to be vexatious or frivolous. A representation may 
be considered to be vexatious if it appears to be intended to cause aggravation or 
annoyance, whether to a competitor or other person, without reasonable cause or 
justification. Vexatious circumstances may arise because of disputes between rival 
businesses and local knowledge will therefore be invaluable in considering such 
matters. Licensing authorities can consider the main effect of the representation, and 
whether any inconvenience or expense caused by it could reasonably be considered to 
be proportionate. 

9.6 Frivolous representations would be essentially categorised by a lack of seriousness. 
Frivolous representations would concern issues which, at most, are minor and in 
relation to which no remedial steps would be warranted or proportionate. 

9.7 Any person who is aggrieved by a rejection of their representations on either of these 
grounds may lodge a complaint through the local authority’s corporate complaints 
procedure. A person may also challenge the authority’s decision by way of judicial 
review. 

9.8 Licensing authorities should not take decisions about whether representations are 
frivolous, vexatious or relevant to the licensing objectives on the basis of any political 
judgement. This may be difficult for councillors who receive complaints from residents 
within their own wards. If consideration is not to be delegated, contrary to the 
recommendation in this Guidance, an assessment should be prepared by officials for 
consideration by the sub- committee before any decision is taken that necessitates a 
hearing. Any councillor who considers that their own interests are such that they are 
unable to consider the matter independently should disqualify themselves. 

9.9 It is recommended that, in borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about any aspect of 
a representation should be given to the person making that representation. The 
subsequent hearing would then provide an opportunity for the person or body making 
the representation to amplify and clarify it. 

9.10 Licensing authorities should consider providing advice on their websites about how any 
person can make representations to them. 

The role of responsible authorities 
9.11 Responsible authorities under the 2003 Act are automatically notified of all new 

applications. While all responsible authorities may make representations regarding 
applications for licences and club premises certificates and full variation applications, it 
is the responsibility of each responsible authority to determine when they have 
appropriate grounds to do so. 

  

Page 151



76 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

9.12 Each responsible authority will be an expert in their respective field, and in some cases 
it is likely that a particular responsible authority will be the licensing authority’s main 
source of advice in relation to a particular licensing objective. For example, the police 
have a key role in managing the night-time economy and should have good working 
relationships with those operating in their local area5. The police should usually 
therefore be the licensing authority’s main source of advice on matters relating to the 
promotion of the crime and disorder licensing objective. However, any responsible 
authority under the 2003 Act may make representations with regard to any of the 
licensing objectives if they have evidence to support such representations. Licensing 
authorities must therefore consider all relevant representations from responsible 
authorities carefully, even where the reason for a particular responsible authority’s 
interest or expertise in the promotion of a particular objective may not be immediately 
apparent. However, it remains incumbent on all responsible authorities to ensure that 
their representations can withstand the scrutiny to which they would be subject at a 
hearing. 

Licensing authorities acting as responsible authorities 
9.13 Licensing authorities are included in the list of responsible authorities. A similar 

framework exists in the Gambling Act 2005. The 2003 Act does not require responsible 
authorities to make representations about applications for the grant of premises licences 
or to take any other steps in respect of different licensing processes. It is, therefore, for 
the licensing authority to determine when it considers it appropriate to act in its capacity 
as a responsible authority; the licensing authority should make this decision in 
accordance with its duties under section 4 of the 2003 Act. 

9.14 Licensing authorities are not expected to act as responsible authorities on behalf of 
other parties (for example, local residents, local councillors or community groups) 
although there are occasions where the authority may decide to do so. Such parties can 
make relevant representations to the licensing authority in their own right, and it is 
reasonable for the licensing authority to expect them to make representations 
themselves where they are reasonably able to do so. However, if these parties have 
failed to take action and the licensing authority is aware of relevant grounds to make a 
representation, it may choose to act in its capacity as responsible authority. 

9.15 It is also reasonable for licensing authorities to expect that other responsible authorities 
should intervene where the basis for the intervention falls within the remit of that other 
responsible authority. For example, the police should make representations where the 
representations are based on concerns about crime and disorder. Likewise, it is 
reasonable to expect the local authority exercising environmental health functions to 
make representations where there are concerns about noise nuisance. Each 
responsible authority has equal standing under the 2003 Act and may act independently 
without waiting for representations from any other responsible authority. 

9.16 The 2003 Act enables licensing authorities to act as responsible authorities as a means 
of early intervention; they may do so where they consider it appropriate without having 

 
5 Police and Crime Commissioners are expected to have a central role working in partnership with local authorities, enforcement 
bodies and other local partners to decide on what action is needed to tackle alcohol- related crime and disorder in their areas. 
However, the Chief Officer of Police remains the named responsible authority under the 2003 Act. 

Page 152



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 77 

to wait for representations from other responsible authorities. For example, the licensing 
authority may (in a case where it has published a cumulative impact assessment) 
consider that granting a new licence application will add to the cumulative impact of 
licensed premises in its area and therefore decide to make representations to that 
effect, without waiting for any other person to do so. 

9.17 In cases where a licensing authority is also acting as responsible authority in relation to 
the same process, it is important to achieve a separation of responsibilities within the 
authority to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest. In such cases 
licensing determinations will be made by the licensing committee or sub committee 
comprising elected members of the authority (although they are advised by a licensing 
officer). Therefore, a separation is achieved by allocating distinct functions (i.e. those of 
licensing authority and responsible authority) to different officials within the authority. 

9.18 In these cases, licensing authorities should allocate the different responsibilities to 
different licensing officers or other officers within the local authority to ensure a proper 
separation of responsibilities. The officer advising the licensing committee (i.e. the 
authority acting in its capacity as the licensing authority) must be a different person from 
the officer who is acting for the responsible authority. The officer acting for the 
responsible authority should not be involved in the licensing decision process and 
should not discuss the merits of the case with those involved in making the 
determination by the licensing authority. For example, discussion should not take place 
between the officer acting as responsible authority and the officer handling the licence 
application regarding the merits of the case. Communication between these officers in 
relation to the case should remain professional and consistent with communication with 
other responsible authorities. Representations, subject to limited exceptions, must be 
made in writing. It is for the licensing authority to determine how the separate roles are 
divided to ensure an appropriate separation of responsibilities. This approach may not 
be appropriate for all licensing authorities and many authorities may already have 
processes in place to effectively achieve the same outcome. 

9.19 Smaller licensing authorities, where such a separation of responsibilities is more 
difficult, may wish to involve officials from outside the licensing department to ensure a 
separation of responsibilities. However, these officials should still be officials employed 
by the authority. 

Health bodies acting as responsible authorities 
9.20 Where a local authority’s Director of Public Health in England (DPH)6 or Local Health 

Board (LHB) (in Wales) exercises its functions as a responsible authority, it should have 
sufficient knowledge of the licensing policy and health issues to ensure it is able to fulfil 
those functions. If the authority wishes to make representations, the DPH or LHB will 
need to decide how best to gather and coordinate evidence from other bodies which 
exercise health functions in the area, such as emergency departments and ambulance 
services. 

9.21 Health bodies may hold information which other responsible authorities do not, but 

 
6 This change was made as a result of the commencement of measures in the Health and Social Care Act 2012 which amended 
the 2003 Act and further provision in the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities (Partnership Arrangements, Care Trusts, Public 
Health and Local Healthwatch) Regulations 2012. 

Page 153



78 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

which would assist a licensing authority in exercising its functions. This information may 
be used by the health body to make representations in its own right or to support 
representations by other responsible authorities, such as the police. Such 
representations can potentially be made on the grounds of all four licensing objectives. 
Perhaps the most obvious example is where drunkenness leads to accidents and 
injuries from violence, resulting in attendances at emergency departments and the use 
of ambulance services. Some of these incidents will be reported to the police, but many 
will not. Such information will often be relevant to the public safety and crime and 
disorder objectives. 

9.22 However, health bodies are encouraged to make representations in respect of any of 
the four licensing objectives without necessarily seeking views from other responsible 
authorities where they have appropriate evidence to do so. There is also potential for 
health bodies to participate in the licensing process in relation to the protection of 
children from harm. This objective not only concerns the physical safety of children, but 
also their moral and psychological well being. 

9.23 Evidence relating to under 18s alcohol-related emergency department attendance, 
hospital admissions and underage sales of alcohol, could potentially have implications 
for both the protection of children from harm and the crime and disorder objectives. 
Health bodies can provide evidence to lead or support representations in relation to this 
objective. In relation to proxy purchases, data collected by health bodies could be used 
to inform other responsible authorities, including the police and licensing authorities, 
about a prevalence of proxy purchasing in a particular area. For example, the police 
could use this data to tackle instances of ‘shoulder tapping’ (where under 18s approach 
adults to buy alcohol on their behalf) and to suggest measures which retailers might be 
able to take to ensure, as far as possible, that they are not knowingly selling alcohol to 
an adult who is buying on behalf of a person aged under 18. Although less obvious, 
health bodies may also have a role to play in the prevention of public nuisance where its 
effect is prejudicial to health and where they hold relevant data. 

9.24 DPHs and LHBs will need to consider how to collect anonymised information about 
incidents that relate to specific premises or premises in a particular area (for example, 
an area which is the subject of a cumulative impact assessment). Many areas have 
already developed procedures for local information sharing to tackle violence, which 
could provide useful evidence to support representations. The College of Emergency 
Medicine has issued guidelines for information sharing to reduce community violence 
which recommends that data about assault victims should be collected upon admission 
to emergency departments, including the date, time and location of the assault – i.e. the 
name of the pub, club or street where the incident occurred. Sometimes, it may be 
possible to link ambulance callouts or attendances at emergency departments to 
irresponsible practices at specific premises, such as serving alcohol to people who are 
intoxicated or targeting promotions involving unlimited or unspecified quantities of 
alcohol at particular groups. 

  

Page 154



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 79 

Home Office Immigration Enforcement acting as a responsible 
authority   
9.25 The Immigration Act 2016 made the Secretary of State a responsible authority in 

respect of premises licensed to sell alcohol or late night refreshment with effect from 6 
April 2017. In effect this conveys the role of responsible authority to Home Office 
Immigration Enforcement who exercises the powers on the Secretary of State’s behalf. 
When Immigration Enforcement exercises its powers as a responsible authority it will do 
so in respect of the prevention of crime and disorder licensing objective because it is 
concerned with the prevention of illegal working or immigration offences more broadly.  

Disclosure of personal details of persons making representations 
9.26 Where a notice of a hearing is given to an applicant, the licensing authority is required 

under the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 to provide the applicant with 
copies of the relevant representations that have been made. 

9.27 In exceptional circumstances, persons making representations to the licensing authority 
may be reluctant to do so because of fears of intimidation or violence if their personal 
details, such as name and address, are divulged to the applicant. 

9.28 Where licensing authorities consider that the person has a genuine and well-founded 
fear of intimidation and may be deterred from making a representation on this basis, 
they may wish to consider alternative approaches. 

9.29 For instance, they could advise the persons to provide the relevant responsible authority 
with details of how they consider that the licensing objectives are being undermined so 
that the responsible authority can make representations if appropriate and justified. 

9.30 The licensing authority may also decide to withhold some or all of the person’s personal 
details from the applicant, giving only minimal details (such as street name or general 
location within a street). However, withholding such details should only be considered 
where the circumstances justify such action. 

Hearings 
9.31 The Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 governing hearings may be found 

on the www.legislation.gov.uk website. If the licensing authority decides that 
representations are relevant, it must hold a hearing to consider them. The need for a 
hearing can only be avoided with the agreement of the licensing authority, where the 
applicant and all of the persons who made relevant representations have given notice to 
the authority that they consider a hearing to be unnecessary. Where this is the case and 
the authority agrees that a hearing is unnecessary, it must forthwith give notice to the 
parties that the hearing has been dispensed with. Notwithstanding those regulatory 
provisions, in cases where the licensing authority believes that a hearing is still 
necessary, it is recommended that the authority should, as soon as possible, provide 
the parties with reasons in writing for the need to hold the hearing. In cases where only 
‘positive’ representations are received, without qualifications, the licensing authority 
should consider whether a hearing is required. To this end, it may wish to notify the 
persons who made representations and give them the opportunity to withdraw those 
representations. This would need to be done in sufficient time before the hearing to 
ensure that parties were not put to unnecessary inconvenience. 

Page 155

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


80 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

9.32 Responsible authorities should try to conclude any discussions with the applicant in 
good time before the hearing. The 2005 Hearings Regulations permit licensing 
authorities to extend a time limit provided for by those Regulations for a specified period 
where it considers this to be necessary in the public interest. For example, if the 
application is amended at the last moment, the licensing committee should consider 
giving other persons time to address the revised application before the hearing 
commences. Where the authority has extended a time limit it must forthwith give a 
notice to the parties involved stating the period of the extension and the reasons for it. 

9.33 The 2005 Hearings Regulations require that representations must be withdrawn 24 
hours before the first day of any hearing. If they are withdrawn after this time, the 
hearing must proceed and the representations may be withdrawn orally at that hearing. 
However, where discussions between an applicant and those making representations 
are taking place and it is likely that all parties are on the point of reaching agreement, 
the licensing authority may wish to use the power given within the hearings regulations 
to extend time limits, if it considers this to be in the public interest. 

9.34 Applicants should be encouraged to contact responsible authorities and others, such as 
local residents, who may be affected by the application before formulating their 
applications so that the mediation process may begin before the statutory time limits 
come into effect after submission of an application. The hearing process must meet the 
requirements of regulations made under the 2003 Act. Where matters arise which are 
not covered by the regulations, licensing authorities may make arrangements as they 
see fit as long as they are lawful. 

9.35 There is no requirement in the 2003 Act for responsible authorities that have made 
representations to attend, but it is generally good practice and assists committees in 
reaching more informed decisions. Where several responsible authorities within a local 
authority have made representations on an application, a single local authority officer 
may represent them at the hearing if the responsible authorities and the licensing 
authority agree. This local authority officer representing other responsible authorities 
may be a licensing officer, but only if this licensing officer is acting as a responsible 
authority on behalf of the licensing authority and has had no role in the licensing 
determination process. This is to ensure that the responsible authorities are represented 
by an independent officer separate from the licensing determination process. 

9.36 As noted in paragraphs 9.13 to 9.19 above, where the licensing officer is acting as a 
responsible authority the relevant steps should be followed to ensure that this individual 
has no role in the decision making process regarding the licensing determination. 

9.37 As a matter of practice, licensing authorities should seek to focus the hearing on the 
steps considered appropriate to promote the particular licensing objective or objectives 
that have given rise to the specific representation and avoid straying into undisputed 
areas. A responsible authority or other person may choose to rely on their written 
representation. They may not add further representations to those disclosed to the 
applicant prior to the hearing, but they may expand on their existing representation and 
should be allowed sufficient time to do so, within reasonable and practicable limits.  

9.38 In determining the application with a view to promoting the licensing objectives in the 
overall interests of the local community, the licensing authority must give appropriate 
weight to: 

Page 156



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 81 

•  the steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives; 
•  the representations (including supporting information) presented by all the parties; 
•  this Guidance; 
•  its own statement of licensing policy. 

9.39 The licensing authority should give its decision within five working days of the 
conclusion of the hearing (or immediately in certain specified cases) and provide 
reasons to support it. This will be important if there is an appeal by any of the parties. 
Notification of a decision must be accompanied by information on the right of the party 
to appeal. After considering all the relevant issues, the licensing authority may grant the 
application subject to the relevant mandatory conditions and any conditions that are 
consistent with the operating schedule. Any additional conditions imposed must be 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; there is no power for the 
licensing authority to attach a condition that is merely aspirational. For example, 
conditions may not be attached which relate solely to the health of customers rather 
than their direct physical safety. Any conditions added to the licence must be those 
imposed at the hearing or those agreed when a hearing has not been necessary. 

9.40 Alternatively, the licensing authority may refuse the application on the grounds that this 
is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. It may also refuse to specify 
a designated premises supervisor and/or only allow certain requested licensable 
activities. In the interests of transparency, the licensing authority should publish 
hearings procedures in full on its website to ensure that those involved have the most 
current information. 

9.41 In the context of variations or minor variations, which may involve structural alteration to 
or change of use of a building, the decision of the licensing authority will not exempt an 
applicant from the need to apply for building control approval, planning permission or 
both of these where appropriate. 

Determining actions that are appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives 
9.42 Licensing authorities are best placed to determine what actions are appropriate for the 

promotion of the licensing objectives in their areas. All licensing determinations should 
be considered on a case-by-case basis. They should take into account any 
representations or objections that have been received from responsible authorities or 
other persons, and representations made by the applicant or premises user as the case 
may be. 

9.43 The authority’s determination should be evidence-based, justified as being appropriate 
for the promotion of the licensing objectives and proportionate to what it is intended to 
achieve. 

9.44 Determination of whether an action or step is appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives requires an assessment of what action or step would be suitable to 
achieve that end. While this does not therefore require a licensing authority to decide 
that no lesser step will achieve the aim, the authority should aim to consider the 
potential burden that any condition would impose on the premises licence holder (such 
as the financial burden due to restrictions on licensable activities) as well as the 
potential benefit in terms of the promotion of the licensing objectives. However, it is 

Page 157



82 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

imperative that the authority ensures that the factors which form the basis of its 
determination are limited to consideration of the promotion of the objectives and nothing 
outside those parameters. As with the consideration of licence variations, the licensing 
authority should consider wider issues such as other conditions already in place to 
mitigate potential negative impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives and the 
track record of the business. Further advice on determining what is appropriate when 
imposing conditions on a licence or certificate is provided in Chapter 10. The licensing 
authority is expected to come to its determination based on an assessment of the 
evidence on both the risks and benefits either for or against making the determination. 

Considering cases where licensing and planning applications are 
made simultaneously 
9.45 Where businesses have indicated, when applying for a licence under the 2003 Act, that 

they have also applied for planning permission or that they intend to do so, licensing 
committees and officers should consider discussion with their planning counterparts 
prior to determination with the aim of agreeing mutually acceptable operating hours and 
scheme designs. 

 

Page 158



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 83 

10. Conditions attached to premises 
licences and club premises certificates 

General 
10.1 This chapter provides further guidance in relation to conditions attached to premises 

licences and club premises certificates. General principles on licence conditions are set 
out in Chapter 1 (see paragraph 1.16). 

10.2 Conditions include any limitations or restrictions attached to a licence or certificate and 
essentially are the steps or actions that the holder of the premises licence or the club 
premises certificate will be required to take or refrain from taking in relation to the 
carrying on of licensable activities at the premises in question. Failure to comply with 
any condition attached to a licence or certificate is a criminal offence, which on 
conviction is punishable by an unlimited fine or up to six months’ imprisonment. The 
courts have made clear that it is particularly important that conditions which are 
imprecise or difficult for a licence holder to observe should be avoided. 

10.3 There are three types of condition that may be attached to a licence or certificate: 
proposed, imposed and mandatory. Each of these categories is described in more detail 
below. 

Proposed conditions 
10.4 The conditions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives should 

emerge initially from the risk assessment carried out by a prospective licence or 
certificate holder, which they should carry out before making their application for a 
premises licence or club premises certificate. This would be translated into the steps 
recorded in the operating schedule or club operating schedule, which must also set out 
the proposed hours during which licensable activities will be conducted and any other 
hours during which the premises will be open to the public. 

10.5 It is not acceptable for licensing authorities to simply replicate the wording from an 
applicant’s operating schedule. A condition should be interpreted in accordance with the 
applicant’s intention and be appropriate and proportionate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. 

Consistency with steps described in operating schedule 
10.6 The 2003 Act provides that where an operating schedule or club operating schedule has 

been submitted with an application and there have been no relevant representations made 
by responsible authorities or any other person, the licence or certificate must be granted 
subject only to such conditions as are consistent with the schedule accompanying the 
application and any mandatory conditions required under the 2003 Act. 

10.7 Consistency means that the effect of the condition should be substantially the same as 
that intended by the terms of the operating schedule. If conditions are broken, this may 
lead to a criminal prosecution or an application for a review and it is extremely important 
therefore that they should be expressed on the licence or certificate in unequivocal and 
unambiguous terms. The duty imposed by conditions on the licence holder or club must 

Page 159



84 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

be clear to the licence holder, club, enforcement officers and the courts. 

Imposed conditions 
10.8 The licensing authority may not impose any conditions unless its discretion has been 

exercised following receipt of relevant representations and it is satisfied as a result of a 
hearing (unless all parties agree a hearing is not necessary) that it is appropriate to 
impose conditions to promote one or more of the four licensing objectives. In order to 
promote the crime prevention licensing objective conditions may be included that are 
aimed at preventing illegal working in licensed premises. This provision also applies to 
minor variations. 

10.9 It is possible that in some cases no additional conditions will be appropriate to promote 
the licensing objectives. 

Proportionality 
10.10 The 2003 Act requires that licensing conditions should be tailored to the size, type, 

location and characteristics and activities taking place at the premises concerned. 
Conditions should be determined on a case-by-case basis and standardised conditions 
which ignore these individual aspects should be avoided. For example, conditions 
should not be used to implement a general policy in a given area such as the use of 
CCTV, polycarbonate drinking vessels or identity scanners where they would not be 
appropriate to the specific premises. Conditions that are considered appropriate for the 
prevention of illegal working in premises licensed to sell alcohol or late night 
refreshment might include requiring a premises licence holder to undertake right to work 
checks on all staff employed at the licensed premises or requiring that evidence of a 
right to work check, either physical or digital (e.g.  copy of any document checked or a 
clear copy of the online right to work check) is retained at the licensed premises. 
Licensing authorities may also wish to consider placing additional conditions on licences 
to safeguard patrons against spiking, if deemed appropriate and proportionate for a 
specific venue where there is evidence to justify such action (a definition of spiking can 
be found in para 2.7). Licensing authorities and other responsible authorities should be 
alive to the indirect costs that can arise because of conditions. These could be a 
deterrent to holding events that are valuable to the community or for the funding of good 
and important causes. Licensing authorities should therefore ensure that any conditions 
they impose are only those which are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.  

Naming, packing and promotion in retail premises 
10.11 The Government acknowledges that the irresponsible naming, packing or promotion of 

alcoholic drinks may contribute to alcohol related harms. Where there is direct evidence 
of specific incidents of irresponsible naming, packing or promotion of alcoholic drinks 
linked to the undermining of one of the licensing objectives, licensing authorities should, 
in the exercise of their licensing functions (in particular, in relation to an application for 
the grant, variation or review of a premises licence), consider whether it is appropriate to 
impose conditions on licences that require the licence holder to comply with the 
Portman Group’s Retailer Alert Bulletins. This condition should be considered on a case 
by case basis and in the context of the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

10.12 The Portman Group operates, on behalf of the alcohol industry, a Code of Practice on 

Page 160



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 85 

the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks. The Code seeks to ensure 
that drinks are packaged and promoted in a socially responsible manner and only to 
those who are 18 years old or older. Complaints about products under the Code are 
considered by an Independent Complaints Panel and the Panel’s decisions are 
published on the Portman Group’s website, in the trade press and in an annual report. If 
a product’s packaging or point-of-sale advertising is found to be in breach of the Code, 
the Portman Group may issue a Retailer Alert Bulletin to notify retailers of the decision 
and ask them not to replenish stocks of any such product or to display such point-of-
sale material, until there has been compliance with the decision. 

Hours of trading 
10.13 The Government acknowledges that different licensing strategies may be appropriate 

for the promotion of the licensing objectives in different areas. The 2003 Act gives the 
licensing authority power to make decisions about the hours during which premises can 
conduct licensable activities as part of the implementation of its licensing policy 
statement. Licensing authorities are best placed to make decisions about appropriate 
opening hours in their areas based on their local knowledge and in consultation with 
responsible authorities. However, licensing authorities must always consider each 
application and must not impose predetermined licensed opening hours, without giving 
individual consideration to the merits of each application. 

10.14 Where there are objections to an application to extend the hours during which licensable 
activities are to be carried on and the licensing authority determines that this would 
undermine the licensing objectives, it may reject the application or grant it with 
appropriate conditions and/or different hours from those requested. 

10.15 Shops, stores and supermarkets should normally be free to provide sales of alcohol for 
consumption off the premises at any times when the retail outlet is open for shopping 
unless there are good reasons, based on the licensing objectives, for restricting those 
hours. 

The performance of plays 
10.16 The 2003 Act provides that other than for the purposes of public safety, conditions must 

not be attached to premises licences or club premises certificates authorising the 
performance of a play7 which attempt to censor or modify the content of plays in any 
way. Any such condition would be ultra vires the 2003 Act. 

Censorship 
10.17 In general, other than in the context of film classification for film exhibitions, licensing 

authorities should not use their powers under the 2003 Act to seek to impose conditions 
which censor the content of any form of regulated entertainment. This is not a proper 
function of licensing law and cannot be properly related to the licensing objectives. The 
content of regulated entertainment is a matter which is addressed by existing laws 
governing indecency and obscenity. Where the concern is about protecting children, 
their access should be restricted where appropriate. But no other limitation should 
normally be imposed. 

 
7 See chapter 16 for when a performance of a play is licensable. 

Page 161



86 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Major festivals and carnivals 
10.18 Licensing authorities should publicise the need for the organisers of major festivals and 

carnivals to approach them at the earliest opportunity to discuss arrangements for 
licensing activities falling under the 2003 Act. For some events, the organisers may 
seek a single premises licence to cover a wide range of activities at varied locations 
within the premises. This would involve the preparation of a substantial operating 
schedule, and licensing authorities should offer advice and assistance about its 
preparation. 

10.19 For other events, applications for many connected premises licences may be made 
which in combination will represent a single festival. It is important that licensing 
authorities should publicise the need for proper co-ordination of such arrangements and 
will need to ensure that responsible authorities are aware of the connected nature of the 
individual applications. 

10.20 Local authorities should bear in mind their ability to seek premises licences from the 
licensing authority for land or buildings under public ownership within the community in 
their own name.8 This could include, for example, village greens, market squares, 
promenades, community halls, local authority owned art centres and similar public areas 
where festivals and carnivals might take place.9  Performers and entertainers would 
then have no need to obtain a licence or give a temporary event notice themselves to 
enable them to give performances in these places, although they would need the 
permission of the local authority to put on the event. 

Fixed prices 
10.21 Licensing authorities should not attach standardised blanket conditions  relating to fixed 

prices for alcoholic drinks to premises licences or club licences or club premises 
certificates in an area. This may be unlawful under current law. However, it is important 
to note that the mandatory conditions made under sections 19A and 73B of the 2003 
Act prohibit a number of types of drinks promotions including where they give rise to a 
significant risk to any one of the four licensing objectives; the mandatory conditions also 
prohibit the sale of alcohol below the permitted price, as defined in paragraph 10.56. 

10.22 Where licensing authorities are asked by the police, other responsible authorities or 
other persons to impose restrictions on promotions in addition to those restricted by the 
mandatory conditions, they should consider each application on its individual merits, 
tailoring any conditions carefully to cover only irresponsible promotions in the particular 
and individual circumstances of any premises where these are appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. In addition, when considering any relevant 
representations which demonstrate a clear causal link between sales promotions or 
price discounting and levels of crime and disorder on or near the premises, it would be 
appropriate for the licensing authority to consider the imposition of a new condition 
prohibiting irresponsible sales promotions or the discounting of prices of alcoholic 
beverages at those premises. However, before pursuing any form of restrictions at all, 

 
8 In some circumstances, no licence is required for any entertainment provided by or on behalf of a local authority, see 
paragraphs 16.15-16.19 
9 The register of public spaces: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/licensed-spaces-register 

Page 162

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/licensed-spaces-register


Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 87 

licensing authorities should take their own legal advice. 

  

Page 163



88 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Large capacity venues used exclusively or primarily for the 
“vertical” consumption of alcohol (HVVDs) 
10.23 Large capacity “vertical drinking” premises, sometimes called High Volume Vertical 

Drinking establishments (HVVDs), are premises with exceptionally high capacities, 
which are used primarily or exclusively for the sale and consumption of alcohol, and 
have little or no seating for patrons. Previous research has demonstrated that the 
environment within such establishments can have a significant bearing on the likelihood 
of crime and disorder. 

10.24 Where appropriate, conditions can be attached to premises licences for the promotion of 
the prevention of crime and disorder at such premises that require the premises to 
observe: 

•  a prescribed capacity; 
•  an appropriate ratio of tables and chairs to customers based on the capacity; and 
•  a requirement that security staff holding the appropriate SIA licence or exemption are 

present to control entry for the purpose of compliance with the capacity limit and to 
deny entry to individuals who appear drunk or disorderly or both. 

Mandatory conditions in relation to the supply of alcohol 
 

10.25 The 2003 Act provides for the following mandatory conditions to be included in every 
licence and/or club premises certificate in the circumstances specified. 

Designated premises supervisor 
10.26 The 2003 Act provides that, where a premises licence authorises the supply of alcohol, 

it must include a condition that no supply of alcohol may be made at a time when no 
designated premises supervisor has been specified in the licence or at a time when the 
designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or the personal 
licence has been suspended. 

10.27 The main purpose of the ‘designated premises supervisor’ as defined in the 2003 Act is 
to ensure that there is always one specified individual among these personal licence 
holders who can be readily identified for the premises where a premises licence is in 
force. That person will normally have been given day to day responsibility for running 
the premises by the premises licence holder. The requirements set out in relation to the 
designated premises supervisor and authorisation of alcohol sales by a personal licence 
holder do not apply to community premises in respect of which a successful application 
has been made to disapply the usual mandatory conditions in sections 19(2) and 19(3) 
of the 2003 Act (see Chapter 4 of this Guidance). 

10.28 The 2003 Act does not require a designated premises supervisor or any other personal 
licence holder to be present on the premises at all times when alcohol is sold. However, 
the designated premises supervisor and the premises licence holder remain responsible 
for the premises at all times including compliance with the terms of the 2003 Act and 
conditions attached to the premises licence to promote the licensing objectives. 

  

Page 164



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 89 

Authorisation by personal licence holders 
10.29 In addition, every premises licence that authorises the sale of alcohol must require that 

every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by a 
person who holds a personal licence. This in most instances will be the designated 
premises supervisor who must hold a valid personal licence. Any premises at which 
alcohol is sold or supplied may employ one or more personal licence holders. This does 
not mean that the condition  requires the presence of the designated premises 
supervisor or any other personal licence holder on the premises at all times. 

10.30 Similarly, the fact that every supply of alcohol must be made under the authority of a 
personal licence holder does not mean that only personal licence holders can make 
sales or that they must be personally present at every transaction. A personal licence 
holder may authorise members of staff to make sales of alcohol but may be absent at 
times from the premises when a transaction takes place. However, the responsible 
personal licence holder may not be able to escape responsibility for the actions of 
anyone authorised to make sales. 

10.31 “Authorisation” does not imply direct supervision by a personal licence holder of each 
sale of alcohol. The question arises as to how sales can be authorised. Ultimately, 
whether an authorisation has been given is a question of fact that would have to be 
decided by the courts on the evidence before it in the course of a criminal prosecution. 

10.32 The following factors should be relevant in considering whether or not an authorisation 
has been given: 

•  the person(s) authorised to sell alcohol at any particular premises should be clearly 
identified; 

•  the authorisation should have specified the acts which may be carried out by the 
person who is authorised to supply alcohol; 

•  there should be an overt act of authorisation, for example, a specific written 
statement given to the individual who is authorised to supply alcohol; and 

•  there should be in place sensible arrangements for the personal licence holder to 
monitor the activity that they have authorised on a reasonably regular basis. 

10.33 It is strongly recommended that personal licence holders give specific written 
authorisations to individuals whom they are authorising to retail alcohol. A single written 
authorisation would be sufficient to cover multiple sales over an unlimited period. This 
would assist personal licence holders in demonstrating due diligence should issues 
arise with enforcement authorities; and would protect employees if they themselves are 
challenged in respect of their authority to sell alcohol. 

10.34 Written authorisation is not a requirement of the 2003 Act and its absence alone could 
not give rise to enforcement action. 

10.35 It must be remembered that while the designated premises supervisor or a personal 
licence holder may authorise other individuals to sell alcohol in their absence, they are 
responsible for any sales that may be made. Similarly, the premises licence holder 
remains responsible for ensuring that licensing law and licence conditions are observed 
at the premises. 

Page 165



90 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Arrangements for the mandatory licence conditions 
10.36 The mandatory conditions made under sections 19A and 73B of the 2003 Act (the 

conditions governing irresponsible promotions, dispensing alcohol directly into the 
mouth, provision of free tap water, age verification, small measures and the prohibition 
on sales of alcohol below the permitted price) do not have to be physically included in 
the licence or certificate but nonetheless will apply to every licence and certificate 
authorising the sale and supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises. The 
mandatory conditions set out in section 19 of the 2003 Act (the requirement for a DPS 
and for all sales to be made or authorised by a personal licence holder) do, however, 
have to be physically included in the licence. The mandatory licence conditions do not 
apply to activities (including the supply of alcohol) authorised by a temporary event 
notice. 

10.37 Whereas the initial mandatory conditions in section 19 of the 2003 Act are set out in 
Annex 1 of the licence, the additional mandatory conditions made under section 19A of 
the 2003 Act are treated as if they were included in existing licences and certificates on 
the date that those conditions came into force. 

10.38 Following their commencement, the mandatory conditions overrode any pre-existing 
conditions already included in a licence or certificate insofar as the mandatory 
conditions were identical to, or inconsistent with or more onerous than, any pre-existing 
conditions. It is not necessary to record on the face of existing licences and certificates 
the impact that the introduction of the mandatory conditions has had on pre-existing 
conditions. 

Irresponsible promotions 
10.39 Under this condition, the “responsible person” (defined in the 2003 Act as the holder of a 

premises licence, designated premises supervisor, a person aged 18 or over who is 
authorised to allow the sale or supply of alcohol by an under 18 or a member or officer 
of a club present on the club premises who can oversee the supply of alcohol) should 
be able to demonstrate that they have ensured that staff do not carry out, arrange or 
participate in any irresponsible promotions. An irresponsible promotion is one that fits 
one of the descriptions below (or is substantially similar), is carried on for the purpose of 
encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises. The aim of 
the condition is to prohibit or restrict promotions which encourage people to drink more 
than they might ordinarily do and in a manner which undermines the licensing 
objectives. 

Drinking games 
10.40 Drinking games which require or encourage individuals to drink a quantity of alcohol 

within a time limit, or drink as much alcohol as possible within a time limit or otherwise, 
are prohibited. For example, this may include organised ‘drink downing’ competitions. 
This would not prevent the responsible person from requiring all drinks to be consumed 
or abandoned at, or before, the closing time of the premises. Nor does it necessarily 
prohibit ‘happy hours’ as long as these are not designed to encourage individuals to 
drink excessively or rapidly. 

  

Page 166



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 91 

Large quantities of alcohol for free or a fixed price 
10.41 Irresponsible promotions can include the provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities 

of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted price, where there is a significant risk that 
such a promotion would undermine one or more of the licensing objectives. This 
includes alcohol provided to the public or to a group defined by a particular 
characteristic, for example, a promotion which offers women free drinks before a certain 
time or “all you can drink for £10”. Promotions can be designed with a particular group in 
mind (for example, over 65s). A common sense approach is encouraged, which may 
include specifying the quantity of alcohol included in it or not targeting a group which 
could become more vulnerable or present a greater risk of crime and disorder as a 
result of excessive alcohol consumption. 

Prizes and rewards 
10.42 The sale, supply or provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other item as a prize 

to encourage or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol can be within the 
definition of an irresponsible promotion, where there is a significant risk that such a 
promotion would undermine one or more of the licensing objectives. This may include 
promotions under which free or discounted alcohol is offered as a part of the sale of 
alcohol, for example, “Buy one and get two free” and “Buy one cocktail and get a 
second cocktail for 25p”. This includes promotions which involve the provision of free or 
discounted alcohol within the same 24 hour period. 

Posters and flyers 
10.43 Irresponsible promotions can also include the sale or supply of alcohol in association 

with promotional materials on display in or around the premises, which can either be 
reasonably considered to condone, encourage or glamorise anti social behaviour or 
refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable manner. 

Dispensing alcohol directly into the mouth 
10.44 The responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) must ensure that no alcohol is dispensed 

directly into the mouth of a customer. For example, this may include drinking games 
such as the ‘dentist’s chair’ where a drink is poured continuously into the mouth of 
another individual and may also prevent a premises from allowing another body to 
promote its products by employing someone to dispense alcohol directly into customers’ 
mouths. An exception to this condition would be when an individual is unable to drink 
without assistance due to a disability. 

Free potable water 
10.45 The responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) must ensure that free potable water is 

provided on request to customers where it is reasonably available on the premises. 
What is meant by reasonably available is a question of fact; for example, it would not be 
reasonable to expect free tap water to be available in premises for which the water 
supply had temporarily been lost because of a broken mains water supply. However, it 
may be reasonable to expect bottled water to be provided in such circumstances. 

  

Page 167



92 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Age verification 
10.46 The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age 

verification policy applies to the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol. This 
must as a minimum require individuals who appear to the responsible person (see 
paragraph 10.39) to be under the age of 18 years of age to produce on request, before 
being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth, and either a 
holographic mark or ultraviolet feature. The Home Office encourages licensed premises 
to accept cards bearing the Proof of Age Standards Scheme (PASS) hologram as their 
preferred proof of age, while acknowledging that many other forms of identification meet 
the requirements of the mandatory condition. 

10.47 The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that staff 
(in particular, staff who are involved in the supply of alcohol) are made aware of the 
existence and content of the age verification policy which applies to the premises. 

10.48 The designated premises supervisor (where there is one) must ensure that the supply of 
alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification policy. This 
means that the DPS has personal responsibility for ensuring that staff are not only 
aware of, but are also applying, the age verification policy. 

10.49 It is acceptable, and indeed encouraged, for premises to have an age verification policy 
which requires individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under an age 
greater than 18 to produce such identification on request. For example, if premises have 
a policy that requires any individual that appears to be under the age of 21 to produce 
identification that meets the criteria listed above, this is perfectly acceptable under the 
mandatory code. 

10.50 Licence holders should consider carefully what steps they are required to take to comply 
with the age verification requirements under the 2003 Act in relation to sales of alcohol 
made remotely. These include sales made online, by telephone and mail order sales, 
and alcohol delivery services. Each of these sales must comply with the requirements of 
the 2003 Act. The mandatory condition requires that age verification takes place before 
a person is served alcohol. Where alcohol is sold remotely (for example, online) or 
through a telephone transaction, the sale is made at this point but the alcohol is not 
actually served until it is delivered to the customer. Age verification measures (for 
example, online age verification) should be used to ensure that alcohol is not sold to any 
person under the age of 18. However, licence holders should also consider carefully 
what steps are appropriate to ensure that age verification takes place before the alcohol 
is served (i.e. physically delivered) to the customer to be satisfied that the customer is 
aged 18 or over. It is, therefore, the responsibility of the person serving or delivering the 
alcohol to ensure that age verification has taken place and that photo ID has been 
checked if the person appears to be less than 18 years of age. 

Smaller measures 
10.51 The responsible person (see paragraph 10.39) shall ensure that the following drinks, if 

sold or supplied on the premises, are available in the following measures: 

•  Beer or cider: ½ pint 
•  Gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25ml or 35ml 
•  Still wine in a glass: 125ml 

Page 168



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 93 

10.52 As well as making the drinks available in the above measures, the responsible person 
must also make customers aware of the availability of these measures by displaying 
them on printed materials available to customers on the premises. This can include 
making their availability clear on menus and price lists, and ensuring that these are 
displayed in a prominent and conspicuous place in the relevant premises (for example, 
at the bar). Moreover, staff must make customers aware of the availability of small 
measures when customers do not request that they be sold alcohol in a particular 
measure. 

10.53 This condition does not apply if the drinks in question are sold or supplied having been 
made up in advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container. For 
example, if beer is only available in pre-sealed bottles the requirement to make it 
available in 1/2 pints does not apply. 

10.54 The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that staff 
are made aware of the application of this condition. 

Ban on sales of alcohol below the permitted price 
10.55 The relevant person (the holder of the premises licence, the designated premises 

supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, the personal licence holder who makes 
or authorises a supply of alcohol under such a licence, or any member or officer of a 
club present on the premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to 
prevent the supply in question) shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for 
consumption on or off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price. 

10.56 The permitted price is defined as the aggregate of the duty chargeable in relation to the 
alcohol on the date of its sale or supply and the amount of that duty multiplied by a 
percentage which represents the rate of VAT chargeable in relation to the alcohol on the 
date of its sale or supply. Detailed guidance on how to make this calculation and a 
calculator to determine permitted prices for each product are available on the GOV.UK 
website. 

10.57 Where there is a change to the rate of duty or VAT applying to alcohol (for instance, 
following a Budget), the relevant person should ensure that the permitted price reflects 
the new rates within fourteen days of the introduction of the new rate. 

10.58 It is still permitted to sell alcohol using promotions (as long as they are compatible with 
any other licensing condition that may be in force), and the relevant person should 
ensure that the price of the alcohol is not less than the permitted price. Detailed 
guidance on the use of promotions is given in the guidance document available on the 
GOV.UK website. 

Exhibition of films 
10.59 The 2003 Act provides that where a premises licence or club premises certificate 

authorises the exhibition of a film, it must include a condition requiring the admission of 
children to films to be restricted in accordance with recommendations given either by a 
body designated under section 4 of the Video Recordings Act 1984 specified in the 
licence (currently only the British Board of Film Classification (BBFC)) or by the 
licensing authority itself. 

10.60 The effect of paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act is to exempt adverts from the 

Page 169



94 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

definition of regulated entertainment, but not exempt them from the definition of 
exhibition of a film. Since the above mandatory condition applies to ‘any film’, it is 
therefore applicable to the exhibition of adverts. 

Door supervision 
10.61 Under section 21 of the 2003 Act, when a condition is included in a premises licence 

that at specified times an individual must be present at the premises to carry out a 
security activity (as defined in section 21(3)(a) by reference to the Private Security 
Industry Act 2001 (“the 2001 Act”)), the licence must include a condition requiring that 
individual to be licensed by the Security Industry Authority (“the SIA”) under the 2001 
Act, or be entitled to carry out that activity by virtue of section 4 of the 2001 Act. 

10.62 A premises licence need not require a person to hold a licence granted by the SIA if that 
person benefits from an exemption under section 4 of the 2001 Act. For example, 
certain employees benefit from an exemption when carrying out conduct in connection 
with a certified sports ground (section 4(6) to (12)). Furthermore, in certain 
circumstances persons benefit from an exemption where they operate under the SIA’s 
Approved Contractor Scheme (section 15). 

10.63 Conditions under section 21 of the 2003 Act should only relate to individuals carrying 
out security activities defined by section 21(3)(a) of the 2003 Act. Therefore, they should 
only relate to an activity to which paragraph 2(1)(a) of Schedule 2 to the 2001 Act 
applies (certain manned guarding activities) and which is licensable conduct within the 
meaning of section 3(2) of that Act. The requirement does not relate to individuals 
performing non-security related activities, and section 21 should not be used in relation 
to any such activities. 

10.64 Section 21 of the 2003 Act continues to ensure that a premises licence need not impose 
such a requirement in relation to those licensed premises which the 2001 Act treats as 
unlicensed premises. Those are: 

•  premises in respect of which there is in force a premises licence authorising a 
performance of a play or an exhibition of a film; 

•  casinos or bingo halls licensed under the Gambling Act 2005; 
•  premises where a club certificate is in force when activities are being carried on 

under the authority of that certificate. 

See paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 2 to the 2001 Act for full details. 

10.65 It should be noted, however, that the 2001 Act will require contractors and a small 
number of employees (those managing/supervising and those supplied under contract) 
to be licensed as manned guards (rather than door supervisors) when undertaking 
licensable conduct on premises to which paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 2 to the 2001 Act 
applies. 

10.66 It is therefore important that if a licensing authority intends that individuals must be 
present to carry out security activities (as defined by section 21(3)(a) of the 2003 Act) 
this should be explicit, as should the mandatory condition for those individuals to hold 
an SIA licence or be entitled to carry out that activity by virtue of section 4 of the 2001 
Act. On the other hand, where a licensing authority intends that individuals must be 
present to carry out other activities (for example, activities related to safety or steward 
activities to organise, advise and direct members of the public), no mandatory condition 

Page 170



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 95 

should be imposed under section 21 of the 2003 Act. In all cases it is important when 
determining whether or not a condition is to be imposed under section 21 of the 2003 
Act to consider whether the activities of any individual working in licensed premises fall 
within the definition of security activities in section 21(3)(a) of the 2003 Act. (Regardless 
of whether a condition is imposed under section 21 of the 2003 Act, under the 2001 Act 
the appropriate SIA licence must be held by any individual performing an activity for 
which they are licensable under that Act.) 

 

Page 171



96 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

11. Reviews 
The review process 
11.1 The proceedings set out in the 2003 Act for reviewing premises licences and club 

premises certificates represent a key protection for the community where problems 
associated with the licensing objectives occur after the grant or variation of a premises 
licence or club premises certificate. 

11.2 At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence or club premises certificate, a 
responsible authority, or any other person, may ask the licensing authority to review the 
licence or certificate because of a matter arising at the premises in connection with any 
of the four licensing objectives. 

11.3 An application for review may be made electronically, provided that the licensing 
authority agrees and the applicant submits a subsequent hard copy of the application, if 
the licensing authority requires one. The licensing authority may also agree in advance 
that the application need not be given in hard copy. However, these applications are 
outside the formal electronic application process and may not be submitted via GOV.UK 
or the licensing authority’s electronic facility. The applicant must give notice of the 
review application to the responsible authorities and holder of the licence or certificate. 
The licensing authority is required to advertise a review application. 

11.4 In addition, the licensing authority must review a licence if the premises to which it 
relates was made the subject of a closure order by the police based on nuisance or 
disorder and the magistrates’ court has sent the authority the relevant notice of its 
determination, or if the police have made an application for summary review on the 
basis that premises are associated with serious crime and/or disorder. 

11.5 Any responsible authority under the 2003 Act may apply for a review of a premises 
licence or club premises certificate. Therefore, the relevant licensing authority may apply 
for a review if it is concerned about licensed activities at premises and wants to intervene 
early without waiting for representations from other persons. However, it is not expected 
that licensing authorities should normally act as responsible authorities in applying for 
reviews on behalf of other persons, such as local residents or community groups. These 
individuals or groups are entitled to apply for a review for a licence or certificate in their 
own right if they have grounds to do so. It is also reasonable for licensing authorities to 
expect other responsible authorities to intervene where the basis for the intervention falls 
within the remit of that other authority. For example, the police should take appropriate 
steps where the basis for the review is concern about crime and disorder or the sexual 
exploitation of children. Likewise, where there are concerns about noise nuisance, it is 
reasonable to expect the local authority exercising environmental health functions for the 
area in which the premises are situated to make the application for review. 

11.6 Where the relevant licensing authority does act as a responsible authority and applies 
for a review, it is important that a separation of responsibilities is still achieved in this 
process to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of interest. As outlined 
previously in Chapter 9 of this Guidance, the distinct functions of acting as licensing 
authority and responsible authority should be exercised by different officials to ensure a 
separation of responsibilities. Further information on how licensing authorities should 

Page 172



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 97 

achieve this separation of responsibilities can be found in Chapter 9, paragraphs 9.13 to 
9.19 of this Guidance. 

11.7 In every case, any application for a review must relate to particular premises in respect 
of which there is a premises licence or club premises certificate and must be relevant to 
the promotion of one or more of the licensing objectives. Following the grant or variation 
of a licence or certificate, a complaint regarding a general issue in the local area relating 
to the licensing objectives, such as a general (crime and disorder) situation in a town 
centre, should generally not be regarded as relevant unless it can be positively tied or 
linked by a causal connection to particular premises, which would allow for a proper 
review of the licence or certificate. For instance, a geographic cluster of complaints, 
including along transport routes related to an individual public house and its closing 
time, could give grounds for a review of an existing licence as well as direct incidents of 
crime and disorder around a particular public house. 

11.8 Where a licensing authority receives a geographic cluster of complaints, consideration 
may be given as whether these issues are the result of the cumulative impact of 
licensed premises within the area concerned. In such circumstances, the licensing 
authority may be asked to consider whether it would be appropriate to publish a 
cumulative impact assessment. Further guidance on cumulative impact assessments 
can be found in Chapter 14 of this Guidance. 

11.9 Responsible authorities and other persons may make representations in respect of an 
application to review a premises licence or club premises certificate. They must be 
relevant (i.e., relate to one or more of the licensing objectives) and, in the case of other 
persons, must not be frivolous or vexatious. Representations must be made in writing 
and may be amplified at the subsequent hearing or may stand in their own right. 
Additional representations which do not amount to an amplification of the original 
representation may not be made at the hearing. Representations may be made 
electronically, provided the licensing authority agrees and the applicant submits a 
subsequent hard copy, unless the licensing authority waives this requirement. 

11.10 Where authorised persons and responsible authorities have concerns about problems 
identified at premises, it is good practice for them to give licence holders early warning 
of their concerns and the need for improvement, and where possible they should advise 
the licence or certificate holder of the steps they need to take to address those 
concerns. A failure by the holder to respond to such warnings is expected to lead to a 
decision to apply for a review. Co-operation at a local level in promoting the licensing 
objectives should be encouraged and reviews should not be used to undermine this co-
operation. 

11.11 If the application for a review has been made by a person other than a responsible 
authority (for example, a local resident, residents’ association, local business or trade 
association), before taking action the licensing authority must first consider whether the 
complaint being made is relevant, frivolous, vexatious or repetitious. Further guidance 
on determining whether a representation is frivolous or vexatious can be found in 
Chapter 9 of this Guidance (paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10). 

Repetitious grounds of review 
11.12 A repetitious ground is one that is identical or substantially similar to: 

Page 173



98 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

•  a ground for review specified in an earlier application for review made in relation to 
the same premises licence or certificate which has already been determined; or 

•  representations considered by the licensing authority when the premises licence or 
certificate was granted; or 

•  representations which would have been made when the application for the premises 
licence was first made and which were excluded then by reason of the prior issue of 
a provisional statement; and, in addition to the above grounds, a reasonable interval 
has not elapsed since that earlier review or grant. 

11.13 Licensing authorities are expected to be aware of the need to prevent attempts to 
review licences merely as a further means of challenging the grant of the licence 
following the failure of representations to persuade the licensing authority on an earlier 
occasion. It is for licensing authorities themselves to judge what should be regarded as 
a reasonable interval in these circumstances. However, it is recommended that more 
than one review originating from a person other than a responsible authority in relation 
to a particular premises should not be permitted within a 12 month period on similar 
grounds save in compelling circumstances or where it arises following a closure order or 
illegal working compliance order. 

11.14 The exclusion of a complaint on the grounds that it is repetitious does not apply to 
responsible authorities which may make more than one application for a review of a 
licence or certificate within a 12 month period. 

11.15 When a licensing authority receives an application for a review from a responsible 
authority or any other person, or in accordance with the closure procedures described in 
Part 8 of the 2003 Act (for example, closure orders), it must arrange a hearing. The 
arrangements for the hearing must follow the provisions set out in regulations. These 
regulations are published on the Government’s legislation website 
(www.legislation.gov.uk). It is particularly important that the premises licence holder is 
made fully aware of any representations made in respect of the premises, any evidence 
supporting the representations and that the holder or the holder’s legal representative 
has therefore been able to prepare a response. 

Powers of a licensing authority on the determination of a review 
11.16 The 2003 Act provides a range of powers for the licensing authority which it may 

exercise on determining a review where it considers them appropriate for the promotion 
of the licensing objectives. 

11.17 The licensing authority may decide that the review does not require it to take any further 
steps appropriate to promoting the licensing objectives. In addition, there is nothing to 
prevent a licensing authority issuing an informal warning to the licence holder and/or to 
recommend improvement within a particular period of time. It is expected that licensing 
authorities will regard such informal warnings as an important mechanism for ensuring 
that the licensing objectives are effectively promoted and that warnings should be 
issued in writing to the licence holder. 

11.18 However, where responsible authorities such as the police or environmental health 
officers have already issued warnings requiring improvement – either orally or in writing 
– that have failed as part of their own stepped approach to address concerns, licensing 
authorities should not merely repeat that approach and should take this into account 

Page 174

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 99 

when considering what further action is appropriate. Similarly, licensing authorities may 
take into account any civil immigration penalties which a licence holder has been 
required to pay for employing an illegal worker.  

11.19 Where the licensing authority considers that action under its statutory powers is 
appropriate, it may take any of the following steps: 

•  modify the conditions of the premises licence (which includes adding new conditions 
or any alteration or omission of an existing condition), for example, by reducing the 
hours of opening or by requiring door supervisors at particular times; 

•  exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence, for example, to exclude 
the performance of live music or playing of recorded music (where it is not within the 
incidental live and recorded music exemption)10; 

•  remove the designated premises supervisor, for example, because they consider that 
the problems are the result of poor management; 

•  suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 
•  revoke the licence. 

11.20 In deciding which of these powers to invoke, it is expected that licensing authorities 
should so far as possible seek to establish the cause or causes of the concerns that the 
representations identify. The remedial action taken should generally be directed at these 
causes and should always be no more than an appropriate and proportionate response 
to address the causes of concern that instigated the review. 

11.21 For example, licensing authorities should be alive to the possibility that the removal and 
replacement of the designated premises supervisor may be sufficient to remedy a 
problem where the cause of the identified problem directly relates to poor management 
decisions made by that individual. 

11.22 Equally, it may emerge that poor management is a direct reflection of poor company 
practice or policy and the mere removal of the designated premises supervisor may be 
an inadequate response to the problems presented. Indeed, where subsequent review 
hearings are generated, it should be rare merely to remove a succession of designated 
premises supervisors as this would be a clear indication of deeper problems that impact 
upon the licensing objectives. 

11.23 Licensing authorities should also note that modifications of conditions and exclusions of 
licensable activities may be imposed either permanently or for a temporary period of up 
to three months. Temporary changes or suspension of the licence for up to three 
months could impact on the business holding the licence financially and would only be 
expected to be pursued as an appropriate means of promoting the licensing objectives 
or preventing illegal working. So, for instance, a licence could be suspended for a 
weekend as a means of deterring the holder from allowing the problems that gave rise 
to the review to happen again. However, it will always be important that any detrimental 
financial impact that may result from a licensing authority’s decision is appropriate and 
proportionate to the promotion of the licensing objectives and for the prevention of illegal 
working in licensed premises. But where premises are found to be trading irresponsibly, 
the licensing authority should not hesitate, where appropriate to do so, to take tough 

 
10 See chapter 16 in relation to the licensing of live and recorded music. 

Page 175



100 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

action to tackle the problems at the premises and, where other measures are deemed 
insufficient, to revoke the licence. 

  

Page 176



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 101 

Reviews arising in connection with crime 
11.24 A number of reviews may arise in connection with crime that is not directly connected 

with licensable activities. For example, reviews may arise because of drugs problems at 
the premises, money laundering by criminal gangs, the sale of contraband or stolen 
goods, the sale of firearms, or the sexual exploitation of children. Licensing authorities 
do not have the power to judge the criminality or otherwise of any issue. This is a matter 
for the courts. The licensing authority’s role when determining such a review is not 
therefore to establish the guilt or innocence of any individual but to ensure the 
promotion of the crime prevention objective.  

11.25 Reviews are part of the regulatory process introduced by the 2003 Act and they are not 
part of criminal law and procedure. There is, therefore, no reason why representations 
giving rise to a review of a premises licence need be delayed pending the outcome of 
any criminal proceedings. Some reviews will arise after the conviction in the criminal 
courts of certain individuals, but not all. In any case, it is for the licensing authority to 
determine whether the problems associated with the alleged crimes are taking place on 
the premises and affecting the promotion of the licensing objectives. Where a review 
follows a conviction, it would also not be for the licensing authority to attempt to go 
beyond any finding by the courts, which should be treated as a matter of undisputed 
evidence before them. 

11.26 Where the licensing authority is conducting a review on the grounds that the premises 
have been used for criminal purposes, its role is solely to determine what steps should 
be taken in connection with the premises licence, for the promotion of the crime 
prevention objective. It is important to recognise that certain criminal activity or 
associated problems may be taking place or have taken place despite the best efforts of 
the licence holder and the staff working at the premises and despite full compliance with 
the conditions attached to the licence. In such circumstances, the licensing authority is 
still empowered to take any appropriate steps to remedy the problems. The licensing 
authority’s duty is to take steps with a view to the promotion of the licensing objectives 
and the prevention of illegal working in the interests of the wider community and not 
those of the individual licence holder. 

11.27 There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with licensed premises 
which should be treated particularly seriously. These are the use of the licensed 
premises: 

•  for the sale and distribution of drugs controlled under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 
and the laundering of the proceeds of drugs crime; 

•  for the sale and distribution of illegal firearms; 
•  for the evasion of copyright in respect of pirated or unlicensed films and music, which 

does considerable damage to the industries affected; 
•  for the illegal purchase and consumption of alcohol by minors which impacts on the 

health, educational attainment, employment prospects and propensity for crime of 
young people; 

•  for prostitution or the sale of unlawful pornography; 
•  by organised groups of paedophiles to groom children; 
•  as the base for the organisation of criminal activity, particularly by gangs; 

Page 177



102 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

•  for the organisation of racist activity or the promotion of racist attacks; 
•  for employing a person who is disqualified from that work by reason of their 

immigration status in the UK;  
•  for unlawful gambling; and 
•  for the sale or storage of smuggled tobacco and alcohol. 

11.28 It is envisaged that licensing authorities, the police, the Home Office (Immigration 
Enforcement) and other law enforcement agencies, which are responsible authorities, 
will use the review procedures effectively to deter such activities and crime. Where 
reviews arise and the licensing authority determines that the crime prevention objective 
is being undermined through the premises being used to further crimes, it is expected 
that revocation of the licence – even in the first instance – should be seriously 
considered. 

Review of a premises licence following closure order or illegal 
working compliance order 
11.29   Licensing authorities are subject to certain timescales, set out in the legislation, for the 

review of a premises licence following a closure order under section 80 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 or an illegal working compliance order under 
section 38 of and Schedule 6 to the Immigration Act 2016. The relevant time periods run 
concurrently and are as follows: 

•  when the licensing authority receives notice that a magistrates’ court has made a 
closure order it has 28 days to determine the licence review – the determination must 
be made before the expiry of the 28th day after the day on which the notice is 
received; 

•  the hearing must be held within ten working days, the first of which is the day after 
the day the notice from the magistrates’ court is received; 

•  notice of the hearing must be given no later than five working days before the first 
hearing day (there must be five clear working days between the giving of the notice 
and the start of the hearing). 

Review of a premises licence following persistent sales of alcohol 
to children 
11.29 The Government recognises that the majority of licensed premises operate responsibly 

and undertake due diligence checks on those who appear to be under the age of 18 at 
the point of sale (or 21 and 25 where they operate a Challenge 21 or 25 scheme). 
Where these systems are in place, licensing authorities may wish to take a 
proportionate approach in cases where there have been two sales of alcohol within very 
quick succession of one another (e.g., where a new cashier has not followed policy and 
conformed with a store’s age verification procedures). However, where persistent sales 
of alcohol to children have occurred at premises, and it is apparent that those managing 
the premises do not operate a responsible policy or have not exercised appropriate due 
diligence, responsible authorities should consider taking steps to ensure that a review of 
the licence is the norm in these circumstances. This is particularly the case where there 
has been a prosecution for the offence under section 147A or a closure notice has been 
given under section 169A of the 2003 Act. In determining the review, the licensing 
authority should consider revoking the licence if it considers this appropriate. 

Page 178



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 103 

12. Summary reviews 
12.1 Summary reviews can be undertaken when the police consider that the premises 

concerned are associated with serious crime or serious disorder (or both). The summary 
review process, set out under sections 53A-53D of the 2003 Act, allows interim 
conditions to be quickly attached to a licence and a fast track licence review. The 
provisions were inserted by section 21 of the Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 and 
amended by sections 136-137 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017, including the addition 
of section 53D. 

12.2 The powers apply only where a premises licence authorises the sale of alcohol. They do 
not apply in respect of other premises licences, or to premises operating under a club 
premises certificate. The powers are aimed at tackling serious crime and serious 
disorder, in particular (but not exclusively) the use of guns and knives. The powers 
complement the general procedures in the 2003 Act for tackling crime and disorder 
associated with licensed premises and should be reserved for the most serious matters 
which cannot be adequately or otherwise redressed unless urgent action is taken. 
Separate powers in the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 provide for 
the instant closure of premises by the police in some circumstances (in essence, 
disorder or nuisance). The consequent review of premises licences by the licensing 
authority is provided for by section 167 of the Licensing At 2003. 

Application for summary review 
12.3 Section 53A of the 2003 Act sets out who may apply for an expedited review and the 

circumstances in which it can be used. The application is made by, or on behalf of, the 
chief officer of police and must be made in the form which is set out in Schedule 8A to 
the Licensing Act 2003 (Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates) Regulations 
2005 (SI 2005/42).  

12.4 The completed application must be accompanied by a certificate issued by a senior 
officer of the rank of superintendent or above. The certificate is a formal note which 
identifies the licensed premises and includes a signed statement by the senior officer 
that in his/her opinion the premises are associated with serious crime, serious disorder 
or both. This form is not prescribed in legislation. However, a sample form which forces 
may wish to adopt is published on GOV.UK.  

12.5 The tests to determine the kinds of conduct that amount to serious crime are set out in 
section 81(2) and (3) of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. Those tests 
are that the conduct:  

(a) constitutes an offence for which a person who is 21 years of age or over with no 
previous convictions could reasonably be expected to be sentenced to imprisonment for 
3 years or more; or 
(b) Involves the use of violence, results in substantial financial gain or is conducted by a 
large number of persons in pursuit of a common purpose. 

12.6 There is no definitive list of behaviours that constitute serious disorder, and the matter is 
one for judgment by the local police. The phrase should be given its plain, ordinary 
meaning, as is the case under section 12 of the Public Order Act 1986 in which it is also 
used. 

Page 179



104 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

12.7 In deciding whether to sign a certificate, the senior officer should consider the following 
(as applicable): 

•  The track record of the licensed premises concerned and whether the police have 
previously had cause to give advice about serious criminal or disorderly conduct (or 
the likelihood of such conduct) attributable to activities taking place on the premises. 
It is not expected that this power will be used as a first response to a problem and 
summary reviews triggered by a single incident are likely to be the exception.  

•  The nature of the likely crime and/or disorder – is the potential incident sufficiently 
serious to warrant using this power?  

•  Should an alternative power be deployed? Is the incident sufficiently serious to 
warrant use of the powers in Part 4, Chapter 3 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014, or section 38 of and Schedule 6 to the Immigration Act 2016, 
to close the premises? Or could the police trigger a standard licence review to 
address the problem? Alternatively, could expedited reviews be used in conjunction 
with other powers (for example, modifying licence conditions following the use of a 
closure power)? 

•  What added value will use of the expedited process bring? How would any interim 
steps that the licensing authority might take effectively address the problem?  

12.8 It is recommended that these points are addressed in the chief officer’s application to 
the licensing authority. In particular, it is important to explain why other powers or 
actions are not considered to be appropriate. It is up to the police to decide whether to 
include this information in the certificate or in section 4 of the application for summary 
review. The police will also have an opportunity later to make representations in relation 
to the full review. In appropriate circumstances the police might want to make 
representations to the licensing authority suggesting that they modify the conditions of 
the premises licence to require searches of customers for offensive weapons upon 
entry. Under the powers in sections 53A to 53D, this could be done on an interim basis 
pending a full hearing of the issues within the prescribed 28-day timeframe or for an 
appropriate period determined by the licensing authority. 

12.9 Similarly, the power could, where appropriate, be used to reduce the risk of injury 
caused by glass by requiring the adoption of a safer alternative (but see paragraphs 
12.15 and 12.16 below). However, it should always be borne in mind that the aim of the 
powers is to provide a selective tool, to be used proportionately. 

The licensing authority and interim steps pending the review 
12.10 Within 48 hours of receipt of the chief officer’s application, the licensing authority must 

give the premises licence holder and responsible authorities a notice of the review and 
should include a copy of the application for review and a copy of the certificate, and 
must also consider whether it is necessary to take interim steps (place temporary 
conditions on the licence). When calculating the 48 hour period any non-working day 
can be disregarded11. 

12.11 The licensing authority may want to consult the police about the steps that it thinks are 

 
11 This means that, for example, if the application was received at 3pm on a Friday, the 48 hour period would cover the 
remaining 9 hours on that Friday and the remaining 39 hours starting on the Monday morning (provided it was not a bank 
holiday). In this case the licensing authority would have to decide on interim steps by 3pm on the Tuesday.   

Page 180



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 105 

necessary, pending the determination of the review, to address the immediate problems 
with the premises, in particular the likelihood of serious crime and/or serious disorder. 
The licensing authority may consider the interim steps without the holder of the 
premises licence having been given an opportunity to make representations. This does 
not, of course, mean that the licensing authority cannot afford such an opportunity if it 
thinks it appropriate and feasible to do so in all the circumstances.  

12.12 The determination of interim steps is not a matter that may be delegated to an officer of 
the licensing authority. The relevant decisions are likely to be taken by a licensing sub-
committee rather than the full committee. It should also be noted that there is no 
requirement for a formal hearing in order to take interim steps. This means that the 
relevant sub committee members can communicate by telephone or other remote 
means in order to reach a decision. A written record should always be produced as 
soon as possible after a decision is reached.  

12.13 The interim steps that the licensing authority must consider taking are:  

•  the modification of the conditions of the premises licence;  
•  the exclusion of the sale of alcohol by retail from the scope of the licence;  
•  the removal of the designated premises supervisor from the licence; and  
•  the suspension of the licence.  

Modification of the conditions of the premises licence can include the alteration or 
modification of existing conditions or addition of any new conditions, including those that 
restrict the times at which licensable activities authorised by the licence can take place. 

12.14 If the licensing authority decides to take steps at the initial interim stage: 

•  the decision takes effect immediately, or as soon after it as the licensing authority 
directs; but  

•  the licensing authority must give immediate notice of its decision and its reasons for 
doing so to the holder of the premises licence and the chief officer of police who 
made the application. The 2003 Act does not specify that the immediate notice has to 
be in writing. However, in an individual case the licensing authority may consider that 
the need for immediate communication at least initially requires a non-written 
approach, such as a telephone call. This may happen when, for example, the 
authority decides that the decision should have immediate effect. In such a case, the 
decision and the reasons for it should be explained clearly and in full to the licence-
holder (or someone who may properly act for the licence-holder), and the call 
followed up as soon as possible with a written version of the decision and the 
reasons (for example, by email or fax) which is identical to, or not significantly 
different from, the version given by telephone. 

12.15 The licensing authority, in deciding when its decision on interim steps should take effect, 
should consider the practical implications of compliance in relation to the premises. For 
example to comply with a modification of the conditions of a licence that requires 
employment of door supervisors, those running the premises may need some time to 
recruit appropriately qualified and accredited staff. 

12.16 In addition, very careful consideration needs to be given to interim steps which would 
require significant cost or permanent or semi-permanent adjustments to premises which 
would be difficult to remove if the outcome of the subsequent full review was to withdraw 

Page 181



106 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

or modify those steps. For example, making structural changes, installing additional 
CCTV or replacing all glassware with safer alternatives may be valid steps, but might be 
disproportionate if they are not likely to be deemed necessary following the full review 
(or any subsequent appeal). The focus for interim steps should be on the immediate 
measures that are necessary to prevent serious crime or serious disorder occurring.  

Making representations against the interim steps 
12.17 The premises licence holder may make representations against the interim steps taken 

by the licensing authority. There is no time limit for the premises licence holder to make 
representations on the interim steps, although in practice this would at some point be 
superseded by the full review which would have to be completed within 28 days of the 
application being received by the licensing authority. On receipt of such representations, 
the licensing authority must (if the representations are not withdrawn) hold a hearing 
within 48 hours of their receipt. When calculating the 48 hour period, any non-working 
day can be disregarded. Where the licensing authority has already held a hearing to 
consider representations against the interim steps, the holder of the licence may only 
make further representations if there has been a material change in circumstances. 

12.18 The licensing authority must give advance notice of the hearing to the premises licence 
holder and the chief officer of police. Given that these measures are designed to deal 
with serious crime and/or serious disorder on an interim basis only, the process is 
designed to avoid delay and, as such, significant portions of the Licensing Act 2003 
(Hearings) Regulations 2005 (SI 2005/44) (which set out the usual processes governing 
the conduct of licensing authority hearings) do not apply in order to streamline the 
hearing process. One result of this is that the licensing authority cannot adjourn the 
hearing to a later date if the licence holder fails to attend at the scheduled time, as is the 
case under the normal review procedure. And as is the case with that procedure, the 
licence holder does not have to be present for the hearing to take place. In addition, 
there is no timescale for notifying the licence holder of the hearing under the modified 
process, providing the notification takes place before the hearing is held. However, it is 
imperative that the licence holder be given as much notice as is possible in the 
circumstances to afford the holder a maximum practicable opportunity to prepare for 
and attend the hearing. Licensing authorities should bear in mind that the usual 
principles of public law decision-making will apply to interim determinations, in a form 
that has regard to the statutory context of an expedited process. 

12.19 At the hearing to consider representations against interim steps the licensing authority 
must: 

•  consider whether the interim steps are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives; and  

•  determine whether to withdraw or modify the steps taken.  

12.20 When considering the case the licensing authority must take into account:  

•  the senior officer’s certificate that accompanied the application;  
•  the chief officer’s representations (if any); and  
•  any representations made by the premises licence holder.  

12.21 There is no right of appeal to a magistrates’ court against the licensing authority’s 

Page 182



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 107 

decision at this stage. 

The review of the premises licence under section 53C 
12.22 The licensing authority must hold a full review of the premises licence and determine the 

review within 28 days after the day of receipt of the chief officer’s application. There can 
be no adjournment of the hearing or delay in reaching a determination beyond the end 
of the 28 day period. This must take place even if the chief officer or other responsible 
authority and/or other person asks to withdraw their application or representation (as the 
case may be). At the review hearing, the licensing authority must consider what steps 
are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives taking into account the 
application and any change in circumstances since any interim steps were imposed, 
consider any relevant representations, and review the interim steps already taken (if 
any).  

12.23 In making its final determination the steps the licensing authority can take are:  

•  the modification of the conditions of the premises licence;  
•  the exclusion of a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;  
•  the removal of the designated premises supervisor from the licence;  
•  the suspension of the licence for a period not exceeding 3 months; and  
•  the revocation of the licence.  

12.24 Modification of the conditions of the premises licence can include the alteration or 
modification of existing conditions or addition of any new conditions, including those that 
restrict the times at which licensable activities authorised by the licence can take place. 

12.25 The licensing authority must:  

•  advertise the review inviting representations from any persons for no less than seven 
consecutive days, by notice as described in regulation 38 of the Licensing Act 2003 
(Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates) Regulations 2005 (SI 2005/42) 
and, if applicable, on the licensing authority’s website (see regulation 38(1)(b) of the 
above). The relevant notices should be published on the day after the day of receipt 
of the chief officer’s application. 

•  advertise that any representations which the premises licence holder, responsible 
authority or any other person want the licensing authority to consider at the review 
hearing, should be submitted to the licensing authority within 10 working days of the 
advertisement of the review appearing. 

•  give formal notice of the hearing no later than five working days before the day or first 
day on which the hearing is to be held to the premises licence holder and to every 
responsible authority. 

12.26 A party shall give to the licensing authority a notice no later than two working days 
before the day or the first day on which the hearing is to be held stating – 

•  whether he intends to attend or be represented at the hearing;  
•  whether he considers a hearing to be unnecessary.  
•  whether he would like permission for any other person (other than the person he 

intends to represent him at the hearing) to appear at the hearing and, if so, explain on 
which points that person will be able to contribute. 

 

Page 183



108 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

12.27 The regulations relating to hearings are set out in the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) 
Regulations 2005 (S.I. 2005/44). They apply to final hearings under the section 
53A(2)(b) in a similar way to hearings following closure orders under section 167 of the 
2003 Act (it should be emphasised that the truncated version of the hearings regulations 
described in paragraph 12.18 above applies to interim hearings only). The issues they 
address include who can make representations and what those representations can be 
about. It is therefore possible for responsible authorities or any other persons to make 
representations in relation to any of the licensing objectives, not just crime and disorder.  
Similarly, where it is in the public interest, the regulations relating to the exclusion of 
individuals from hearings, or conducting the hearing in private, will apply. 

12.28 The licensing authority must notify its decision and the reasons for making it to:  

•  the holder of the premises licence;  
•  any person who made relevant representations; and  
•  the chief officer of police who made the original application.  

Review of the interim steps under section 53D 
12.29 The licensing authority’s determination does not have effect until the end of the 21 day 

period given for appealing the decision, or until the disposal of any appeal that is lodged 
(see below information on right of appeal). To ensure that there are appropriate and 
proportionate safeguards in place at all times, the licensing authority is required to 
review any interim steps that it has taken that are in place on the date of the hearing 
and consider whether it is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives for 
the steps to remain in place, or if they should be modified or withdrawn. The review of 
the interim steps should take place immediately after the determination under section 
53C has been reached. In making its decision, the licensing authority must consider any 
relevant representations made.  

12.30 In conducting the review of the interim steps the licensing authority has the power to 
take any of the steps that were available to it at the initial stage (see paragraph 12.13). 
Any interim steps taken at the review hearing apply until— 

(a) the end of the period given for appealing against a decision made under section 53C 
(21 days), 

(b) if the decision under section 53C is appealed against, the time the appeal is 
disposed of, or 

(c) the end of a period determined by the relevant licensing authority (which may not be 
longer than the period of time for which such interim steps could apply under (a) or (b) 
above). 

Right of appeal against review of interim steps decision 
12.31 The licence holder or the chief officer of police may appeal against the decision made 

by the licensing authority concerning its review of the interim steps to a magistrates’ 
court. The appeal must be made within 21 days of the appellant being notified of the 
licensing authority’s decision and must be heard in full by the magistrates’ court within 
28 days beginning with the day on which the appellant lodged the appeal. 

Page 184



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 109 

Right of appeal against final review decision 
12.32 An appeal against the final review decision may be made to a magistrates’ court within 

21 days of the appellant being notified of the licensing authority’s determination on the 
review. An appeal may be made by the premises licence holder, the chief officer of 
police and/or any other person who made relevant representations.  

12.33 The decision of the licensing authority, following the review hearing, will not have effect 
until the end of the period allowed for appeal, or until the disposal of the appeal. 

12.34 Where appeals are lodged both against the decision following the review of the interim 
steps and against the final determination, the courts may decide to consider the appeal 
against the final determination within the 28 day period, allowing the interim steps 
appeal to be disposed of at the same time.  

Flow diagram of the summary review process 
12.35 The following flow diagram summarises the process. 

 

Page 185



110 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Summary review flowchart 

 
1213

 
12 Licensing authority 
13 Only working days count 

Application for 
summary 
review, with 
certificate 
signed by senior 
officer 
(superintendent 
or above). 

LA12 
considers if it 
is necessary 
to take 
interim steps 
(must be 
within 48 
hours13 of 
receiving 
application). 

Licence holder 
can make 
representations 
against interim 
steps. 

Right of all parties 
to appeal against 
review decision 
(within 21 days). 

Police and licence 
holder can also 
appeal against 
continuing interim 
steps (within 21 
days). 

LA must hold full 
hearing within 28 
days to review 
the premises 
licence and 
decide whether 
any interim steps 
in place should be 
withdrawn or 
modified. 

LA holds hearing 
within 48 hours13 
to consider 
whether interim 
steps are 
appropriate for the 
promotion of the 
licensing 
objectives (only 
once unless there 
is a material 
change in 
circumstance). 

 

 

 

Review decision 
takes effect after 
21 days (unless 
appealed during 
that period). 

 

 
 

Any appeal against 
review decision 
heard by 
Magistrates’ court. 
Timing decided by 
court (but may be 
held in conjunction 
with any appeal 
against continuing 
interim steps). 

Any appeal 
against interim 
steps is heard by 
Magistrates’ court 
within 28 days. 

 

 

Final 
determination 

 

Interim steps continue  or do not  depending on decisions made by licensing authority at each stage  

P
age 186



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 111 

13. Appeals 
13.1 This chapter provides advice about entitlements to appeal in connection with various 

decisions made by a licensing authority under the provisions of the 2003 Act. 
Entitlements to appeal for parties aggrieved by decisions of the licensing authority are 
set out in Schedule 5 to the 2003 Act. 

General 
13.2 With the exception of appeals in relation to closure orders, an appeal may be made to 

any magistrates’ court in England or Wales but it is expected that applicants would bring 
an appeal in a magistrates’ court in the area in which they or the premises are situated. 

13.3 An appeal has to be commenced by the appellant giving a notice of appeal to the 
designated officer for the magistrates’ court within a period of 21 days beginning with 
the day on which the appellant was notified by the licensing authority of the decision 
which is being appealed. 

13.4 The licensing authority will always be a respondent to the appeal, but in cases where a 
favourable decision has been made for an applicant, licence holder, club or premises 
user against the representations of a responsible authority or any other person, or the 
objections of the chief officer of police, the Home Office (Immigration Enforcement), or 
local authority exercising environmental health functions, the holder of the premises or 
personal licence or club premises certificate or the person who gave an interim authority 
notice or the premises user will also be a respondent to the appeal, and the person who 
made the relevant representation or gave the objection will be the appellants. 

13.5 Where an appeal has been made against a decision of the licensing authority, the 
licensing authority will in all cases be the respondent to the appeal and may call as a 
witness a responsible authority or any other person who made representations against 
the application, if it chooses to do so. For this reason, the licensing authority should 
consider keeping responsible authorities and others informed of developments in 
relation to appeals to allow them to consider their position. Provided the court considers 
it appropriate, the licensing authority may also call as witnesses any individual or body 
that they feel might assist their response to an appeal. 

13.6 The court, on hearing any appeal, may review the merits of the decision on the facts 
and consider points of law or address both. 

13.7 On determining an appeal, the court may: 

•  dismiss the appeal; 
•  substitute for the decision appealed against any other decision which could have 

been made by the licensing authority; or 
•  remit the case to the licensing authority to dispose of it in accordance with the 

direction of the court and make such order as to costs as it thinks fit. 

All parties should be aware that the court may make an order for one party to pay 
another party’s costs. 

 

Page 187



112 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

On any appeal, the court is not entitled to consider whether the licence holder should 
have been convicted of an immigration offence or been required to pay an immigration 
penalty, or whether they should have been granted by the Home Office permission to be 
in the UK. This is because separate rights exist to appeal these matters or to have an 
immigration decision administratively reviewed. 

Licensing policy statements and Section 182 guidance 
13.8 In hearing an appeal against any decision made by a licensing authority, the 

magistrates’ court will have regard to that licensing authority’s statement of licensing 
policy and this Guidance. However, the court would be entitled to depart from either the 
statement of licensing policy or this Guidance if it considered it was justified to do so 
because of the individual circumstances of any case. In other words, while the court will 
normally consider the matter as if it were “standing in the shoes” of the licensing 
authority, it would be entitled to find that the licensing authority should have departed 
from its own policy or the Guidance because the particular circumstances would have 
justified such a decision. 

13.9 In addition, the court is entitled to disregard any part of a licensing policy statement or 
this Guidance that it holds to be ultra vires the 2003 Act and therefore unlawful. The 
normal course for challenging a statement of licensing policy or this Guidance should be 
by way of judicial review, but where it is submitted to an appellate court that a statement 
of policy is itself ultra vires the 2003 Act and this has a direct bearing on the case before 
it, it would be inappropriate for the court, on accepting such a submission, to compound 
the original error by relying on that part of the statement of licensing policy affected. 

Giving reasons for decisions 
13.10 It is important that a licensing authority gives comprehensive reasons for its decisions in 

anticipation of any appeals. Failure to give adequate reasons could itself give rise to 
grounds for an appeal. It is particularly important that reasons should also address the 
extent to which the decision has been made with regard to the licensing authority’s 
statement of policy and this Guidance. Reasons should be promulgated to all the parties 
of any process which might give rise to an appeal under the terms of the 2003 Act. 

13.11 It is important that licensing authorities also provide all parties who were party to the 
original hearing, but not involved directly in the appeal, with clear reasons for any 
subsequent decisions where appeals are settled out of court. Local residents in 
particular, who have attended a hearing where the decision was subject to an appeal, 
are likely to expect the final determination to be made by a court.  

Implementing the determination of the magistrates’ courts 
13.12 As soon as the decision of the magistrates’ court has been promulgated, licensing 

authorities should implement it without delay. Any attempt to delay implementation will 
only bring the appeal system into disrepute. Standing orders should therefore be in place 
that on receipt of the decision, appropriate action should be taken immediately unless 
ordered by the magistrates’ court or a higher court to suspend such action (for example, 
as a result of an on-going judicial review). Except in the case of closure orders, the 2003 
Act does not provide for a further appeal against the decision of the magistrates’ courts 
and normal rules of challenging decisions of magistrates’ courts will apply. 

Page 188



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 113 

Provisional statements 
13.13 To avoid confusion, it should be noted that a right of appeal only exists in respect of the 

terms of a provisional statement that is issued rather than one that is refused. This is 
because the 2003 Act does not empower a licensing authority to refuse to issue a 
provisional statement. After receiving and considering relevant representations, the 
licensing authority may only indicate, as part of the statement, that it would consider 
certain steps to be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives when, and if, 
an application were made for a premises licence following the issuing of the provisional 
statement. Accordingly, the applicant or any person who has made relevant 
representations may appeal against the terms of the statement issued. 

Page 189



114 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

14. Statements of licensing policy 
Introduction 
The Licensing Act 2003 
14.1 This chapter provides guidance on the development and preparation of local statements 

of licensing policy for publication by licensing authorities, the general principles that it is 
recommended should underpin them, and core content to which licensing authorities are 
free to add. 

General 
14.2 Section 5 of the 2003 Act requires a licensing authority to prepare and publish a 

statement of its licensing policy at least every five years. Such a policy must be 
published before the authority carries out any function in respect of individual 
applications and notices made under the terms of the 2003 Act. During the five-year 
period, the policy must be kept under review and the licensing authority may make any 
revisions to it as it considers appropriate, for instance in the light of feedback from the 
local community on whether the licensing objectives are being met. If the licensing 
authority determines and publishes its policy in this way, a new five-year period 
commences on the date it is published. Previously, licensing authorities were required to 
determine their licensing policies for each three-year period. Licensing policies 
published in respect of the three-year period that began on 7 January 2011 are to be 
treated as though they apply to a period of five years beginning at that date. 

14.3 Where revisions to the section 182 Guidance are made by the Secretary of State, it will 
be for the licensing authority to determine whether revisions to its own licensing policy 
statement are appropriate. 

Consultation on policies 
14.4 Before determining its policy, the licensing authority must consult the persons listed in 

section 5(3) of the 2003 Act. These are: 

•  the chief officer of police for the area; 
•  the fire and rescue authority for the area; 
•  each local authority’s Director of Public Health in England (DPH)14 or Local Health 

Board in Wales for an area any part of which is in the licensing authority’s area, 
•  persons/bodies representative of local premises licence holders; 
•  persons/bodies representative of local club premises certificate holders; 
•  persons/bodies representative of local personal licence holders; and 
•  persons/bodies representative of businesses and residents in its area. 

14.5 The views of all these persons or bodies should be given appropriate weight when the 
policy is determined. It is recognised that in some areas, it may be difficult to identify 
persons or bodies that represent all parts of industry affected by the provisions of the 

 
14 This change was made as a result of the commencement of measures in the Health and Social Care Act 2012 which 
amended the 2003 Act and further provision in the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities (Partnership Arrangements, Care Trusts, 
Public Health and Local Healthwatch) Regulations 2012. 

Page 190



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 115 

2003 Act, but licensing authorities must make reasonable efforts to do so. Licensing 
authorities should note that the terms of the 2003 Act do not prevent them consulting 
other bodies or persons. 

14.6 Subject to the statutory requirements, it is for each licensing authority to determine the 
extent of the consultation it should undertake, and whether any particular person or 
body is representative of the groups described in the 2003 Act. While it is clearly good 
practice to consult widely, this may not always be necessary or appropriate (for 
example, where a licensing authority has recently carried out a comprehensive 
consultation in relation to a revision to its policy made within five years of a full revision 
to it). As such, it may decide on a simple consultation with those persons listed. 

14.7 However, licensing authorities should consider very carefully whether a full consultation 
is appropriate as a limited consultation may not allow all persons sufficient opportunity 
to comment on and influence local policy (for example, where an earlier consultation 
was limited to a particular part of the policy).  

14.8 Fee levels are intended to provide full cost recovery of all licensing functions including 
the preparation and publication of a statement of licensing policy, but this will be based 
on the statutory requirements. Where licensing authorities exceed these requirements, 
they will have to absorb those costs themselves. 

Fundamental principles 
14.9 All statements of policy should begin by stating the four licensing objectives, which the 

licensing policy should promote. In determining its policy, a licensing authority must 
have regard to this Guidance and give appropriate weight to the views of consultees. 

14.10 While statements of policy may set out a general approach to making licensing 
decisions, they must not ignore or be inconsistent with provisions in the 2003 Act. For 
example, a statement of policy must not undermine the right of any person to apply 
under the terms of the 2003 Act for a variety of permissions and to have any such 
application considered on its individual merits. 

14.11 Similarly, no statement of policy should override the right of any person to make 
representations on an application or to seek a review of a licence or certificate where 
provision has been made for them to do so in the 2003 Act. 

14.12 Statements of policies should make clear that: 

•  licensing is about regulating licensable activities on licensed premises, by qualifying 
clubs and at temporary events within the terms of the 2003 Act; and 

•  conditions attached to various authorisations will be focused on matters which are 
within the control of individual licence holders and others with relevant authorisations, 
i.e. the premises and its vicinity. 

14.13 A statement of policy should also make clear that licensing law is not the primary 
mechanism for the general control of nuisance and anti-social behaviour by individuals 
once they are away from the licensed premises and, therefore, beyond the direct control 
of the individual, club or business holding the licence, certificate or authorisation 
concerned. Nonetheless, it is a key aspect of such control and licensing law will always 
be part of a holistic approach to the management of the evening and night-time 
economy in town and city centres. 

Page 191



116 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Licence conditions 
14.14 Statements of licensing policy should reflect the general principles regarding licence 

conditions set out in Chapter 1 of this guidance. 

14.15 Statements of licensing policy should include a firm commitment to avoid attaching 
conditions that duplicate other regulatory regimes as far as possible. Chapter 10 
provides further detail on this issue. 

Enforcement 
14.16 The Government recommends that licensing authorities should establish and set out 

joint enforcement protocols with the local police and the other authorities and describe 
them in their statement of policy. This will clarify the division of responsibilities for 
licence holders and applicants, and assists enforcement and other authorities to deploy 
resources more efficiently. 

14.17 In particular, these protocols should also provide for the targeting of agreed problem 
and high-risk premises which require greater attention, while providing a lighter touch for 
low risk premises or those that are well run. In some local authority areas, the limited 
validity of public entertainment, theatre, cinema, night café and late night refreshment 
house licences has in the past led to a culture of annual inspections regardless of 
whether the assessed risks make such inspections necessary. The 2003 Act does not 
require inspections to take place save at the discretion of those charged with this role. 
Principles of risk assessment and targeted inspection (in line with the Regulators’ Code) 
should prevail and, for example, inspections should not be undertaken routinely but 
when and if they are judged necessary. This should ensure that resources are used 
efficiently and for example, are more effectively concentrated on problem premises. 
Licensing authorities should also remind operators of licensed premises that it is 
incumbent on them to provide appropriate training for their staff to ensure the promotion 
of the licensing objectives. 

Entertainment provision 
14.18 Statements of licensing policy should set out the extent to which the licensing authority 

intends to facilitate a broad range of entertainment provision for enjoyment by a wide 
cross-section of the public. Statements of licensing policy should address what balance 
is to be struck between promoting the provision of entertainment and addressing 
concerns relevant to the licensing objectives. Licensing authorities should be conscious 
that licensing policy may inadvertently deter live music by imposing indirect costs of a 
disproportionate nature, for example a blanket policy that any pub providing live music 
entertainment must have door supervisors. 

The need for licensed premises 
14.19 There can be confusion about the difference between the “need” for premises and the 

“cumulative impact” of premises on the licensing objectives, for example, on crime and 
disorder. “Need” concerns the commercial demand for another pub or restaurant or 
hotel and is a matter for the planning authority and for the market. This is not a matter 
for a licensing authority in discharging its licensing functions or for its statement of 
licensing policy. 

Page 192



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 117 

The cumulative impact of a concentration of licensed premises 
What is cumulative impact?  
14.20 The concept of “Cumulative impact” has been described within this guidance and used 

by licensing authorities within their statements of licensing policy since the 
commencement of the 2003 Act. ‘Cumulative impact assessments’ were introduced in 
the 2003 Act by the Policing and Crime Act 2017, with effect from 6 April 2018. 
Cumulative impact is the potential impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives of 
a number of licensed premises concentrated in one area. 

14.21 In some areas where the number, type or density of licensed premises, such as those 
selling alcohol or providing late night refreshment, is high or exceptional, serious 
problems of nuisance and disorder may arise outside or some distance from those 
premises. Such problems generally occur as a result of large numbers of drinkers being 
concentrated in an area, for example when leaving premises at peak times or when 
queuing at fast food outlets or for public transport. 

14.22 Queuing in itself may lead to conflict, disorder and anti-social behaviour. Moreover, 
large concentrations of people may also attract criminal activities such as drug dealing, 
pick pocketing and street robbery. Local services such as public transport, public 
lavatory provision and street cleaning may not be able to meet the demand posed by 
such concentrations of drinkers leading to issues such as street fouling, littering, traffic 
and public nuisance caused by concentrations of people who cannot be effectively 
dispersed quickly. 

14.23 Variable licensing hours may facilitate a more gradual dispersal of customers from 
premises. However, in some cases, the impact on surrounding areas of the behaviour of 
the customers of all premises taken together will be greater than the impact of 
customers of individual premises. These conditions are more likely to arise in town and 
city centres, but may also arise in other urban centres and the suburbs, for example on 
smaller high streets with high concentrations of licensed premises.  
 

Cumulative impact assessments 
14.24 A cumulative impact assessment (CIA) may be published by a licensing authority to help 

it to limit the number or types of licence applications granted in areas where there is 
evidence to show that the number or density of licensed premises in the area is having 
a cumulative impact and leading to problems which are undermining the licensing 
objectives. CIAs relate to applications for new premises licences and club premises 
certificates and applications to vary existing premises licences and club premises 
certificates in a specified area. 

14.25 Section 5A of the 2003 Act sets out what a licensing authority needs to do in order to 
publish a CIA and review it, including the requirement to consult with the persons listed 
in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act. The 2003 Act does not stipulate how the CIA should be 
used once published, because the requirements for determining applications for new 
licences or variations are the same in areas with a CIA as they are elsewhere, as set 
out in sections 18, 35, 72 and 85 of the Act. However, any CIA published by a licensing 
authority must be summarised in its statement of licensing policy. Under section 5(6D) a 
licensing authority must also have regard to any CIA it has published when determining 

Page 193



118 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

or revising its statement of licensing policy. 

14.26 The CIA must include a statement saying that the licensing authority considers that the 
number of premises licences and/or club premises certificates in one or more parts of 
the area described is such that it is likely that granting further licences would be 
inconsistent with the authority’s duty to promote the licensing objectives. As part of the 
publication a licensing authority must set out the evidential basis for its opinion. 

14.27 CIAs may relate to premises licensed to carry on any licensable activity, including the 
sale of alcohol for consumption on or off the premises, and the provision of late night 
refreshment. This includes late night refreshment providers which are not licensed to 
sell alcohol. A CIA may relate to all premises licences and club premises certificates in 
the area described in the assessment or parts thereof, or only to premises of a particular 
kind described in the assessment. For example, it may be appropriate for the licensing 
authority to only include off-licences or nightclubs within the scope of its assessment. 
The licensing authority must make clear, when publishing its CIA, which premises types 
it applies to. CIAs do not apply to TENs; however it is open to the police and 
environmental health authority (as relevant persons) to refer to evidence published 
within a CIA when objecting to a TEN. 

14.28 While the evidence underpinning the publication of a CIA should generally be suitable 
as the basis for a decision to refuse an application or impose conditions, it does not 
change the fundamental way that decisions are made under the 2003 Act. Each 
decision in an area subject to a CIA therefore still needs to be made on a case-by-case 
basis and with a view to what is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. Importantly, the publication of a CIA would not remove a licensing authority’s 
discretion to grant applications for new licences or applications to vary existing licences, 
where the authority considers this to be appropriate in the light of the individual 
circumstances of the case. 

Evidence of cumulative impact 
14.29 As noted above, there must be an evidential basis for the decision to publish a CIA. 

Local Community Safety Partnerships and responsible authorities, such as the police 
and the environmental health authority, may hold relevant information which would 
inform licensing authorities when establishing the evidence base for publishing a CIA. 
Evidence of cumulative impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives needs to 
relate to the relevant problems identified in the specific area to be covered by the CIA. 
Information which licensing authorities may be able to draw on includes: 

• local crime and disorder statistics, including statistics on specific types of crime and 
crime hotspots;  

• statistics on local anti-social behaviour offences; 
• health-related statistics such as alcohol-related emergency attendances and hospital 

admissions;  
• environmental health complaints, particularly in relation to litter and noise;  
• complaints recorded by the local authority, which may include complaints raised by 

local residents or residents’ associations;  
• residents’ questionnaires;  
• evidence from local and parish councillors; and  
• evidence obtained through local consultation.  

14.30 The licensing authority may consider this evidence, alongside its own evidence of the 

Page 194



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 119 

impact of licensable activities within its area, and consider in particular the times at 
which licensable activities are carried on. Information which may inform consideration of 
these issues includes:  

• trends in licence applications, particularly trends in applications by types of premises 
and terminal hours;  

• changes in terminal hours of premises;  
• premises’ capacities at different times of night and the expected concentrations of 

drinkers who will be expected to be leaving premises at different times.  
14.31 Where existing information is insufficient or not readily available, but the licensing 

authority believes there are problems in its area resulting from the cumulative impact of 
licensed premises, it can consider conducting or commissioning a specific study to 
assess the position. This may involve conducting observations of the night-time 
economy to assess the extent of incidents relating to the promotion of the licensing 
objectives, such as incidences of criminal activity and anti-social behaviour, examples of 
public nuisance, specific issues such as underage drinking and the key times and 
locations at which these problems are occurring. 

14.32 In order to identify the areas in which problems are occurring, information about specific 
incidents can be mapped and, where possible, a time analysis undertaken to identify the 
key areas and times at which there are specific issues.  

14.33 After considering the available evidence and consulting those individuals and 
organisations listed in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act and any others, a licensing authority 
may be satisfied that it is appropriate to publish a CIA. The CIA should also be 
considered alongside local planning policy and other factors which may assist in 
mitigating the cumulative impact of licensed premises, as set out in paragraph 14.47. 

 

Steps to publishing a cumulative impact assessment  
14.34 The steps to be followed in considering whether to publish a CIA are summarised 

below.  

• Identify concern about crime and disorder; public safety; public nuisance or 
protection of children from harm in a particular location. 

• Consider whether there is good evidence that crime and disorder or nuisance are 
occurring, or whether there are activities which pose a threat to public safety or the 
protection of children from harm.  

• If there is evidence that such problems are occurring, identify whether these 
problems are being caused by the customers of licensed premises, or that 
cumulative impact is imminent.  

• Identify the boundaries of the area where problems are occurring (this can involve 
mapping where the problems occur and identifying specific streets or localities where 
such problems arise). 

• Consult those specified in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act. As with consultations in 
respect of the licensing policy statement as a whole, it is for each licensing authority 
to determine the extent of the consultation it should undertake in respect of a CIA 
(subject to the statutory requirements). 

• For the purposes of the consultation provide the persons specified in section 5(3) 
with the following information: 
­ the reasons why it is considering publishing a CIA; 
­ a general indication of the part or parts of its area which it is considering 

describing in the assessment; 

Page 195



120 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

­ whether it considers that the assessment will relate to all premises licence and 
club premises certificate applications and variation applications, or only to those 
of a particular kind described. 

• Subject to the outcome of the consultation, include and publish details of the CIA, 
including the evidence in support of the assessment and the particular kinds of 
premises the assessment relates to. Licensing authorities are not restricted to using 
general terms such as on-trade, off-trade and late night refreshment providers, and 
can apply their own descriptions such as vertical-drinking bars and night clubs if 
appropriate. 

• Summarise the licensing authority’s opinion in light of the evidence of cumulative 
impact (or any revision to an existing opinion) in the licensing policy statement and 
explain within the policy statement how the authority has had regard to any CIAs it 
has published under section 5A. The summary within the licensing policy statement 
should include, but is not limited to: the nature of the problems identified and the 
evidence for such problems; the geographical extent of the area covered by the 
assessment; the types of premises described in the assessment; and the types of 
applications for which it would likely be inconsistent with the licensing authority’s 
duty to promote the licensing objectives to grant. 

 
Reviewing the CIA 
14.35 After publishing a CIA the licensing authority must, within three years, consider whether 

it remains of the opinion set out in the assessment. In order to decide whether it remains 
of this opinion it must again consult the persons listed in section 5(3). If having 
consulted with the statutory list of persons the licensing authority decides that it is no 
longer of the opinion set out in the CIA, it must publish a statement to that effect. The 
statement must make clear that any reference to the CIA in its licensing policy 
statement no longer applies. The licensing authority should remove any reference to the 
CIA within its licensing policy statement at the earliest opportunity. 

14.36 If having consulted the licensing authority decides that it remains of the opinion set out 
in the assessment, it must revise the CIA to include a statement to that effect and set 
out the evidence as to why it remains of that opinion. It will be important for any 
evidence included in the revised CIA to be robust and relevant to the current problems 
described. This is likely to involve the collation of fresh or updated evidence of the kind 
described in the above section on evidence of cumulative impact. The licensing 
authority must also at this stage publish any other material change to the assessment. 
For example if the types of premises or area described in the assessment have 
changed due to a shift in the nature of the problems being experienced or where there is 
evidence of the emergence of a new type of problem. 

14.37 In each case the three year period for reviewing a CIA begins with the original date of 
the publication of the CIA or the date that a CIA was last revised. Where a licensing 
policy statement as a whole is due for review, under the five year review period under 
section 5(4), and this occurs before the end of the three year CIA review period, 
licensing authorities may wish to use this as an opportunity to carry out a review of the 
evidence in support of the CIA. However, licensing authorities are free to carry out 
consultations and reviews of their CIAs (and/or licensing policy statements) at more 
regular intervals if they consider this to be appropriate. 

14.38 As Cumulative Impact Policies were not part of the 2003 Act, there are no transitional 
provisions that apply to CIPs that were in place before 6 April 2018. However, any 

Page 196



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 121 

existing CIPs should be reviewed at the earliest practical opportunity to ensure they 
comply with the legislation. It is recommended that the review should take place within 
three years of the commencement of the legislation on CIAs or when the licensing policy 
statement is next due for review, whichever is sooner. This will ensure that any CIPs in 
place before the commencement of the provisions on CIAs adhere to the principles in 
the legislation (in particular concerning relevant evidence and consultation). 

 

Effect of cumulative impact assessments 
14.39 When publishing a CIA a licensing authority is required to set out evidence of problems 

that are being caused or exacerbated by the cumulative impact of licensed premises in 
the area described. The evidence is used to justify the statement in the CIA that it is 
likely that granting further premises licences and/or club premises certificates in that 
area (limited to a kind described in the assessment), would be inconsistent with the 
authority’s duty to promote the licensing objectives. 

14.40 In publishing a CIA a licensing authority is setting down a strong statement of intent 
about its approach to considering applications for the grant or variation of premises 
licences or club premises certificates in the area described. Having published a CIA a 
licensing authority must have regard to the assessment when determining or revising its 
statement of licensing policy. It is therefore expected that, in respect of each relevant 
application in the area concerned, the licensing authority will be considering whether it is 
appropriate to make a representation to its committee as a responsible authority in its 
own right. The CIA does not, however, change the fundamental way that licensing 
decisions are made. It is therefore open to the licensing authority to grant an application 
where it considers it is appropriate and where the applicant can demonstrate in the 
operating schedule that they would not be adding to the cumulative impact. Applications 
in areas covered by a CIA should therefore give consideration to potential cumulative 
impact issues when setting out the steps that will be taken to promote the licensing 
objectives. Where relevant representations are received and a licensing authority 
decides to grant an application it will need to provide the applicant, the chief officer of 
police and all parties who made relevant representations with reasons for granting the 
application and this should include any reasons for departing from their own policy. 

14.41 The CIA must also stress that it does not relieve responsible authorities (or any other 
persons) of the need to make relevant representations where they consider it 
appropriate to do so for the promotion of the licensing objectives. Anyone making a 
representation may base it on the evidence published in the CIA, or the fact that a CIA 
has been published. It remains incumbent on all responsible authorities and other 
persons to ensure that their representations can withstand the scrutiny to which they 
would be subject at a hearing. As with all licensing applications under the 2003 Act, if 
there are no representations, the licensing authority must grant the application in terms 
that are consistent with the operating schedule submitted.  

14.42 The absence of a CIA does not prevent any responsible authority or other person 
making representations on an application for the grant or variation of a licence on the 
grounds that the premises will give rise to a negative cumulative impact on one or more 
of the licensing objectives, However, in each case it would be incumbent on the person 
making the representation to provide relevant evidence of cumulative impact. 

Page 197



122 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

14.43 As noted above, CIAs may apply to the impact of a concentration of any licensed 
premises, including those licensed for the sale of alcohol on or off the premises, and 
premises licensed to provide late night refreshment. When establishing its evidence 
base for publishing a CIA, licensing authorities should be considering the contribution to 
cumulative impact made by different types of premises within its area, in order to 
determine the appropriateness of including different types of licensed premises within 
the CIA. 

Limitations on special policies relating to cumulative impact  
14.44 A CIA should never be absolute. Statements of licensing policy should always allow for 

the circumstances of each application to be considered properly and for applications 
that are unlikely to add to the cumulative impact on the licensing objectives to be 
granted. After receiving relevant representations in relation to a new application for or a 
variation of a licence or certificate, the licensing authority must consider whether it 
would be justified in departing from its CIA in the light of the individual circumstances of 
the case. The impact can be expected to be different for premises with different styles 
and characteristics. For example, while a large nightclub or high capacity public house 
might add to problems of cumulative impact, a small restaurant or a theatre may not. If 
the licensing authority decides that an application should be refused, it will still need to 
show that the grant of the application would undermine the promotion of one or more of 
the licensing objectives and that appropriate conditions would be ineffective in 
preventing the problems involved.  

14.45 CIAs should never be used as a ground for revoking an existing licence or certificate 
when representations are received about problems with those premises. Where the 
licensing authority has concerns about the effect of activities at existing premises 
between midnight and 6am on the promotion of the licensing objectives in a specific 
area, it may introduce an Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Order (EMRO) if there is 
sufficient evidence to do so (see chapter 17). The “cumulative impact” on the promotion 
of the licensing objectives of a concentration of licensed premises should only give rise 
to a relevant representation when an application for the grant or variation of a licence or 
certificate is being considered. 

14.46 CIAs must not impose quotas based on either the number of premises or the capacity of 
those premises. This is because quotas that indirectly have the effect of predetermining 
the outcome of any application would have no regard to the individual characteristics of 
the premises concerned. 

Other mechanisms for controlling cumulative impact 
14.47 Once away from the licensed premises, a minority of consumers will behave badly. To 

enable the general public to appreciate the breadth of the strategy for addressing these 
problems, statements of policy should also indicate the other mechanisms both within 
and outside the licensing regime that are available for addressing such issues. For 
example: 

• planning control;  
• positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment in partnership 

with local businesses, transport operators and other departments of the local 
authority, including best practise schemes such as Best Bar None, Pubwatch or BIDs;  

Page 198



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 123 

• Community Protection Notices; 
• the provision of CCTV surveillance in town centres, taxi ranks, provision of public 

conveniences open late at night, street cleaning and litter patrols;  
• powers of local authorities to designate parts of the local authority area as places 

where alcohol may not be consumed publicly;  
• the confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas;  
• police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti-social behaviour, 

including the issuing of fixed penalty notices;  
• prosecution for the offence of selling alcohol to a person who is drunk (or allowing 

such a sale);  
• Raising a contribution to policing the late night economy through the Late Night Levy.  
• Early Morning Alcohol Restriction Orders (see Chapter 17).  

 
14.48 As part of its licensing policy statement, the licensing authority may also wish to 

consider the use of alternative approaches such as fixed closing times, staggered 
closing times and zoning. Such policy restrictions would need to be evidence-based and 
would be subject to the merits of each case in accordance with what is appropriate for 
the promotion of the licensing objectives. The licensing authority would be expected to 
justify the use of such measures as an appropriate means of managing problems in its 
area. 

Public Spaces Protection Order 
14.49 The Designated Public Place Order (DPPO) has been replaced by the Public Spaces 

Protection Order (PSPO) in the Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 201415. 
PSPOs can be used to restrict the drinking of alcohol in a public space where this has or 
is likely to have a detrimental effect on the quality of life on those in the locality, be 
persistent or continuing in nature, and unreasonable. Before making a PSPO, a council 
must consult the local police. DPPOs will continue to be valid for a period of three years 
following commencement of the PSPO in October 2014. Once that three year period 
expires, they will be treated as a PSPO and enforceable as such. Where a local 
authority occupies or manages premises, or where premises are managed on its behalf, 
and it licenses that place for alcohol sales, the PSPO will not apply when the licence is 
being used for alcohol sales (or 30 minutes after), but the place will be subject to the 
PSPO at all other times16. This allows local authorities to promote community events 
while still using a PSPO to tackle the problems of anti-social drinking. 

14.50 It should be noted that when one part of a local authority seeks a premises licence of 
this kind from the licensing authority, the licensing committee and its officers must 
consider the matter from an entirely neutral standpoint. If relevant representations are 
made, for example, by local residents or the police, they must be considered fairly by 
the committee. Anyone making a representation that is genuinely aggrieved by a 
positive decision in favour of a local authority application by the licensing authority 
would be entitled to appeal to the magistrates’ court and thereby receive an 

 
15 For full guidance on the PSPO please see the statutory guidance on the 2014 Act: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/anti-social-behaviour-crime-and-policing-bill-anti-social-
behaviour 
16 Licensed premises in general are exempt from the effect of a PSPO. 

Page 199

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/anti-social-behaviour-crime-and-policing-bill-anti-social-behaviour
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/anti-social-behaviour-crime-and-policing-bill-anti-social-behaviour


124 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

independent review of any decision. 

Licensing hours 
14.51 With regard to licensing hours, the Government acknowledges that different licensing 

approaches may be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in different 
areas. The 2003 Act gives the licensing authority power to make decisions regarding 
licensed opening hours as part of the implementation of its licensing policy statement 
and licensing authorities are best placed to make such decisions based on their local 
knowledge and in consultation with other responsible authorities. However, licensing 
authorities must always consider each application and must not impose predetermined 
licensed opening hours, without giving individual consideration to the merits of each 
application. 

14.52 Statements of licensing policy should set out the licensing authority’s approach 
regarding licensed opening hours and the strategy it considers appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives in its area. The statement of licensing policy should 
emphasise the consideration which will be given to the individual merits of an 
application. The Government recognises that licensed premises make an important 
contribution to our local communities, and has given councils a range of tools to 
effectively manage the different pressures that licensed premises can bring. In 
determining appropriate strategies around licensed opening hours, licensing authorities 
cannot seek to restrict the activities of licensed premises where it is not appropriate for 
the promotion of the licensing objectives to do so. 

Children 
14.53 It is an offence under the 2003 Act to: 

•  permit children under the age of 16 who are not accompanied by an adult to be 
present on premises being used exclusively or primarily for supply of alcohol for 
consumption on those premises under the authorisation of a premises licence, club 
premises certificate or where that activity is carried on under the authority of a TEN; 
and 

•  to permit the presence of children under 16 who are not accompanied by an adult 
between midnight and 5am at other premises supplying alcohol for consumption on 
the premises under the authority of any premises licence, club premises certificate or 
TEN. 

14.54 Outside of these hours, the offence does not prevent the admission of unaccompanied 
children under 16 to the wide variety of premises where the consumption of alcohol is 
not the exclusive or primary activity. This does not mean that children should 
automatically be admitted to such premises and the following paragraphs are therefore 
of great importance notwithstanding the offences under the 2003 Act. The expression 
‘exclusively or primarily’ should be given its ordinary and natural meaning in the context 
of the particular circumstances. 

14.55 Where it is not clear that the business is predominately for the sale and consumption of 
alcohol, operators and enforcement agencies should seek to clarify the position before 
enforcement action is taken. Mixed businesses may be more difficult to classify and in 
such cases operators and enforcement agencies should consult where appropriate 
about their respective interpretations of the activities taking place on the premises 

Page 200



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 125 

before any moves are taken which might lead to prosecution. 

14.56 The 2003 Act does not automatically permit unaccompanied children under the age of 
18 to have free access to premises where the consumption of alcohol is not the 
exclusive or primary activity or to the same premises even if they are accompanied, or 
to premises where the consumption of alcohol is not involved. Subject only to the 
provisions of the 2003 Act and any licence or certificate conditions, admission will 
always be at the discretion of those managing the premises. The 2003 Act includes no 
presumption of giving children access but equally, no presumption of preventing their 
access to licensed premises. Each application and the circumstances of individual 
premises must be considered on their own merits. 

14.57 A statement of licensing policy should not seek to limit the access of children to any 
premises unless it is appropriate for the prevention of physical, moral or psychological 
harm to them (please see Chapter 2). It may not be possible for licensing policy 
statements to anticipate every issue of concern that could arise in respect of children in 
relation to individual premises and therefore the individual merits of each application 
should be considered in each case. 

14.58 A statement of licensing policy should make clear the range of alternatives which may 
be considered for limiting the access of children where that is appropriate for the 
prevention of harm to children. Conditions which may be relevant in this respect are 
outlined in paragraph 2.27. 

14.59 Statements of policy should also make clear that conditions requiring the admission of 
children to any premises cannot be attached to licences or certificates. Where no 
licensing restriction is appropriate, this should remain a matter for the discretion of the 
individual licence holder, club or premises user. 

14.60 Venue operators seeking premises licences and club premises certificates should 
consider including such prohibitions and restrictions in their operating schedules 
particularly where their own risk assessments have determined that the presence of 
children is undesirable or inappropriate. 

Responsible authority and children 
14.61 A statement of licensing policy should indicate which body the licensing authority judges 

to be competent to act as the responsible authority in relation to the protection of 
children from harm. This may be the local authority social services department, the 
Local Safeguarding Children Board or other competent body as agreed locally. It would 
be practical and useful for statements of licensing policy to include descriptions of the 
responsible authorities in any area and appropriate contact details. 

Children and cinemas 
14.62 The statement of policy should make clear that in the case of premises giving film 

exhibitions17, the licensing authority will expect licence holders or clubs to include in 
their operating schedules arrangements for restricting children from viewing age-
restricted films classified according to the recommendations of the British Board of Film 

 
17 See paragraphs 16.22-16.24 in relation to the licensing exemption for an exhibition of a film on community premises. 

Page 201



126 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Classification or the licensing authority itself (see paragraphs 10.59 to 10.60). 

Integrating strategies 
14.63 It is recommended that statements of licensing policy should provide clear indications of 

how the licensing authority will secure the proper integration of its licensing policy with 
local crime prevention, planning, transport, tourism, equality schemes, cultural 
strategies and any other plans introduced for the management of town centres and the 
night-time economy. Many of these strategies are not directly related to the promotion of 
the licensing objectives, but, indirectly, impact upon them. Co-ordination and integration 
of such policies, strategies and initiatives are therefore important.   

14.64 Statements of Licensing Policy should consider the prevalence, prevention and 
reporting of sexual harassment and misconduct and broader violence against women 
and girls crimes. 

Planning and building control 
14.65 The statement of licensing policy should indicate that planning permission, building 

control approval and licensing regimes will be properly separated to avoid duplication 
and inefficiency. The planning and licensing regimes involve consideration of different 
(albeit related) matters. Licensing committees are not bound by decisions made by a 
planning committee, and vice versa. However, as set out in chapter 9, licensing 
committees and officers should consider discussions with their planning counterparts 
prior to determination with the aim of agreeing mutually acceptable operating hours and 
scheme designs. 

14.66 There are circumstances when, as a condition of planning permission, a terminal hour 
has been set for the use of premises for commercial purposes. Where these hours are 
different to the licensing hours, the applicant must observe the earlier closing time. 
Premises operating in breach of their planning permission would be liable to prosecution 
under planning law. Proper integration should be assured by licensing committees, 
where appropriate, providing regular reports to the planning committee. 

14.67 Where there is an application for planning permission, the National Planning Policy 
Framework expects new development can be integrated effectively with existing 
businesses and community facilities (such as places of worship, pubs, music venues 
and sports clubs). Existing businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable 
restrictions placed on them as a result of development permitted after they were 
established. Where the operation of an existing business or community facility could 
have a significant adverse effect on new development (including changes of use) in its 
vicinity, the applicant (or ‘agent of change’) should be required by the local planning 
authority to provide suitable mitigation before the development has been completed. 

 

Promotion of equality 
14.68 A statement of licensing policy should recognise that the Equality Act 2010 places a 

legal obligation on public authorities to have due regard to the need to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; to advance equality of 
opportunity; and to foster good relations, between persons with different protected 

Page 202



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 127 

characteristics. The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

14.69 Public authorities are required to publish information at least annually to demonstrate 
their compliance with the Equality Duty. The statement of licensing policy should refer to 
this legislation, and explain how the Equality Duty has been complied with. Further 
guidance is available from Government Equalities Office and the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission. 

Administration, exercise and delegation of functions 
14.70 The 2003 Act provides that the functions of the licensing authority (including its 

determinations) are to be taken or carried out by its licensing committee (except those 
relating to the making of a statement of licensing policy or where another of its 
committees has the matter referred to it). The licensing committee may delegate these 
functions to sub-committees consisting of three members of the committee, or in 
appropriate cases to officials supporting the licensing authority. Where licensing 
functions are not automatically transferred to licensing committees, the functions must 
be carried out by the licensing authority as a whole and not by its executive. Statements 
of licensing policy should indicate how the licensing authority intends to approach its 
various functions. Many of the decisions and functions will be purely administrative in 
nature and statements of licensing policy should underline the principle of delegation in 
the interests of speed, efficiency and cost-effectiveness. 

14.71 The 2003 Act does not prevent the development by a licensing authority of collective 
working practices with other parts of the local authority or other licensing authorities for 
work of a purely administrative nature, e.g. mail-outs. In addition, such administrative 
tasks may be contracted out to private businesses. But any matters regarding licensing 
decisions must be carried out by the licensing committee, its sub-committees or officers. 

14.72 Where, under the provisions of the 2003 Act, there are no relevant representations on 
an application for the grant of a premises licence or club premises certificate or police 
objection to an application for a personal licence or to an activity taking place under the 
authority of a temporary event notice, these matters should be dealt with by officers in 
order to speed matters through the system. Licensing committees should receive 
regular reports on decisions made by officers so that they maintain an overview of the 
general situation. Although essentially a matter for licensing authorities to determine 
themselves, it is recommended that delegation should be approached in the following 
way: 

  

Page 203



128 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Table: Recommended Delegation of Functions 
 
Matters to be dealt with Sub-Committee Officers 
Application for personal licence If a police or 

immigration 
enforcement objection 

If no objection made 

Application for personal licence with unspent 
convictions 

If a police objection If no objection made 

Application for premises licence/club premises 
certificate 

If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representation made 

Application for provisional statement If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representation made 

Application to vary premises licence/club 
premises certificate 

If a relevant 
representation made 

If no relevant 
representation made 

Application to vary designated premises 
supervisor 

If a police objection All other cases 

Request to be removed as designated 
premises supervisor 

 All cases 

Application for transfer of premises licence If a police objection All other cases 
Applications for interim authorities If a police objection All other cases 
Application to review premises licence/club 
premises certificate 

All cases  

Decision on whether a representation is 
irrelevant frivolous vexatious etc 

 All cases 

Decision to object when local authority is a 
consultee and not the relevant authority 
considering the application 

All cases  

Determination of an objection to a temporary 
event notice 

All cases  

Determination of application to vary premises 
licence at community premises to include 
alternative licence condition 

If a police objection All other cases 

Decision whether to consult other responsible 
authorities on minor variation application 

 All cases 

Determination of minor variation application  All cases 

 

Page 204



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 129 

15. Licence fees 
15.1 The 2003 Act requires a licensing authority to suspend a premises licence or club 

premises certificate if the annual fee is not paid when it is due. However, this does not 
apply immediately if the payment was not made before or at the time of the due date 
because of an administrative error, or because the holder disputed liability for the fee 
before or at the time of the due date. In either of these cases, there is a grace period of 
21 days. This period is intended to allow the licensing authority and the licence or 
certificate holder an opportunity to resolve the dispute or error. If the dispute or error is 
not resolved during this 21-day period, the licence will be suspended. 

Dispute 
15.2 The 2003 Act describes a dispute as one relating to liability to pay the fee at all or 

relating to its amount. In either case, the licence or certificate holder must notify the 
licensing authority of the dispute on or before the date on which the fee to which it 
relates becomes due. 

Administrative error 
15.3 There is no definition of “administrative error” in the 2003 Act, but it can include an error 

on the part of the licensing authority, the licence or certificate holder, or any other 
person. Therefore, “administrative error” will be given its plain, ordinary meaning. An 
example might be where post has been misdirected. 

Suspension 
15.4 If a licensing authority suspends a licence or certificate, it must notify the holder in 

writing and specify the date on which the suspension takes effect; this date must be at 
least two working days after the day the authority gives the notice. It should be noted 
that this is the minimum period only, and licensing authorities may consider applying 
longer periods. The authority may wish to inform the police and other responsible 
authorities that the licence or certificate has been suspended. 

15.5 A suspension ceases to have effect on the day on which the licensing authority receives 
payment of the outstanding fee from the licence or certificate holder. To enable the 
licence holder to demonstrate that the licence has been reinstated, the licensing 
authority is required to give the holder written acknowledgment of receipt as soon as 
practicable following receipt, and: 

a) if payment was received on a working day, no later than the end of the next working 
day, or 

b) if payment was received on a day when the authority is not working, no later than the 
end of the second working day after the day on which the fee was received. 

15.6 Licensing authorities may wish to consider requesting, in the notice of suspension 
mentioned above, that subsequent payment of the outstanding fee may be made in 
such manner as would most expeditiously bring it to the attention of the authority. The 
licensing authority may also wish to inform the police and other responsible authorities 
that the licence or certificate has been reinstated. 

Page 205



130 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Effects of suspension 
15.7 A premises licence or certificate that has been suspended does not have effect to 

authorise licensable activities. However, it can for example be subject to a hearing or, in 
the case of a premises licence, an application for transfer. The licence will nevertheless 
only be reinstated when the outstanding fee has been paid. Formally, the debt is owed 
by the holder who held the licence at the time it was suspended. However, it may be 
more likely in practice that the new holder will actually make the payment. The 
suspension of licences and certificates is only applicable to unpaid annual fees that 
become due after sections 55A and 92A of the 2003 Act came into force on 25 April 
2012. In the case of a licence or certificate where more than one payment year has 
been missed (since the coming into force of sections 55A and 92A) payment of the 
outstanding fee in relation to each year will be required to reinstate the licence. 

Additional fees for large scale events 
15.8 It should be noted that premises licences for large scale events do not automatically 

attract the higher fee levels set out in the fee regulations made under the 2003 Act, 
which must be paid in addition to the standard application or variation fees when the 
premises licence relates to activities attracting the attendance of 5,000 or more. Venues 
that are permanent or purpose built or structurally altered for the activity are exempt 
from the additional fee. 

15.9 Regulations prescribe that the additional fee for large scale events would not be payable 
where the premises is a structure which is not a vehicle, vessel or moveable structure, 
and has been constructed or structurally altered to allow: 

•  the proposed licensable activities to take place; 
•  the premises to be modified temporarily, from time to time, if relevant for the 

proposed licensable activities; 
•  the proposed number of people on the premises at any one time; and 
•  the premises to be used in a manner which complies with the operating schedule. 

15.10 The full details of where the additional fee is applicable can be found in regulations on 
the Government’s legislation website – www.legislation.gov.uk. 

 

Page 206

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 131 

16. Regulated entertainment 
Types of regulated entertainment 
16.1 Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act sets out what activities are regarded as the provision of 

regulated entertainment and when they are licensable and those activities which are not 
and therefore exempt from the regulated entertainment regime. Changes to regulated 
entertainment took effect on 6 April 2015.  

16.2 The descriptions of entertainment activities licensable under the 2003 Act are: 

•  a performance of a play; 
•  an exhibition of a film; 
•  an indoor sporting event; 
•  a boxing or wrestling entertainment; 
•  a performance of live music; 
•  any playing of recorded music; 
•  a performance of dance; and 
•  entertainment of a similar description to a performance of live music, any playing of 

recorded music or a performance of dance. 

16.3 To be licensable, one or more of these activities needs to be provided for the purpose 
(at least partly) of entertaining an audience; has to be held on premises made available 
for the purpose of enabling that activity; and must also either: 

•  take place in the presence of a public audience, or 
• be provided exclusively for the members of a club or for the club members and 

their guests, or 
•  where that activity takes place in private, be the subject of a charge made with a view 

to profit. 

16.4 Guidance around what constitutes audiences and private events is at paragraphs 16.11-
16.14. 

Overview of circumstances in which entertainment activities are 
not licensable 
16.5 There are a number of exemptions that mean that a licence (or other authorisation18) 

under the 2003 Act is not required. This Guidance cannot give examples of every 
eventuality or possible entertainment activity that is not licensable. However, the 
following activities are examples of entertainment which are not licensable: 

•  activities which involve participation as acts of worship in a religious context; 
•  activities in places of public religious worship; 
•  education – teaching students to perform music or to dance; 
•  the demonstration of a product – for example, a guitar – in a music shop; 
•  the rehearsal of a play or performance of music for a private audience where no 

 
18 The word ‘licence’ is typically used as a reference to all forms of authorisation 

Page 207



132 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

charge is made with a view to making a profit; 
•  Morris dancing (or similar)19; 
•  Incidental music – the performance of live music or the playing of recorded music if it 

is incidental to some other activity20; 
•  Incidental film – an exhibition of moving pictures if it is incidental to some other 

activity21; 
•  A spontaneous performance of music, singing or dancing; 
•  Garden fetes – or similar if not being promoted or held for purposes of private gain; 
•  Films for advertisement, information, education or in museums or art galleries; 
•  Television or radio broadcasts – as long as the programme is live and simultaneous; 
•  Vehicles in motion – at a time when the vehicle is not permanently or temporarily 

parked; 
•  Games played in pubs, youth clubs etc. (e.g. pool, darts and table tennis); 
•  Stand-up comedy; and 
•  Provision of entertainment facilities (e.g. dance floors)22. 

16.6 As a result of deregulatory changes that have amended the 2003 Act23, no licence is 
required for the following activities: 

•  Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, 
provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 

•  Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, 
provided that the audience does not exceed 50024. 

•  Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in community 
premises between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that the audience does not 
exceed 500 and the organiser (a) gets consent to the screening from a person who is 
responsible for the premises; and (b) ensures that each such screening abides by 
age classification ratings. 

•  Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for an event between 08.00 and 23.00 
on any day, provided that those present do not exceed 1000. 

•  Boxing or wrestling entertainment: no licence is required for a contest, exhibition or 
display of Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 08.00 and 23.00 on 
any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 1000. 

•  Live music: no licence permission is required for: 

–  a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, 
on any premises. 

–  a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on 
premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, 

 
19 Including any live music or playing of recorded music as an integral part of a performance of Morris dancing, or similar activity. 
20 See paragraphs 16.57-16.61 
21 See paragraphs 16.65-16.68 
22 This was previously licensable under the 2003 Act until the commencement of the Live Music Act 2012. 
23 The Live Music Act 2012 (“2012 Act”) http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/2; Licensing Act 2003 (Descriptions of 
Entertainment) (Amendment) Order 2013 (“2013 Order”) http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1578/contents/made ; The 
Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014 (“2014 Order”) 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/introduction/made; and the Deregulation Act 2015 (“2015 Act”). 
24 But see paragraphs 16.47 -16.48 in relation to dance that is adult entertainment and remains licensable. 

Page 208

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1578/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1578/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/3253/introduction/made


Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 133 

provided that the audience does not exceed 50025. 

–  a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in 
a workplace26 that does not have a licence, provided that the audience does 
not exceed 500. 

–  a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in 
a church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community 
premises, that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, provided 
that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent 
for the performance from a person who is responsible for the premises. 

–  a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at 
the non-residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a 
hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the 
organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) 
the local authority concerned, or (ii) the school or (iii) the health care provider 
for the hospital. 

•  Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for: 

–  any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on 
premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, 
provided that the audience does not exceed 50027. 

–  any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a 
church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, 
that is not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, provided that (a) the 
audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the 
performance from a person who is responsible for the premises. 

–  any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the 
non- residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a 
hospital, provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the 
organiser gets consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) 
the local authority concerned, or (ii) the school proprietor or (iii) the health care 
provider for the hospital. 

•  Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any 
day, with no limit on audience size for: 

–  any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where 
the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the local authority; 

–  any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care 
provider where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care 
provider; 

–  any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the 
entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the school proprietor; and 

–  any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling entertainment) 

 
25 Provided that a number of other important conditions are satisfied (see paragraphs 16.326-16.29). 
26 The Live Music Act 2012 provides that if premises are licensed under the 2003 Act, they cannot also be treated as a 
workplace for the purpose of the 2012 Act. 
27 Provided that a number of other important conditions are satisfied, see paragraphs 16.33. 

Page 209



134 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

taking place at a travelling circus, provided that (a) it takes place within a 
moveable structure that accommodates the audience, and (b) that the 
travelling circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 
consecutive days. 

16.7 The deregulatory changes mean that, for example, an indoor sporting event that takes 
place between 07.00 and 23.30 on a particular day is licensable in respect of activities 
taking place between 07.00-08.00 and 23.00-23.30. Similarly, where the audience for a 
performance of dance fluctuates, those activities are licensable if, and for so long as, 
the number of people in the audience exceeds 500. If organisers are uncertain as to 
audience sizes or if audience migration is likely28, it might be easier and more flexible to 
secure an appropriate authorisation. Examples of where a Temporary Event Notice 
(TEN)29 could still be required include if the activity is the playing of recorded music or 
the exhibition of a film that requires an authorisation; or if the entertainment is not 
authorised by an existing licence or certificate and its conditions. 

16.8 Of course, anyone involved in the organisation or provision of entertainment activities – 
whether or not any such activity is licensable under the 2003 Act – must comply with 
any applicable duties that may be imposed by other legislation relevant to the event 
(e.g. in areas such as crime and disorder, fire, health and safety, noise, nuisance and 
planning).30 Any such person should take steps to be aware of relevant best practice, 
and may find responsible authorities a useful source of expert support and advice. 

16.9 The various effects of the changes made to entertainment licensing by the set of 
deregulatory changes between 2012 and 201531 are described in greater detail in 
subsequent paragraphs: 

•  Music entertainment, see in particular paragraphs: 16.20-16.21; 16.26-16.33; and 
16.36-16.44; 

•  Plays, dance, and indoor sporting events, see in particular paragraphs: 16.34-16.35 
and 16.45-16.48; 

•  Local authority, hospital and school premises, see in particular paragraphs: 16.16-
16.20 

•  Community premises, see in particular paragraphs: 16.21-16.24 
•  Circuses, see in particular paragraph 16.25 
•  Boxing or wrestling entertainment, see in particular paragraphs: 16.49-16.51. 

  

 
28 See paragraph 16.12 
29 See chapter 7 
30 See paragraphs 16.70-16.72 in relation to other licensing regimes 
31 An entertainment activity may meet the conditions of more than one exemption 

Page 210



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 135 

General circumstances in which entertainment activities are 
licensable 
16.10 An authorisation for regulated entertainment is always required for entertainment 

activities that take place before 08.00 or after 23.00, unless exempted under any other 
provision of the 2003 Act, as amended32. 

Audience 
16.11 For the purposes of regulated entertainment, the term “audience” refers to any person 

for whose entertainment (at least in part) any licensable activities are provided. An 
audience member need not be, or want to be, entertained: what matters is that an 
audience is present33 and that the purpose of the licensable activity is (at least in part) 
intended to entertain any person present34. The audience will not include performers, 
together with any person who contributes technical skills in substantial support of a 
performer (for example, a sound engineer or stage technician), during any associated 
activities. This includes setting up before the entertainment, reasonable breaks 
(including intervals) between activities and packing up thereafter. Similarly, security staff 
and bar workers will not form part of the audience while undertaking their duties. 

16.12 More than one entertainment activity (or for a single activity, more than one 
performance or event) can be held concurrently, provided that the audience for each 
such performance or event does not exceed the threshold at which such a performance 
or event becomes licensable. In some circumstances, there will be a clear distinction 
between performances or events; for example, their taking place in separate rooms or 
on separate floors. However, organisers will have to ensure that audiences do not grow 
or migrate, so that the audience exceeds the relevant limit for any one performance or 
event at any time. If there is the possibility of audience migration, it might be easier and 
more flexible to secure an appropriate authorisation. 

Private events 
16.13 Events held in private are not licensable unless those attending are charged for the 

entertainment with a view to making a profit (including raising money for charity). For 
example, where a party is held for friends in a private dwelling featuring amplified live 
music, if a charge or contribution is made solely to cover the costs of the entertainment, 
the activity is not regulated entertainment. Similarly, any charge made to the organiser 
of a private event by musicians, other performers, or their agents does not of itself make 
that entertainment licensable – it would only do so if the guests attending were 
themselves charged by the organiser for that entertainment with a view to achieving a 
profit. The fact that this might inadvertently result in the organiser making a profit would 
be irrelevant, as long as there had not been an intention to make a profit. 

16.14 Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act also makes it clear that before entertainment is regarded as 

 
32 See examples at paragraph 16.5 
33 In some circumstances, such as un-ticketed live music events, a degree of judgement may be required as to whether persons 
are part of an audience.  Factors to consider could include whether a person is within the perimeter of the premises, the audible 
range of the performance, and their visibility of the entertainment. In order to meet the definition of an entertainment activity in 
the 2003 Act, the activity must take place in the presence of an audience and be provided for the purpose, or for purposes which 
include the purpose of, entertaining that audience. 
34 For example, a darts championship competition hosted in part to entertain an audience could be a licensable activity, but a 
pub game of darts played for the enjoyment of the participants is not licensable. 

Page 211



136 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

being provided for consideration, a charge has to be: 

•  made by or on behalf of a person concerned with the organisation or management of 
the entertainment; and 

•  paid by or on behalf of some or all of the persons for whom the entertainment is 
provided. 

Circumstances in which entertainment activities are no longer 
licensable 
16.15 No licence is required for certain entertainment activities on specified premises, as 

follows: 

Local authorities, hospital healthcare providers and school proprietors: 
cross-entertainment activity exemption 
16.16 No licence is required for any entertainment provided by or on behalf of a local authority, 

health care provider, or school proprietor to the extent that it takes place on defined 
premises, between 08.00-23.00 on any day provided that: 

•  for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a local authority it takes places on 
premises in which that authority has a relevant property interest, or is in lawful 
occupation; 

•  for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a health care provider it takes place on 
any premises forming part of a hospital in which the provider has a relevant property 
interest, or is in lawful occupation; and 

•  for entertainment provided by, or on behalf of, a school proprietor it takes place on 
the premises of the school. 

16.17 This Guidance cannot give examples of every eventuality where entertainment is not 
licensable under this exemption through being provided “by or on behalf of”. It will 
depend on the facts in each case. However, the following are examples of activities that 
are not usually considered to be licensable under this exemption: 

•  Any entertainment activity hosted by a local authority on their own premises, where 
there is a significant relationship between the local authority and the provider of the 
entertainment (e.g. principal and agent); 

•  Any entertainment activity organised on a local authority’s behalf on that local 
authority’s premises by a cultural trust in discharge of a local authority’s discretionary 
power to arrange entertainment provision and support for the arts, including festivals 
and celebrations. 

•  Any entertainment activity organised by a healthcare provider on their own hospital 
premises in partnership with a hospital charity; 

•  Any entertainment event on school premises organised by the Parent Teacher 
Association (PTA) to benefit the school. 

16.18 It is for the local authority, health care provider or school proprietor to determine whether, 
and on what basis, they can (or wish) to provide entertainment activity under this 
exemption, including consideration of issues around fundraising, profit making, 
governance or use of public funds. However a pure hire of premises by a third party35 

 
35 But see paragraph 16.20 

Page 212



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 137 

does not constitute the provision of an entertainment event “on behalf of” a local authority, 
healthcare provider, or school proprietor and nor does commercial entertainment which 
the local authority36 merely facilitates through providing a public space37. 

16.19 All the terms used in this exemption, such as “local authority”, “health care”, “health care 
provider”, “hospital”, “school”, “school premises”, “school proprietor”, “domestic 
premises” and “relevant property interest” are defined in the 2014 Order38. 

Local authority, hospital and school premises: third party music 
entertainment 
16.20 No licence is required for a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music 

on local authority, hospital or school premises, that are not domestic premises, between 
08.00-23.00 on any day provided that: 

•  it is performed in front of an audience of no more than 500 people; and 
•  a person concerned in the organisation or management of the music entertainment 

has obtained the prior written consent39 of the local authority, health care provider or 
school proprietor (as appropriate) for that entertainment to take place. It is for these 
“trusted providers” to determine whether, or not, they wish to make their premises 
available for music entertainment by a 3rd party and on what terms they deem it 
appropriate. 

Community premises: music entertainment 
16.21 No licence is required for a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music 

on community premises40, between 08.00-23.00 on any day provided that: 

•  the community premises are not authorised, by a premises licence or club premises 
certificate, to be used for the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises41; 

•  the music entertainment is in the presence of an audience of no more than 500 
people; and 

•  a person concerned in the organisation or management of the music entertainment 
has obtained the prior written consent42 of the management committee of the 
premises, or if there is no management committee, a person who has control of the 
premises in connection with the carrying on by that person of a trade, business or 
other undertaking, or failing that a person with a relevant property interest in the 
premises. 

 
36 Or healthcare provider or school proprietor. 
37 The exemption would similarly not apply, for example, to a commercial company operating on premises belonging to a local 
authority under a long term lease. 
38 See footnote 23 
39 This requirement is designed to ensure that those responsible for the premises hosting the entertainment have considered 
and approved the effect of the event on other users of their premises and the wider community. 
40 The definition of community premises is covered in paragraphs 4.56-4.60 of this Guidance. A community premises is likely to 
be multi-functional and ‘other similar building’ within the definition cannot be stretched to ordinarily include a public house, a 
bingo hall, or other business premises or private property. 
41 Where a community premises is licensed for the supply of alcohol by a premises licence (or exceptionally a club premises 
certificate), then any performance of live music or the playing of recorded music on relevant alcohol licensed premises may be 
subject to the conditional deregulation described in paragraphs 16.26-16.33. 
42 See footnote 39 

Page 213



138 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Community premises: exhibition of film 
16.22 No licence43 is required for an exhibition of a film on community premises44 between 

08.00-23.00 on any day provided that: 

•  the film entertainment is not provided with a view to profit45; 
•  the film entertainment is in the presence of an audience of no more than 500 people; 
•  the admission of children is subject to such restrictions as are necessary to comply 

with the recommendation issued by the BBFC or relevant licensing authority 
regarding the admission of children; and 

•  a person concerned in the organisation or management of the exhibition of the film 
has obtained the prior written consent46 of the management committee of the 
premises, or if there is no management committee, a person who has control of the 
premises in connection with the carrying on by that person of a trade, business or 
other undertaking, or failing that a person with a relevant property interest in the 
premises. 

16.23 Under this exemption, one condition is that the film entertainment is not being provided 
with a view to profit47. An entry charge does not of itself make the film entertainment 
licensable; it is whether the organiser intended to make a profit (that includes raising 
money for charity). A charge or contribution that is made solely to cover the costs of the 
film screening48 is consistent with ‘not being provided with a view to profit’. The ‘not with 
a view to profit’ condition applies solely to the activity of exhibiting the film under this 
exemption. A charge with a view to making a profit may legitimately be levied for any 
other activity or event that is distinct from film admission, such as the provision of 
refreshments, film talks, or a social event. 

16.24 This community film exemption is also conditional on those responsible having in place 
operating arrangements that ensure that the age rating for the film is implemented by 
means of a suitable child admission policy49. How this is achieved is a matter for the 
organisation or social group exhibiting the film. For example, they may operate a 
membership subscription scheme which pays for entry to all titles in a season and is 
limited to adults. It could be a children’s film club with a policy of only showing films that 
are suitable for all by being rated ‘U’ by the BBFC. Alternatively, the organisers could 
sell tickets to the public and ensure that children are only permitted to attend in 
accordance with any age rating for the film – i.e. a door admissions policy linked to proof 
of age. 

  

 
43 However, see paragraph 16.70 in relation to copyright 
44 See footnote 40 
45 See paragraph 16.23 
46 See footnote 39 
47 ‘not provided with a view to profit’ is the inverse of ‘with a view to profit’ mentioned in paragraph 16.13 
48 Legitimate costs of a film screening would include overheads directly relevant to providing the film entertainment (e.g. 
premises hire, film hire, equipment etc.) 
49 See 3rd bullet point in paragraph 16.22 

Page 214



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 139 

Travelling circuses 
16.25 Where types of entertainment are present in a performance by a travelling circus50 they 

will not be licensable provided that certain qualifying conditions are met51. The qualifying 
conditions are that: 

•  the entertainment is not an exhibition of a film or a boxing or wrestling entertainment; 
•  the entertainment takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day; 
•  the entertainment takes place wholly within a moveable structure and the audience 

present is accommodated wholly inside that moveable structure; and 
•  the travelling circus has not been located on the same site for more than 28 

consecutive days. 

Live music 
16.26 Live music is licensable: 

•  where a performance of live music – whether amplified or unamplified – takes place 
before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; 

•  where a performance of amplified live music does not take place either on relevant 
licensed premises, or at a workplace that is not licensed other than for the provision 
of late night refreshment; 

•  where a performance of amplified live music takes place at a time when the relevant 
licensed premises are not open for the purposes of being used for the sale or supply 
of alcohol for consumption on the premises52; 

•  where a performance of amplified live music takes place at relevant licensed 
premises, or workplaces53, in the presence of an audience of more than 500 
people54; or 

•  where a licensing authority intentionally removes the effect of the deregulation 
provided for by the 2003 Act when imposing a condition on a premises licence or club 
premises certificate as a result of a licence review55. 

16.27 In any of the above circumstances, unless the performance of live music is appropriately 
authorised by a premises licence, club premises certificate or TEN, allowing it to take 
place could lead to enforcement action and, where relevant, a review of the alcohol 
licence or certificate. 

16.28 A public performance of live unamplified music that takes place between 08.00 and 
23.00 on the same day no longer requires a licence under the 2003 Act in any location. 
An exception to this is where a specific condition related to live music is included 
following a review of the premises licence or club premises certificate in respect of 
relevant licensed premises. 

 
50 ‘Travelling circus’ is defined in the 2014 Order as meaning a circus which travels from site to site for the purpose of giving 
performances. Musical entertainment at a travelling fairground is likely to be incidental to the main attractions and rides that are 
not themselves regulated entertainment. 
51 There is no audience limit for this exemption, but the conditions are designed to ensure that deregulation does not have 
unintended consequences for the licensing objectives – e.g. only bona fide travelling circuses qualify. 
52 See Chapter 3 of this Guidance 
53 See paragraph 16.31 
54 The 2014 Order substituted “500” for “200” that was in the 2012 Act 
55 See paragraphs 16.55-16.56 

Page 215



140 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

16.29 As a result of the amendments to the 2003 Act, section 177 of the 2003 Act now only 
applies to performances of dance56. 

Key terms used in relation to live music 
16.30 Under the live music provisions, “music” includes vocal or instrumental music or any 

combination of the two. “Live music” is a performance of live music in the presence of 
an audience which it is intended to entertain. While a performance of live music can 
include the playing of some recorded music, ‘live’ music requires that the performance 
does not consist entirely of the playing of recorded music without any additional 
(substantial and continual) creative contribution being made. So, for example, a drum 
machine or backing track being used to accompany a vocalist57 or a band would be part 
of the performance of amplified live music. The performance of a DJ who is merely 
playing tracks would not be classified as live music, but it might if he or she was 
performing a set which largely consisted of mixing recorded music in a live performance 
to create new sounds58. There will inevitably be a degree of judgement as to whether a 
performance is live music (or recorded music) and organisers of events should check 
with their licensing authority if this consideration is relevant to whether the activity is 
authorised by a licence or certificate. In the event of a dispute about whether a 
performance is live music or not, it will be for the licensing authority initially and 
ultimately, for the courts to decide in the individual circumstances of any case. 

16.31 A “workplace” is as defined in regulation 2(1) of the Workplace (Health, Safety and 
Welfare) Regulations 1992 and is anywhere that is made available to any person as a 
place of work. It is a very wide term which can include outdoor spaces, as well as the 
means of entry and exit. 

16.32 A “relevant licensed premises” for the purposes of this chapter is one which is 
authorised to sell or supply alcohol for consumption on the premises by a premises 
licence or club premises certificate. Premises cannot benefit from the deregulation 
introduced by the 2012 Act by virtue of holding an authorisation for the sale or supply of 
alcohol under a TEN.59 

Recorded music 
16.33 No licence is required for recorded music where it takes place on premises which are 

authorised by a premises licence or club premises certificate to be used for the supply 
of alcohol for consumption on the premises. However, recorded music remains 
licensable: 

•  where the playing of recorded music takes places before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any 
day; 

•  where the playing of recorded music takes place at a time when the relevant licensed 
premises are not open for the purposes of being used for the sale or supply of 
alcohol for consumption on the premises;60 

•  where the playing of recorded music takes place at relevant licensed premises in the 

 
56 See paragraph 2.13. Post the 2013 Order, Section177 can be relevant to a performance of dance after 23.00 on any day 
57 Karaoke is generally classed as a performance of live music 
58 This would include ‘scratching’ 
59 TENs are covered in chapter 7 
60 See Chapter 3 of this Guidance 

Page 216



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 141 

presence of an audience of more than 500 people; and 
•  where a licensing authority intentionally removes the effect of the deregulation 

provided for by the 2003 Act (as amended).61 

Plays and dance 
16.34 No licence is required for a performance of a play or dance to the extent that certain 

qualifying conditions62 are satisfied. However a performance of a play or dance remains 
licensable: 

•  where the performance takes places before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; or 
•  where the performance takes place in the presence of an audience of more than 500 

people. 

Indoor Sport 
16.35 No licence is required for an indoor sporting event to the extent that certain qualifying 

conditions63 are satisfied. However an indoor sporting event remains licensable: 

•  where the event takes places before 08.00 or after 23.00 on any day; 
•  where the event takes place in the presence of more than 1000 spectators. 

Licence conditions 
Live Music or recorded music 
16.36 Any existing licence conditions64 (or conditions added on a determination of an 

application for a premises licence or club premises certificate65) which relate to live 
music or recorded music remain in place, but are suspended between the hours of 
08.00 and 23.00 on the same day where the following conditions are met: 

•  at the time of the music entertainment, the premises are open for the purposes of 
being used for the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises; 

•  if the music is amplified, it takes place before an audience of no more than 500 
people; and 

•  the music takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day. 

16.37 Whether a licence condition relates to live or recorded music will be a matter of fact in 
each case. In some instances, it will be obvious that a condition relates to music and will 
be suspended, for example “during performances of live music all doors and windows 
must remain closed”. In other instances, it might not be so obvious: for example, a 
condition stating “during performances of regulated entertainment all doors and 
windows must remain closed” would be suspended insofar as it relates to music 
between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day to an audience of up to 500, but the 
condition would continue to apply if there was regulated entertainment after 23.00. 

16.38 More general licence conditions (e.g. those relating to overall management of potential 
noise nuisance) that are not specifically related to the provision of entertainment (e.g. 

 
61 This would be by way of imposing a condition on a premises licence or club premises certificate as a result of a licence 
review, see paragraphs 16.55-16.56 
62 See paragraphs 16.6 and 16.45-16.48 
63 See paragraph 16.6. 
64 In relation to relevant licensed premises, see paragraph 16.32 
65 See paragraphs 16.39-16.40 

Page 217



142 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

signage asking patrons to leave quietly) will continue to have effect. 

16.39 Chapter 9 of this Guidance sets out how a licensing authority must determine 
applications for a new licence or to vary an existing premises licence. Licence 
conditions imposed, in accordance with paragraphs 9.42 to 9.44, for live or recorded 
music activities will only apply if the activity meets the criteria of having more than 500 
people present, and/or the activities are taking place between 23.00 and 08.00. 

16.40 These conditions will, in effect, be suspended between 08.00 and 23.00 if a 
performance of live music or the playing of recorded music takes place before an 
audience of 500 people or fewer, but will remain on the face of the licence for when 
these activities may take place under other circumstances. 

16.41 Where a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music on relevant 
licensed premises is not licensable, it remains possible for anyone to apply for a review 
of a licence or certificate, if there are appropriate grounds to do so.66 

Beer gardens 
16.42 Beer gardens are often included as part of a premises licence or club premises 

certificate. Live amplified music that takes place in a beer garden is exempt from 
licensing requirements, provided the beer garden is included in the licence or certificate 
applying to the relevant licensed premises, and the performance takes place between 
08.00 and 23.00 on the same day before an audience of 500 people or fewer. 

16.43 Where a beer garden does not form part of the relevant licensed premises and so is not 
included in plans attached to a premises licence or club premises certificate, it is 
nevertheless very likely that it will be a workplace67. Paragraph 12B of Schedule 1 to the 
2003 Act says that a performance of live music in a workplace that does not have a 
licence (except to provide late night refreshment) is not regulated entertainment if it 
takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day in front of an audience of no 
more than 500 people. Note that the exemption in paragraph 12B does not apply to the 
playing of recorded music. 

16.44 However, a licensing authority may, where justified68, impose a licence condition that 
relates to the performance of live music in an unlicensed beer garden being served by 
any associated premises licence or club premises certificate. Provided such a condition 
is lawfully imposed, it takes effect in accordance with its terms. 

Plays, dance and indoor sport 
16.45 Where qualifying conditions are satisfied69, any current licence condition that relates to 

a performance of a play or dance, or an indoor sporting event for which a licence is no 
longer required will (except in the circumstances described in the next paragraph) have 
no effect. 

16.46 Where, however, these non-licensable activities take place at the same time as other 

 
66 See paragraphs 16.55-16.56 and chapter 11. 
67 A beer garden is one example of a potential workplace, see paragraph 16.31. Whether other outdoor spaces (such as seating 
adjacent to a premises, a smoking shelter, or a car park) constitute a workplace, part of the licensed premises, or neither, will be 
a matter of fact in each case. 
68 Including on a licence review 
69 See paragraph 16.6 

Page 218



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 143 

activities for which a licence is required (e.g. the sale or supply of alcohol for 
consumption on the premises), conditions included in a licence may nevertheless apply 
to the non-licensable activities in the circumstances set out in paragraphs 16.52 and 
16.53 (conditions relating to other non-licensable activities). 

16.47 Dance that is sufficiently sexual in nature continues to be regulated. Performances of 
dance which are “relevant entertainment” within the meaning of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (“the 1982 Act”) are not deregulated, regardless of 
the size of the audience or the time of day. “Relevant entertainment” is defined in the 
1982 Act as a live performance or live display of nudity that, ignoring financial gain, can 
be assumed to be provided solely or principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating 
any member of the audience.70 

16.48 In almost all cases where a performance of dance is potentially licensable as both the 
provision of relevant entertainment (under the 1982 Act) and regulated entertainment 
(under the 2003 Act), the 1982 Act disapplies the entertainment licensing regime in the 
2003 Act in favour of its stricter regime for the control of sex establishments. However, 
an authorisation under the 2003 Act rather than the 1982 Act will continue to be required 
where: 

•  the premises are not licensed as a sex entertainment venue under the 1982 Act, and 
•  relevant entertainment has been provided at those premises on no more than 11 

occasions in any 12 month period, with none of those occasions lasting longer than 
24 hours or taking place within a month of any other such occasion. 

Boxing or wrestling entertainment and conditions relating to combined 
fighting sports 
16.49 An indoor boxing or wrestling entertainment cannot also be an indoor sporting event, 

and any contest, exhibition or display that combines boxing or wrestling with one or 
more martial arts (‘combined fighting sports’) is – whether indoors or not – a boxing or 
wrestling entertainment. 

16.50 Where a premises licence or club premises certificate purports to authorise a boxing or 
wrestling entertainment or combined fighting sports as an ‘indoor sporting event’, the 
2013 Order provides that the authorisation will be treated as having authorised those 
activities as a boxing or wrestling entertainment. Those activities will continue to be 
subject to any relevant conditions attached to that authorisation. 

16.51 A contest, exhibition or display of Greco-Roman wrestling, or of freestyle wrestling, 
between two participants (regardless of their sex) does not require a licence provided 
that certain qualifying conditions are met. They are that: 

•  it takes place in the presence of no more than 1,000 spectators; 
•  it takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day; and 
•  it take place wholly inside a building and the spectators present at that entertainment 

are accommodated wholly inside that building. 

 
70 Home Office Guidance is available at: 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100413151441/http://crimereduction.homeoffice.gov.uk/crimereduction057a.pdf  

Page 219

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100413151441/http:/crimereduction.homeoffice.gov.uk/crimereduction057a.pdf


144 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Conditions relating to other non-licensable activities 
16.52 If appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives, and if there is a link to 

remaining licensable activities, conditions that relate to non-licensable activities can be 
added to or altered on that premises licence or club premises certificate at review 
following problems occurring at the premises. This has been a feature of licence 
conditions since the 2003 Act came into force. A relevant example could be the use of 
conditions relating to large screen broadcasts of certain sporting events which, 
combined with alcohol consumption, could create a genuine risk to the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. It is also not uncommon for licence conditions relating to the sale of 
alcohol to restrict access to outside areas, such as unlicensed beer gardens, after a 
certain time. 

16.53 Similarly, while karaoke no longer needs licensing as the provision of entertainment 
facilities71 (and will generally be classed as a performance of live music72) it might, for 
example, be possible on review to limit the use or volume of a microphone made 
available for customers on an ‘open-mic’ night (which encompasses more than just live 
music), if a problem had occurred because of customers purchasing alcohol for 
consumption on the premises becoming louder and less aware of causing noise 
nuisance later in the evening. Another example might be a condition restricting access 
to a dance floor at certain times, where the presence of customers in close proximity 
who had been consuming alcohol on the premises had led to serious disorder. In the 
first instance it is for the licensing authority to satisfy itself that a particular condition is 
appropriate and lawful in each case. 

Removing licence conditions 
16.54 A licence holder who wishes to remove conditions relating to activities that are no longer 

licensable73 may apply to the licensing authority for a licence variation. In the course of 
considering such applications, licensing authorities should remove such conditions 
unless there are sufficiently serious and specific concerns about the effects of hosting 
deregulated entertainment activities along with the remaining licensable activities taking 
place in the premises. 

Licence reviews: Live and recorded music 
16.55 On a review of a premises licence or club premises certificate, section 177A(3) of the 

2003 Act permits a licensing authority to lift the suspension74 and give renewed effect 
to an existing condition relating to music. Similarly, under section 177A(4), a licensing 
authority may add a condition relating to music as if music were regulated 
entertainment, and as if that premises licence or club premises certificate licensed the 
music. In both instances the condition should include a statement that Section 177A 
does not apply to the condition. 

 
71 As a result of the 2012 Act 
72 Karaoke is generally classed as a ‘performance of live music’, and provided that it is genuinely taking place, it is not likely to 
be classed as the ‘playing of recorded music’ 
73 A licence holder may favour removal if the previously licensable activity has “grandfather” conditions that are out of date, or 
unclear. Where such a condition in relation to live or recorded music is suspended, then the licence holder may wish to avoid 
any prospect of the condition being given renewed effect (were a suspension to be lifted following a licence review). 
74 See paragraph 16.36. 

Page 220



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 145 

16.56 An application for a review in relation to relevant premises can be made by a licensing 
authority, any responsible authority or any other person. Applications for review must 
still be relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives and meet a number of further 
requirements75. 

Incidental music 
16.57 The performance of live music or playing of recorded music is not regulated 

entertainment under the 2003 Act if it is ‘incidental’ to another activity “which is not itself 
a description of entertainment falling within paragraph 2” of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. 

16.58 The incidental music exemption can apply to an indoor sporting event or a performance 
of a play or dance for which no licence is required, as it takes place between 08.00 and 
23.00 on the same day and before an audience which does not exceed the relevant 
limit. This is because such an activity is no longer a description of entertainment within 
the meaning of paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. This means that, while a 
performance of live music or the playing of recorded music cannot be incidental to a 
boxing or wrestling entertainment76 such music may be within the scope of the 
incidental music exemption for an indoor sporting event or performance of a play or 
dance for which no licence is required. 

16.59 Whether or not music is “incidental” to another activity will depend on the facts of each 
case. In considering whether or not live or recorded music is incidental, one relevant 
factor could be whether, against a background of the other activities already taking 
place, the addition of music will create the potential to undermine the promotion of one 
or more of the four licensing objectives of the 2003 Act. Other factors might include 
some or all of the following: 

•  Is the music the main, or one of the main, reasons for people attending the premises 
and being charged? 

•  Is the music advertised as the main attraction? 
•  Does the volume of the music disrupt or predominate over other activities, or could it 

be described as ‘background’ music? 

16.60 Conversely, factors which would not normally be relevant in themselves include: 

•  the number of musicians, e.g. an orchestra providing incidental music at a large 
exhibition; 

•  whether musicians are paid; 
•  whether the performance is pre-arranged; and 
•  whether a charge is made for admission to the premises. 

16.61 In any disputed case, it will be for the licensing authority initially and, ultimately, for the 
courts to consider whether music is “incidental” in the individual circumstances of any 
case. 

  

 
75 See Chapter 11 for more information about reviews under the 2003 Act. 
76 And as such, the music entertainment needs to be authorised under the 2003 Act. This would include music during a Greco-
Roman or freestyle wrestling entertainment. While, depending on the circumstances, the Greco-Roman or freestyle wrestling 
may, or may not be licensable, it is still within the ‘description’ of a ‘wrestling entertainment’. 

Page 221



146 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Busking 
16.62 Busking or street performance is the practice of performing in public spaces for money. 

Performances are not limited to music or singing and can take the form of a wide range 
of activities that people find entertaining. 

16.63 Busking is generally not licensable under the 2003 Act as: 

•  it often occurs in a place that is not a premises made available (at least in part) for 
the purposes of providing entertainment77; 

•  the entertainment is usually incidental to another activity, such as shopping or 
sightseeing, as there are few circumstances in which anyone would go out 
specifically to watch buskers; and 

•  any unamplified live music is not licensable between 08.00 and 23.0078. 

16.64 Local authorities may have policies on busking, including codes of conduct or permit 
regimes and occasionally byelaws and legislation specific to a local authority – although 
many localities have no policy or restrictions. 

Incidental film 
16.65 An exhibition of a film within the meaning of paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act 

is not regulated entertainment if it is ‘incidental’ to another activity “which is not itself a 
description of entertainment falling within paragraph 2” of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. 

16.66 The incidental film exemption can apply to an indoor sporting event or a performance of 
a play or dance for which no licence is required as it takes place between 08.00 and 
23.00 on the same day before an audience which does not exceed the relevant limit. 
Such activities would no longer be a description of entertainment within the meaning of 
paragraph 2 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act. This means that, while any exhibition of 
moving pictures cannot be incidental to a boxing or wrestling entertainment79, such film 
displays may be within the scope of the incidental film exemption for an indoor sporting 
event or performance of a play or dance for which no licence is required.80 

16.67 Whether or not an exhibition of moving pictures is “incidental” to another activity will 
depend on the facts of each case. In considering whether or not film is incidental, one 
relevant factor could be whether, against a background of the other activities already 
taking place, the addition of an exhibition of moving images will create the potential to 
undermine the promotion of one or more of the four licensing objectives of the 2003 Act. 
This would mean that if the BBFC or the relevant licensing authority has given an age 
rating to a film, video, or music video, then to qualify for the “incidental film” licensing 
exemption, the admission of children to the premises will need to be restricted in 
accordance with the appropriate age rating. But that is one aspect of one relevant 
factor. Other factors to consider in assessing whether film is incidental might include 
some or all of the following: 

 
77 See paragraph 16.3 
78 See paragraph 16.28 
79 And as such, the film display needs to be authorised under the 2003 Act. This would include moving pictures during a Greco-
Roman or freestyle wrestling entertainment. While, depending on the circumstances, the Greco- Roman or freestyle wrestling 
may, or may not be licensable, it is still within the ‘description’ of a ‘wrestling entertainment’. 
80 For indoor sporting events, it takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 in front of an audience which does not exceed 1,000. 

Page 222



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 147 

•  Is the film the main, or one of the main, reasons for people attending the premises 
and being charged? 

•  Is the film advertised as the main attraction? 
•  Does the screening of the film predominate over other activities, or could it be 

described as ‘background’ images? 
•  Does the appearance of moving pictures within another entertainment activity, for 

which no licence is required (e.g. a performance of a play or dance81), undermine the 
promotion of the licensing objectives? 

16.68 In any disputed case, it will be for the licensing authority initially and, ultimately, for the 
courts to consider whether film is “incidental” in the individual circumstances of any 
case. 

Entertainment activity provided as part of childcare 
16.69 Entertainment activity that is provided as part of childcare will generally not be 

licensable. This includes entertainment activity in a nursery or private home. In addition, 
paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act includes a licensing exemption for an 
exhibition of a film where the main purpose is to provide education. Education will 
generally include all forms of pre-school child and day care. Furthermore, an exhibition 
of a film, or the playing of live or recorded music, will generally be incidental to the 
activity of childcare and so the incidental music and film exemption in paragraph 7 of 
Schedule 1 will also apply82. This will generally be the case for any entertainment 
activity organised as part of wraparound childcare83, including breakfast clubs, after 
school clubs or holiday clubs linked to the child’s school or based in the local 
community. 

Other Licensing regimes 
Copyright 
16.70 The deregulation of licensing for the provision of entertainment under the 2003 Act does 

not remove the requirement for licences for the use of copyright works. Entertainment 
activities as described in paragraph 16.2 may require music and screening licences for 
example. The acquisition of such licences will make the entertainment compliant with 
the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.84 

Leafleting 
16.71 The deregulation of entertainment licensing does not remove the prohibition on the 

unauthorised distribution of free printed matter in an area that has been designated 
under Schedule 3A of the Environmental Protection Act 199085. The organisers of the 
event or entertainment may need to obtain consent from the relevant principal litter 
authority before giving out free printed promotional material (leaflets, flyers, cards etc.) 
in a public place in certain areas. 

 
81 See paragraph 16.34 
82 See paragraphs 16.57-16.61 and 16.65-16.68 
83 Childcare for school aged children around traditional school hours 
84 Further information concerning how to acquire such licences can be found on  at https://www.gov.uk/licence-to-play-live-or-
recorded-music 
85 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/schedule/3A 

Page 223

https://www.gov.uk/licence-to-play-live-or-recorded-music
https://www.gov.uk/licence-to-play-live-or-recorded-music
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/schedule/3A


148 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Child performers 
16.72 Child performance legislation86 requires that a licence must be obtained from a child’s 

home local authority before a child can take part in certain types of performance and 
activities. A licence may be required whether or not any payment is made for the child to 
perform. The deregulation of entertainment licensing does not alter the regulations on 
when children can take part in performances87. 

 

  

 
86  Children and Young Persons Acts 1933 and 1963; The Children (Performances and Activities) (England) Regulations 2014 
and The Children (Performances and Activities) (Wales) Regulations 2015 
87  The Children (Performances and Activities) (England) Regulations 2014 and The Children (Performances and Activities) 
(Wales) Regulations 2015 

Page 224



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 149 

17. Early morning alcohol restriction orders 
General 
17.1 This chapter provides guidance to licensing authorities about Early Morning Alcohol 

Restriction Orders (“EMROs”). The power conferred on licensing authorities to make, 
vary or revoke an EMRO (or propose to take any of these steps) is set out in sections 
172A to 172E of the 2003 Act. The exercise of the licensing authority’s functions may be 
delegated by its committee to a sub-committee, other than the decision to make, vary or 
revoke an EMRO (which is exercised by its full council). This power enables a licensing 
authority to prohibit the sale of alcohol for a specified time period between the hours of 
12am and 6am in the whole or part of its area, if it is satisfied that this would be 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

17.2 EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such as high levels of alcohol-
related crime and disorder in specific areas at specific times; serious public nuisance; 
and other instances of alcohol-related anti-social behaviour which is not directly 
attributable to specific premises. 

17.3 An EMRO: 

•  applies to the supply of alcohol authorised by premises licences, club premises 
certificates and temporary event notices; 

•  applies for any period beginning at or after 12am and ending at or before 6am. It 
does not have to apply on every day of the week, and can apply for different time 
periods on different days of the week; 

•  applies for a limited or unlimited period (for example, an EMRO could be introduced 
for a few weeks to apply to a specific event); 

•  applies to the whole or any part of the licensing authority’s area; 
•  will not apply to any premises on New Year’s Eve (defined as 12am to 6am on 1 

January each year); 
•  will not apply to the supply of alcohol by those who provide hotel or similar 

accommodation to their residents between 12 am and 6am, provided the alcohol is 
sold at those times only through mini-bars and/or room service; and 

•  will not apply to a relaxation of licensing hours by virtue of an order made under 
section 172 of the 2003 Act. 

The EMRO process 
17.4 An EMRO can apply to the whole or part of the licensing authority’s area. The area may, 

for example, comprise a single floor of a shopping complex or exclude premises which 
have clearly demonstrated to the licensing authority that the licensable activities carried 
on there do not contribute to the problems which form the basis for the proposed 
EMRO. 

17.5 If the licensing authority  has already published a Cumulative Impact Assessment 
(“CIA”)  (see Chapter 14 of this Guidance), it should consider the relationship between 
the CIA and proposed EMRO area, and the potential overall impact on its local licensing 
policy. 

Page 225



150 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

17.6 Introducing an EMRO is a licensing function. Therefore, this is not the responsibility of a 
council’s executive. The final decision to make an EMRO (or to vary or revoke one) 
must be made by the full council of the licensing authority. Any preceding steps, 
including advertising the proposed EMRO, holding hearings and making a determination 
to put before the full council for its final decision, are for the licensing committee of the 
licensing authority. The licensing committee may delegate these steps to the licensing 
sub- committee or officers as it sees fit. 

Evidence 
17.7 When establishing its evidence base for making an EMRO, a licensing authority88 may 

wish to consider the approach set out in paragraphs 14.29 to 14.33 of this Guidance 
which includes indicative types of evidence, although this should not be considered an 
exhaustive list of the types of evidence which may be relevant. These matters are not 
necessarily determinative. They include but are not necessarily limited to: 

•  local crime and disorder statistics, including statistics on specific types of crime and 
crime hotspots, statistics on local anti-social behaviour offences, 

•  environmental health complaints, particularly in relation to litter and noise; 
•  complaints recorded by the local authority, which may include complaints raised by 

local residents or residents’ associations; 
•  residents’ questionnaires; 
•  trends in licence applications, particularly trends in applications by types of premises 

and terminal hours; 
•  changes in terminal hours of premises; 
•  capacities of different premises at different times of night and the expected 

concentrations of drinkers who will be expected to be leaving premises at different 
times. 

17.8 Before a licensing authority makes a determination to recommend to the full council that 
it makes a proposed EMRO, it should be satisfied that it has sufficient evidence to 
demonstrate that making the EMRO would be appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. The requirement to take an evidence-based decision to promote 
the licensing objectives should enable licensing authorities to draw on their experience 
from other licensing decisions they make under the 2003 Act, such as the determination 
of applications for the grant of premises licences. The licensing authority should 
consider evidence from partners, including from responsible authorities and local 
Community Safety Partnerships, alongside its own evidence, to determine whether an 
EMRO would be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives.  

Introducing an EMRO 
17.9 An EMRO is a powerful tool which will prevent licensed premises in the area to which 

the EMRO relates from supplying alcohol during the times at which the EMRO applies. 
The licensing authority should consider whether other measures may address the 
problems that they have identified as the basis for introducing an EMRO. As set out in 

 
88 The final decision to make an EMRO (or to vary or revoke one) must be made by the full council of the licensing authority. 
However, all preceding steps, including advertising the proposed EMRO, holding hearings and making a determination to put 
before the full council for its final decision, are for the licensing committee of the licensing authority. The licensing committee 
may delegate these steps to the licensing sub-committee or officers as it sees fit. 

Page 226



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 151 

paragraphs 9.42-9.44 of this Guidance, when determining whether a step is appropriate 
to promote the licensing objectives, a licensing authority is not required to decide that no 
lesser step will achieve the aim. They should, however, consider whether taking that 
step is reasonable, justified and proportionate. The introduction of an EMRO may have 
far-reaching, wider impacts on the socio-economic circumstances in an area. In 
considering whether the introduction of an EMRO is an appropriate step to promote the 
licensing objectives, based on whether this is reasonable, justified and proportionate, a 
licensing authority may hold informal discussions early in the process with a range of 
interested partners; these include, but are not limited to, premises that may be affected 
by the introduction of the EMRO. Other measures that could be taken instead of making 
an EMRO might include: 

•  working in partnership with licensed premises on voluntary measures and 
encouraging the creation of business-led best practice schemes in the area; 

•  reviewing licences of specific problem premises; 
•  introducing a CIA; 
•  use of the new closure power in the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 

2014 which replaces section 161 of the 2003 Licensing Act. This new closure power 
can be used to protect victims and communities by quickly closing premises that are 
causing nuisance or disorder. Further guidance on this power can be found on the 
gov.uk website, under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act: anti-social 
behaviour guidance; 

•  use of other mechanisms such as those set out in paragraph 14.47 of this Guidance 

17.10 If the licensing authority has identified a problem in a specific area attributable to the 
supply of alcohol at two or more premises in that area, and has sufficient evidence to 
demonstrate that it is appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives, it can 
propose making an EMRO. The licensing authority should first decide on the matters 
which must be the subject of the proposal. These are: 

•  the days (and periods on those days) on which the EMRO would apply; 
•  the area to which the EMRO would apply; 
•  the period for which the EMRO would apply (if it is a finite period); and 
•  the date from which the proposed EMRO would apply. 

In relation to the date when it plans to introduce the EMRO, the licensing authority 
should note that this may change when it is specified in the final order without the need 
to formally consult on the new date (as if it was a new proposal), provided it does not 
adversely affect any person as described in paragraph 17.21.  

Advertising an EMRO 
17.11 The proposed EMRO must be advertised. The licensing authority should include a short 

summary of the evidence and the manner in which representations can be made in the 
document, as well as the details of the proposed EMRO. The proposal must be 
advertised for at least 42 days (a reference in this Chapter to a period of “days” means a 
period comprising calendar days and not only working days). The licensing authority 
must publish the proposal on its website and in a local newspaper. If no newspaper 
exists, it must be published in a local newsletter, circular or similar document. The 
licensing authority must also send a notice of the proposal to all affected people in its 

Page 227



152 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

area. They are: 

•  holders of (and applicants for) premises licences or club premises certificates to 
which the proposed EMRO would apply; 

•  premises users in relation to TENs to which the proposed EMRO would apply; 
•  those who have received a provisional statement in respect of a premises to which 

the proposed EMRO would apply. 

17.12 Licensing authorities must, moreover, display a notice of the proposal in the area to 
which the EMRO would apply, in a manner which is likely to bring the proposal to the 
attention of those who may have an interest in it. 

17.13 The licensing authority should also inform responsible authorities in its area and 
neighbouring licensing authorities of its proposal to make an EMRO. It may also like to 
consider what further steps could be taken, in any particular case, to publicise the 
proposal in order to draw it to the wider attention of any other persons who are likely to 
have an interest in it. 

Representations 
17.14 Those who are affected by a proposed EMRO, responsible authorities or any other 

person have 42 days (starting on the day after the day on which the proposed EMRO is 
advertised) to make relevant representations. To be considered a relevant 
representation, a representation must: 

•  be about the likely effect of the making of the EMRO on the promotion of the 
licensing objectives; 

•  be made in writing in the prescribed form and manner, setting out the EMRO to which 
it relates and the nature of the representation; 

•  be received within the deadline; and 
•  if made by a person other than a responsible authority, not be frivolous or vexatious. 

Chapter 9 of this Guidance gives further advice on determining whether a 
representation is frivolous or vexatious. Representations can be made in relation to any 
aspect of the proposed EMRO. If a licensing authority decides that a representation is 
not relevant, it should consider informing the person who has made that representation. 

17.15 Responsible authorities may wish to make representations, as may affected persons (as 
set out in the above paragraph). 

17.16 Others may also wish to make representations about the proposed EMRO. These 
persons could include, but are not limited to: 

•  residents; 
•  employees of affected businesses; 
•  owners and employees of businesses outside the proposed EMRO area; and 
•  users of the late night economy. 

Hearings 
17.17 If a relevant representation or representations are received, the licensing authority must 

hold a hearing to consider them (unless the authority and anyone who has made 
representations agree that this is unnecessary). The licensing authority should consider, 

Page 228



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 153 

based on the number of relevant representations received by it and any other 
circumstances it considers appropriate, whether to hold the hearing over several days, 
which could be arranged to take place other than on consecutive working days. 

17.18 As described in paragraph 17.6, a hearing to consider representations in relation to an 
EMRO may be held by the licensing committee, the licensing sub-committee or an 
officer of the licensing authority. It is recommended, however, that such hearings be 
conducted by the licensing committee or sub-committee. 

17.19 Licensing committees or sub-committees89 should be familiar with the hearing process 
as it has similarities with other processes under the 2003 Act. Further guidance on 
hearings can be found in Chapter 9 of this Guidance (paragraphs 9.31 to 9.41). 
However, licensing authorities should note the following key points in relation to a 
hearing about a proposed EMRO: 

•  the hearing must be commenced within 30 working days, beginning with the day after 
the end of the period during which representations may be made; 

•  the hearing does not have to take place on consecutive working days, if an authority 
considers this to be necessary to enable it to consider any of the representations 
made by a party or if it considers this approach to be in the public interest; 

•  a licensing committee or sub-committee must make its determination within 10 
working days of the conclusion of the hearing; 

•  the licensing committee or sub-committee is not required to notify those making 
representations of its determination; and 

•  the licensing authority may give notices in relation to a hearing by electronic means 
provided it is satisfied that the text of the notice is capable of being accessed by the 
recipient, it is legible in all material respects and is capable of being reproduced in 
written form (e.g. printed by the recipient). 

17.20 The licensing committee or sub-committee will determine the manner in which the 
hearing will be conducted in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) 
Regulations 2005. If a licensing committee or sub-committee determines that a 
representation is frivolous or vexatious, it must notify in writing the person who made the 
representation. 

17.21 As a result of the hearing, the licensing committee or sub-committee has three options: 

•  to determine that the proposed EMRO is appropriate for promotion of the licensing 
objectives; 

•  to determine that the proposed EMRO is not appropriate for the promotion of the 
objectives and therefore that the process should be ended; 

•  to determine that the proposed EMRO should be modified. 

In the final case, if the authority proposes that the modified EMRO should differ from the 
initial proposal in relation to the area specified, any day not in the initial proposal or the 
period of any day specified, the authority should advertise what is in effect a new 
proposal to make an EMRO in the manner described above, so that further 
representations may be made. However, there will be cases in which it may be possible 

 
89 This could also be done by a licensing officer, however, it is recommended that representations in relation to an EMRO are 
conducted by the licensing committee or sub-committee. 

Page 229



154 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

to modify the terms of a proposed EMRO without being required to formally consult. 
This may arise where the modified terms would not have a more adverse effect on any 
person (primarily, if not solely, licensed premises which will be subject of the EMRO) 
than the EMRO in the terms in which it was originally proposed. Such cases may 
include the following: 

•  the modification may shorten the period during which the EMRO would apply or 
reduce the number of days on which it applies, provided these periods were a part of 
the original proposal. For example, a change to an EMRO applying on Fridays and 
Saturdays to just applying on Saturdays may not require re advertisement and 
consultation of the EMRO design, whereas changing the days the EMRO applies on 
from Fridays and Saturdays to just Thursdays might reasonably be expected to 
require further consultation; 

•  the date on which the EMRO commences is later than that described in the original 
proposal; 

Licensing authorities should consider very carefully in each case (including in relation to 
legality) whether further consultation on a proposed modification to the EMRO is 
necessary. 

Final EMRO 
17.22 If the licensing authority determines that the proposed EMRO is appropriate for the 

promotion of the licensing objectives, its determination must be put to the full council for 
its final decision. There is no time specified in legislation by which the full council must 
make this decision. This is intended to reflect the fact that the licensing authority may 
only meet in full council infrequently. 

17.23 The matters set out in the final order must be no different from the matters set out in the 
proposal to make the order, subject to the caveat described above in paragraph 17.21. 
The order must be set out in the prescribed form and contain the prescribed content. 

17.24 No later than 7 days after the day on which the EMRO is made, the licensing authority 
must send a notice to all affected persons of the EMRO, and make the order available 
for at least 28 days on its website and by displaying a notice in the EMRO area. A 
licensing authority should retain details of the EMRO on its website for as long as the 
EMRO is in force. It is recommended that the licensing authority advises neighbouring 
licensing authorities and the Secretary of State that the order has been made, the 
nature of the order and when (and for how long) it will take effect. 

17.25 The licensing authority should monitor the effectiveness of the EMRO to ensure it 
continues to be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives and periodically 
review whether it is appropriate to continue to apply it. The licensing authority should 
consider setting out its policy in relation to reviewing EMROs (if any) in its statement of 
licensing policy. 

17.26 The variation or revocation of an order requires the licensing authority to undertake the 
same process as that which applied on its introduction; that is after gathering the 
appropriate evidence, it advertises its new EMRO proposal, following the process set 
out above so that those affected and anyone else can make representations. 

17.27 If an order applies for a finite period, the order will cease to apply on its last day. If the 
licensing authority wishes to introduce a further (new) EMRO, it must follow the full 

Page 230



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 155 

process for proposing a new EMRO. 

17.28 Licensing authorities should update their statement of licensing policy (in accordance 
with section 5 of the 2003 Act) to include reference to the EMRO as soon as reasonably 
possible. 

Exceptions to an EMRO 
17.29 EMROs will not apply on New Year’s Eve in recognition of its status as a national 

celebration. The supply of alcohol to residents through mini-bars and room service in 
premises with overnight accommodation will also not be subject to an EMRO. 

Enforcement of EMROs 
17.30 The sale or supply of alcohol in contravention of an EMRO is an ‘unauthorised 

licensable activity’ which is an offence under section 136 of the 2003 Act. Moreover, it 
may result in a closure notice being served on the premises under section  76 of the 
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 as a precursor to an application for 
a closure order under section 80 of that Act (which requires the constable or authority 
that issued the notice to apply to a magistrates’ court not later than 48 hours after the 
service of the closure notice). This may alternatively, result in the licence being 
reviewed on crime prevention grounds. Further information on reviews can be found in 
Chapter 11 of this Guidance. 

17.31 An EMRO overrides all authorisations to supply alcohol under the 2003 Act (including 
temporary event notices). It is immaterial whether an authorisation was granted before 
or after an EMRO was made as there are no authorisations that have the effect of 
authorising the sale of alcohol during the EMRO period, with the only exception being a 
licensing hours order made under section 172 of the 2003 Act. 

 

Page 231



156 | Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 

EMRO Process Flowchart 
 

 

 

The final order is approved 
by full. 

The amendments are minor 
and no more detrimental to 
business than the original 

order. 

The licensing authority decides on a start date for the order, notifies affected premises and advertises the order for 
at least 28 days on its website and in the area affected by the order. 

The EMRO begins to apply. 

Licensing authority ensures it has the necessary evidence to demonstrate that the EMRO is appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives. (17.7) 

Licensing authority decides on the details of a proposed order, including area, days and times. (17.10) 

Licensing authority sets out details of the proposed order in a document which is posted on the licensing authority 
website. The EMRO must be advertised for at least 42 days on its website and in a local newspaper or circular. 

(17.11) 
 

Licensing authority notifies directly all responsible authorities and affected parties. They must also take all 
reasonable steps to display a notice in the area in which it would apply. (17.12) 

Affected persons have 42 days to make any representations regarding the order. (17.14) 

Licensing authority considers representations made. This can be through an informal discussion if the authority 
and people who have made representations agree that a hearing is not necessary. If a hearing is required, 

authorities must ensure it is held in accordance with the law. (17.17-17.21) 

Making the order in its original form 
is considered appropriate. 

Licensing authority decides 
that making the order is not 
appropriate and uses other 

tools. 

Amendments to the order are 
considered appropriate. 

The amendments would change the 
days or the areas to which the order 

applies from those covered in the 
original order. 

There are recurring alcohol-related problems between midnight and 6am in a 
particular area. 

Licensing authority considers that an EMRO may be a solution. 
Informal discussions with businesses that may be affected could be held at this stage. 

 
An EMRO is seen as the best option to 
address the problems within an area. 

This option addresses the problems within the 
area; no EMRO is necessary. 

Page 232



Revised Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 I 157 

 

Annex – Counter Terrorism  

 

We have collected here for ease of reference a number of resources relating to public safety at venues 
and events which licensing authorities may find helpful when considering applications where enhanced 
security concerns may be relevant.  

LGA Councillors Handbook 

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/licensing-act-2003-councillors-handbook-england-and-
wales-0 

Case study from Manchester relating to use of licensing conditions 

https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/manchester-city-council-security-and-licensing 

Supporting links to wider counter terrorism measures which may be helpful for licenced premises and 
Local Authorities.  

https://www.protectuk.police.uk/first-aid-preparedness-organisations 

https://www.protectuk.police.uk/advice-and-guidance/response/supporting-information-public-
access-trauma-first-aid-kits 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 233

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/licensing-act-2003-councillors-handbook-england-and-wales-0
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/licensing-act-2003-councillors-handbook-england-and-wales-0
https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/manchester-city-council-security-and-licensing
https://www.protectuk.police.uk/first-aid-preparedness-organisations
https://www.protectuk.police.uk/advice-and-guidance/response/supporting-information-public-access-trauma-first-aid-kits
https://www.protectuk.police.uk/advice-and-guidance/response/supporting-information-public-access-trauma-first-aid-kits

	Agenda
	1 LICENSING ACT 2003 - PREMISE LICENCE GRANT-SCALE HALL STORES, LANCASTER, LA1 1HD - DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION FOLLOWING RELEVANT REPRESENTATIONS
	APPENDIX 1 - APPLICATION AND PLAN
	APPENDIX 2 - OBJECTION 1 - 14 REDACTED
	APPENDIX 3 - Statement of Licensing Policy 2023-2027
	APPENDIX 4 - Government Section 182 Guidance
	Contents
	1. Introduction
	The Licensing Act 2003
	Licensing objectives and aims
	The guidance
	Purpose
	Legal status
	Licensing policies
	Licensable activities
	Authorisations or permissions
	General principles
	Licence conditions – general principles
	Each application on its own merits
	Additional guidance
	Other relevant legislation

	2. The licensing objectives
	Crime and disorder
	Public safety
	Ensuring safe departure of those using the premises
	Maintenance and repair
	Safe capacities
	Public nuisance
	Protection of children from harm
	Offences relating to the sale and supply of alcohol to children

	Table of relevant offences under the 2003 Act

	3. Licensable activities
	Summary
	Wholesale of alcohol
	Mobile, remote, internet and other delivery sales
	Regulated entertainment
	Late night refreshment
	Late night refreshment exemptions based on designated locations, premises types and times
	Unauthorised activities

	4. Personal licences
	Requirements for a personal licence
	Who can apply?
	Criminal record
	Issuing of personal licences by Welsh licensing authorities
	Licensing qualifications
	Relevant licensing authority
	Changes in name or address
	Specification of new designated premises supervisors
	Police objections to new designated premises supervisors
	Police objections to existing designated premises supervisors
	Convictions and liaison with the courts
	Licensing authority powers to revoke or suspend personal licences
	Relevant offences
	Disapplication of certain mandatory conditions for community premises
	Definition of community premises
	Management of the premises
	Police views
	Appeals

	5. Who needs a premises licence?
	Relevant parts of Act
	Premises licensed for gambling
	Designated sports grounds, designated sports events and major outdoor sports stadia
	Sporting events at stadia with retractable roofs
	Vessels
	International airports and ports
	Vehicles
	Trains and aircraft
	Garages and motorway service areas
	Large scale time-limited events requiring premises licences

	6. Club premises certificates
	General
	Qualifying conditions
	Associate members and guests
	Applications for the grant or variation of club premises certificates
	Steps needed to promote the licensing objectives

	7. Temporary Event Notices (TENs)
	General
	Standard and late temporary event notices
	Standard temporary event notices
	Late temporary event notices

	Limitations
	Who can give a temporary event notice?
	Personal licence holders
	Non-personal licence holders

	Role of the licensing authority
	Police and environmental health intervention
	Modification
	Applying conditions to a TEN
	Duty of premises users to keep and produce TENs

	8. Applications for premises licences
	Relevant licensing authority
	Authorised persons
	Responsible authorities
	Other persons
	Who can apply for a premises licence?
	Application forms
	Electronic applications
	Electronic applications using forms on gov.uk
	Requirement to copy application to responsible authorities
	Applications via the local authority electronic application facility
	‘Holding’ and ‘deferring’ electronic applications
	Written applications

	Plans
	Beer gardens or other outdoor spaces

	Entitlement to work in the UK
	Steps to promote the licensing objectives
	Variations
	Introduction
	Simplified processes
	Minor variations process
	Changes to structure/layout
	Licensable Activities
	Licensing hours

	Licensing conditions
	a) Imposed conditions
	b) Volunteered conditions
	c) Amending or removing existing conditions

	Full variations process
	Relaxation of opening hours for local, national and international occasions
	Advertising applications
	Applications to change the designated premises supervisors
	Provisional statements
	Transfers of premises licences
	Interim authorities
	Right of freeholders etc to be notified of licensing matters

	9. Determining applications
	General
	Where no representations are made
	Where representations are made
	Relevant, vexatious and frivolous representations
	The role of responsible authorities
	Licensing authorities acting as responsible authorities
	Health bodies acting as responsible authorities
	Home Office Immigration Enforcement acting as a responsible authority
	Disclosure of personal details of persons making representations
	Hearings
	Determining actions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives
	Considering cases where licensing and planning applications are made simultaneously

	10. Conditions attached to premises licences and club premises certificates
	General
	Proposed conditions
	Consistency with steps described in operating schedule
	Imposed conditions
	Proportionality
	Naming, packing and promotion in retail premises
	Hours of trading

	The performance of plays
	Censorship
	Major festivals and carnivals
	Fixed prices
	Large capacity venues used exclusively or primarily for the “vertical” consumption of alcohol (HVVDs)
	Mandatory conditions in relation to the supply of alcohol
	Designated premises supervisor
	Authorisation by personal licence holders
	Arrangements for the mandatory licence conditions
	Irresponsible promotions
	Drinking games
	Large quantities of alcohol for free or a fixed price
	Prizes and rewards
	Posters and flyers
	Dispensing alcohol directly into the mouth
	Free potable water
	Age verification
	Smaller measures
	Ban on sales of alcohol below the permitted price
	Exhibition of films
	Door supervision


	11. Reviews
	The review process
	Repetitious grounds of review
	Powers of a licensing authority on the determination of a review
	Reviews arising in connection with crime
	Review of a premises licence following closure order or illegal working compliance order
	Review of a premises licence following persistent sales of alcohol to children

	12. Summary reviews
	Application for summary review
	The licensing authority and interim steps pending the review
	Making representations against the interim steps
	The review of the premises licence under section 53C
	Review of the interim steps under section 53D
	Right of appeal against review of interim steps decision
	Right of appeal against final review decision
	Flow diagram of the summary review process

	13. Appeals
	General
	Licensing policy statements and Section 182 guidance
	Giving reasons for decisions
	Implementing the determination of the magistrates’ courts
	Provisional statements

	14. Statements of licensing policy
	Introduction
	The Licensing Act 2003

	General
	Consultation on policies
	Fundamental principles
	Licence conditions
	Enforcement
	Entertainment provision
	The need for licensed premises
	The cumulative impact of a concentration of licensed premises
	Limitations on special policies relating to cumulative impact
	Other mechanisms for controlling cumulative impact
	Public Spaces Protection Order
	Licensing hours
	Children
	Responsible authority and children
	Children and cinemas
	Integrating strategies
	Planning and building control
	Promotion of equality
	Administration, exercise and delegation of functions
	Table: Recommended Delegation of Functions

	15. Licence fees
	Dispute
	Administrative error
	Suspension
	Effects of suspension
	Additional fees for large scale events

	16. Regulated entertainment
	Types of regulated entertainment
	Overview of circumstances in which entertainment activities are not licensable
	General circumstances in which entertainment activities are licensable
	Audience
	Private events

	Circumstances in which entertainment activities are no longer licensable
	Local authorities, hospital healthcare providers and school proprietors: cross-entertainment activity exemption
	Local authority, hospital and school premises: third party music entertainment
	Community premises: music entertainment
	Community premises: exhibition of film
	Travelling circuses
	Live music
	Key terms used in relation to live music
	Recorded music
	Plays and dance
	Indoor Sport

	Licence conditions
	Live Music or recorded music
	Beer gardens
	Plays, dance and indoor sport
	Boxing or wrestling entertainment and conditions relating to combined fighting sports
	Conditions relating to other non-licensable activities
	Removing licence conditions

	Licence reviews: Live and recorded music
	Incidental music
	Busking
	Incidental film
	Entertainment activity provided as part of childcare
	Other Licensing regimes
	Copyright
	Leafleting
	Child performers


	17. Early morning alcohol restriction orders
	General
	The EMRO process
	Evidence
	Introducing an EMRO
	Advertising an EMRO
	Representations
	Hearings
	Final EMRO
	Exceptions to an EMRO
	Enforcement of EMROs
	EMRO Process Flowchart






